
CITY OF ATWATER 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 

Council Chambers 
750 Bellevue Road 
Atwater, California 

 
 

August 22, 2016 
 

REGULAR SESSION:   6:00 PM            6:00 PM 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG: 
 
INVOCATION:   
 
Invocation by Police Chaplain McClellan 
 
ROLL CALL:  
 
Bergman____, Raymond ____, Rivero____, Vineyard ____, Price____ 
 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS:  (The City Clerk shall announce any requests for items requiring 

immediate action subsequent to the posting of the agenda.  Subsequent need items require a two-thirds 
vote of the members of the City Council present at the meeting.)   

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED:  (This is the time for the City 

Council to remove items from the agenda or to change the order of the agenda.) 

 
 Staff’s Recommendation:  Motion to approve agenda as posted or as amended. 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR: 
 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

At this time any person may comment on any item which is not on the agenda.  Please state your 
name and address for the record.  Action will not be taken on an item that is not on the agenda.  If it 
requires action, it will be referred to staff and/or placed on a future agenda.   
 

To comment on an item that is on the agenda, please wait until the item is read for consideration; 
please limit comments to a maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Civility is expected from members of the public during the meeting.  For more efficient use of 
time, disruptive behavior will not be tolerated.  While you may not agree with what an individual 
is saying, please treat everyone with courtesy and respect. 



City Council Agenda for Meeting of August 22, 2016            Page 2 
 

 
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WARRANTS:  
 
1. August 22, 2016 
 

Staff’s Recommendation:  Approval of warrants as listed. 
 

MINUTES:  (City Council)  
 
2. Regular meeting, August 8, 2016 

 
Staff’s Recommendation:  Approval of minutes as listed. 

 
 

 
FUNDING AND BUDGET MATTERS: 
 
3. Treasurer’s Report for the month of July, 2016 (Finance Director Deol)  
 

Staff’s Recommendation:  Motion to approve the Treasurer’s Report for 
the month of July, 2016; or 
 
Motion to approve staff’s recommendation as presented. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 
4. Proposed commercial development for “Marketplace at the Colony” located 

at the North West and South West corner of Buhach Road and Juniper 
Avenue (Community Development Director McBride) 

 
Staff’s Recommendation:  Open the public hearing to obtain testimony 
from the public; and 
 
Motion to certify the Mitigated Negative Declaration and adopt the 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program; to adopt Resolution No. 
2914-16 approving Planned Development Master Plan (PDMP); to adopt 
Resolution No. 2915-16 approving Planned Development Final 
Development Plan (PDFDP); to adopt Resolution No. 2916-16 approving 
Tentative Parcel Map for North West corner of Buhach Road and Juniper 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

Background information has been provided on all matters listed under the Consent Calendar, 
and these items are considered to be routine.  All items under the Consent Calendar are 
normally approved by one motion.  If discussion is requested on any item, that item will be 
removed from the Consent Calendar for separate action. 



City Council Agenda for Meeting of August 22, 2016            Page 3 
 

Avenue; and to adopt Resolution No. 2917-16 approving Tentative Parcel 
Map for South West corner of Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue; or 
 
Motion to approve staff’s recommendation as presented.  

 
CITY COUNCIL MATTERS: 

 
5. City Council comments and requests for future agenda items 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 

 
 
 
 

 

CERTIFICATION: 
 

I, Jeanna Del Real, City Clerk of the City of Atwater, do hereby certify that a copy of the 
foregoing agenda was posted at City Hall a minimum of 72 hours prior to the meeting. 

 
 

_______________________________        
JEANNA DEL REAL, CMC 
CITY CLERK 

 
 
 
 
 
 
AB 23 NOTICE: 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54952.3, City Council is not receiving additional compensation for 
serving as members of the Fire Protection District or as Successor Agency to the Atwater Redevelopment 
Agency. 
 
SB 343 NOTICE 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 54957.5, any writing or document that is a public 
record, relates to an open session agenda item and is distributed less than 72 hours prior to a regular 
meeting will be made available for public inspection in the office of the City Clerk at City Hall during 
normal business hours at 750 Bellevue Road. 

  
If, however, the document or writing is not distributed until the regular meeting to which it relates, then the 
document or writing will be made available to the public at the location of the meeting, as listed on this 
agenda at 750 Bellevue Road. 

 
 

In compliance with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, upon request, the 
agenda can be provided in an alternative format to accommodate special needs.  If you 
require special accommodations to participate in a City Council, Commission, or Committee 
meeting due to a disability, please contact the City Clerk’s Office a minimum of three (3) 

business days in advance of the meeting at 357-6205.  You may also send the request by email to 
jdelreal@atwater.org. 

mailto:jdelreal@atwater.org


1 2 3 4 5 6

7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14 15 16 17 18 19 20

21 22 23 24 25 26 27

28 29 30 31

 

Saturday

 

 

~ August 2016 ~

  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday

   

 

 City Hall closed

  

   

    

 

 City Council Meeting -   

  

     

 6:00 PM  City Hall closed

    5:30 PM  

 

    

 

 
 ARA Meeting - Cancelled Meeting - 6:00 PM

 

 Oversight Board of Community Development   

 Successor Agency to & Resources Commission City Hall closed

   

    

  

  

City Hall closed  

 Audit & Finance Merced County District 3  

"Mobile" Office Hours -  

 

 Committee Meeting - Supervisor McDaniel

 

  

 

 6:00 PM    

Notes:

 

 

 

 

 

     

Special Community

Development & 

Resources Commission

Meeting - 6:00 PM

Citizens' Oversight 

Committee for Public Saftey Committee for Public

Safety Transactions &

Use Tax Meeting - 

    

 City Council Meeting -  1:30 - 3:30 PM

 3:30 PM

 



1 2 3

4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12 13 14 15 16 17

18 19 20 21 22 23 24

25 26 27 28 29 30

 

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday

City Hall closed

Saturday

 
    

 

  

 

 

 Labor Day  City Hall closed  

 City Holiday 

 

   

  

 

 Trash pick up delayed  

 

 City Council Meeting -   

 1 day

  

 6:00 PM City Hall closed

   

 
 

 

     

911 Event

City Hall closed Fall Festival

 Oversight Board of Community Development Merced County District 3  

Meeting - 6:00 PM "Mobile" Office Hours -  

 

 Successor Agency to & Resources Commission Supervisor McDaniel

9:00 AM - 5:00 PM

  1:30 - 3:30 PM   

 ARA Meeting - 1:30 PM

Fall Festival Committee Meeting -

    

City Hall closed

 

 Audit & Finance

Notes:

 6:00 PM

9:00 AM - 3:00 PM 3:30 PM

 City Council Meeting -  

~ September 2016 ~



WARRANTS SUMMARY FOR AUGUST 22,2016 COUNCTL MEETTNG

lnuoururDESCRIPTION

TOTAL OF WARRANTS (FROM WARRANT REPORT)

ADDTTTONAL WARRANTS (THESE AMOUNTS ARE NOT TNCLUDED tN TOTAL WARRANTS)

DATE

8/8l2ot6 Prewrittens included in this current warrant run. (s184,634.62)

543,s92.678/8/2oL6 PERS Retirement EFT 7 /14/L6 - 7127 /L6

TorAL ADD|ïoNAL WARRANTS (5141,041.95):
GRAND TOTAL OF WARRANTS PAID =======================================================================

TNFORMATTONAL ONLY ( TNCLUDED rN THE TOTAL WARRANTS TOTAL)

AMOUNTDESCRIPTIONDATE

S L,6o4,937.76

s1,463,895.81

8/4/2oL6 Net Payroll

8/4/2016 Federal Taxes

8/4/2Ot6 State Taxes

8 / 4/2ot6 Payroll Deductions

5158,092.68 Sztg,L2s.82 Total payroll

5s4,r92.24
S6,840.90

s2,063.53

522r,L89.35TOTAL I N FORMATIONAL WARRANTS

CITY RER





Accounts Payable

Checks for Approval

User: jdaniel

Printed: 8117/2016 - l:49 PM

Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68362 08/08/2016 General Fund

68363 08/08/2016 General Fund

68364 08/08/2016 General Fund

6836s - 08/08/2016 General Fu¡d

68366 08108/20t6 General Fund

? ruL,Jri *¿ns
Aff{äter

("¡¡rx;rr¡¡r¡íl_r" Ê¡:6û: C"i¡r' ll.id¡
76û Hþvl^B RË#, Âlr¡sGr 6A9F3Ç1

Void

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Inte¡nal Service Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Account Name

Miscellaneous Union Dues

Gamishments

Pre-Paid Legal

Gamishments

Defered Compensation

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Travel/Conferences,Meetings

Training
Training

Ofïice Supplies

Special Departmental Expense

Training

Professional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Professional Services

Summer Recreation Program

Vendor Name

AFSCME DISTRICT COUNCIL 57

Check Total:

FRANCHISETAX BOARD

Check Total:

PRE-PAID LEGAL SERVICES

Check Total:

STATE DISBURSEMENT TINIT

Check Total:

VANTAGEPOINT TRANSFER AGT-457

Check Total:

CITY OF ATWATER

CITYOFATWATER
CITYOFATWATER
CITYOFATWATER
CITYOFATWATER
CITYOFATWATER
CITYOFATWATER

Check Total:

WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK

Amount

753.27

753.27

378.43

3'78.43

28.91

68367

68367

68367

68367

6836'7

68367

68367

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

08/08/20 i6
08108/2016

08/08/20 1 6

08/08/20 16

08108/20t6

08t08/20r6

08/08/2016

08/08/20 1 6

08/08/201 6

08/08/20 1 6

08/08/20 I 6

08/08/20 i 6

08/08/20 I 6

08/08/20 I 6

08/08/20 I 6

28.9t

852.92

852.92

50,00

50.00

5.80

60.1 I
44.96

65.04

t2.95

3 1.36

51.83

272.05

2l .58

60.00

450.00

17;76

49.92

798.26

649.00

44.22

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:49 PM) Page I



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Training

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Memberships & Subscriptions

Project Retention

Downtown Core Area Revitalize

Fruitland Ave Rd lmprovements

Professional Services

Vendor Name

WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK
WESTAMERICABANK

Check Total:

ROLFE CONSTRUCTION
ROLFE CONSTRUCTION

Check Total

WH CONSULTING SERVICES

Check Total:

CHELSY LEANN PHOTOGRAPHY

Check Total:

Report Total:

Void Amount

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

68368

08t08/2016

08/08/2016

08108/2016

08/08/2016

08/0812016

08108/2016

08/08/20 1 6

08/0812016

08108/2016

08/08/2016

08/08/2016

08/0Í112016

08/08/20 l 6

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

General Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Intemal Service Fund

General Fund

RDVLPMNT Obligation Retirement

RDVLPMNT Obligation Retirement

39.31

778.00

t,299.00

21.s8

291.59

35't,94

64.65

78.62

324.'t5

90.00

1,341.54

178.89

450.00

68369

68369

6tì370

68371

08lrr/2016
08111/2016

7,406.61

-7,998.95

159,979.00

15 r,980.0s

22,735.00

22,735.00

177.38

177.38

08/lI/2016 Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

081t6/2016 General Fund

184,634.62

AP-Checks forApproval (8117/2016 - 1:49 PM) Page2



Accounts Payable

Checks for Approval

User: jdaniel

Printed: 8lI7/2016 - 1:53 PM

Check Number Check Date Fund Name

A'ffi"ter

Account Name Vendor Name

{)er¡rt¡:rr¿r¡¡r¡ Êri¿lr åi¡y fl ie/c

ïFt¡ Edlerfl.B Rû#, AtÀ*f tAs6Fû1

Void Amount

68372

68373

08/2212016 Sewer Enterprise Fund

08/2212016 Sanitation Enterprise

Training

Solid Waste Collectn/Disposal

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Accounts Payable

Training

Communications

Cornr¡unications

Communications

Communications

Communications

Communications

Communications

SOCRATES AGUILERA

Check Total:

ALLIED WASTE SERVICES #9I7

Check Total:

ALL-PHASE ELECTRIC

ALL-PHASE ELECTRIC

Check Total:

ALLWAYS TOWING, L.L.C.

Check Total:

ANIMAL MEDICAL CENTER

Check Total:

APPLIED INDUSTRIAL TECH.

Check Total:

RENEARANA

Check Total:

KAREN ARDEN-WALLER

Check Total:

AT andT
AT and T

AT and T
AI and T
AT and T

AT and T
AT andT

I 18.50

I 18.50

205,455.t3

20s,455.13

221.72

44.19

265.91

180.00

180.00

| 04.60

104.60

380.21

380.21

42.50

42.50

869.25

869.2s

2,36r.34

I ,482.01

1,381.30

245.68

114.76

1,255.22

1t2.96

,4/683

6t1374

68375

08122/20t6

08122/20r6

08122/20r6

08t22/20t6

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

68376/

68377 /

6s37J

6837s/

urrrol
68380

68380

68380

68380

68380

68380

08/2212016 General Fund

08/2212016 General Fund

08/2212016 Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

08122/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

08/22/2016 General Fund

Price Annexation LMA
Gas Tax,/Street Improvement

Internal Service Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

NorthwoodVillage LD
Water Enterprise Fund

Meadow View LD

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM) Page I



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Operations & Maintenance

Small Tools

Machinery & Equipment

P¡ofessional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Offtce Supplies

Vendor Name

Check Total

ATWATER CHIROPRACTIC, INC.
ATWATER CHIROPRACTIC, INC.

Check Total:

ATWATER ELECTRIC
ATWATERELECTRIC

Check Total:

ATWATER IRRIGATION INC.

Check Total:

AUTOZONE STORE #5506

AUTOZONE STORE #5506

Check Total:

BAKER SUPPLIES AND REPAIRS

BAKER SUPPLIES AND REPAIRS

BAKER SUPPLIES AND REPAIRS

BAKER SUPPLIES AND REPAIRS

Check Total:

BARTON OVERHEAD DOOR

Check Total

BC LABORATORIES INC,
BC LABORATORIES INC.
BC LABORATORIES INC.
BC LABORATORIES INC.
BC LABORATORIES INC,
BC LABORATORIES INC.

Check Total:

DONBENNER

Check Total:

BEST IMPRESSION PRINTING

Check Total:

BIG CREEK LUMBER COMPANY

Void Amount

6,953.27

45.00

90.00

6838 l
6838 1

683t\2

08/22/20t6
08/22/20r6

08122t2016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08/22/20t6

08/22/20t6
08/22/20r6

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/20r6

08/2212016

6s382/

68383/

68384/
68384

68386/

683s7/

6$8J

65389,/

*,/

08/22/2016 Intemal Service Fund

General Fund

Gene¡al Fund

Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

Gas Tax,/Street Improvement

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Gas Tax/Street Improvement

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Gas Talr/Street Improvement

Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

13s.00

75.00

150.00

08/22/2016 Sewer Enterprise Fund
225.00

30.02

30.02

78.83

38.62

n7.45

5 18.35

14,67t.80

75.00

112.46

15,377.61

177.36

17'1.36

16.00

256.00

680.00

225.00

525.00

16.00

1,718.00

450.00

4s0.00

169.61

169.61

15.t8

6838/
6838s

68385

68385

68387

68387

68387

68387

68387

08122/2016 Intemal Service Fund

08122/2016 General Fund

08/22t2016 Intemal Service Fund

AP-Checks forApproval (8117/2016 - 1:53 PM)

Special Departmental Expense

Page2



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Summer Co-Ed Softball League

Community Center

Community Center Rental

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Memberships & Subscriptions

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Vendor Name

BIG CREEK LUMBER COMPANY
BIG CREEK LUMBER COMPANY
BIG CREEK LUMBER COMPANY
BIG CREEK LUMBER COMPANY
BIG CREEK LUMBER COMPANY

Check Total:

BLUE DIAMOND GROWERS

BLUE DIAMOND GROWERS

Check Total:

BLUELINE RENTAL

BLUELINE RENTAL

BLUELINE REN'IA,L

Check Total:

BOBCATCENTRAL, INC.

Check Total:

BOB'S REFRIGERATION

Check Total:

BORGES & MAHONEY CO,

BORGES & MAHONEY CO,

BORGES & MAHONEYCO.

Check Total:

CALAVERAS MATERIALS INC.

Check Total:

CALBO

Check Total:

CALIFORNIA INDUSTRIAL

Check Total:

CAL.STATE TOOL

Void Amount

68390

68390

68390

68390

68390

08/22/2016

08/22t2016

08/22120r6

08122/2016

08t22/2016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

08/22t2016

0&/22120r6

08/22120t6

0812212016

08/22/2016

08122t2016

683s1/

683s/

6s3s3/

683s4/

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Gas Tax/Street Improvement

Intemal Service Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

Gas Tax/Street Improvement

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

38.7s

8.58

40.49

13.52

95.77

416.00

164.96

170.36

194.40

212.29

s00.00

-84.0068391

68392

68392

68395

68395

68395

08/22/2016 Intemal Service Fund

08/2212016 Intemal Service Fund

529.72

1,240.79

1,240.79

92.00

92.00

6 13.19

225.68

73.56

912.43

38'1.73

387;73

215.00

215.00

t60.49

t60.49

280.00

280.00

167.00

683s6/

683s7/

6s3ss/

683ss/

6s400/

08/22/2016 Gas Tax/Street Improvement

0812212016 General Fund

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

08122/2016 Intemal Service Fund

08/22/20r6 Gene¡al Fund

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - l:53 PM)

Aged Outstanding Warrants GEORDIECALVERT

Check Total:

Page 3



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68401 08122/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

Account Name

Accounts Payable

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Operations & Maintenance

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Communications

Special Deparhnental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Inspection Fees

Inspection Fees

Pla¡ Check Fees

CalFire GGRF UrbanForestMgtPln

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Vendor Name

Check Total:

GREGORY CARBULLIDO

Check Total:

CHEM QUIP, INC.

CHEM QUIP, INC.

CHEMQUIP, INC.
CHEM QUIP, INC.

Check Total:

CHEVRONUSAINC.

Check Total:

COLDWELL BANKER GONELLA REALTY
COLDWELL BANK¡R GONELLA REALTY
COLDWELL BANK.ER GONELLA REALTY
COLD1VELL BANKER GONELLA REALTY

Check Total:

COMCAST CABLE

Check Total:

CONSOLIDATED ELECTRICAI DISTRIBUTORI
CONSOLIDATED ELECTRICAL DISTRIBUTORÍ

Check Total:

CRESCENT WORK & OUTDOOR #I

Check Total:

CSG CONSULIANTS, INC.
CSG CONSULTANTS, INC.
CSG CONSULTANTS, INC.

Check Total:

THE DAVEYTREE EXPERT COMPANY

DELRAYTIRE
DELRAYTIRE

08/22120r6 Intemal Service Fund

Void Amount

167.00

108.01

108.01

834.16

706.87

834.t6

706.87

3,082.06

237.066s403 /

6s404/

68402

68402

68402

68402

68404

68404

68404

68406

68406

68408

68408

684t/

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/22120t6

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6
08/2212016

08/22/20t6

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/2212016

0812212016

08/22/2016

08/22t20r6 Gene¡al Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterpdse Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

23'¡.06

1.57

6.76

5.04

16.63

08/22/2016 Intemal Service Fund
30.00

117.66

lt'7.66

972.00

499.24

1,471.24

161.97

161.97

12,510.00

12,930.00

114.94

25,s54.94

7,875.00

7,875.00

15.00

2,739.10

6s407/

6s408 /

6s40/ 08/22/2016 General Fund Capital

68410

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - l:53 PM)

Check Total:

Page 4



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

6841 I 08/22120t6 General Fund

68412 08122t2016 General Fund

684 08/22/2016 General Fund

Account Name

Communications

Professional Services

P¡ofessional Services

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Vendor Name

Check Total:

DELTAWIRELESS & NETWORK SOLUTIONS

Check Total:

DEPT. OF JUSTICE

Check Total:

DEPT.OF FORESTRY& FIRE PROTECTION

Check Total:

CHERYL DIETZ

CHERYLDIETZ
CHERYL DIETZ

CHERYL DIETZ

CHERYL DIETZ

Check Total:

DIGITAL GEAR INC.
DIGITALGEARINC.

Check Total:

MARIADURAN
MARIADURAN
MARIADURAN
MARIADURAN

Check Total:

ELITE IjNIFORMS
ELITE IJNIFORMS

Check Total:

ANTONIO ZAVALAOR ELVIRA SILVA
ANTONIO ZAVALA OR ELVIRA SILVA
ANTONIO ZAVALA OR ELVIRA SILVA
ANTONIO ZAVALA OR ELVIRA SILVA
ANTONIO ZAVALA OR ELVIRA SILVA

Check Total:

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT DEPT

Void Amount

2,754.10

1,490.00

1,490.00

125.00

125.00

536,534.8 1

6841/
68416

68416

684r6

68414

68414

684t4
68414

68414

08/22/2016

08122/2016

0812212016

08122/2016

0812y20r6

08/22t2016

08122120r6

08122/20r6

08122/2016

08/22t2016

08/22/20r6

08/22t2016

08/22t2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/22120t6

08/2212016

08/2212016

s36,534.8 I

51.17

34.43
't.42

74.33

23.83

684

68415

68417

68417

6841

68418

684r8

6841 8

6841 8

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Information Technology Fund

Information Technology Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise
rvVater Enterprise Fund

191.18

3,210.00

4r.25

3,251.25

20.92

4.23

13.56

45.1 8

83.89

62.59

31 1.59

374.r8

98.1 0

31.04

51.55

9.67

45.54

235.90

10,905.00684 r 08/22/2016 Employee Benefits Fund

AP-Checks forApproval (8/1712016 - 1:53 PM)

Unemployment Insurance

Page 5



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68420/

Account Name

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Operations & Maintenance

Community Center

Accounts Payable

Installation-New Water Mete¡s

Professional Services

Vendor Name

Check Total:

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE RESOURCEI

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE RESOURCEÍ
ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE RESOURCE¡

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE RESOURCEI

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE RESOURCEÍ
ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE RESOURCEÍ

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE RESOURCEÍ

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE RESOT]RCEI

Check Total:

FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC. #690
FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC. #690
FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC. #690

FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC. #690

FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC. #690
FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC. #690

FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC. #690

Check Total:

FIRST TACTICAL

Check Total:

DONALD GARCIA

Check Total:

MARIBELGARIBAY

Check Total:

ERIC GAUGER

Check Total:

GOLDEN STATE FLOW METERS

Check Total:

GOLDEN VALLEY ENGINEERING

MeadowView LNDSCP
Atwater South LNDSCP
Cottage Gardens ST & LMA
Price Annexation LMA
Stone Creek LNDSCP
Gas Ta:</Street Improvement

General Fund

Mello Ranch LNDSCP

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Internal Service Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Void Amount

68420

68420

68420

68420

68420

68420

68420

08/22/20t6
08/22/20r6

08122/2016

08/22/20r6
08/22120t6

0812212016

08/22/2016

08/22/20r6

08/22t2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08122120r6

08/22/2016

08/2212016

10,905.00

44.80

26.85

98.s5

215.00

I 16.50

376.25

3,771.45

26.85

4,676.25

155.20

2,tr7.61

899.94

l7.68
81.29

4.88

269.39

68421

68421

68421

68421

68421

6842t

68422

68423

08/2212016 General Fund

08/2212016 Internal Service Fund

08/22/2016 General Fund

6842s/

3,545.99

1,734.36

1,734.36

33.49

33.49

300.00

300.00

8.40

8.40

93,886.24

93,886.24

250.00

250.00

78.27

6s427/

08/2212016 Water Enterprise Fund

68426 08/22120t6 DBCP Settlement

08/22t2016 General Fund

68428 08/2212016 Water Enterprise Fund

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM)

Accounts Payable ALFONSO GOMEZ

Check Total:

Page 6



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68429 08/22/2016 Sewer Enterprise Fund

08/22t20r6 General Fund

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

Account Name

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Operations & Maintenance

Professional Services

Summer Recreation Program

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Vendor Name

Check Total:

GRAINGER, INC.

Check Total:

GI.INRUNNERGUN SHOP

Check Total:

ruSTIN IIARRIS

Check Total:

STEVE HARVEY

Check Total:

JOYCE HEALY

JOYCE HEALY

JOYCE TIEALY

JOYCE HEALY

JOYCE HEALY

Check Total:

JOSE HERRERA

Check Total:

RUBIHICKSON
RUBI HICKSON

RUBI HICKSON

RTJBI HICKSON

Check Total:

HI-TECHEVS, INC

HI-TECHEVS, INC

Check Total:

JGUWON HOGGES

Check Total:

HORIZON

HORIZON

HORIZON

HORIZON

Void Amount

78.27

s33.78

533.78

864.00

864.00

33.30

33.30

100.89

100.89

126.94

4'7.98

15.40

22.21

4.80

2t7.33

132.89

6843J

6843t/

6s432/

6s433/
68433

68433

68433

68433

6&434

6843s

68435

68435

68436

6&43

68438

68438

68438

08/22120t6

08/22t2016

08/22/20t6

0812212016

08122/20t6

08/22/20t6

08122/20t6

08/22/2016

08/22/20t6

0812212016

08122/20t6

08/22/20r6

08/22/20t6

08/22120t6

08/22/20r6

08/2212016 Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

General Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

132.89

2.69

28.50

8.64

I1.59

51.42

84.61

08122/2016 General Fund

1,004.78

l,089.39

95.56

95.56

344.01

62.3s

23.24

132.65

AP-Checks forApproval (8/1712016 - 1:53 PM) PageT



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68438 08122/2016 Gas Tax,/Sheet Improvement

08122/2016 General Fund

08/22/20L6 Risk Management Fund

08/2212016 Gas Tax/Street Improvement

08/22t2016 General Fund

Account Name

Special Departmental Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Unifonn & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Unifonn & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Summer Recreation Prograrn

Professional Servìces

Professional Services

Aquatics Program

Professional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Vendor Name

HORIZON

Check Total:

IMAGE TINIFORMS

IMAGE I.INIFORMS
IMAGE UNIFORMS
IMAGE IINIFORMS
IMAGE LINIFORMS

IMAGE UNIFORMS

Check Total:

ROY ORAMANDA IRELAN
ROY OR AMANDA IRELAN
ROYORAMANDAIRELAN
ROY OR AMANDA IRELAN
ROY OR AMANDA IRELAN

Check Total:

ISLAND WATERPARK

Check Total:

JACKSONLEWIS P.C.

Check Total:

JLB TRAFFIC ENGINEERING, INC

Check Total:

JOHN C FREEMONT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

Check Total:

JORGENSEN COMPANY
JORGENSEN COMPANY

Check Total

ruSTUS LAWNMOWER SHOP INC.

Check Total:

KELLOGG'S SUPPLY

KELLOGG'S SUPPLY

KELLOGG'S SUPPLY

KELLOGG'S SUPPLY

Void Amount

9l .91

654.16

329.23

207.69

8ó.09

213.08

415.39

213.08

1,464.56

6.06

19.43

29.99

64.13

123.t6

242.77

2,600.00

2,600.00

2,293.00

2,293.00

l'7J.54

173.54

77.00

7'7.00

160.00

29J.21

453.21

62.37

62.37

164.02

29.00

22.44

161.99

68439

68439

68439

68439

68439

68439

68440

68440

68440

68M0

6844

68447

68447

68447

08/22/20r6

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08t22/2016

08/22/20t6

08/2212016

08122/2016

08/22120r6

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/22t2016

6s441

**/

6s44/

6s444/

68445/
68445

68446/ 08/2212016 Sewer Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Internal Service Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM) Page 8



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68448 08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

08122/2016 Sewer Enterprise Fund

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

Account Name

Accounts Payable

Professional Services

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Operations & Maintenance

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Operations & Maintenance

Special Departmental Expense

Operations & Maintenance

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Special Departmental Expense

Vendor Name

Check Total:

RON KEPNER

Check Total:

RICHARD KONCWICZ

Check Total:

LADY'S ILUSION

Check Total:

MARK LANGLEY
MARKLANGLEY
MARK LANGLEY
MARK LANGLEY
MARKLANGLEY

Check Total:

LATTA'S AUTO SUPPLY

LATTA'S AT]TO SUPPLY

LATTA'S AUTO SUPPLY

LATTA'S AUTO SUPPLY

LATTA'S AUTO SUPPLY

LATTA'S AUTO SUPPLY

Check Total:

BRANDON OR LYNSEE LEONARD

Check Total:

AARON LEWIS

AARONLEWIS
AARON LEWIS

AARONLEWIS

Check Total:

LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGEMENT

Check Total:

Void Amount

377.4s

20.29

6844s/
20.29

67.s0

68450

67.50

49.34

49.34

12.63

3.94

18.22

39.35

I r6.89

191.03

280;71

8.62

12.92

I 06.1 0

4.95

67.65

480.95

97.58

684s1/
6845 1

68451

68451

6845 1

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

0&/22/2016

08122/20t6

08122/2016

08/22/20t6

08/22/20t6

08/22t2016

08/22/2016

08/22t2016

08/2212016

08/22120r6

08/2212016

0812212016

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enteryrise

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Internal Service Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterprise Fund

68452

68452

68452

68452

684s2

6s4s4/
68454

684s4

68454

**/

,r^r/

97.58

7.01

9.40

2. l8
23.11

08/2212016 General Fund

08/22120L6 Water Enterprise Fund

4t.70

376.94

376.94

120.18

r20.18

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM)

Accounts Payable RAYMOND LOI.IIS

Check Total:

Page 9



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name Vendor Name Void Amount

6s4s/

6846s/

68457

68458

68458

68458

6

68459

68463

68464

6846s

6846s

68465

6846s

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

0812212016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22t2016

08/22/2016

08/22t2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/20r6

08122/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Adulr co-Ed softball
Mens Fall Slo-Pitch Ball
Girls Volleyball
Youth Basketball

Adult Slo-Pitch Softball
Adult Slo-Pitch Softball

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Community Center Rental

Community Center

Special Departmental Expense

urilities
Utilities

Utilities
Utilities

BRYAN LOWNEY

Check Total:

CAROLMARTIN
CAROLMARTIN
CAROLMARTIN
CAROLMARTIN

Check Total:

MCAULEYMOTORS
MCAULEYMOTORS

Check Total:

MCNAMARA SPORTS

MCNAMARASPORTS
MCNAMARA SPORTS

MCNAMARASPORTS

MCNAMARASPORTS

MCNAMARASPORTS

Check Total

MARIAMEDINA
MARIAMEDINA
MARIAMEDINA
MARLq,MEDINA
MARIAMEDINA

Check Total:

AMYMEJIA

Check Total:

MERCED COUNTY CLERK
MERCED COIINTYCLERK

Check Total

MERCED COLTNTY DEPT

Check Total:

MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT

08122/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Gener¿l Fund

General Fund

Mello Ranch LD
Bell Crossing LNDSCP

Juniper Meadows LD
Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

92.92

92.92

'r'ra

ll.ll
5.70

23.75

42.80

61;16

490.66

68460

68460

68460

68460

68460

68461/
6846 I

68461

68461

68461

552.42

300.12

600.24

25.60

3,732.48

237.59

264.38

s,160.4t

2.47

26.13

6.91

39.01

9.81

84.33

5.03

383.00

300.00

683.00

86.75

86.75

287.16

15.70

4.t7
402.96

5.03

6e461/

08t22/2016 Sewer Enterprise Fund

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM) Page 10



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name Vendor Name Void Amount

68465

68465

68465

6846s

68465

68465

6846s

6846s

68465

6846s

68465

68465

68465

68465

68465

6846s

68465

68465

68465

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

08122/2016

08/22/2016

0812212016

08/2212016

08/22t2016

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/22120r6

08/2212016

0812212016

08/22/20t6

0812212016

08/22/20r6

08122/2016

08122/2016

08122120r6

08122/20t6

08122/2016

08/22120t6

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08/22/20r6
08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/2A20ß
08/22t20r6

08122/2016

08122/2016

08122/20r6

08122/2016

Utilities

Utilities

Utilities
uriliries
Utilities

Utilities
Utilities

Utilities
Utilities

Utilities

Utilities

utiliries
Utilities
Utilities

utiliries
Utilities

Utilities

utiliries
Utilities

68466/

6s467/

,**/

6s46/

08122/2016 General Fund

08t22/20t6 Intemal Service Fund

08/22/2016 Internal Service Fund

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Operations & Maintenance

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Unifonn & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Unifonn & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Check Total:

MERCED MEDICAL SIIPPLY

Check Total:

MERCED TINT

Check Total:

MERCED TRUCK & TRAILER INC.

Check Total:

Mello Ranch 2 LD
Aspenwood LD
Stone Creek LNDSCP

Camellia Estates LD
Camellia Meadows LD
Mello Ranch LNDSCP
Applegate Ranch LD
Applegate Ranch Lndscp

Stone Creek LD
Bell Crossing LD
General Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Meadow View LD
Price Annexation LMA
Water Enteçrise Fund

America West LD
Price Annexation LD
Sewer Enterprise Fund

Atwater South LD

MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION Df STRICT
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT

MERCEDUNIFORM
MERCED UNIFORM
MERCED UNIFORM

MERCEDUNIFORM
MERCED I.]NIFORM
MERCED UNIFORM
MERCEDUNIFORM
MERCEDUNIFORM
MERCEDUNIFORM
MERCEDUNIFORM
MERCEDI.INIFORM

MERCED UNIFORM

MERCED TINIFORM

468.00

147.28

15.70

50.12

50.12

47.r4

2ss.43

15.70

r82.24

245;75

1,289.55

252.38

I ,156.98
r7.92

9.32

111.42

150.35

4,4n.72
306.92

9,894.03

24.00

24.00

380.00

380.00

31.34

31.34

308.56

78.73

18.25

359.05

123.01

93.80

215.45

I 1.83

184.4t

65.83

13.28

246.t4

7.51

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Gene¡al Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Gene¡al Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM) Page 11



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name

Unifonn & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Unifonn & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Unifo¡m & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Winton Way Road Improvements

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

P¡ofessional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Professional Services

Accounts Payable

Ofüce Supplies

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Vendor Name

MERCED UNIFORM
MERCEDTINIFORM
MERCED TINIFORM
MERCED I.INIFORM
MERCED LINIFORM
MERCED UNIFORM
MERCED UNIFORM
MERCED LTNIFORM

Check Total:

MID VALLEY ENGINEERING

Check Total:

MONTE VISTA SMALL ANIMAL HOSPITAL
MONTE VISTA SMALLANIMAL HOSPITAL
MONTE VISTA SMALLANIMAL HOSPITAL
MONTE VISTA SMALLANIMAL HOSPI'TAL

MONTE VISTA SMALLANIMAL HOSPITAL
MONTE VISTA SMALLANIMAL HOSPITAL
MONTE VISTA SMALL ANIMAL HOSPITAL
MONTE VISTA SMALLANIMAL HOSPITAL

Check Total:

MT]NICIPAL MAINTENANCE EQUIP

Check Total

MLNISERVICES LLC
MUNISERVICES LLC

Check Total:

DIANANAVARRO

Check Total:

NEOFTINDS BYNEOPOST

Check Total:

LETICIANI,JNEZ
LETICIANUNEZ
LETICIANUNEZ
LETICIANT.INEZ

Void Amount

I 1.83

226.53

184.57

82.03

150.98

22.52

164.05

6.43

2,574.79

3,320.00

3,320.00

304.60

205.00

135.00

90.00

180.00

90.00

14s.00

150.00

r,299.60

195.68

r 95.68

3,480.00

500.00

3,980.00

8l .75

81.75

1,000.00

1,000.00

57.59

2r.41

t7.28

5.38

101.66

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

68469

08/2212016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

08/22/2016

08t22t2016

08/22/20t6
08/22/2016

08/2212016

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Gene¡al Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Gene¡al Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sanitation Enterprise

68470

6847

6847r

6847r

68471

6847t

68471

6847t

68471

68472

68473

68473

684

68476

68476

68476

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/22t2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08/2212016 Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

08/22120L6 Water Enterprise Fund

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

08122/2016 General Fund

08/22/20r6
08/2212016

08/22/20t6

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - l:53 PM)

Check Total:

Page 12



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name Vendor Name Void Amount

08122/2016 General Fund Offrce Supplies

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Special Departmental Expense

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Special Departmental Expense

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Special Departmental Expense

Communications

Professional Services

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

THE OFFICE CITY

Check Total:

OPDEVELOPEMENT, INC
OP DEVELOPEMENT, INC

OP DEVELOPEMENT, INC
OPDEVELOPEMENT, INC

Check Total:

41.99

41.99

7.20

2.24

23.75

1 l.l1

44.30

30.37

33.83

52.60

626.39

195.86

-10.00

2t9.16

8.66

5.16

259.08

20.50

10.28

-90.34

18.33

12.32

51 .78

I 1.07

37.79

73.O4

14.03

8.63

1,588.54

78.00

78.00

r,285.00

6s47/
68478

68478

68478

08122/20t6

08/22/20t6

08122/20t6

08/22120r6

Sanitation Enterprise

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

684'79

68479

68479

68479

68479

68479

08/2212016

08/22120r6

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08/22120r6

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08/242016

08/2212016

08/22t2016

08/22120r6

08/22t2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/22t2016

08/2212016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

Internal Service Fund

Internal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

O'REILLYAUTO PARTS

I6848

08/22/20r6 General Fund

08122/2016 General Fund

Check Total:

PACIFIC TELEMANAGEMENT

Check Total:

PALMA PAINTING CONTRACTORS

Check Total:

BILLIE PATRICK

BILLIE PATRICK

BILLIE PATRICK

BILLIE PATRICK

68482

68482

68482

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

1,285.00

9t.07

60.58

I 16.89

19s.49

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM) Page 13



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68482 08/22/2016 Sanitation Enterprise

Account Name

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Professional Services

Accounts Payable

Well #20 Rehab

Well #20 Rehab

Professional Services

Profsssional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

P¡ofessional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Vendor Name

BILLIE PATRICK

Check Total:

JAMRATPETANAN
JAMRATPETANAN
JAMRAT PETANAN

JAMRATPETANAN

Check Total:

PRIME SHINE, INC

Check Total:

ARACELI PULIDO

Check Total

QUAD KNOPF

QUAD KNOPF

QUAD KNOPF

QUAD KNOPF

Check Total:

QUICKPCSUPPORT

QTIICKPCSUPPORT

QUICKPCSUPPORT

QUICKPCSUPPORT

QUICKPCSUPPORT

QUICKPCSUPPORT

QUICKPCSUPPORT

QTIICKPCSUPPORT

QUICKPCSUPPORT

Check Total:

RAY MORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAY MORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAY MORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAY MORGAN COMPANY

Void Amount

18.89

482.92

0.r2

0.38

0.51

1.27

2.28

301.00

301.00

9t.77

91.'.t1

54.03

457.70

t,731.26

198.80

68484/

68483

68483

68483

68483

68486

68486

68486

08122/20r6

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/20r6

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

08/2212016 General Fund

08/2212016 Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Fund Capital Replacemet

Water Fund Capital Replacemet

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Internal Service Fund

lVater Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Information Technology Fund

Information Technology Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Informatión Technology Fund

Information Technology Fund

68487

68487

68487

68487

68487

68487

68487

68487

68487

68488

68488

68488

68488

68488

68488

68488

68488

68488

68488

08/22/20t6

08/22120t6

08/22t2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/20t6

08/2212016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08122/20r6

08122/2016

08/2212016

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Gene¡al Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

2,44t.79

50't.06

1,049.43

2,761.99

1,049.43

2,981.00

1,295.98

220.00

5,505.00

585.00

15,9s4.89

365.93

t 85.91

14.86

336.41

14.86

185.92

14.86

365.93

545.94

r25.69

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM) Page 14



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Rents & Leases

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Atw Blvd Strscp-Dwnfwn Sub

Project Retention

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Vendor Name

RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAY MORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAY MORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY
RAYMORGAN COMPANY

Check Total:

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE

Check Total:

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE

JOHN ROLFE
JOHN ROLFE

Check Total:

ROLFE CONSTRUCTION

ROLFE CONSTRUCTION

Check Total:

ROSENOW SPEVACEK GROUP INC.

Check Total:

SAFE-T-LITE

SAFE-T-LITE
SAFE-T-LITE

Check Total:

SAN JOAQUIN PEST CONTROL
SAN JOAQUIN PEST CONTROL
SAN JOAQUIN PEST CONTROL
SAN JOAQUIN PEST CONTROL
SAN JOAQUIN PEST CONTROL
SAN JOAQUIN PEST CONTROL

Void Amount

68488

68488

68488

68488

68488

68488

68489

68489

68489

68489

68489

68489

68490

68490

68490

68490

68490

68490

6849r

68491

68492

68493

68493

08/22/2016

08/22120t6

08122120r6

08/22/2016

08/2212016

0812212016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/20t6

08/22120t6

08/22120r6

0812212016

08/22t2016

08/22120t6

08/22t2016

08/22t2016

08122/2016

08122/20t6

08/22/20t6

08/22/2016

08/22120t6

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08122/20t6

08/2212016

08122/2016

08122/2016

3,409.s 1

0.77

40.00

2.54

o.24

4.00

t.l9

48.74

4.00

4.37

40.00

80.00

3.29

11.7 4

143.40

1 9 1,1 35.00

-9,556.75

18 1,578.25

I , r 37.50

1,137 .50

268.27

514.44

14t.61

125.69

365.93

14.86

365.93

36s.93

14.86

924.32

28.00

3 1.00

25.00

38.00

25.00

33.00

Sewer Enterprise Fund

General Fund

Gene¡al Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

General Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

General Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Sewer Enterprise Fund

RDVLPMNT Obligation Retirement

RDVLPMNT Obligation Retirement

Gas Tax,/Street Improvement

Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

Gas Tax/Street Improvement

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

08122/2016 RDVLPMNT Obligation Retirement Professional Services

68494

68494

68494

68494

68494

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM) Page 15



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68494 08/22t2016 Intemal Service Fund

08122/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

Gene¡al Fund

General Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Account Name

Professional Services

P¡ofessional Services

Professional Services

Accounts Payable

Professional Services

P¡ofessional Services

Professional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Accounts Payable

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Ofüce Supplies

Ofüce Supplies

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Offtce Supplies

Special Deparbnental Expense

Professional Services

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable

Vendor Name

SAN JOAQUIN PEST CONTROL

Check Total:

SANTAFE PET

SANTA FE PET

Check Total:

DEAN SELZLER

Check Total

SHANNON PUMP CO,

SHANNONPUMPCO.

SHANNON PUMP CO.

Check Total:

SIRCHIE FINGERPRINT

Check Total:

CINDYSOUZA

Check Total:

STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE

STAPLES BUS INES S ADVANTAGE

STAPLES BUSINES S ADVANTAGE
STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE
STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE
STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE
STAPLES BUS INES S ADVANTAGE
STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE
STAPLES BUSINES S ADVANTAGE

Check Total:

STERICYCLE, INC

Check Total:

STONEFIELD HOME, INC

STONEFIELD HOME, TNC

Void Amount

18.00

6s4s/

6s4s/

6s4s7/

6ss01/

68s0J
68502

68s0/

68495

68497

68497

08/22/20r6

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08122/2016

08122/20t6

08/22/2016

08/22120r6

08/22t2016

0812212016

08122/2t16

08122/2016

08/2212016

198.00

44.00

274.OO

24.42

143.40

3 18.00

t26.94

126.94

9,779.78

4,680.80

90.69

t4,551.27

900.84

900.84

80.80

80.80

-22.3s

28.29

13.55

38.59

24.63

t7.65
21.69

226.'.l5

300.43

649.23

28.27

28.27

'7;t7

16.6s

6s4ss/

08/22/20r6 Gene¡al Fund

08/22t20r6 Water Enterprise Fund

68500

68500

68500

68500

68500

68500

68500

68500

08/2212016 General Fund

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM)

Accounts Payable FRED TAYLOR

Check Total:

Page 16



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

68504 08/2212016 Water Enterprise Fund

68s

08/22t2016 Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Gas Tax/Sheet Improvement

Gene¡al Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

General Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sanitation Enterprise

Gas Tax,/Street Improvement

Intemal Service Fund

Account Name

Accounts Payable

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Operations & Maintenance

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Beginning Indoor Soccer

Begiruring Indoor Soccer

Memberships & Subscriptions

Memberships & Subscriptions

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Vendor Name

Check Total

DURWOOD TELL

Check Total:

TESEI PETROLEUM, TNC.

TESEI PETROLEUM, INC.

TESEI PETROLEUM, INC.

Check Total:

TIRE DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS INC.

Check Total:

TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CRËDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CRXDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDTT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN
TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN

Check Total

TROPHYCASE

TROP!ryCASE

Check Total

UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT

LINDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT

Check Total

UNIFIRST CORPORATION

I"]NIFIRST CORPORATION
UNIFIRST CORPORATION
UNIFIRST CORPORATION

Void Amount

143.40

163.41

163.41

1,053.50

5,756.76

1,744.53

8,ss4.79

8 l 1.56

8 I 1.56

1 .61

21.s9

32.39

2t.60

1 6.19

7.0t

8.63

7.01

14.03

9.91

26.99

.7.54
86.38

10.79

6;79

278.46

317.52

3.78

68s06/

6ss07/

68s0s

68505

08/2212016

08/2212016

08/22/20t6

08122/20t6

08122/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/22t2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/2212016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22t20r6

08/22/2016

08t22t2016

08122/20r6

08t22/2016

08t22/2016

68507

68507

68s07

68507

68507

68507

68507

68507

68s07

68507

68507

68507

68507

68507

68

6f1508

68

68509

685 I

321.30

321.32

321.31

685 l0
685r0

685 l0

642.63

292.44

59.46

243.s4

103.s6

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - I:53 PM) Page 17



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Uniform & Clothing Expense

Unifonn & Clothing Expense

UPRR Reimb-W"W/Arw Blvd Signal

Professional Services

Disability Insurance

Disability Insurance

Life Insurance

Professional Services

P¡ofessio¡al Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Accounts Payable

Professional Services

Communications

Communications

Communications

Communications

Communications

Communications

Communications

Communications

Vendor Name

UNIFIRST CORPORATION
LTNIFIRST CORPORATION
T'NIFIRST CORPORATION
I.INIFIRST CORPORATION

Check Total

I.INION PACIFIC RAILROAD CO.

Check Total:

UNITED RENTALS

Check Total:

UNUM LIFE INSURANCE

TINUM LIFE INSURANCE
I.INUM LIFE INSURANCE

Check Total:

VALLEY UTILITIE CONSTRUCTION, INC.
VALLEY UTILITIE CONSTRUCTION, INC.
VALLEY UTILITIE CONSTRUCTION, INC.
VALLEY UTILITIE CONSTRUCTION, INC.

Check Total:

JOHNVANN

Check Total:

VEOLIA WATER NORTH AMERICA OPERATIN(

Check Total:

VERIZONWIRELESS

VERIZONWIRELESS
VERIZON WIRELESS

VERTZON WIRELESS

VERIZON W]RTLESS

VERIZONWIRELESS

VERIZON WIRELESS
VERIZONWIRELESS

Check Total:

VISION SERVICE PLAN (CA)

Void

68510

68510

685 10

68510

685 I

685 I

685 I

685r3
685 l3

685 I

685 1

685 I

68st+/
685 l4
685 14

68514

/

/

08/22t2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/20t6

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/22120t6

08/22t2016

08/22/20t6
08122/20r6

08/22/2016

08122/2016

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/2212016

08122120t6

08t22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22120r6

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

08/22/2016 Sewer Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Gas TaxlStreet Improvement

Water Enterprise Fund

Risk Management Fund

Risk Management Fund

Risk Management Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

General Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Gas Tax,/Street Improvement

General Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Gene¡al Fund

Amount

48.66

20.10

84.t2
161.40

l,0l 9.28

t,792.61

1,792.61

33 5.83

335.83

2,357.',|s

565.00

1,053.52

3,976.27

1,800.00

1,800.00

2,400.00

48.50

6,048.50

I 05.99

l 05.99

t48,t94.07

,/

,/

,l

08/22/2016 Gas Tax,/Street Improvement

08/22/2016 Sewer Enterprise Fund

685 17

68517

68517

685t7

68517

68517

68517

148,194.07

1,396.06

10.81

10.81

48.82

108.08

10.81

64.&4

54.04

68s I 08/2212016 Employee Benefits Fund

1,704.2't

1,970.55

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - l:53 PM)

Vision Insurance

Page 18



Check Number Check Date Fund Name Account Name

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departrnental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Utilities

uriliries

Accounts Payable

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Deparhnental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Vendor Name

Check Total:

WARD ENTERPRISES

WARD ENTERPRISES

WARD ENTERPRISES

WARD ENTERPRISES

WARD ENTERPRISES

WARD ENTERPRISES

WARD ENTERPRISES

Check Total:

WEST YOST & ASSOCIATES

Check Total:

MARILYNWETHERN

Check Total:

WGLENERGY SYSTEMS, INC

WGLENERGYSYSTEMS, INC

Check Total:

RENE WILSON

Check Total:

Void Amount

1,970.5s

4.53

167.08

16.76

36.70

14s.53

32.29

16. l5

419.04

10,067.30

10,067.30

25.65

25.65

2,363.01

24,835.63

27,198.64

68.69

68.69

39.21

10;73

168.17

56.75

42.99

-35.46

38.06

7.51

13.62

23.06

10.46

4.18

4.18

3.s8

4.18

3.58

3.58

3.58

6ss2/

68s211

6ss22/
68522

6ssts/
685 l9
685r9

685r9

685 l9
68519

68519

08122/2016

08122/2016

0812212016

08122/20r6

08122120t6

08/22/2016

08/22/20r6

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22t2016

08/22120r6

08/22120r6

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08122120r6

08/22/20r6

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/22120r6

08/22/2016

0&/22/20t6

08/22/20t6

08122/20r6

08122/20r6

08/2212016

08/22/2016 Sewer Fund Capital Replacement Wastewater Tfmnt Plt Exp

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund Accounts Payable

08/22/2016 Water Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Sewer Enterprise Fund

Gene¡al Fund

General Fund

General Fund

General Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Intemal Service Fund

Water Enterprise Fund

Camellia Meadows LNDSCP

Stone Creek LNDSCP

Redwood Estates LMA
Applegate Rønch Lndscp

Atwater South LNDSCP

Sandlewood Square LMA
PriceAn¡exation LMA

68523

6&524

68s24

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

6&524

68524

WINTON HARDWARE

WINTONHARDWARE
W]NTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTON HARDWARE

WINTON HARDWARE

WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONFIARDWARE

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM) Page 19



Check Number Check Date Fund Name

Aspenwood Lndscp

Cottage Gardens ST & LMA
America West LNDSCP
Mello Ranch 2 LNDSCP
Mello Ranch LNDSCP

Meadow View LNDSCP
Bell Crossing LNDSCP
Price Annexation LMA
Stone Creek LNDSCP
Mello Ranch 2 LNDSCP
Sandlewood Square LMA
Silva R¿nch LNDSCP
America West LNDSCP

Mello Ranch LNDSCP

Reserve Lndscp

Reserve Lndscp

Silva Ranch LNDSCP
Applegate Ranch Lndscp

Juniper Meadows LNDSCP
Cottage Gardens ST & LMA
Camellia Meadows LNDSCP
Bell Crossing LNDSCP

Atwater South LNDSCP
Pajaro Dunes LMA
Redwood Estates LMA
Aspenwood Lndscp

Pajaro Dunes LMA
MeadowView LNDSCP

Juniper Meadows LNDSCP

Gas Tax/Street Improvement

Gas Tax,/Street Improvement

Account Name

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

Small Tools

Small Tools

Special Departmental Expense

Small Tools

P¡ofessional Services

Special Departmental Expense

Operations & Maintenance

Professional Services

Vendor Name

WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTON HARDWARE

WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONTTARDWARE
WINTON HARDWARE

WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONFIARDWARE

WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WTNTONHARDWARE

WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTON HARDWARE

MNTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTON HARDWARE

WINTONHARDWARE
V/INTON HARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONHARDWARE
WINTONTIARDWARE

WINTONHARDWARE

X-ERGON

SHIELAYOLNG

Void Amount

3.58

3.58

4.18

3.58

4.18

4.18

3.58

4. 18

3.58

4. 18

4.18

3.58

3.58

3.58

68524

68s24

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

6'¿524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

68s24

68524

68s24

68s24

68524

68524

68524

68524

68524

u 

rr*'ou'ur'*l

08/2212016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

08/2212016

08122/2016

08122/20t6

08/22/2016

08/2212016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6
08/22120r6

08/2212016

08122/2016

08/22/20r6

08/2212016

08/22t2016

08/22/2016

08/22/2016

08/22/20t6
08/22/2016

08122/2016

08122/2016

08/2212016

0812212016

08122/2016

08/22/20t6

08/22t2016

08/22t2016

08122120r6

08122/2016

4.18

3.62

4.t8
3.58

3.58

4.18

3.58

4. l8
4. 18

3.58

4.18

4.1 I
4.18

3.58

4. 18

45.00

72.16

08/22/20L6 Intemal Service Fund

08122/2016 Risk Management Fund

Check Total:

Check Total:

Check Total:

632.58

284.59

284.s9

80.00

80.00

1,420,303.14

AP-Checks forApproval (811712016 - 1:53 PM)

Report Total:

Page20



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

ACTION MINUTES 
 

August 8, 2016 
 
   
OPEN SESSION:  (Council Chambers) 
 
The City Council of the City of Atwater met in Open Session this date at  
5:00 PM in the City Council Chambers located at the Atwater Civic Center,  
750 Bellevue Road, Atwater, California; Mayor Price presiding. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG: 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Mayor Price.   
 
ROLL CALL:      
 
Present:  City Council Members Raymond, Rivero, Vineyard, Mayor Pro 

Tem Bergman, Mayor Price  
Absent:  None       
Staff Present: City Manager/Police Chief Pietro, Deputy City Attorney 

Henderson, City Clerk Del Real, Recording Secretary Saavedra 
 
CLOSED SESSION:  (Conference Room A) 
 
Mayor Price invited public comments on Closed Session items. 
 
No one came forward to speak at this time. 
 
Mayor Price adjourned the meeting to Conference Room A for Closed Session at 
5:01 PM. Closed Session was called to order at 5:05 PM. 
 
Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation – Government Code Section 
54956.9(b): Number of cases: (1)  
 

 
CITY OF ATWATER 

 

 

Minutes 



City Council Meeting Action Minutes for August 8, 2016 Page 2 
 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957, Public Employee Appointment:  City 
Manager 
 
Closed Session adjourned at 5:31 PM. 
 
REGULAR SESSION:  (Council Chambers)  
 
The City Council of the City of Atwater met in Regular Session this date at  
6:00 PM in the City Council Chambers located at the Atwater Civic Center,  
750 Bellevue Road, Atwater, California; Mayor Price presiding. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG: 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Mayor Price.    
 
INVOCATION: 
 
The Invocation was led by Police Chaplain Mead.    
 
ROLL CALL:        
 
Present:  City Council Members Raymond, Rivero, Vineyard, Mayor Pro 

Tem Bergman, Mayor Price   
Absent:  None      
Staff Present: City Manager/Police Chief Pietro, Deputy City Attorney 

Henderson, Police Lieutenant Joseph, Community 
Development Director McBride, Interim Public Works Director 
Faretta, CAL FIRE Battalion Chief Pimentel, City Clerk Del 
Real, Recording Secretary Saavedra 

 
MAYOR OR DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEY REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION: 
 
Deputy City Attorney Henderson reported on two (2) title changes to two (2) City 
employees: City Manager/Police Chief Pietro’s title will remain City Manager; 
Lieutenant Joseph’s title will change to Acting Police Chief. She also reported 
that City Manager Pietro intends to retire on December 31, 2016. Staff was given 
direction regarding the process for selection of a City Manager to replace City 
Manager Pietro upon his retirement. The Closed Session agenda was completed. 
 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS:  None. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: 
 
MOTION:  Mayor Pro Tem Bergman moved to approve the agenda as posted. The 
motion was seconded by City Council Member Vineyard and the vote was: Ayes: 
Rivero, Raymond, Bergman, Vineyard, Price; Noes: None; Absent: None. The 
motion carried.  



City Council Meeting Action Minutes for August 8, 2016 Page 3 
 

COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: 
 
Notice to the public was read. 
 
ADAM REED, Atwater, congratulated City Manager Pietro on his retirement and 
thanked him for serving the City. He stated it would be prudent to wait for the new 
council before appointing a new City Manager.  He spoke regarding garage sales 
and questioned if an encroachment permit was required for yard sales that 
encroach upon the City’s right of way and requested the City look at a specific 
location where continual yard sales occur. 
 
LORI JOHNSON, Atwater, spoke regarding her claim against the City and the 
money she received. She would like someone on the City Council to answer her 
questions.  
 
BOBBIE FRYE, representing Rancho Grande Mobile Home Park residents, spoke 
regarding the owners of the senior mobile home park changing the park into a 
family park. She asked for City Council assistance to prohibit the change.  
 
ROBERT BRIA, Atwater, spoke regarding Rancho Grande Mobile Home Park not 
having a place for children to play and is concerned that a child will get hit or 
killed playing in the streets.  He hoped the City Council can assist in keeping the 
park a senior park. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Bergman requested the City Manger look into this item and take 
action if possible. 
 
City Manger Pietro responded that he is currently working with City Attorney 
Terpstra on this matter and that contact will be made with the group in the near 
future.  
 
No one else came forward to speak.  
 
CONSENT CALENDAR: 
 
MOTION:  City Council Member Vineyard moved to approve the consent calendar 
as listed. The motion was seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Bergman and the vote 
was: Ayes: Bergman, Raymond, Rivero, Vineyard, Price; Noes: None; Absent: 
None. The motion carried.  
 
WARRANTS: 

 
1.  August 8, 2016 
 
ACTION:  Approval of warrants as listed. 
 
  



City Council Meeting Action Minutes for August 8, 2016 Page 4 
 

MINUTES:  (City Council) 
 
2.  Regular meeting, July 25, 2016  
 
ACTION:  Approval of minutes as listed.  
 
ORDINANCES (WAIVING SECOND READING AND ADOPTION): 
 
3. Waiving the second reading and adopting Ordinance No. CS 975 amending Title 

12 “Streets, Sidewalks and Public Places” of the Atwater Municipal Code, to add 
Chapter 12.34, “Use of City Property” (Community Development Director 
McBride)  

 
ACTION:  Waives the second reading and adopts Ordinance No. CS 975 amending 
Title 12 of the Atwater Municipal Code. 
 
REPORTS: 
 
4. Monthly review of local drought emergency (City Attorney Terpstra)  
 
ACTION:  Reaffirms the facts and findings in Resolution No. 2823-15 declaring the 
existence of a local drought emergency.  
 
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS ONLY (NO ACTION REQUIRED): 
 
5. Police Department activities and projects for the month of July, 2016 (Police 

Lieutenant Joseph) 
  
6. Police Volunteer activities for the month of July, 2016 (Police Volunteer Vineyard) 

 
7. Fire Department activities and projects for the month of July, 2016 (CAL FIRE 

Battalion Chief Pimentel) 
 

8. Public Works Department activities and projects for the month of July, 2016 
(Interim Public Works Director Faretta) 
 

ANNUAL PETITIONS: 
 

9. Request from Atwater Chamber of Commerce for assistance with Annual Fall 
Festival (Robert Vargas, President) 

 
ACTION:  Approval of request from Atwater Chamber of Commerce for assistance 
with the Annual Fall Festival to include street closures as follows: 3rd Street from 
Fir Avenue to Grove Avenue, to include Grove Avenue west of 3rd Street to 
Atwater Medical Center parking lot.  
 
 



City Council Meeting Action Minutes for August 8, 2016 Page 5 
 

CITY COUNCIL MATTERS: 
 
Discussion and possible action regarding installation of a security wall/fencing around 
Police Department parking lot (Mayor Price) 
 
MOTION:  City Council Member Vineyard moved to direct staff to bypass the 
normal bid process and move forward with an immediate emergency purchase 
not to exceed $30,000.  The motion was seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Bergman 
and the vote was: Ayes: Vineyard, Bergman, Raymond, Rivero, Price; Noes: 
None; Absent: None. The motion carried. 
 
The original sub-committee of Mayor Pro Tem Bergman and City Council Member 
Vineyard will assist staff in reviewing the bids for the fencing project. City 
Council Member Raymond was appointed as an alternate. 
 
JEANNIE KNIGHT, Atwater, stated a chain link fence would not be good because 
it can be cut and questioned if donations could be accepted to construct the 
fence.  She asked if it was legal for her to put dumpsters in Atwater and donate 
the proceeds to the construction and placement of the fence. 
 
LINDA DASH, Atwater, stated she is willing to make the first donation and knows 
the money to be used for the fence could also be used for something else. She 
questioned if the City could front the money for the project and then be 
reimbursed or offset with future donations.  
 
LORI CHAVEZ, Atwater, suggested a boot drive to receive donations. 
 
ATWATER POLICE DETECTIVE VIERRA, representing the Atwater Police Officers 
Association (APOA), thanked everyone for taking a proactive role and stated 
nothing fancy is needed, he knows the realization is there is no way to eliminate a 
threat, the fence is being requested in order to limit the threat during the 
transition from personal vehicles to police vehicles.  APOA has met with Mayor 
Pro Tem Bergman; the Police Department also feels the financial constraints and 
does not want to burden the City as they are not asking for a bullet proof wall.  
 
City Council comments and requests for future agenda items 
 
City Council Member Vineyard thanked everyone for their prayers and kind words 
for the issues he has been facing.  He stated he still has work ahead and hopes to 
be present at the next City Council meeting.  
 
City Council Member Rivero reminded everyone that school would be in session 
starting next week; many of the children are new at walking to school. He 
cautioned the public to drive slowly and take their time during the new school 
year and stated that God willing this will be a good and safe school year.   
 
  



City Council Meeting Action Minutes for August 8, 2016 Page 6 
 

City Council Member Raymond wished a Happy Birthday to one of the greatest 
men he ever met – his dad.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Bergman wished Mike a Happy Birthday and thanked Frank Pietro 
for his many years of service as a Police Officer and working his way up to Chief.  
He congratulated the newly appointed Acting Police Chief Joseph and added that 
he has many years with the Police Department and will do well.  He thanked Linda 
Dash for standing up and making a donation. He invited the public to make 
donations and stated he is willing to take calls for donations, line things up and 
get it set. 
 
Mayor Price thanked Frank Pietro for his many years as a Police Office in the City 
and is extremely proud to have Frank by his side.  He stated there was a Chamber 
Coffee at the Community Center hosted by Pastor Jeff Leis and Yosemite Church 
who have done phenomenal work and spent a lot of money on the Community 
Center adding new hardwood floors and a sound system and invited the public to 
visit the Community Center to see the changes. He stated that yesterday was 
National Purple Heart Day and thanked surviving veterans who have earned the 
honor for their service and for those passed on may God hold them in his hands.  
 
CLOSED SESSION: 
 
Continuation of Closed Session was not necessary. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
The meeting was adjoined in memory of Vincent Holland. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 6:36 PM.  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
JEANNA DEL REAL, CMC 
CITY CLERK  
 
By: Margarita E. Saavedra, 
Recording Secretary 
 









August 9, 2016 
 
Honorable Mayor and Members  City Council Meeting 
of the Atwater City Council  of August 22, 2016 
 
 

OPEN PUBLIC HEARING, RECEIVE TESTIMONY, CERTIFY THE 
MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION, ADOPT MITIGATION 
MONITORYING AND REPORTING PROGRAM, AND ADOPT THE 
FOLLOWING CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS; 2914-16 APPROVING 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT MASTER PLAN, 2915-16 APPROVING 
PLANNED DEVELOPOMENT FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, 2916-16 
APPROVING TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP 16-1, 2917-16 APPROVING 
TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP 16-2 AND  

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the Atwater City Council take the following actions; 
 

 Open the Public Hearing, receive any testimony, close the hearing; and, 
 

 Approve the following items for the Marketplace at the Colony Planned Development 
and Tentative Parcel Map Project; 

o Certify the Mitigated Negative Declaration and adopt the Mitigation Monitoring 
and Reporting Program 

o Adopt Resolution 2914-16 approving Planned Development Master Plan 
(PDMP) 

o Adopt Resolution 2915-16 approving Planned Development Final 
Development Plan (PDFDP) 

o Adopt 2916-16 Tentative Parcel Map (TMP) for North West corner of Buhach 
Road. and Juniper Avenue 

o Adopt 2917-16 Tentative Parcel Map for South West corner of Buhach Road 
and Juniper Avenue; and, 
 

BACKGROUND: 
The City has received applications, plans, and supporting documents for a proposed 
Commercial Development – Planned Development Project with Tentative Parcel Maps 
for Marketplace at the Colony. The project includes two current parcels APN’s 004-010-
028 and 004-010-029 totaling approximately 29 acres and located at the North West 
and South West Corner of Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue. 
 
The project applicant is Ventana Del Rey a property ownership LLC. The applicant 
purchased the vacant land from the City of Atwater.  The land was sold by the City with 
the proceeds pledged to pay off a portion of the outstanding debt of the Community 
Facilities District 1-90 (CFD – Mello Roos). The debt was retired in August 2015. 
 



Agenda Report – The Marketplace at the Colony Page 2  
 

 

ANALYSIS: 
General Plan – the project site is designated as Commercial in the adopted City of 
Atwater General Plan. 
 
Zoning – the current zoning for the project site is Planned Development (PD).  Pursuant 
to the Zoning Code Section 17.44.010 the overall purpose of the PD Zone is to provide 
a flexible zone district which will implement the City’s General Plan and achieve a 
higher standard of quality of development than typically found in conventional zones. 
 
Project Setting – the project site currently consists of two undeveloped parcels at the 
roadway intersection of Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue.  The site is surrounded by 
existing residential uses to the south, north, and west.  The Buhach Colony High School 
and an unincorporated low density residential portion of Merced County are located to 
the east of the project.   
 
North Parcel – this existing 20.12 acre parcel at the North West Corner of the 
intersection will consist of 14 parcels – to be created when the proposed Tentative 
Parcel Map becomes a Final Map and is recorded.  The parcels can accommodate a 
combined total square footage of 168,150 of commercial building area. The area also 
includes 943 parking stalls, drive aisles, and landscaping. 
 
South Parcel – the existing 8.6 acre parcel at the South West Corner of the intersection 
will consist of six parcels – to be created when the proposed Tentative Parcel Map 
becomes a Final Map and is recorded.  The parcels can accommodate a combined total 
square footage of 81,500.  The area also includes 364 parking stalls drive aisles, and 
landscaping. 
 
Proposed Uses – the entire center has been planned under the Planned Development 
Master Plan (PDMP) which governs the site layout and general uses.  The Planned 
Development Final Development Plan (PDFDP) addresses the common or overall 
architectural theme of the project, all landscaping, and other features.  The project will 
be developed over time as market demand allows. Each of the separate site 
improvements and buildings are likely to be done on a parcel by parcel basis. However 
there is nothing prohibiting a single developer or several developers from developing 
several parcels or all the parcels at one time.  The permitted uses would include general 
retail uses found in a neighborhood center.  The PD allows for flexibility to 
accommodate future needs. The layout can accommodate quick service - drive through 
restaurants, service uses, and general commercial – retail, gas station – market, and 
other similar uses.  All components of the project are able to operate 24 hours and the 
potential sale of on premise consumption and off site consumption of alcohol  is 
permitted – however all future businesses are still required to obtain approval by the 
State Department of Alcohol and Beverage Control (ABC).  
 
Maps – the maps will provide right of way dedication to the City necessary to provide for 
project specific traffic mitigation improvements. The traffic mitigation improvements will 
be constructed on a parcel by parcel basis – summarized in the Environmental section 



Agenda Report – The Marketplace at the Colony Page 3  
 

 

of this document and more fully described in the MND.  The project applicant has 
agreed to enter into a Public Improvement Agreement (PIA) and provide the City with a 
security – bond.  The security would only be called in the event that a parcel specific 
developer that is required to implement specific traffic mitigation improvements fails to 
do so. The City will withhold occupancy on any parcel – building that has not completed 
the required improvements. The Final Maps will not be recorded until such time as the 
agreement is executed and the security is in place and in a form acceptable to the City 
Attorney.  Additionally, Public Utility companies commented on the project and 
requested that easements be recorded as public utilities are constructed. The map 
resolutions include that requirement. The applicant’s Engineer shall also be providing 
map notes or other instruments to ensure that there is reciprocal parking, common 
egress and ingress, and the ability to extend utilities across parcel lines.  These are 
necessary since each parcel map develop independent of the others at different times 
by potentially different developers. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL: 
An Initial Study (IS) and Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) has been prepared by 
an environmental Consultant – Quad Knopf - FPP.  The analysis, approach, findings, 
and proposed mitigation measures are consistent with the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA).   
 
The MND document shall become the guiding document for mitigating all impacts 
associated with the construction and operation of the project.  The following is a brief 
overview related to impacts and potential mitigation measures. 
 
Aesthetics – no significant impacts.  The PDFDP would ensure consistent architectural 
themes and landscaping.  Project lighting shall be designed and maintained to minimize 
reflection and glare. 
 
Agricultural and Forest Resources – no significant impacts.  The project does not 
convert farmland and also does not result in the conversion of forest land. 
 
Air Quality – there are several impacts that are less than significant with mitigation.  An 
air quality analysis consistent with the requirements and standards of the San Joaquin 
Valley Air Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD) was completed for the project.  To help 
mitigate for the project impacts as each specific portion is developed they will participate 
in the SJVAPCD Rule 9510 for indirect source mitigation.  Typically this is achieved by 
paying a fee.  However design features can also be used to offset or achieve a portion 
of the required mitigations.  The project developers will also be required to mitigate for 
dust during construction.  The SJVAPCD also requires projects of this scale to enter into 
a Voluntary Emissions Reduction Agreement (VERA).  That shall be done on a parcel 
by parcel basis as each is developed.  The mitigation may include paying a fee or 
incorporating specific mitigations into the project.  The project would not create a 
Carbon Monoxide Hotspot, would not create significant Diesel Particulate Matter, would 
not contribute to naturally occurring Asbestos, or create objectionable odors. 
 



Agenda Report – The Marketplace at the Colony Page 4  
 

 

Biological Resources – only one issue was potentially identified as less than 
significant with mitigation.  Preconstruction surveys for San Joaquin Kit Fox, American 
Badger, burrowing owls, and Swainson’s Hawk should be done within 14 to 30 days 
prior to any construction on a specific parcel.  The project location is not within the 
database for wetlands or riparian habitat.  
 
Cultural Resources – two items were noted as less than significant with mitigation.  It 
is unlikely that any subsurface prehistoric cultural deposits exist or any previously 
unknown human remains however if any are identified during construction specific 
measures are identified. 
 
Geology/Soils – all potential impacts are less than significant with no mitigation.  All 
future buildings shall be built in accordance with the International Building Code and 
designed for potential seismic episodes. It should be noted that a soils test including 
compaction will be required before any site grading, building, or off-site traffic 
improvement work is implemented. 
 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions – two issues are less than significant with mitigation.  The 
project shall implement various mitigation measures including using low VOC for 
cleaning supplies, not including any open flame hearths in any of the future buildings, 
using low VOC paint, using energy efficient lighting, and providing charging stations for 
outdoor electrical equipment. 
 
Hazards/Hazardous Materials – all impacts are less than significant. 
 
Hydrology/Water Quality – all impacts are less than significant or no impact, only one 
impact is less than significant with mitigation.  As each parcel is developed they shall 
create site grading and draining plans and shall also contain a Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP).  The project will drain into an existing storm drain basin 
maintained by the City of Atwater.  All parcels shall pay into the annual assessment for 
the maintenance of the facilities.  Additionally as each parcel is developed it shall 
contribute a per acre fee to allow for the expansion of the city’s basin providing for an 
additional 2,755 cubic yards of capacity to accommodate the full build out of the project.  
The fee will be collected at the time of a building permit for each separate parcel.  The 
project will also be served by the City’s water system for domestic and landscape 
irrigation needs. The City’s facilities can accommodate the project. 
 
Land Use Planning – all are less than significant or no impact.  The project is 
consistent with the General Plan and Title 17 Zoning. 
 
Mineral Resources - all have no impact 
 
Noise – all are less than significant.  To mitigate for potential noise impacts the project 
has setbacks from adjacent uses, Chapter 17.38.040 (F) also requires the construction 
of a solid wall between a residential use and a commercial use.  The construction of the 
solid wall will be completed on a parcel by parcel basis as the parcels adjacent to 



Agenda Report – The Marketplace at the Colony Page 5  
 

 

residential uses are implemented - developed.  These will primarily be the west property 
line, south property line on the southern map, and the north property line on the 
northern map.  No block will be constructed along the property lines next to Buhach 
Road. 
 
Population and Housing - all are less than significant or no impact.  The project does 
not include any proposed residential units and is unlikely to displace any existing 
residential development. 
 
Public Services - all are less than significant.  Fire services will be provided by the City 
of Atwater’s contract provider CAL Fire.  The City of Atwater Police will provide services 
as well. 
 
Recreation – no impacts. 
 
Transportation/Traffic – the project has various potential impacts most are less than 
significant or no impact, only one is less than significant with mitigation.  Since the 
project will be implemented over time likely on a parcel by parcel basis the traffic impact 
mitigation measures have been prepared and are parcel specific.  The Mitigation 
Measures describe the specific item that the specific parcel is required to implement.  
Each specific parcel shall also be required to prepare improvement plans for the work 
which will be reviewed by the City’s Contract Engineer prior to construction.  The parcel 
specific mitigation measures were prepared by the City’s contract Traffic Engineer upon 
review of the Focused Traffic Impact Study prepared by the applicant’s Traffic Engineer 
– Arch Beech Consulting. The mitigation measures were reviewed by the applicant and 
accepted, they were also peer reviewed by Quad Knopf - FPP. 
 
The following is a summary of the traffic mitigation measures to be implemented.    The 
MND and the supporting appendices include mitigation measures which are based on 
specific parcel development approach.  These items will be implemented as the specific 
parcel development occurs; 
 
EXISTING PLUS PROJECT 

 Signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane and install 
pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the California Manual 
of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south legs of 
the intersection, and at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the 
westbound left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the 
shopping center).  

 Modify the traffic signal at the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to 
implement protective left turn phasing in all directions and to accommodate the 
following: 

o Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane.  
o Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane.  
o Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-Turns from 

the existing eastbound left turn lane.   



Agenda Report – The Marketplace at the Colony Page 6  
 

 

 Modify the existing concrete median island on Buhach Road at the Buhach 
Colony High School Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left turn 
movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to 
the school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration.  

 
YEAR 2017 PLUS PROJECT 

 Signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane and install 
pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the California Manual 
of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south legs of 
the intersection, and, at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the 
westbound left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the 
shopping center).  

 Modify the traffic signal at the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to 
implement protective left turn phasing in all directions and to accommodate the 
following: 

o Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane.  
o Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane.  
o Construct a second westbound through lane. 
o Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-Turns from 

the existing eastbound left turn lane.  

 Modify the existing concrete median island on Buhach Road at the Buhach 
Colony High School Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left turn 
movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to 
the school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration.  

 Additional technical traffic analyses will likely be required in the future for specific 
development phases to determine the level of mitigation needed by that specific 
phase. As the TIS only determined traffic mitigation measures needed if the 
proposed Project is built out by the end of 2017, and development of the Project 
is very likely to take place well beyond 2017. 

 
CONCLUSION: 
This report is submitted for Atwater City Council consideration and possible action.  The 
Community Development and Resources Commission held a Special Meeting on 
Tuesday, August 2nd to discuss the proposed project.  The Commission unanimously 
recommended that the Atwater City Council approve with minor modifications to the 
approving resolutions which have been incorporated.    
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Scott McBride 
Community Development Director 
City of Atwater 
 



Agenda Report – The Marketplace at the Colony Page 7  
 

 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. North and South Layout  
2. North Layout 
3. South Layout 
4. Landscape Plan  
5. North TPM 
6. South TPM 
7. Design Guidelines 
8. Mitigated Negative Declaration with Appendices and MMRP 
9. Comment Letters 
10. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

 

 

 
 
 



SIGNALED
INTERSECTION

GROCERY
±41,200 SF

F.F.
±3,200 SF

GAS
±3,000 S.F.

F.F.
±3,200 SF

F.F.
±3,900 SF F.F.

±3,500 SF

RETAIL
±6,250 SF

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

F.F.
±3,400 SF

100'

216'

50'

12
5'

130'

130'

16
2'

15
4'

20
8'

41'

88
'

40'

95
'

41'

83
'

40'

80
'

160'

10
0'

60
'

160'

24
3'

80'

40
'

102'

13
4'

102'

13
4'

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

T.E.
AREA

85 SEATS

90 SEATS

85 SEATS

95 SEATS

95 SEATS

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

TRASH
COMPACTOR

TRASH
COMPACTOR

EA
SE

M
EN

T 
A

N
D

 F
UT

UR
E 

D
ED

IC
A

TIO
N

T.E.
AREA

130'130'

15
4'

20
8'

T.E.
AREA

F.F.
±3,500 SF

88
'

41'

85 SEATS

50'

95
'

50'

95
'

RETAIL
±4,800 SF

RETAIL
±4,800 SF

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

BUS BAY

PARKING REQUIRED 363 STALLS

BUILDING SUMMARY

F.A.R. 0.22

PARKING SUMMARY

±8.6 AC    ±374,427 SFSITE AREA

PROJECT SUMMARY - SOUTH

GLA
GROCERY ±41,200 SF

PARKING PROVIDED 364 STALLS

TOTAL ±81,100 SF

SHOPS
±10,000 SFMAJOR

±9,500 SF

PK'G REQ'D
165 STALLS

363 STALLS

40 STALLS
38 STALLS

±14,000 SFPHARMACY 56 STALLS

F.F. ±6,400 SF 64 STALLS

OVERALL PARKING RATIO 4.5 / 1000

PROPERTY LINE

LEGEND

PEDESTRIAN PATH

PARAPET @ 28'
TOWER @ 36'

PARAPET @ 24'
TOWER @ 28'

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
For APN/Parcel ID(s): 004-010-028; 004-010-029
THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW IS SITUATED IN
THE UNINCORPORATED AREA IN COUNTY
OF MERCED, STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND IS DESCRIBED
AS FOLLOWS:
Lots 7 and 12, according to map entitled "Price
Subdivision", filed September 10, 1990 in Volume 38 of
Official
Records, at Pages 34, 35, 36, 37, 38 and 39, Merced
County Records.

PARKING REQUIRED 254 STALLS

BUILDING SUMMARY

F.A.R. 0.17

PARKING SUMMARY

±7.73 AC    ±336,748 SFSITE AREA

PROJECT SUMMARY - NORTH 2

GLA
MAJORS ±45,000 SF

PARKING PROVIDED 346 STALLS

TOTAL ±58,100 SF

±9,600 SFRETAIL

PK'G REQ'D
180 STALLS

254 STALLS

39 STALLS

PARKING PROVIDED 5.95 / 1000

±3,500 SFF.F. 35 STALLS

PARKING REQUIRED 597 STALLS

BUILDING SUMMARY

F.A.R.

PARKING SUMMARY

±12.5 AC    ±545,995 SFSITE AREA

PROJECT SUMMARY - NORTH

GLA
MAJORS ±90,000 SF

PARKING PROVIDED 597 STALLS

TOTAL ±110,050 SF
GAS

±6,250 SFRETAIL

±3,000 SF

PK'G REQ'D
473 STALLS

597 STALLS

25 STALLS

12 STALLS

PARKING PROVIDED 5.43 / 1000

±10,800 SFF.F. 87 STALLS

0.20

PROPOSED
PROPERTY LINE

August 6, 2015

SWC JUNIPER AVE & BUHACH ROAD NOTE:  THIS INFORMATION IS CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND IS SUBJECT TO
ADJUSTMENTS PENDING FURTHER VERIFICATION AND CLIENT, TENANT, AND
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY APPROVALS.  NO WARRANTIES OR GUARANTIES OF
ANY KIND ARE GIVEN OR IMPLIED BY THE ARCHITECT.



120' 60' 30' 0'

SCALE: 1" = 60'

1 1 7  E .  C o l o r a d o
B l v d . ,  S u i t e  5 0 0
Pasadena, CA 91105
t :  6 2 6 . 7 9 6 . 8 2 3 0
f :  6 2 6 . 7 9 6 . 8 7 3 5

DLR GroupATWATER, CA
75-137XX-00

Site Plan - Proposed SK1

500 South Sepulveda Blvd.
#304 Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
T. (650) 400-4030

HW
Y 

99

SA
NTE

 FE
 D

R.

JUN
IPER A

V
E.

A
V

E.
 O

N
E

BUHACH AVE.

C
A

N
A

L

SITE



SF

GAS
±3,000 S.F.

F.F.
±3,900 SF F.F.

±3,500 SF

RETAIL
±6,250 SF

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

F.F.
±3,400 SF

216'

50'

12
5'

130'

130'

16
2'

15
4'

20
8'

41'

88
'

40'

95
'

41'

83
'

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

T.E.
AREA

85 SEATS

90 SEATS

85 SEATS

S

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

EA
SE

M
EN

T 
A

N
D

 F
UT

UR
E 

D
ED

IC
A

TIO
N

20
8'

F
±3,5

4

85 S

BUS BAY

PARKING REQUIRED 597 STALLS

BUILDING SUMMARY

F.A.R.

PARKING SUMMARY

±12.5 AC    ±545,995 SFSITE AREA

PROJECT SUMMARY - NORTH

GLA
MAJORS ±90,000 SF

PARKING PROVIDED 597 STALLS

TOTAL ±110,050 SF
GAS

±6,250 SFRETAIL

±3,000 SF

PK'G REQ'D
473 STALLS

597 STALLS

25 STALLS

12 STALLS

PARKING PROVIDED 5.43 / 1000

±10,800 SFF.F. 87 STALLS

0.20

August 11, 2015

SWC JUNIPER AVE & BUHACH ROAD NOTE:  THIS INFORMATION IS CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND IS SUBJECT TO
ADJUSTMENTS PENDING FURTHER VERIFICATION AND CLIENT, TENANT, AND
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY APPROVALS.  NO WARRANTIES OR GUARANTIES OF
ANY KIND ARE GIVEN OR IMPLIED BY THE ARCHITECT.



1 1 7  E .  C o l o r a d o
B l v d . ,  S u i t e  5 0 0
Pasadena, CA 91105
t :  6 2 6 . 7 9 6 . 8 2 3 0
f :  6 2 6 . 7 9 6 . 8 7 3 5

DLR GroupATWATER, CA
75-137XX-00

Site Plan - Proposed SK1

500 South Sepulveda Blvd.
#304 Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
T. (650) 400-4030

30' 0'

SCALE: 1" = 30'

15'60'



F.F.
±3,500 SF

RETAIL
±6,250 SF

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

50'

12
5'

130'

20
8'

41'

88
'

SED
GE

T.E.
AREA

85 SEATS

T.E.
AREA

130'130'

15
4'

20
8'

T.E.
AREA

F.F.
±3,500 SF

88
'

41'

85 SEATS

50'

95
'

50'

95
'

RETAIL
±4,800 SF

RETAIL
±4,800 SF

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

BUS BAY

PARKING REQUIRED 254 STALLS

BUILDING SUMMARY

F.A.R. 0.17

PARKING SUMMARY

±7.73 AC    ±336,748 SFSITE AREA

PROJECT SUMMARY - NORTH 2

GLA
MAJORS ±45,000 SF

PARKING PROVIDED 346 STALLS

TOTAL ±58,100 SF

±9,600 SFRETAIL

PK'G REQ'D
180 STALLS

254 STALLS

39 STALLS

PARKING PROVIDED 5.95 / 1000

±3,500 SFF.F. 35 STALLS

August 11, 2015

SWC JUNIPER AVE & BUHACH ROAD NOTE:  THIS INFORMATION IS CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND IS SUBJECT TO
ADJUSTMENTS PENDING FURTHER VERIFICATION AND CLIENT, TENANT, AND
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY APPROVALS.  NO WARRANTIES OR GUARANTIES OF
ANY KIND ARE GIVEN OR IMPLIED BY THE ARCHITECT.



1 1 7  E .  C o l o r a d o
B l v d . ,  S u i t e  5 0 0
Pasadena, CA 91105
t :  6 2 6 . 7 9 6 . 8 2 3 0
f :  6 2 6 . 7 9 6 . 8 7 3 5

DLR GroupATWATER, CA
75-137XX-00

Site Plan - Proposed SK1

500 South Sepulveda Blvd.
#304 Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
T. (650) 400-4030

30' 0'

SCALE: 1" = 30'

15'60'



SIGNALED
INTERSECTION

GROCERY
±41,200 SF

F.F.
±3,200 SF

F.F.
±3,200 SF

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

T.E.
AREA

100' 40'

80
'

160'

10
0'

60
'

160'

24
3'

80'
40

'

102'

13
4'

102'

13
4'

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

PROPOSED
SIGNAGE

95 SEATS

95 SEATS

T.E.
AREA

TRASH
COMPACTOR

TRASH
COMPACTOR

PARKING REQUIRED 363 STALLS

BUILDING SUMMARY

F.A.R. 0.22

PARKING SUMMARY

±8.6 AC    ±374,427 SFSITE AREA

PROJECT SUMMARY - SOUTH

GLA
GROCERY ±41,200 SF

PARKING PROVIDED 364 STALLS

TOTAL ±81,100 SF

SHOPS
±10,000 SFMAJOR
±9,500 SF

PK'G REQ'D
165 STALLS

363 STALLS

40 STALLS
38 STALLS

±14,000 SFPHARMACY 56 STALLS

F.F. ±6,400 SF 64 STALLS

OVERALL PARKING RATIO 4.5 / 1000

August 11, 2015

SWC JUNIPER AVE & BUHACH ROAD NOTE:  THIS INFORMATION IS CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND IS SUBJECT TO
ADJUSTMENTS PENDING FURTHER VERIFICATION AND CLIENT, TENANT, AND
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY APPROVALS.  NO WARRANTIES OR GUARANTIES OF
ANY KIND ARE GIVEN OR IMPLIED BY THE ARCHITECT.



30' 0'

SCALE: 1" = 30'

1 1 7  E .  C o l o r a d o
B l v d . ,  S u i t e  5 0 0
Pasadena, CA 91105
t :  6 2 6 . 7 9 6 . 8 2 3 0
f :  6 2 6 . 7 9 6 . 8 7 3 5

DLR GroupATWATER, CA
75-137XX-00

Site Plan - Proposed SK1

500 South Sepulveda Blvd.
#304 Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
T. (650) 400-4030

15'60'



April 9, 2015

SWC JUNIPER AVE & BUHACH ROAD NOTE:  THIS INFORMATION  IS CONCEPTUAL  IN NATURE  AND IS SUBJECT TO
ADJUSTMENTS  PENDING FURTHER VERIFICATION  AND CLIENT, TENANT,  AND
GOVERNMENTAL  AGENCY APPROVALS.   NO WARRANTIES  OR GUARANTIES  OF
ANY KIND ARE GIVEN OR IMPLIED BY THE ARCHITECT.

120' 60' 30' 0'

SCALE: 1" = 60'

ATWATER, CA
14-9650

Landscape Concept Plan - Proposed LC1

500 South Sepulveda Blvd.
#304 Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
T. (650) 400-4030 C C incA

CA 3583   AZ 30100   NV 578    CLARB 319

Q:\DDRIVE\DWGFILE\COMMERCIAL\DLR-KKe\14-9650 Juniper Ave & Buhach Atwater\SD's\040815.dwg







ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES 1

ATWATER RETAIL CENTER
DESIGN GUIDELINES



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES2

DESIGN GUIDELINES

This section of the Design Guidelines describes the Design Standards and Guidelines for develop-
ment of Purchaser/Lessor buildings and for building not constructed by Purchaser/Lessor. 

Purchasor/Lessor and the designated architect shall review the illustrations of Atwater Retail Center’s 
exterior elevations and entrances that are included in this document to maintain conformity to the 
design intent.  Purchasor/Lessor may unique national branding that will receive special consideration 

and approval so long as the concept meets the spirit of the Design Guidelines.

 A. Architectural Design
The design of the Atwater Retail Center should be inspired by California Mission style of architecture.   
It should contain elements of architecture characteristic of this style of architecture, such as wide and 
projecting eaves, low sloping tile roofs, and broad and undecorated wall surfaces.

 B. Building Wall Height and Treatment

Outparcel buildings shall not exceed 28 feet above finish grade at the primary building parapet.  En-
try features, towers, architectural projects may be taller, but shall not exceed 40’.  

The Atwater Retail Center has treated its stucco walls with color and pattern; the wall pattern is cre-
ated with reveals, stone medallions and special fixtures.  Similar treatments are required for outparcel 
buildings, in order to add interest and detail.  Where flat roofs are used the building wall should end 
in an 18” – 30” high decorative cornice detailed similar.  Sloping roofs shall be used and shall utilize 
clay mission tile, to break up the massing of the building.   

Light-colored stucco or stone accents, and columns, smooth and split faced masonry, heavy timber 
canopies, wood trellis’, etc. create the integrated aesthetics of the Atwater Retail Center.  Similar or 
identical materials, finishes, and color will unify the development.  Metal canopies and/or fabric aw-
nings are encouraged

Screen Walls

Screen walls are used on buildings to conceal service areas.  Screen walls shall be constructed of con-
crete masonry units with a light sand plaster finish with foam cornice treatment.   

Materials and Colors

Purchasor/Lessor buildings shall utilize materials, finishes, and colors which match or complement 
the Atwater Retail Center, Light-colored, light sand finish plaster or stone accents, and columns, 
smooth and split faced masonry, heavy timber canopies, wood trellis’, etc. create the integrated aes-
thetics of Shoppes at Spanish Trail.

Screening

All mechanical and/or electrical units; roof top or ground mounted must be screened from public 
view with the same material used on the building façade.  Whenever possible the exterior build-
ing walls will be extended to accomplish this.  Metal screen walls are not permitted.  Pad-mounted 
equipment is required to be screened with masonry walls and /or plant material, where possible.



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES 3

Trash Enclosures

All trash enclosures shall match the Atwater Retail Center standard for finishes and City of Atwater 
Public Work Standards.  Trash enclosures shall be a minimum of 6’ high with split face masonry walls 
and pre-cast concrete caps.  Gates shall be steel frames with metal decking infill and painted.  

Orientation

All buildings are subject to the setback requirements per City of Atwater local zoning ordinances and 
building codes.

Prohibited Exterior Elements

Exterior exposed fire escapes, exposed service stairs or ladders, radio or television towers, and anten-
nae or satellite receivers are not permitted. All flat roof drainage is to be handled with an internal 
drainage system. No scuppers or leaders for flat roofs may be visible to the public.

 C. Site Access and Traffic Flow

The Atwater Retail Center is located on the intersection of Juniper Ave. and Buhach Road. Access to 
both the North and South sites may be from either Buhach Road or Juniper Ave. 

For out parcel development and tenant developed buildings, scope of work shall generally be from 
inside face of curb unless a limit of work line has been established with the City of Atwater prior to 
the start of construction.  Should the scope of work include a portion of site development, the loca-
tion of drive aisles, parking stalls, planters, trash enclosures shall be in conformance with the overall 
site plan and this design guidelines and may be subject to City of Atwater approval.

Entrances directing traffic to a “head – on” parking condition are to be avoided.

Drive – through facilities are to allow for sufficient vehicle stacking distance (current Development 
Code requirement is six car lengths from the order box, which shall be the minimum stacking al-
lowed) and should be remote from parcel access points.

Asphalt curbs are not permitted in any location within the development.

All curb returns for access driveways are to have a 15’-0” minimum radius.

Service access for semi tractor – trailer or fire trucks requires wider driveways and greater radii and 
shall be designed accordingly.  

All Pedestrian access is to be clearly identified.  Should pedestrian access cross a landscaped area, it 
is to be via a 5’-0” wide (clear dimension) hard surfaced sidewalk.  Should pedestrian access cross a 
drive aisle, the access point shall be clearly marked as a pedestrian cross walk.  

Site requirements, as well as all other design concerns included herein, may require modification or 
coordination in order to accommodate multiple operators on one parcel.

Access drives may be shared with the adjacent property owner/user.  Purchasers/Lessor are required 



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES4

to open and align parking drives to the adjacent property parking lot to facilitate access/egress.

 D. Site Paving

The pavement section of parking areas are to conform to the minimum pavement sections as speci-
fied in the soils report and City of Atwater Requirements.  All parking pavement is to be asphalt pave-
ment.  Decorative/accent paving may be in stamped/scored concrete and/or pavers.  The City must 
approve any decorative paving.  Trash enclosures and adjacent truck service areas shall be construct-
ed of concrete pavement.

Heavy traffic lanes are to be provided with a heavy duty pavement section per the soils report speci-
fications.

All paved areas shall receive a curb or a curb and gutter section at all terminations.  Type of curb shall 
conform to the curb section used on the general parking area.  Minimum height of curb or curb and 
gutter above paved area shall be six inches.

 4” (Four inch) thick concrete sidewalks are to be provided along the front of all buildings and where 
otherwise necessary by Purchasers/Lessor or per soils report.  In some instances, a pedestrian travel 
way may be required from the public streets to the ring road through the Purchasers/Lessor property.  
The walks are to be broom finished.

Handicapped ramps are to be provided and constructed as required by local codes and the Ameri-
cans with Disabilities Act and Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations. 

Purchasor/Lessor paving, curb, walk and gutter operations are not to commence prior to the installa-
tion of underground utilities.  Paving operations and utility installation is to be coordinated with the 
Construction Manager so that such installation does not cause unnecessary inconvenience to shop-
ping center operations, or pedestrian or vehicular traffic.

 E. Site Lighting

The design of the site and building lighting for the Atwater Retail Center should carefully consider 
enhancing the architectural theme of the project while providing for the safety, security, and privacy 
of other.  

1. All parking lot lighting fixtures are to match the style of the developer’s/site standard.  Outdoor 
lighting shall conform to city ordinances. 

2. Architectural wall mounted light fixtures shall enhance the architectural theme of the project and 
be consistent with the style of architecture.

3. Security wall mounted light fixtures shall be dark bronze or painted to match the building exterior.  
Security lighting shall be fully shielded.

4. Outdoor/landscape lighting is encouraged to highlight monument sign, building signage, archi-
tectural features, or landscape features such as ornamental trees, pathways, or pedestrian 



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES 5



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES6

STYLE OF ARCHITECTURE - INSPIRATION IMAGES



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES 7



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES8

ARCHITECTURAL DETAILS - INSPIRATION IMAGES



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES 9



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES10

SPANISH REVIVAL



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES 11

HE
RN

D
O

N
 A

V
EN

UE
 A

N
D

 B
RY

A
N

 A
V

EN
UE

N
O

TE
: 

 T
H

IS
 IN

FO
RM

A
TI

O
N

 IS
 C

O
N

C
EP

TU
A

L 
IN

 N
A

TU
RE

 A
N

D
 IS

 S
UB

JE
C

T 
TO

 A
D

JU
ST

M
EN

TS
 

PE
N

D
IN

G
 F

UR
TH

ER
 V

ER
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

 A
N

D
 C

LIE
N

T,
 

TE
N

A
N

T,
 A

N
D

 G
O

V
ER

N
M

EN
TA

L 
A

G
EN

C
Y 

A
P-

PR
O

V
A

LS
.  

N
O

 W
A

RR
A

N
TIE

S 
O

R 
G

UA
RA

N
TIE

S 
O

F 
A

N
Y 

KI
N

D
 A

RE
 G

IV
EN

 O
R 

IM
PL

IE
D

 B
Y 

TH
E 

A
RC

HI
TE

C
T.

5
2
5
 E

. 
C
O
L
O
R
A
D
O
 B

O
U
L
E
V
A
R
D
 

4
T
H
 F

L
O
O
R

P
A
S
A
D
E
N
A
, 
C
A
 9

11
0
1

T
 6

2
6
.7

9
6
.8

2
3
0

F
 6

2
6
.7

9
6
.8

7
3
5

0
81

3
.1
0
84

.0
1

se
pt

m
eb

er
, 
2
0
10

M
A

RK
ET

PL
A

C
E 

A
T 

EL
 P

A
SE

O
FR

ES
N

O
, C

A
LI

FO
RN

IA

FR
E

SN
O

 S
H

O
R

E
S,

 L
L

C

3.
 1

1

W
A

LL
 S

EC
TIO

N
S

HE
RN

D
O

N
 A

V
EN

UE
 A

N
D

 B
RY

A
N

 A
V

EN
UE

N
O

TE
: 

 T
H

IS
 IN

FO
RM

A
TI

O
N

 IS
 C

O
N

C
EP

TU
A

L 
IN

 N
A

TU
RE

 A
N

D
 IS

 S
UB

JE
C

T 
TO

 A
D

JU
ST

M
EN

TS
 

PE
N

D
IN

G
 F

UR
TH

ER
 V

ER
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

 A
N

D
 C

LIE
N

T,
 

TE
N

A
N

T,
 A

N
D

 G
O

V
ER

N
M

EN
TA

L 
A

G
EN

C
Y 

A
P-

PR
O

V
A

LS
.  

N
O

 W
A

RR
A

N
TIE

S 
O

R 
G

UA
RA

N
TIE

S 
O

F 
A

N
Y 

KI
N

D
 A

RE
 G

IV
EN

 O
R 

IM
PL

IE
D

 B
Y 

TH
E 

A
RC

HI
TE

C
T.

5
2
5
 E

. 
C
O
L
O
R
A
D
O
 B

O
U
L
E
V
A
R
D
 

4
T
H
 F

L
O
O
R

P
A
S
A
D
E
N
A
, 
C
A
 9

11
0
1

T
 6

2
6
.7

9
6
.8

2
3
0

F
 6

2
6
.7

9
6
.8

7
3
5

0
81

3
.1
0
84

.0
1

S
E
P
T
E

B
E
R
 1
8,

 

M
A

RK
ET

PL
A

C
E 

A
T 

EL
 P

A
SE

O
FR

ES
N

O
, C

A
LI

FO
RN

IA

C
O
P

R


H
T
  
2
0
0
7

C

FR
E

SN
O

 S
H

O
R

E
S,

 L
L

C

A
1.

33

W
A

LL
 S

EC
TIO

N
S

HE
RN

D
O

N
 A

V
EN

UE
 A

N
D

 B
RY

A
N

 A
V

EN
UE

N
O

TE
: 

 T
H

IS
 IN

FO
RM

A
TI

O
N

 IS
 C

O
N

C
EP

TU
A

L 
IN

 N
A

TU
RE

 A
N

D
 IS

 S
UB

JE
C

T 
TO

 A
D

JU
ST

M
EN

TS
 

PE
N

D
IN

G
 F

UR
TH

ER
 V

ER
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

 A
N

D
 C

LIE
N

T,
 

TE
N

A
N

T,
 A

N
D

 G
O

V
ER

N
M

EN
TA

L 
A

G
EN

C
Y 

A
P-

PR
O

V
A

LS
.  

N
O

 W
A

RR
A

N
TIE

S 
O

R 
G

UA
RA

N
TIE

S 
O

F 
A

N
Y 

KI
N

D
 A

RE
 G

IV
EN

 O
R 

IM
PL

IE
D

 B
Y 

TH
E 

A
RC

HI
TE

C
T.

5
2
5
 E

. 
C
O
L
O
R
A
D
O
 B

O
U
L
E
V
A
R
D
 

4
T
H
 F

L
O
O
R

P
A
S
A
D
E
N
A
, 
C
A
 9

11
0
1

T
 6

2
6
.7

9
6
.8

2
3
0

F
 6

2
6
.7

9
6
.8

7
3
5

0
81

3
.1
0
84

.0
1

S
E
P
T
E

B
E
R
 1
8,

 

M
A

RK
ET

PL
A

C
E 

A
T 

EL
 P

A
SE

O
FR

ES
N

O
, C

A
LI

FO
RN

IA

C
O
P

R


H
T
  
2
0
0
7

C

FR
E

SN
O

 S
H

O
R

E
S,

 L
L

C

A
1.

33

W
A

LL
 S

EC
TIO

N
S

HE
RN

D
O

N
 A

V
EN

UE
 A

N
D

 B
RY

A
N

 A
V

EN
UE

N
O

TE
: 

 T
H

IS
 IN

FO
RM

A
TI

O
N

 IS
 C

O
N

C
EP

TU
A

L 
IN

 N
A

TU
RE

 A
N

D
 IS

 S
UB

JE
C

T 
TO

 A
D

JU
ST

M
EN

TS
 

PE
N

D
IN

G
 F

UR
TH

ER
 V

ER
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

 A
N

D
 C

LIE
N

T,
 

TE
N

A
N

T,
 A

N
D

 G
O

V
ER

N
M

EN
TA

L 
A

G
EN

C
Y 

A
P-

PR
O

V
A

LS
.  

N
O

 W
A

RR
A

N
TIE

S 
O

R 
G

UA
RA

N
TIE

S 
O

F 
A

N
Y 

KI
N

D
 A

RE
 G

IV
EN

 O
R 

IM
PL

IE
D

 B
Y 

TH
E 

A
RC

HI
TE

C
T.

5
2
5
 E

. 
C
O
L
O
R
A
D
O
 B

O
U
L
E
V
A
R
D
 

4
T
H
 F

L
O
O
R

P
A
S
A
D
E
N
A
, 
C
A
 9

11
0
1

T
 6

2
6
.7

9
6
.8

2
3
0

F
 6

2
6
.7

9
6
.8

7
3
5

0
81

3
.1
0
84

.0
1

S
E
P
T
E

B
E
R
 1
8,

 

M
A

RK
ET

PL
A

C
E 

A
T 

EL
 P

A
SE

O
FR

ES
N

O
, C

A
LI

FO
RN

IA

C
O
P

R


H
T
  
2
0
0
7

C

FR
E

SN
O

 S
H

O
R

E
S,

 L
L

C

A
1.

33

W
A

LL
 S

EC
TIO

N
S

Version 4



ATWATER RETAIL CENTER - DESIGN GUIDELINES12

Version 4



 

 
CITY OF ATWATER 

Draft Initial Study/ Mitigated Negative Declaration 

Marketplace at the Colony 
Planned Development and Tentative Parcel Map 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 2016 
 
 
 

 





 

 
CITY OF ATWATER 

Draft Initial Study/ Mitigated Negative Declaration 

Marketplace at the Colony 
Planned Development and Tentative Parcel Map 

 

Prepared for: 
 

City of Atwater 
Community Development Department 

750 Bellevue Road 
Atwater, CA 95301 

 

Consultant: 
 

 
 

2816 Park Avenue 
Merced, CA 95348 

 

 

 
 
 

AT150081 

 





 i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
  
1.0 Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 1-1 
 
 1.1 Purpose and Authority ........................................................................................ 1-1 
 1.2 Procedures ........................................................................................................... 1-1 
 1.3 Organization of the Initial Study ......................................................................... 1-1 
 1.4 Determination ..................................................................................................... 1-2 
 

2.0 Project Description .......................................................................................................... 2-1 
 
 2.1 Location and Environmental Setting .................................................................. 2-1 
 2.2 Proposed Action .................................................................................................. 2-1 
 2.3 Project Description & Background ..................................................................... 2-1 
 
3.0 Environmental Checklist .................................................................................................. 3-1 
  
 3.1 Aesthetics ............................................................................................................ 3-5 
 3.2 Agricultural and Forest Resources ...................................................................... 3-8 
 3.3 Air Quality ........................................................................................................ 3-10 
 3.4 Biological Resources ........................................................................................ 3-18 
 3.5 Cultural Resources ............................................................................................ 3-24 
 3.6 Geology/Soils .................................................................................................... 3-27 
 3.7 Greenhouse Gas Emissions ............................................................................... 3-32 
 3.8 Hazards/Hazardous Materials ........................................................................... 3-42 
 3.9 Hydrology/Water Quality  ................................................................................ 3-45 
 3.10 Land Use/Planning ............................................................................................ 3-54 
 3.11 Mineral Resources ............................................................................................ 3-56 
 3.12 Noise ................................................................................................................. 3-57 
 3.13 Population and Housing .................................................................................... 3-62 
 3.14 Public Services .................................................................................................. 3-63 
 3.15 Recreation ......................................................................................................... 3-65 
 3.16 Transportation/Traffic ....................................................................................... 3-66 
 3.17 Utilities/Service Systems .................................................................................. 3-76 
 3.18 Mandatory Findings of Significance  ................................................................ 3-80 
 
4.0 Mitigation Measures. ........................................................................................................ 4-1 
 
 
5.0 List of Preparers .............................................................................................................. 5-1 
 
Appendices 

Appendix A CalEEMod Model Results 
 Greenhouse Gas Emissions Spreadsheet 

Appendix B Biological Desktop Analysis 
 
Appendix C Cultural Records Search 



 ii 
 

 
Appendix D Focused Traffic Impact Study 

 

LIST OF TABLES 
 
Table     Page 
No.  Title No. 
 
3-1 Surrounding Land Use .............................................................................................. 3-2 
3.3-1 Project Input Information for CalEEMod ............................................................... 3-12 
3.3-2 Construction Emissions (2016) ............................................................................... 3-13 
3.3-3 Operational Emissions (2030)................................................................................. 3-14 
3.7-1 Project Operational GHGs ...................................................................................... 3-33 
3.7-2 Consistency with General Plan Goals and Policies ................................................ 3-34 
3.7-3 Consistency with Applicable Scoping Plan Reduction Measures .......................... 3-39  
3.12-1 Estimated Construction Noise Levels ..................................................................... 3-60 
3.16-1 Existing Condition Intersection Level of Service Summary .................................. 3-67 
3.16-2 Existing plus Project Intersection Level of Service Summary ............................... 3-68 
3.16-3 Opening Year 2017 Baseline Intersection Level of Service Summary .................. 3-69 
3.16-4 Opening Year 2017 plus Project Intersection Level of Service Summary ............. 3-69 
 
 
 
 
LIST OF FIGURES 
 
Figure     Following Page 
No.  Title No. 
 
2-1 Regional Location Map ............................................................................................. 2-3 
2-2 Vicinity Map ............................................................................................................. 2-4 
2-3 Site Boundary Map ................................................................................................... 2-5 
2-4 Tentative Parcel Map - North ................................................................................... 2-6 
2-5 Tentative Parcel Map - South ................................................................................... 2-7 
2-6 Planned Development Master Plan ........................................................................... 2-8 
3.6-1 Soils Map ................................................................................................................ 3-30 
3.9-1 FEMA Flood Zone Map.......................................................................................... 3-52 



INITIAL STUDY 





1.0  INTRODUCTION 





Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 1-1 

1.0   INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1   Purpose and Authority 
 
This document is the Initial Study for the proposed Marketplace at the Colony Project in 
Atwater, CA (Project).  A Regional Location Map is included as Figure 2-1 and a Vicinity Map 
is provided as Figure 2-2. 
 
The City of Atwater is the Lead Agency pursuant to the State Guidelines for Implementation of 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), Section 15050.  Consistent with the 2010 
CEQA Guidelines, this Initial Study identifies and discusses less than significant and potentially 
significant environmental impacts and identifies the appropriate type of environmental document 
that is required. 
 
1.2 Procedures 
 
The proposed discretionary action required of the City of Atwater, for which this Initial Study 
has been prepared, is approval of two Tentative Parcel Maps (TPMs), a Planned Development 
Master Plan (PD Master Plan), and a Planned Development Final Development Plan (PD Final 
Development Plan). Tentative Parcel Maps are subject to the procedures and timelines set in 
Chapter 16.28, of the City of Atwater Municipal Code. Planned Developments are subject to the 
procedures set forth in Chapter 17.44 of the City’s Municipal Code. 
 
This completed Initial Study will be circulated for agency and public review for 30 days, 
pursuant to CEQA Guidelines, Section 15105. 
 
1.3 Organization of the Initial Study 
 
This Initial Study is organized into the following sections. 
 
Section 1.0 – Introduction:  This section provides background information about the proposed 
Project, including the purpose and determination of the analysis. 
 
Section 2.0 – Project Description: This section describes the location of the Project site, 
surrounding land uses, the proposed action, and the Project design. 
 
Section 3.0 – Environmental Checklist:  This section contains the Environmental Checklist 
form.  The Checklist Form is used to describe the impacts of the proposed Project.  A discussion 
of each entry follows the Checklist, referenced to the Checklist sections.  A list of sources 
consulted for the analysis follows each Checklist section. 
 
Section 4.0 – Mitigation Measures: This section lists all of the mitigation measures that are 
contained in Section 3.0 – Environmental Checklist 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 1-2 

Section 5.0 – List of Preparers: This section lists the persons assisting in the preparation of this 
report. 
 
1.4 Determination 
 
Based on the information in this Initial Study, it is recommended that a Mitigated Negative 
Declaration be prepared for the proposed Project.  

 



2.0  PROJECT DESCRIPTION 





Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 2-1 

2.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
2.1 Location and Environmental Setting 
 

The Marketplace at the Colony site is composed of two parcels (APNs 004-010-028 and 004-

010-029) totaling approximately 29 acres. The Project would consist of a commercial center on 

the northwest and southwest corners of Juniper Avenue and Buhach Road in the City of Atwater, 

California. The Project site occurs in Township 7 South, Range 13 East, Section 6 (Mount 

Diablo Base and Meridian) of the Atwater U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 7.5-minute 

quadrangle.  Juniper Road, which is oriented east-west, separates the two parcels. Refer to Figure 

2-1 for a Regional Location Map, Figure 2-2 for a Vicinity Map, Figure 2-3 for a Project Site 

Boundary Map, Figures 2-4 and 2-5 for the proposed Tentative Parcel Map, and Figure 2-6 for 

the Planned Development Master Plan. 

 

The Project site is bounded by Livingston Canal to the north and Buhach Road to the east.  It is 

surrounded by planned residential subdivisions to the north, south and west, and rural residential 

and Buhach Colony High School to the east. The Rancho Del Rey Golf Course is located 

immediately southwest of the Project site.  

 

The proposed Project site is zoned Planned Development (PD) and is designated as Commercial 

in the Atwater City General Plan. 

 

2.2 Proposed Action 
 

The proposed discretionary action required of the City of Atwater, for which this Initial Study 

has been prepared, is approval of two Tentative Parcel Maps (TPMs), a Planned Development 

Master Plan (PD Master Plan), and a Planned Development Final Development Plan (PD Final 

Development Plan). These constitute the final discretionary approvals required for the proposed 

project.  Prior to construction of any of the proposed buildings, site improvements, or off-site 

improvements that are needed to mitigate traffic mitigation measures, more detailed 

improvement plans shall be submitted and reviewed by the City.  These procedures are 

considered administrative actions to implement the overall PD Master Plan and PD Final 

Development Plan. 

 

2.3 Project Description & Background 
 

The applicant is proposing a commercial center on the northwest and southwest corners of 

Juniper Avenue and Buhach Road. The 28.83-acre Project site is made up of two existing parcels 

which, once further subdivided, would consist of some of the following proposed uses under the 

Master Plan: a supermarket, fitness center, large retail spaces, several fast food uses, a pharmacy 

with drive-through, and a gas station, with a total combined building area of 249,250 square feet 

(s.f.). 

 

The proposed commercial uses reviewed as part of the MND document do not preclude future 

amendments or modifications. The Atwater Zoning Code, Chapter 17.44 – Planned Development 

Districts, also allows for future Planned Development Amendments should they be necessary for 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 2-2 

future changes in the PD Master Plan or PD Final Development Plan.  Amendments deemed 

minor, including adjustments, can be reviewed and approved as an administrative action. 

Currently the Applicant is not considering any amendments or modifications, although future 

market influences may result in necessary amendments, modifications, or changes.  This MND 

document will establish an environmental baseline that may guide the review of any future 

amendments or modifications.  Those may potentially have unforeseen environmental impacts 

which may require future analysis. 

 

The Project applicant is acting in a capacity to obtain all entitlements and discretionary approvals 

needed for the proposed commercial Project. All other future actions would be administrative 

actions.  It is the intent of the applicant, once the TPM is approved to prepare and record a Final 

Map.  The result of that action would allow for the newly created lots to be sold to individuals 

that will be acting in the capacity of the Project developer.  The individual owners of the specific 

lots  will be responsible for implementing the PD Final Development Plan. 

 

The proposed Project has no specific project phasing or sequencing.  Since each lot may be 

owned separately, each owner shall be responsible for the specific improvements associated with 

the lot.  Those improvements will include the proposed buildings, site improvements, and lot–

specific traffic mitigation measures as established within this MND document.  The associated 

Focused Traffic Impact Study (FTIS) was created to study the Project as if all proposed buildings 

were completed and all impacts were incurred at the same time.  Since the Project will developed 

by individual lot owner, each owner will implement the specific traffic mitigations associated 

with his/her individual lot as it is developed. 

 

Northerly Parcel:  The 20.12-acre northerly parcel will consist of 14 proposed lots and have a 

combined total of 168,150 s.f. of building area. More specifically, the northerly parcel is 

proposed to consist of a 45,000 s.f., 2-story fitness center; a 3,000 s.f. gas station/market; four 

fast food establishments totaling 14,300 s.f.; three retail establishments totaling 15,850 s.f.; and 

four major retail hubs totaling 90,000 s.f. This parcel is expected to have 943 parking spaces. 

 

Southerly Parcel:  The 8.6-acre southerly parcel will consist of six proposed lots and have a 

combined total of 81,500 s.f. of building area. More specifically, the southerly parcel is proposed 

to consist of an approximately 41,200 s.f. grocery store, a 14,000 s.f. pharmacy, approximately 

20,000 s.f. for two retail spaces, and approximately 6,500 s.f. for two fast food establishments. 

This parcel is expected to have 364 parking spaces. 

 

This document will evaluate all environmental topics contained in the 2010 CEQA Guidelines 

checklist and those required by the City's environmental procedures at a level of detail 

appropriate to the topic.  

 

 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 2-3 

 
REGIONAL LOCATION MAP 

Figure 
2-1 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 2-4 

 
VICINITY MAP 

Figure 
2-2 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 2-5 

 
SITE BOUNDARY MAP 

Figure 

2-3 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 2-6 

 
TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP (NORTH) 

Figure 
2-4 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 2-7 

 
TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP (SOUTH) 

Figure 
2-5 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 2-8 

  

 

 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT MASTER PLAN  

Figure 
2-6 



3.0  ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST 





Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-1 

3.0  ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST  
 
Project Title 
 
Marketplace at the Colony 
 
Lead Agency Name and Address 
 
City of Atwater 
Community Development Department 
750 Bellevue Road 
Atwater, CA 95301 
  
Contact Person and Phone Number 
 
Scott McBride 
Community Development Director  
City of Atwater 
(209) 357-6369 
 
Project Location 
 
The proposed Project site is located at the northwest and southwest corners of Juniper Avenue 
and Buhach Road in Atwater, CA. The Project site consists of two parcels, identified as APNs 
004-010-028 and 004-010-029. 
 
Project Sponsor’s Name and Address 
 
Ventana Del Rey 
500 S. Sepulveda Blvd., Suite 304 
Manhattan Beach, CA 90266 
(650) 400-4030 
 
General Plan Designation 
 
The Project site is designated as Commercial in the City of Atwater General Plan. 
 
Zoning 
 
Planned Development (P-D):  Per the City of Atwater Zoning Code Section 17.44.010, the 
overall purpose of the Planned Development (PD) zone is to provide a flexible zone district 
which will implement the City General Plan and achieve a higher standard of quality of 
development than typically found in conventional zones. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-2 

Project Description 
 
The applicant is proposing a commercial center on the northwest and southwest corners of 
Juniper Avenue and Buhach Road. The 29-acre Project site is made up of two parcels that, when 
subdivided, would consist of the following proposed uses: a supermarket, fitness center, large 
retail spaces, several fast food uses, a Walgreen’s-sized pharmacy, and a gas station. 
 
North Parcel:  The 20.12-acre northerly parcel, north of Juniper Avenue, will consist of 14 
proposed parcels and have a combined total of 168,150 square feet of building area. More 
specifically, the northerly parcel is proposed to consist of a 45,000 s.f., 2-story fitness center, a 
3,000 s.f. gas station/market, four fast food establishments totaling 14,300 s.f., three retail 
establishments totaling 15,850 s.f., and four major retail hubs totaling 90,000 s.f. This parcel is 
expected to have 943 parking stalls. 
 
South Parcel:  The 8.6-acre southerly parcel, south of Juniper Avenue, will consist of six 
proposed parcels and have a combined total of 81,500 square feet of building area. More 
specifically, the southerly parcel is proposed to consist of an approximately 41,200 s.f. grocery 
store, a 14,000 s.f. pharmacy, approximately 20,000 s.f. for two retail spaces, and approximately 
6,500 s.f. for two fast food establishments. This parcel is expected to have 364 parking stalls. 
 
Surrounding Land Uses and Setting   
 
The proposed Project site is bound by an irrigation canal to the north, rural residences and 
Buhach Colony High School on the east, and planned subdivision to the south and west. The 
Project site consists of approximately 29 acres of relatively flat and vacant land.  
  
Proposed Project site and surrounding land uses are summarized below in Table 3-1. 
 

Table 3-1 
Surrounding Land Use 

 
Location Land Use General Plan Zoning 

ONSITE North Parcel: Commercial  
South Parcel: Low-Density Residential 

Commercial Planned 
Development 

NORTH: Low-Density Residential Low-Density Residential   Planned 
Development 

EAST: Very Low-Density Residential and 
School 

Very Low Density Residential and 
School 

Light-Industrial 

SOUTH: Low-Density Residential Low-Density Residential Planned 
Development 

WEST: Low-Density Residential  Low-Density Residential  Planned 
Development  

Source: City of Atwater General Plan, adopted in 2000 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-3 

Other Public Agencies Whose Approval is Required (e.g., Permits, Financing 
Approval, or Participation Agreement)   
 
Following is a listing of other agencies, which may have authority over certain aspects of the 
Project: 
 
 San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD)  
 Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB)   
 City of Atwater Community Development and Resources Commission 
 Merced Irrigation District – Commercial Access agreement 
 Atwater City Council  
 
Environmental Factors Potentially Affected 
 
The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this project, 
involving at least one impact that is a “Potentially Significant Impact” or “Less Than Significant 
with Mitigation Incorporation” as indicated by the checklist on the following pages. 
 

 Aesthetics X Greenhouse Gas Emissions  Population/Housing 

 Agricultural Resources  
Hazards & Hazardous 
Materials 

 Public Services 

X Air Quality  Hydrology/Water Quality  Recreation 

X Biological Resources  Land Use/Planning X Transportation/Traffic 

X Cultural Resources  Mineral Resources  Utilities/Service Systems 

 
Geology/Soils  Noise  

Mandatory Findings of 
Significance 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-4 

Determination 
 

On the basis of this initial evaluation: 

 

 I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the 

environment, and a NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 

 I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the 

environment, there will not be a significant effect in this case because the mitigation 

measures described on an attached sheet have been added to the project.  A MITIGATED 

NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 

 I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required. 

 

  I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect(s) on the environment, but 

at least one effect (1) has been adequately analyzed in an earlier document pursuant to 

applicable legal standards, and (2) has been addressed by mitigation measures based on 

the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets, if the effect is a potentially significant 

impact or potentially significant unless mitigated. An ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

REPORT is required, but it must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed. 

 

 I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the 

environment, because all potentially significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately 

in an earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards and 

(b) have been avoided or mitigated pursuant to that earlier EIR or NEGATIVE 

DECLARATION, including revisions or mitigation measures that are imposed upon the 

proposed project, nothing further is required. 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________    ____________________ 
Community Development Director     Date 

 

  

06/15/2016 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-5 

Evaluation of Environmental Impacts  
 
3.1 AESTHETICS  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?     

b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, 
but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and 
historic buildings within a state scenic highway?  

    

c) Substantially degrade the existing visual character 
or quality of the site and its surroundings?  

    

d) Create a new source of substantial light or glare 
which would adversely affect day or nighttime 
views in the area?  

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.1.1 - Scenic vistas (a): The proposed Project site is located at the northwest and 
southwest corners of Juniper Avenue and Buhach Road in Atwater, CA. The lands adjacent to 
the Project site consist of low-density residential and public facility uses. Construction and on-
going operations occurring on the proposed Project site would be visible from surrounding 
properties and roadways.  
 
Although implementation of the two tentative parcel maps would result in urban commercial 
development on the Project site, there are no unique visual features or scenic vistas in the project 
area. No roadways in the project vicinity are designated as scenic under existing visual 
protection programs. No scenic vistas exist on the Project site or in the Project vicinity. 
Therefore, no impacts in this regard would occur.  
 
Conclusion: There are no scenic vistas, or other identified scenic resources within the project 
area.  Therefore, the project will have no impact.  

Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.1.2 – Scenic resources within a state scenic highway (b):  California’s Scenic 
Highway Program was created by the Legislature in 1963.  Its purpose is to preserve and protect 
scenic highway corridors from changes which would diminish the aesthetic value of lands 
adjacent to highways.  According to Caltrans’ California Scenic Highway Program and the 
National Scenic Byways Program, the proposed Project site is not in the vicinity of a state or 
local scenic highway, and is not considered “eligible” or “officially designated” as a scenic 
highway.  Additionally, the proposed Project site is not located adjacent to, nor is it visible from, 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-6 

a designated local scenic highway/roadway/trail, and there are no structures onsite that might be 
of scenic value.  The Planned Development design and required landscape plan will enhance the 
appearance of the site. 
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project site is not located near a scenic byway or highway nor is it 
visible from a designated local scenic highway/roadway/trail. There is no impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.1.3 – Visual characteristics (c): Implementation of the two tentative parcel maps 
will result in the ultimate development of an urban commercial center, which will alter the 
present landscape of the Project site’s existing setting. The proposed Project is permitted under 
the designated land use within City of Atwater General Plan and Zoning Code, and will not 
require any amendments to either. The City Zoning Ordinance dictates height, setback, and 
development standards (e.g., landscaping) to minimize impacts to aesthetics. Future development 
associated with the two proposed tentative parcel maps will be in conformance with the types of 
uses that are permitted on the Project site. 
 
Conclusion: Future development on the proposed Project site will be in accordance with height 
and scale requirements of the City of Atwater zoning ordinance. In addition, it will be 
commensurate with the surrounding land uses and is therefore considered to be a less than 
significant impact on the existing visual character of the site and its surroundings. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.1.4 – New Source of Light or Glare (d):  Any new development has the potential to 
introduce new sources of light with the addition of interior and exterior lighting. Future 
development of the proposed Project site will include lighting sources in the form of parking lot 
fixtures, architectural wall mounted light fixtures, security wall mounted light fixtures and 
outdoor/landscape accent lighting.  The effect of new lighting could result in a loss of darkness in 
the night sky that may be noticeable to residents in the surrounding area; some sky glow and light 
‘spillage’ could occur with Project implementation. 
 
Exterior lighting will be designed and maintained in a manner so that glare and reflections are 
contained within the boundaries of the parcel, and will be hooded and directed downward and 
away from adjoining properties and public rights-of-way. All lighting fixtures will be appropriate 
to the use they are serving, in scale, intensity and height pursuant to City of Atwater Title 17 – 
Zoning Ordinance.  

In addition, the proposed Landscape Plan dated April 9, 2015, shows that a buffer of trees is 
proposed along the exterior edges of the Project site. This will serve as a buffer between the site 
and the adjacent residential uses for any additional light spillover that may be produced from the 
Project site.  

Conclusion:  With conformance to the requirements of the City of Atwater Zoning Code, the 
addition of exterior lighting sources within the proposed Project site would not be considered a 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-7 

substantial new source of light or glare adversely affecting day or nighttime views in the area. 
Therefore, implementation of the proposed project would result in a less than significant impact.  

Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 

 
   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-8 

3.2 AGRICULTURAL AND FOREST RESOURCES  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

 

No 
Impact 

a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or 
Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as 
shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the 
Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the 
California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural 
use? 

    

b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, 
or a Williamson Act contract? 

    

c) Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause 
rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public 
Resource Code section 12220(g)), timberland (as 
defined by Public Resources Code section 4526), 
or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as 
defined by Government Code section 51104(g))? 

    

d) Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of 
forest land to non-forest use? 

    

e) Involve other changes in the existing environment 
which, due to their location or nature, could result 
in conversion of farmland, to non-agricultural use 
or conversion of forest land to non-forest use? 

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.2.1 – Agricultural Farmland (a):  The Project site is not currently being used for 
agricultural production and is not designated by the Department of Conservation Farmland 
Mapping and Monitoring Program (FMMP) as Prime Farmland, unique farmland or farmland of 
statewide importance. In addition, the Project site is located in an area surrounded by urban uses.  
 
The proposed Project use is permitted by the City of Atwater General Plan and Zoning 
Ordinance. Additionally the proposed Project Site is not under an active Williamson Act 
Contract. 
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project is not under a Williamson Act Contract and is permitted by 
the City of Atwater General Plan and Zoning Ordinance.  The Project site is not designated by 
the FMMP as Prime Farmland, unique farmland or farmland of statewide importance. The 
proposed Project will have a less than significant impact on agricultural recourses.  
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-9 

Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.2.2 – Agricultural Zoning (b):  The Project site is currently zoned Planned 
Development (P-D) on the City of Atwater Zoning Map.  The Project site is currently not in 
agricultural production and is not currently under an active Williamson Act contract. The 
proposed Project is a permitted use for the site. 
 
Conclusion: The Project will have a less than significant impact on land designated for 
agricultural use. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.2.3 – Forest Land Zoning (c):  The Project site is not currently zoned for forest land, 
timberland, or zoned Timberland Production by the City of Atwater Zoning Ordinance.   
 
Conclusion: The Project will have no impact on land designated for forest land use. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.2.4 – Loss or Conversion of Forest Land (d):  The proposed Project site is currently 
vacant and is not considered to be forest land or timberland.  
 
Conclusion: The Project will have no impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.2.5 – Other Changes that result in loss of Farmland or Forest Land (e):  The City 
of Atwater General Plan and Zoning Ordinance designate the proposed Project site as 
appropriate to accommodate future growth within the City. Furthermore, the Project site is not 
currently in farmland production nor will it result in the conversion of forest land to non-forest 
use. 
 
Conclusion: The proposed Project will not result in changes resulting in conversion of additional 
farmland to non-agricultural use. The proposed Project will have a less than significant impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
 

 
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-10 

3.3 AIR QUALITY  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the 
applicable air quality plan?  

    

b) Violate any air quality standard or contribute 
substantially to an existing or projected air quality 
violation?  

    

c) Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase 
of any criteria pollutant for which the project 
region is non-attainment under an applicable 
federal or state ambient air quality standard 
(including releasing emissions which exceed 
quantitative thresholds for ozone precursors)?   

    

d) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant 
concentrations or hazardous emissions?  

    

e) Create objectionable odors affecting a substantial 
number of people? 

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.3.1 - Air quality plan or regulation (a):  The San Joaquin Valley Air Basin 
(SJVAB) is designated nonattainment of State and federal health based air quality standards for 
ozone and suspended fine particulates in the ambient air that are 2.5 micrometers or less in size 
(PM2.5).  The SJVAB is designated nonattainment of State PM2.5 standards. To meet Federal 
Clean Air Act (CAA) requirements, the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District 
(SJVAPCD) has multiple air quality attainment plan documents, including: 
 
 2013 Plan for the Revoked 1-Hour Ozone Standard; 
 2007 Ozone Plan for attainment of the 8-hour ozone standard; 
 2007 PM10 Maintenance Plan and Request for Redesignation; and 
 2012 PM2.5 Plan. 
 
Because of the region’s non-attainment status for ozone, PM2.5, and suspended fine particulates 
in the ambient air that are 10 micrometers or less in size (PM10), if the Project-generated 
emissions of either of the ozone precursor pollutants Reactive Organic Gases (ROG) or Oxides 
of Nitrogen (NOx), PM10, or PM2.5 were to exceed the SJVAPCD’s significance thresholds, then 
the Project uses would be considered to conflict with the attainment plans.  In addition, if the 
Project uses were to result in a change in land use and corresponding increases in vehicle miles 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-11 

traveled, they may result in an increase in vehicle miles traveled that is unaccounted for in 
regional emissions inventories contained in regional air quality control plans. 
 
As discussed in Impact #3.3.2 below, predicted construction emissions would not exceed the 
SJVAPCD’s significance thresholds for ROG, NOx, PM10, and PM2.5.  As a result, the Project 
uses would not conflict with emissions inventories contained in regional air quality attainment 
plans, and would not result in a significant contribution to the region’s air quality non-attainment 
status.  Additionally, the Project would comply with all applicable rules and regulations 
including Rule 9510.   
 
SJVAPCD Rule 9510: ISR. Indirect Source Review: This rule reduces the impact of NOx and 
PM10 emissions from growth on the Air Basin. The rule places application and emission 
reduction requirements on development projects meeting applicability criteria in order to reduce 
emissions through onsite mitigation, offsite SJVAPCD-administered projects, or a combination 
of the two. This rule applies to new developments seeking a final discretionary approval that are 
over a certain threshold size. Any project exceeding the applicability thresholds listed below, 
which are identified in Section 2.0 of District Rule 9510, are required to submit an Air Impact 
Assessment (AIA) application prior to seeking final discretionary approval regardless of whether 
the proposed projects mitigated emissions are below two tons per year NOx and PM10. 
 
 50 residential units; 
 2,000 square feet of commercial space; 
 9,000 square feet of educational space; 
 10,000 square feet of government space; 
 20,000 square feet of medical or recreational space; 
 25,000 square feet of light industrial space; 
 39,000 square feet of general office space; 
 100,000 square feet of heavy industrial space; and 
 Or, 9,000 square feet of any land use not identified above. 

 
Compliance with SJVAPCD Rule 9510 reduces the emissions impact of the Project through 
incorporation of on-site measures as well as payment of an offsite fee that funds emission 
reduction projects in the Air Basin. Each individual project developer of each specific lot shall be 
responsible for compliance with the SJVAPCD rules and procedures. 

 
Under Rule 9510, an Off-Site Emission Reduction Fee (Off-Site Fee) shall be paid by the 
applicant to the SJVAPCD for any emission reductions required by the rule that are not achieved 
through on-site emission reduction measures. Any necessary Off-Site Fee for a project is 
calculated based on information contained in the SJVAPCD’s Off-site Emissions Estimator 
Worksheet and Fee Estimator Worksheet. The Off-site Emissions Estimator Worksheet uses the 
project’s total tons of NOx and PM10 as calculated using California Emissions Estimator Model 
(CalEEMod) and compares the unmitigated emissions against the mitigated emissions, 
determining whether the reduction in emissions is sufficient to satisfy the rule. If the reduction is 
not sufficient, the required off-site emission reductions are calculated using the District’s off-site 
emission reduction equations set forth in Rule 9510, section 7.0. 

 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-12 

The monies collected from the Off-Site Fee are used by the SJVAPCD to reduce emissions in the 
San Joaquin Valley on behalf of the Project, with the goal of offsetting the emissions increase 
from the project by decreasing emissions elsewhere. More specifically, the fees received by the 
SJVAPCD are used in the SJVAPCD’s existing Emission Reduction Incentive Program (ERIP) 
to fund emission reduction projects. This Project will be required to comply with Rule 9510. 
 
Conclusion: The Project will result in a less than significant impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation is required. 
 
Impact #3.3.2 – Violate any air quality standard or contribute substantially to an existing 
or projected air quality violation (b): Because ozone is a regional pollutant, the pollutants of 
concern for localized impacts are Carbon Monoxide (CO) and fugitive PM10 dust from 
construction.  Ozone and PM10 exhaust impacts are addressed under Impact #3.3.3. 
 
CalEEMod modeling (Appendix A) was used to estimate emissions resulting from the 
construction of the proposed Project. The modeling included the assumption that construction 
would occur in 8 phases. The modeling input information for each phase of the Project is listed 
below in Table 3.3-1. 
 

Table 3.3-1 
Project Input Information for CalEEMod* 

 
Construction 

Emissions 
tons/year 

Ac/yr SF/yr 
Start 

Construction 
Operational 

year 
Acreage 

Building 
sq/ft 

Use Type 

Phase 1     2016 2017 0.34 3,000 gas station 
  0.73 6,400 2016 2017 0.39 3,400 fast food 
Phase 2     2017 2018 0.39 3,400 fast food 
  1.55 13,400 2017 2018 1.16 10,000 retail 
Phase 3     2018 2019 1.62 14,000 pharmacy 
  1.99 17,250 2018 2019 0.37 3,250 fast food 
Phase 4     2019 2020 0.41 3,500 fast food 
  5.61 48,500 2019 2020 5.20 45,000 fitness center 
Phase 5     2021 2022 4.77 41,200 grocery 
  5.93 51,200 2021 2022 1.16 10,000 pharmacy 
Phase 6     2022 2023 2.66 23,000 retail 
  3.04 26,250 2022 2023 0.38 3,250 fast food 
Phase 7     2023 2024 2.55 22,000 retail 
  4.38 37,850 2023 2024 1.83 15,850 retail 
Phase 8     2025 2026 0.39 3,400 fast food 
      2025 2026 2.66 23,000 retail 

 5.60 48,400 2025 2026 2.55 22,000 Retail 
Source: CalEEMod, Version 2013.2.2 
Note: There is no specific or planned phasing for the Project. The listed emission production is hypothetical based upon likely market influence. 

 
The estimated annual construction emissions are shown below in Table 3.3-2. With the 
mitigation measures that are described below incorporated, the thresholds are not exceeded for 
construction emissions.    
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-13 

Table 3.3-2* 
Construction Emissions (2016) 

 

Emissions (tons) 
Project Phases ROG NOx PM10 PM2.5 

Phase 1 0.1149 0.587 0.048 0.043 
Phase 2 0.3684 1.8755 0.125 0.1134 
Phase 3 0.3623 1.7227 0.1113 0.0993 
Phase 4 0.635 2.721 0.357 0.1778 
Phase 5 0.6511 2.653 0.2287 0.174 
Phase 6 0.3964 1.9352 0.1358 0.1072 
Phase 7 0.4652 1.8124 0.1288 0.0977 
Phase 8 0.5423 1.8283 0.1627 0.112 

SJVAPCD Threshold 10 10 15 15 
Exceed Threshold in 

any Phase/Year? No No No No 
Source: CalEEMod, Version 2013.2.2 
Note: There is no specific or planned phasing for the Project. The listed emission production is hypothetical based upon 
likely market influence. 
 

 
LOCALIZED PM10 

 
Localized PM10 would be generated by Project construction activities, which would include 
earth-disturbing activities.  The SJVAPCD indicates that all control measures in Regulation VIII, 
governing fugitive PM10, of the District’s rules and regulations, are required for all construction 
sites by regulation. The SJVAPCD’s Guide for Assessing and Mitigating Air Quality Impacts 
(GAMAQI) lists additional measures that may be required of very large projects or projects close 
to sensitive receptors (San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District 2002). If all appropriate 
“enhanced control measures” in the GAMAQI are not implemented for very large projects or 
those close to sensitive receptors, then construction impacts would be considered significant 
(unless the Lead Agency provides a satisfactory detailed explanation as to why a specific 
measure is unnecessary). The GAMAQI also lists additional control measures (Optional 
Measures) that may be implemented if further emission reductions are deemed necessary by the 
Lead Agency.  The SJVAPCD’s Regulation VIII (Fugitive PM10 Prohibitions) has been updated 
and expanded since the GAMAQI guidance was written in 2002. Regulation VIII now includes 
the “enhanced control measures” contained in the GAMAQI.  
 
The proposed Project would comply with the SJVAPCD’s Regulation VIII dust control 
requirements during construction and demolition (including Rules 8011, 8031, 8041, and 8071).  
Compliance with this regulation would reduce the potential for significant construction localized 
PM10 impacts to less than significant levels. Each individual Project developer of each specific 
lot shall be responsible for compliance with the SJVAPCD rules and procedures. 
 
VOLUNTARY EMISSIONS REDUCTION AGREEMENT (VERA) 
 

The SJVAPCD has developed a Voluntary Emissions Reduction Agreement (VERA) to be a 
feasible mitigation measure to mitigate emissions to less than significant levels. The VERA is an 
instrument by which the project proponent provides monies to the District, which is used by the 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-14 

District to fund emissions reduction projects that achieve the reductions required by the lead 
agency. District staff is available to meet with project proponents to discuss a VERA for specific 
projects. For more information, or questions concerning this topic, SJVAPCD staff can be 
contacted at (559) 230-6000. 
 
Table 3.3-3 shows that operational emissions for the proposed Project. The Table indicates that 
the Project will exceed thresholds for ROG and NOx unless a VERA is incorporated into the 
Project.  
 

Table 3.3-3 
Operational Emissions (2030) 

 
Operational Emissions tons/year ROG NOX PM10 PM2.5 

Unmitigated Operational 2030 11.8107 27.1196 12.0901 3.5884 
Mitigated Operational 2030 11.6455 26.5267 11.5816 3.4399 
Rule 9510 ISR (Reduction from Mitigated Operational) 0 (-8.43) (-5.53655) 0 
Mitigated Total 11.6455 18.08877 6.04505 3.4399 
VERA  (-1.6456)  (-8.088)     
Mitigated Total with VERA mitigation 9.99 9.99 6.04505 3.4399 
Threshold 10 10 15 15 

Exceed Threshold in any Phase/Year? No No No No 
Note: CalEEMod output (Appendix A). 

 
Conclusion: As shown in Table 3.3.1, although the construction emissions fall below the 
thresholds set by the SJVAPCD (with incorporated mitigation measures), the operational 
emissions exceed the thresholds for ROG and Nox, therefore, impacts are considered potentially 
significant. 
 
CONSTRUCTION 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.3.2a: The Applicant shall water exposed areas 3 times per day or as 
needed for dust control.  
 
Mitigation Measure #3.3.2b: The Applicant shall implement a Voluntary Worker Trip 
Reduction Program for construction workers. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.3.2c: The Project shall be in compliance with all mandatory rules and 
regulations applicable to the Project, including but not limited to, the following: 
 
 SJVAPCD Rule 2201 New or Modified Stationary Source; and 
 SJVAPCD Regulation VIII - Dust Control Rules 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.3.2d:  Prior to the issuance of building permits, the Applicant shall 
provide the City with confirmation that it has made an application to the SJVAPCD for a permit 
under Rule 9510 - Indirect Source Rule (ISR).  
 
For ISR compliance, the Applicant shall submit an air impact assessment (AIA) providing the 
quantified NOx and PM emissions associated with Project operations. The applicant shall 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-15 

incorporate mitigation measures identified by SJVAPCD into the Project to reduce the NOx and 
PM emissions associated with Project operations by at least 33.3 percent and 50 percent 
respectively over a period of ten years. These reduction requirements shall be met through on-
site emission reduction measures, including, but not limited to: installing energy efficient LED in 
all proposed outdoor lighting fixtures; install internally LED illuminated signage for commercial 
uses, and directional signs throughout the project site; installing efficient heating and other 
appliances, such as water heaters, cooking equipment, refrigerators, beyond Title 24 
requirements and install energy efficient interior lighting; improving thermal integrity/efficiency 
of buildings and reduce load with automated and timed temperature controls or occupant sensors. 
If the ISR NOx and PM emissions reductions are not reduced by on-site measures, the applicant 
shall pay a monetary Off-Site Fee to SJVAPCD, as calculated under Rule 9510.  
 
OPERATIONAL 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.3.2e: The Applicant shall enter into a VERA with the SJVAPCD to 
reduce the Project-related impact on air quality.  
 
Effectiveness of Mitigation Measures: Implementation of the Mitigation Measures will reduce 
Project Impacts to a less than significant level.  
 
Impact #3.3.3 - Non-attainment Cumulatively Considerable Net Increase of Criteria 
Pollutants (c):  The nonattainment pollutants for the SJVAPCD are ozone, PM10 and PM2.5.  
Therefore, the pollutants of concern for this impact are ozone precursors, regional PM10, and 
PM2.5.  Ozone is a regional pollutant formed by chemical reaction in the atmosphere, and the 
Project’s incremental increase in ozone precursor generation is used to determine the potential 
air quality impacts, as set forth in the GAMAQI. 
 
The annual significance thresholds to be used for the Project for operational and construction 
emissions are as follows: 
 
 10 tons per year ROG; 
 10 tons per year NOx; 
 15 tons per year PM10; and 
 15 tons per year PM2.5. 
 
Approximately 10 years of construction, broken into eight phases, is anticipated to complete the 
full build-out of the Project. CalEEMod was used to estimate emissions resulting from the 
construction of the proposed Project. The estimated annual construction emissions are shown 
above in Table 3.3-1. If construction were to occur in later years, the construction emissions 
would be less than the 2016 estimates, as regulatory measures come into effect that require 
cleaner construction equipment. 
 
As seen from Table 3.3-1, the Project’s construction emissions would not exceed the 
SJVAPCD’s thresholds for ozone precursors or PM10 or PM2.5.  As discussed in Section 4.3.2 of 
the SJVAPCD GAMAQI, any proposed Project that would individually have a significant air 
quality impact (i.e., exceed significance thresholds for ROG, NOx, PM10, or PM2.5) would also be 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-16 

considered to have a significant cumulative impact. Although the GAMAQI does not provide 
guidance for evaluating cumulative air quality impacts in instances where project-specific 
emissions of criteria pollutants do not exceed the Air District’s significance thresholds, it does 
state: “all but the largest individual sources emit ROG and NOx in amounts too small to have a 
measurable effect on ambient ozone concentrations by themselves.” Because the Project would 
not exceed the project-level thresholds of significance, the Project would not to result in a 
cumulatively considerable air quality impact. 
 
Conclusion:  After mitigation measures have been applied, this impact is less than significant. 
Each individual project developer of each specific lot shall be responsible for compliance with 
the SJVAPCD rules and procedures. 
 
Impact #3.3.4 – Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations (d): The 
proposed Project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial concentrations of localized 
PM10, carbon monoxide, diesel particulate matter, or hazardous pollutants, naturally occurring 
asbestos, or valley fever, as discussed below. 
 
CARBON MONOXIDE HOTSPOT 
 
The Project would not generate a CO hotspot. In addition, the existing background 
concentrations of CO are low, and any CO emissions would disperse rapidly. The nearest 
SJVAPCD monitoring site is in Modesto, CA. According to the SJVAPCD website, the 1-hour 
and 8-hour CO standard are 20 ppm and 9 ppm, respectively. The Project would not expose 
sensitive receptors to unhealthy levels of CO. 
 
DIESEL PARTICULATE MATTER 
 
Construction equipment generates diesel particulate matter (DPM), identified as a carcinogen by 
the ARB. The State of California has determined that DPM from diesel-fueled engines poses a 
chronic health risk with chronic (long-term) inhalation exposure. The California Office of 
Environmental Health Hazard Assessment recommends using a 70-year exposure duration for 
determining residential cancer risks.  Because of the Project size and short duration, and the 
distance to the nearest sensitive receptor, the project construction would not pose a toxic risk to 
nearby residents.  
 
NATURALLY OCCURRING ASBESTOS 
 
The Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology published a guide entitled A 
General Location Guide for Ultramafic Rocks in California - Areas More Likely to Contain 
Naturally Occurring Asbestos, 2000, for generally identifying areas that are likely to contain 
naturally occurring asbestos. The guide includes a map of areas where formations containing 
naturally occurring asbestos in California are likely to occur. There are no asbestos areas 
identified in Merced County. For this reason, the Project is not anticipated to expose workers or 
nearby receptors to naturally occurring asbestos.  
 
Conclusion:  After mitigation measures have been applied, this impact is less than significant. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-17 

Mitigation Measures:  None are required. 
 
Impact #3.3.5 – Create objectionable odors (e):  
 
The GAMAQI introduces two types of projects that should be assessed when considering 
hazardous air pollutants (HAPs). Some examples of projects that may include HAPs are: 
 

 Agricultural products processing; 
 Bulk material handling;  
 Chemical blending, mixing, manufacturing, storage, etc.;  
 Combustion equipment (boilers, engines, heaters, incinerators, etc.);  
 Metals etching, melting, plating, refining, etc.;  
 Plastics & fiberglass forming and manufacturing;  
 Petroleum production, manufacturing, storage, and distribution; and  
 Rock & mineral mining and processing.  

 

The proposed Project will contain a gas station but it will be set back from any sensitive 
receptors. It will be located on the corner of Juniper Avenue and Buhach Road and will be 
separated from the surrounding land uses by a vegetation buffer that will be required as part of 
the Project’s Landscape Plan. During the construction period some odors could result from 
equipment using diesel fuels, however, emissions would disperse rapidly from the Project site 
and therefore should not be at a level to induce a negative response. The proposed Project would 
have to comply with the California Air Resources Board’s (CARB’s) guidelines, which limit 
idling time to five minutes with the Airborne Toxic Control Measure (ATCM). In addition, 
construction would be temporary.  
 
The Project site is not located within the Project Screening Levels distances from the common 
odor producing facilities presented in Table 4-2 of the GAMAQI. Therefore, development of the 
Project would not create a significant odor impact. 
 
Conclusion:  This impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  None are required. 
 
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-18 

3.4 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or 
through habitat modifications, on any species 
identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status 
species in local or regional plans, policies, or 
regulations, or by the California Department of 
Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?  

    

b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian 
habitat or other sensitive natural community 
identified in local or regional plans, policies, 
regulations, or by the California Department of 
Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?  

    

c) Have a substantial adverse effect on federally 
protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of 
the Clean Water Act (including, but not limited to, 
marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct 
removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other 
means?  

    

d) Interfere substantially with the movement of any 
native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species 
or with established native resident or migratory 
wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native 
wildlife nursery sites?   

    

e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances 
protecting biological resources, such as a tree 
preservation policy or ordinance?   

    

f) Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat 
Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved local, 
regional, or state habitat conservation plan?   

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.4.1 – Substantial adverse effect on special-status or sensitive species (a):  A 
California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB) search was completed for the Project site and it 
was concluded that there was no siting of a candidate, sensitive or special status species on the 
Project site (Appendix B) The database search listed historical occurrences of two Sensitive 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-19 

Natural Communities, 25 special-status plant species, and 38 special-status wildlife species 
occurring within the 9-quadrangle search area, and within a 10-mile radius of the Project site. 
 
Though there are no records of CNDDB occurrences on the Project site, there are historical 
occurrences of several special status-species in the Project vicinity. The closest records of 
special-status species to the Project site include San Joaquin kit fox (Vulpes macrotis mutica) 
located approximately 0.84 mile northwest of the site, Swainson’s hawk (Buteo swainsoni) 
located approximately 1.0 mile east of the site, western burrowing owl (Athene cunicularia) 
located approximately 1.0 mile southeast of the site, western pond turtle (Emys marmorata) 
located approximately 1.3 miles northeast of the site, vernal pool fairy shrimp (Branchinecta 
lynchi) located approximately 1.4 miles east of the site, and ferruginous hawk (Buteo regalis) 
located approximately 1.9 miles northeast of the site. The Project site contains potential foraging 
and breeding habitat for the San Joaquin kit fox, American badger (Taxidea taxus), and western 
burrowing owl. The site also contains potential foraging habitat for Swainson’s hawk. In addition 
to western burrowing owl, other ground nesting migratory birds could nest on the Project site. 
Tree and shrub nesting migratory birds could nest in the trees located adjacent to the Project site. 
 
There are no USFWS-designated Critical Habitat units on the Project site.  
  
Conclusion:  The Project site could potentially support several special-status species that are 
known to occur in the vicinity. These species include, but are not limited to, the San Joaquin kit 
fox, American badger, Swainson’s hawk, western burrowing owl, and nesting raptor and 
migratory birds. Therefore, this is considered to be a potentially significant impact.  
 
Mitigation Measure #3.4.1a:   
 
 Preconstruction surveys for the San Joaquin kit fox and American badger should be 

conducted within 14 to 30 days prior to ground disturbance activities in accordance with 
Standardized Recommendations for Protection of the Endangered San Joaquin Kit Fox Prior 
to or During Ground Disturbance Activities (USFWS 2011). These recommendations are 
also applicable to the American badger. Exclusion zones should be placed in accordance with 
USFWS Recommendations using the following: 

 

Potential Den 50-foot radius 
Known Den 100-foot radius 
Natal/Pupping Den  
(Occupied and Unoccupied) 

Contact U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service for guidance 

Atypical Den 50-foot radius 
 

If dens must be removed, they must be appropriately monitored and excavated by a trained 
wildlife biologist. Replacement dens will be required. Destruction of natal dens and other 
“known” kit fox dens must not occur until authorized by USFWS. 

 

 Project-related vehicles should observe a 20-mph speed limit in all Project areas, except on 
city and county roads and State and Federal highways.  Nighttime construction should be 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-20 

avoided, unless the construction area is appropriately fenced to exclude the San Joaquin kit 
fox and American badger. The area within any such fence must be determined to be 
uninhabited by these species prior to initiation of construction. Off-road traffic outside of 
designated Project areas should be prohibited. 

 
 All food-related trash items such as wrappers, cans, bottles, and food scraps should be 

disposed of in closed containers and removed at least once a week from a construction or 
Project site.  

 
 To prevent harassment, mortality of San Joaquin kit fox or American badgers or destruction 

of dens by dogs or cats, no pets should be permitted on the Project site. 
 

 Any contractor, employee(s), or military or agency personnel who inadvertently kills or 
injures an American badger shall immediately report the incident to their representative.  
This representative shall contact the CDFW immediately in the case of a dead, injured or 
entrapped badger.  The CDFW contact for immediate assistance is State Dispatch at (916) 
445 0045.  They will contact the local warden or biologist. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.4.1b:  
 
 In order to protect burrowing owls, which may occur within the areas of potential effect at 

any time of year, pre-construction surveys for burrowing owls shall be conducted within 14 
to 30 days prior to ground disturbing activities. If more than 30 days lapse between the time 
of the preconstruction survey and the start of ground-disturbing activities, another 
preconstruction survey must be completed, including but not limited to a final survey 
conducted within 24 hours prior to ground disturbance.  
 

 If burrowing owls are present on the construction site (or within 500 feet of the construction 
site) during the breeding season (February 1 through August 31), and appear to be engaged in 
nesting behavior, exclusion fencing shall be installed between the nest site or active burrow 
and any earth-moving activity or other disturbance. This buffer could be removed once it is 
determined by a qualified biologist that the young have fledged. Typically, the young fledge 
by August 31st. This date may be earlier than August 31st, or later, and would have to be 
determined by a qualified biologist.  

 
 If burrowing owls are present in the non-breeding season and must be passively relocated 

from the project site, passive relocation shall not commence until October 1st and must be 
completed by February 1st. Passive relocation may only be conducted by a qualified biologist 
or ornithologist and with approval by CDFW. After passive relocation, the area where owls 
occurred and its immediate vicinity will be monitored by a qualified biologist daily for one 
week and once per week for an additional two weeks to document that owls are not 
reoccupying the site.  

 
 Compensation for the loss of burrowing owl habitat shall be based upon the number of owls 

or pairs of owls located on the construction area during pre-construction surveys following 
the CDFW’s March 7, 2012 Staff Report on Burrowing Owl Mitigation. The areas identified 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-21 

as land retirement areas and enhancement areas shall be used as compensation for the loss of 
habitat and for relocation of burrowing owls.  

 
Mitigation Measure #3.4.1c:  
 
 Pre-construction surveys for nesting Swainson’s hawk should be conducted within 0.5 mile 

of the Project site during the breeding season immediately prior to ground disturbance 
activities, but not more than 14 days before construction in accordance with Recommended 
Timing and Methodology for Swainson’s Hawk Nesting Surveys in California’s Central 
Valley (Swainson’s Hawk Technical Advisory Committee 2000). Surveys shall be conducted 
for nesting raptors and other migratory bird species within 500 feet of the area of potential 
effect within 14 days prior to ground disturbance activities.  

 
 If active nests are located in trees on or surrounding the site, the Applicant shall implement 

measures to ensure that the species will not be adversely affected. To protect nesting birds, 
construction will not occur until after the young have fledged or, alternatively, buffer areas 
where construction will be prohibited will be established around each nest. Buffer areas will 
consist of a 500-foot radius around any active raptor nests and a 250-foot buffer around all 
other migratory bird nests, unless consultations with USFWS and CDFW determine that 
smaller buffers will be approved. If an active Swainson’s hawk nest is observed within one-
half mile of the construction area, consultation with USFWS is required in order for a buffer 
to be established.  

 
 The results of the pre-construction survey will be sent to CDFW within 15 days prior to 

construction. These measures will ensure compliance with the Migratory Bird Treaty Act and 
the California Department of Fish and Wildlife Code 3503.5. The County or their 
environmental consultant is responsible for obtaining the appropriate permits. All monitoring 
activities and descriptions of the implementation of mitigation measures shall be submitted to 
CDFW as instructed within the permit, which may include on site monitoring.  

 
Effectiveness of Mitigation Measures: Implementation of all of the mitigation measures will 
result in the impact being less than significant.  

Impact #3.4.2 - Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive 
natural community (b):  The database search listed historical occurrences of two Sensitive 
Natural Communities as historically occurring within nine quadrangles and 10-miles of the 
Project site. These include Northern Claypan Vernal Pool and Northern Hardpan Vernal Pool but 
no sensitive natural communities were documented on and within the vicinity of the Project site. 
 
USGS National Hydrology Dataset (NHD) identified one “blue-line” drainage, Buhach Lateral, 
along the eastern perimeter of the Project site (NRCS 2015) and one blue-line drainage, 
Livingston Canal, located approximately 75 feet to the north of the Project site.  There is no sign 
of Buhach Lateral drainage or any associated riparian vegetation on the aerial imagery or upon 
site inspection; it was been undergrounded by Merced Irrigation District several years ago and is 
no longer present on the Project site.  
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-22 

Conclusion: There are no riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities on the project 
site and there will be no impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.4.3 - Have a substantial adverse effect on federally protected wetlands (c):  The 
USFWS NWI depicts no wetlands occurring within the Project site. Several wetland features 
consisting of Freshwater Ponds and Freshwater Emergent Wetlands occur within the Project 
Vicinity. The closest NWI wetland features were Freshwater Ponds (PUBHx) located within a 
nearby golf course; the nearest wetland feature is approximately 0.1 mile southwest of the 
Project site. NWI is a collection of wetland and riparian maps that depicts graphic 
representations of the type, size, and location of wetland, deepwater, and riparian habitats in the 
United States. The NWI maps are prepared through the analysis of high altitude imagery, 
collateral data sources, and field work. Site inspection confirmed that there are no wetland 
features on the project site. 
 
Conclusion: There will be no effect on wetlands and the potential for impact will be no impact 
on wetlands. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.4.4 - Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or 
migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife 
corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites (d):  The Project site has 
historically been disturbed and consists mostly of ruderal vegetation. The topography of the land 
is relatively flat and the vegetation throughout the Project site appears to consist of non-native 
grassland and ruderal species. There are trees adjacent to the Project site that appeared to be 
associated with nearby residential developments. These trees could provide nesting opportunities 
and a stopover location for migratory bird species during migration. Additionally, Livingston 
Canal could be used by wildlife for movement and migration. The Project site does not contain 
any migratory wildlife movement corridors or linkages and was not determined to be sensitive or 
important for the movement of wildlife in the region. 
 
Conclusion:  Development on the site is not expected to impede the use of any native wildlife 
corridors due to no migratory corridors being visibly present within vicinity of the site. Ground 
nesting raptors or other migratory birds may inhabit the Project site at any time. Implementation 
of Mitigation Measure #3.4-2 and #3.4-3 will reduce potential biological impact to less than 
significant.   
 
Mitigation Measures:  No additional mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.4.5 – Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological 
resources, such as a tree preservation policy or ordinance (e):  There are not trees on the 
project site, and the proposed project does not conflict with any local policies or ordinances 
protecting biological resources.   
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-23 

Conclusion:  Implementation of the proposed project would have no impact related to policies 
or ordinances protecting biological resources. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.4.6 – Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, 
Natural Community Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat 
conservation plan (f):  There are no adopted habitat conservation plans or natural community 
conservation plans in this area of Merced County.   
 
Conclusion:  No impact has been identified. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
 
 
   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-24 

3.5 CULTURAL RESOURCES 

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a historical resource as defined in 
§15064.5?  

    

b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of an archaeological resource 
pursuant to §15064385? 

    

c) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique 
paleontological resource site or unique geologic 
feature?   

    

d) Disturb any human remains, including those 
interred outside of formal cemeteries? 

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.5.1 – Cultural and historic resources (a, b, c, d):  Impacts on cultural resources can 
result either directly or indirectly from preconstruction activities and construction of the 
proposed Project. Direct impacts are those that result from the immediate disturbance of 
resources from vegetation removal, vehicle travel over the surface, earthmoving activities, 
excavation, or alteration of a resource.  Indirect impacts are those that result from increased 
erosion due to site clearance and preparation or from inadvertent damage or outright vandalism 
to exposed resource materials which could occur due to improved accessibility. 
 
Based on an evaluation of the environmental setting and features associated with known sites, 
Native American resources in the general vicinity of the proposed Project site have typically 
been found in areas that are adjacent to fresh water sources. The proposed Project is not located 
within the vicinity of any natural, fresh water sources. The Central California Information Center 
(CCIC) was contacted to inquire about any known historical or cultural resources on the Project 
site or within the vicinity. According to the CCIC, given the location of the proposed Project site, 
there is a low potential of identifying unrecorded Native American resources within the 
boundaries of the site (Appendix C).  Additionally, according to the CCIC, review of historical 
literature and maps gave no indication of the possibility of encountering historic-period 
archaeological resources within the Project area.  
 
In consideration of the above, it is unlikely that a subsurface prehistoric cultural deposit exists in 
the vicinity of the proposed Project.   
 
Conclusion:  Although cultural, historical, and archeological resources are not expected to be 
on-site, if such goods are encountered during construction, the risk of destruction is great, and is 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-25 

therefore deemed potentially significant.  Certain steps required by State law are outlined below 
and will take the form of mitigation in the event of inadvertent discovery; these procedures are to 
reduce risk of impacts to potentially undiscovered subsurface historic and archaeological 
resources.  
 
Mitigation Measure #3.5.1a: Although there is no recorded evidence of historic or 
archaeological sites within the Project area, there is the potential during Project-related 
excavation and construction for the discovery of these types of resources.  The project proponent 
shall incorporate into the construction contract(s) for the Project a provision that if a potentially 
significant historical or archaeological resource is encountered during subsurface construction 
activities (i.e., trenching, grading), all construction activities within a 50-foot radius of the 
identified potential resource shall cease until a qualified archaeologist evaluates the item for its 
significance and records the item on the appropriate State Department of Parks and Recreation 
(DPR) forms.  The archaeologist shall determine whether the item requires further study.  If, 
after the qualified archaeologist conducts appropriate technical analyses, the item is determined 
to be significant under CEQA, the archaeologist shall recommend feasible mitigation measures, 
which may include avoidance, preservation in place or other appropriate measure, as outlined in 
Public Resources Code section 21083.2.  The Applicant shall implement said measures.    
 
Mitigation Measure #3.5.1b:  The project proponent will incorporate into the construction 
contract(s) a provision that in the event a fossil or fossil formations are discovered during any 
subsurface construction activities for the proposed Project (i.e., trenching, grading), all 
excavations within 50 feet of the find shall be temporarily halted until the find is examined by a 
qualified paleontologist, in accordance with Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards. The 
paleontologist shall notify the Applicant, who shall coordinate with the paleontologist as to any 
necessary investigation of the find.  If the find is determined to be significant under CEQA, the 
Applicant shall implement those measures, which may include avoidance, preservation in place, 
or other appropriate measures, as outlined in Public Resources Code section 21083.2.   
 
Mitigation Measure #3.5.1c:  If ground-disturbing activities uncover previously unknown 
human remains, Section 7050.5 of the California Health and Safety Code applies, and the 
following procedures shall be followed: 
 
There shall be no further excavation or disturbance of the area where the human remains were 
found until the City Coroner is contacted.  Duly authorized representatives of the Coroner shall 
be permitted onto the Project site and shall take all actions consistent with Health and Safety 
Code Section 7050.5 and Government Code Section 27460, et seq.  Excavation or disturbance of 
the area where the human remains were found or within 50 feet of the find shall not be permitted 
to re-commence until the Coroner determines that the remains are not subject to the provisions of 
law concerning investigation of the circumstances, manner, and cause of any death.  If the 
Coroner determines the remains are Native American, the Coroner shall contact the NAHC 
within 24 hours, and the NAHC shall identify the person or persons it believes to be the “most 
likely descendant” (MLD) of the deceased Native American. The MLD may make 
recommendations to the landowner or the person responsible for the excavation work, for means 
of treating or disposing of, with appropriate dignity, the human remains and any associated grave 
goods as provided in PRC Section 5097.98. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-26 

 
Effectiveness of Measure:  Implementation of Mitigation Measures #3.5.1a through #3.5.1c will 
reduce the potential impacts on historic, archaeological, paleontological resources to a level that 
is less than significant with mitigation incorporated.   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-27 

3.6 GEOLOGY/SOILS  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Expose people or structures to potential substantial 
adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, 
or death involving: 

    

i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as 
delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the 
State Geologist for the area or based on other 
substantial evidence of a known fault?  Refer 
to Division of Mines and Geology Special 
Publication 42? 

    

ii) Strong seismic ground shaking?     

iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including 
liquefaction? 

    

iv) Landslides?     

b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of 
topsoil?   

    

c) Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is 
unstable, or that would become unstable as a result 
of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-
site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, 
liquefaction or collapse? 

    

d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 
18-1-B of the Uniform Building code (1994), 
creating substantial risks to life or property?   

    

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the 
use of septic tanks or alternative wastewater 
disposal systems when sewers are not available for 
the disposal of wastewater? 

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.6.1 – Earthquakes and ground shaking (a-(i-ii)):  The proposed Project site is not 
located within a current Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone and there are no known active 
faults located in the immediate area. The nearest faults of major historical significance within the 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-28 

vicinity of Atwater are: the San Andreas Fault to the west at a distance of approximately 15 
miles from the County line; the Hayward, Greenville, and Calaveras Faults to the northwest; and 
the Bear Mountain Fault Zone about five miles east of and parallel to the eastern border of 
Merced County. The Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act lists the Ortigalita Fault as the 
only active fault in Merced County. However, it has not been active within historic times (1,800 
years ago to present) with the last surface rupture occurring within the Holocene period (11,000 
years before present). 
 
According to the California Geological Survey’s 2008 Earthquake Shaking Potential for 
California map, the Project site is in a region that is “distant from known, active faults and will 
experience lower levels of shaking less frequently. In most earthquakes, only weaker, masonry 
buildings would be damaged. However, very infrequent earthquakes could still cause strong 
shaking here.” 
 
All structures will have to be constructed in compliance with the International Building Code and 
the City of Atwater’s building standards. Building codes in California incorporate design 
features that help to make buildings safer during earthquake events. 
 
Conclusion: The risk of damage or loss due to earthquakes and ground shaking at the proposed 
Project site is low. Construction will be in compliance with all applicable building regulation. 
Ultimate development of the proposed Project site would result in a less than significant impact.  
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.6.2 – Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction (a-iii):  The site does 
not have high potential for ground failure or liquefaction.  Liquefaction typically requires a 
significant sudden decrease of shearing resistance in cohesionless soils and a sudden increase in 
water pressure, which is typically associated with an earthquake of high magnitude.  From a 
regional perspective, the soils located within the county are considered to have a low potential 
for liquefaction.   
 
Conclusion:  Based on the known conditions of the soils documented on the Project site, the risk 
of liquefaction or ground failure during strong earthquake ground shaking is remote.  The impact 
is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.6.3 – Landslides (a-iv):  With exception of the canal located to the north end of the 
Project site, there are no nearby water bodies. In addition, the Project site and surrounding areas 
are relatively flat and would have no risk of exposing people or structures to adverse effects from 
landslides. 
 
Conclusion:  Risk of damage or loss due to landslides is low, therefore, no impact will occur. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-29 

Impact #3.6.4 – Soil Erosion (b):  Since the Project site has been previously graded, there will 
be limited or no future grading activities that would increase the potential for erosion during 
construction.  Construction Project proponents will be required to submit a Notice of Intent and 
Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) to the Regional Water Quality Control Board 
to obtain a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) General Construction 
permit. The SWPPP will include Best Management Practices (BMPs) to control erosion and 
siltation on the site in order to prevent water quality degradation.  Such measures may include, 
but are not limited to, covering the graded area with straw or straw matting and using water for 
dust control.   
 
Conclusion:   Due to the relatively flat nature of the Project site, and given that the site has been 
previously graded, future development within the proposed Project site would result in less than 
significant soil erosion impact.   
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.6.5 – Instability (c):  The Project site is not located in an earthquake fault zone and is 
in an area that has a low probability of seismic activity.  Lateral spreading, subsidence, and 
collapse are uncommon in Merced County.  Also see responses a.iii) and a.iv) above.   
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project site is not located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, 
or that would become unstable as a result of the Project. There is little to no potential for 
resulting in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction or collapse.  
Impacts from these criteria are considered less than significant.  
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.6.6 – Expansive Soil Hazards (d):  Soils associated with a high risk for expansion 
are generally characterized as dense material with less air-filled voids, and therefore have a 
greater potential to undergo volume change.  The volume of change is influenced by the quantity 
of moisture, the kind and amount of clay in the soil, and the original porosity of the soil.  
According to the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Services Web 
Soil Survey, identified soil on the Project site consists of Atwater loamy sand at 0 to 3 percent 
slopes (Figure 3.6-1). Most of the City sits upon Atwater Series soils. Atwater sand, 0 to 3 
percent slopes, has good natural drainage and little or no hazard of water erosion. These soils 
have a low plasticity and expansion potential when subjected to fluctuations in moisture and a 
low potential for liquefaction or ground failure.   
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-30 

 
SOILS MAP 

Figure 
3.6-1 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-31 

Conclusion:  Based on the known conditions of the soils documented on the Project site, risks to 
life or property as a result of expansive soils are not substantial and the impact of expansive soil 
on future proposed Project site development will be less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 

Impact #3.6.7 - Wastewater Disposal (e):  Stormwater disposal from the future development 
will discharge into the City of Atwater Storm Water System.. As discussed above, the soils on-
site will adequately accommodate the proposed Project.  
 
Conclusion:  Impacts to wastewater disposal are considered to be less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
 
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-32 

 

3.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly 
or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on 
the environment?  

    

b) Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or 
regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing the 
emissions of greenhouse gases?  

    

 
Response: 
 
The SJVAPCD has established a menu of performance standards, some of which depend on the 
existence of an adopted local Climate Action Plan or the establishment of Best Performance 
Standards (neither the plan nor standards are adopted). This analysis adopts the following 
alternative threshold provided by SJVAPCD: whether the project will reduce or mitigate GHG 
levels by 29 percent from business-as-usual (BAU) levels (from 1990 levels). To do so, this 
analysis first will quantify project-related GHG emissions under a “business-as-usual” scenario, 
and then compare these emissions with those emissions that would occur when all project-related 
design features are accounted for, and when compliance with new regulatory measures is 
assumed. The standard and methodology is explained in further detail, below. 
 
CalEEMod, the SJVAPCD’s approved program for modeling emissions, was used to calculate 
greenhouse gas emissions for the proposed Project. The modeling included the assumption that 
construction would occur in eight phases and would take approximately 10 years to complete the 
full build-out. The modeling input information for each phase of the Project is listed in the Air 
Quality section above in Table 3.3-1. 
 
Impact #3.7.1 – Generate greenhouse gas emissions, direct or indirectly, or conflict with an 
applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of 
greenhouse gases? (a):  Operational or long-term GHG emissions occur over the life of the 
Project. The proposed Project’s operational emissions are listed in Table 3.7-1.  
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-33 

Table 3.7-1 
Project Operational GHGs 

 
Source Business as 

Usual 
MTCO2e 
(MT/yr.) 

(2005 
estimate) 

2030 
Unmitigated 

Operational MTCO2e 
(MT/yr.) 

2030 
(with Regulation and 
Standard Mitigation 

Measures) 
 

Total 24,744.022 18,259.71 17,377.13 
Percent Reduction 0 26.2% 29.8% 
Are emissions significant after 
mitigation, project design features, 
and regulation? 

Yes  No 

Source: Project Applicant, 2015 
Note: CalEEMod output (Appendix A). 

Note: MTCO2e = metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalents. 

 
As shown in the table, BAU would result in 24,744.022 MTCO2e generated from greenhouse gas 
emissions. After applying regulation, design features, and mitigation measures (listed below), a 
29.00 percent reduction is finally met as shown in the last column of Table 3.7-1.  
 
Conclusion:  A 29 percent reduction in GHG emissions is met with mitigation measures applied. 
Without implementation of these measures, the Project will have a Potentially Significant 
impact. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1a: The Project must utilize 100 percent Low VOC for all cleaning 
supplies. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1b: The Project shall not include any hearths within any of the future 
proposed uses. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1c: The Applicant shall use low 50 g/L of VOC paint (interior and 
exterior) for architectural coatings. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1d: Ten percent of outdoor electrical equipment shall be dedicated to 
the use of electric leaf blowers and chainsaws. The Project shall include outdoor electrical outlets 
to achieve this. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1e: Energy efficient lighting shall be installed on site in order to 
achieve an energy reduction of at least 10 percent.   
 
Effectiveness of Mitigation Measures: Implementation of all of the mitigation measures will 
result in the impact being less than significant.  

Impact #3.7.2 –Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the 
purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases? (b): According to the Climate 
Change 2014 Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability, Summary for Policymakers, “Global 
warming of approximately 2°C (above the preindustrial baseline) is very likely to lead to more 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-34 

frequent extreme heat events and daily precipitation extremes over most areas of North America, 
more frequent low-snow years, and shifts toward earlier snowmelt runoff over much of the 
western USA and Canada. Together with climate hazards such as higher sea levels and 
associated storm surges, more intense droughts, and increased precipitation variability, these 
changes are projected to lead to increased stresses to water, agriculture, economic activities, and 
urban and rural settlements. Global warming of approximately 4°C is very likely to cause larger 
changes in extreme heat events, daily-scale precipitation extremes and snow accumulation and 
runoff, as well as emergence of a locally novel temperature regime throughout North America. 
This higher level of global temperature change is likely to cause decreases in annual precipitation 
over much of the southern half of the continent and increases in annual precipitation over much 
of the northern half of the continent. The higher level of warming would present additional and 
substantial risks and adaptation challenges across a range of sectors.” 
 
In response to climate change, many local jurisdictions are now evaluating ways to reduce GHG 
emissions. The City of Atwater General Plan, adopted in 2000, does not address climate change 
or greenhouse gases. Merced County addresses GHG reduction in its 2030 Merced County 
General Plan (adopted on December 10, 2013). Goal HS-6 of the plan specifically states, “Plan 
for the eventual impacts of climate change through adaptive management strategies and 
responses in order to mitigate climate change impacts while protecting the quality of life for 
current and future County residents.” The 2030 Merced County General Plan includes policies 
that relate directly to climate change. Consistency with the Merced County General Plan GHG 
policies is not required, but demonstrated here for purposes of further illustrating the project’s 
low-impact characteristics. Each policy is analyzed for consistency with the proposed Project in 
Table 3.7-2. 

 
Table 3.7-2 

Consistency with General Plan Goals and Policies 
 

General Plan Policy Project Consistency 
 

Air Quality Element 
 

 

Policy AQ-1.1: Energy Consumption Reduction (RDR) 
 
Encourage new residential, commercial, and industrial 
development to reduce air quality impacts from energy 
consumption. 
 

Consistent: The proposed Project will incorporate high 
efficiency lighting for at least 10% of all lighting sources 
on-site. 

Policy AQ-1.2: Business Energy Reduction Strategies 
(RDR)  
 
Encourage all businesses to: replace high mileage fleet 
vehicles with more efficient and/or alternative fuel 
vehicles; increase the energy efficiency of facilities; 
transition toward the use of renewable energy instead of 
non-renewable energy sources; adopt purchasing 
practices that promote emissions reductions and 
reusable materials; and increase recycling. 
 

Not applicable: The Project will include energy-reduction 
strategies for future uses of the Project site. 

Policy AQ-1.3: Agricultural Operations Emission Not applicable: At full build-out, the Project includes 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-35 

General Plan Policy Project Consistency 
 

Reduction Strategies (RDR)  
 
Promote greenhouse gas emission reductions by 
encouraging agricultural operators to use carbon 
efficient farming methods (e.g., no-till farming, crop 
rotation, cover cropping); install renewable energy 
technologies; protect grasslands, open space, oak 
woodlands, riparian forest and farmlands from 
conversion to other uses; and develop energy-efficient 
structures 

 

commercial uses and a drainage basin only. 

Policy AQ-1.4: Methane Digesters (RDR, JP) 
 
Encourage large dairies to capture methane through use 
of manure digester systems to generate an alternative 
source of energy, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and 
serve as a source of profit for agricultural operations. 
 

Not applicable: At full build-out, the Project includes 
commercial uses and a drainage basin only. 

Policy AQ-1.5: Climate Action Plan (RDR, PSR)  
 
Prepare a Climate Action Plan that includes an 
inventory of 1990 and 2010 greenhouse gas emissions, 
determines project air quality impacts using analysis 
methods and significance thresholds recommended by 
the SJVAPC, and identify strategies to achieve State 
emission reduction targets. 
 

Not applicable: This is a government action. However, 
the Project does agree with the objectives of this action 
by achieving a 29 percent reduction in GHG emissions. 

Policy AQ-1.6: Air Quality Improvement (SO)  
 
Support and implement programs to improve air quality 
throughout the County by reducing emissions related to 
vehicular travel and agricultural practices. 
 

Not applicable: This is a government action. 

Policy AQ-1.7: Heat Island Effect Reduction (RDR)  
 
Require increased tree canopy and reflective surface 
materials in order to reduce the heat island effect (i.e., 
increased temperatures due to heat radiation off paved 
surfaces and rooftops). This includes:  
a) Preserving agricultural lands, wildlife habitat and 
corridors, wetlands, watersheds, groundwater recharge 
areas, and other open space that provide  
carbon sequestration benefits;  
b) Establishing a mitigation program for development 
of those types of open space that provide carbon 
sequestration benefits;  
c) Requiring like-kind replacement for, or impose 
mitigation fees on, land development that results in the 
loss of carbon sequestering open space; and  
d) Using mitigation funds generated to protect existing 
open space. 
 

Consistent: As seen from the landscaping plan, the 
proposed Project will include trees. 

Policy AQ-1.8: Climate Change Adaptation (RDR)  
 

Not applicable: This is a government action. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-36 

General Plan Policy Project Consistency 
 

 
 
Prepare appropriate strategies to adapt to climate 
change based on peer-reviewed scientific findings of the 
potential impacts. 
 
Policy AQ-1.9: Interagency Coordination (IGC)  
 
Coordinate with cities, regional, State, and Federal 
agencies and organizations to collaborate on a 
comprehensive approach to planning for climate 
change. 
 

Not applicable: This is a government action. 

Policy AQ-1.10: Public Awareness (IS)  
 
Increase public awareness about climate change and 
encourage county residents and businesses to become 
involved in activities and lifestyle changes that will aid 
in reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. 
 

Not applicable: This is a government action. 

Policy AQ-1.11: Truck-Related Development (RDR) 
 
Discourage development that causes significant 
increases in truck traffic on roads that are not capable of 
accommodating truck traffic due to pavement section 
deficiency or other capacity limitations, unless adequate 
mitigation through fees or improvements in required as 
part of the permit approval. 
 

Consistent: The proposed Project would include truck 
traffic during construction and intermittent truck 
deliveries during the operational phase. Construction 
trips would be temporary and unlikely be classified as 
significant. Some truck drivers may purchase homes in 
the new subdivision, however, it is unlikely that a 
significant increase in truck traffic would occur.  

Policy AQ-1.12: Dairy Digester Permit Streamlining 
(RDR/MPSP/IGC) 
 
For existing dairy operations that are consistent with all 
permit requirements, including those issued by Merced 
County, the Central Valley Regional Water Quality 
Control Board, and the San Joaquin Valley Air 
Pollution Control District, amend the Zoning Ordinance 
and Animal Confinement Ordinance to permit digesters 
using on-farm feedstocks via Plot Plan Review. 
Proponents of digester projects using this process shall 
demonstrate that the digester is consistent with the 
RWQCB General Order for On-Farm  
 
Digesters (or any successor regulation) process, and that 
all needed SJVAPCD approvals necessary to construct 
and operate the digester have been obtained. No feature 
of this policy shall permit the expansion of any dairy 
herd or construction of other dairy facilities without 
compliance with all Zoning Code and Animal 
Confinement Ordinance requirements governing such 
uses. 
 

Not applicable: At full build-out, the Project includes 
commercial uses and a drainage basin only. 

Policy AQ-1.13: Methane Digester Policy (IGC) 
 

Not applicable: At full build-out, the Project includes 
commercial uses and a drainage basin only. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-37 

General Plan Policy Project Consistency 
 

 
 
Cooperate with federal, state, and regional agencies to 
establish programs to encourage and provide incentives 
for the installation and operation of methane digesters. 
 
Policy AQ-1.14: Methane Digester Funding 
(MPSP/FB/JP) 
 
Use a wide range of funding mechanisms to establish a 
revolving low-interest loan program to provide funding 
for the construction of methane digesters, including 
obtaining available state and federal energy efficiency 
grants. 
 

Not applicable: At full build-out, the Project includes 
commercial uses and a drainage basin only. 

Health and Safety Element  
 

Policy HS-2.16: Adapting Infrastructure to Climate 
Change (RDR/MPSP) 
 
Encourage increased stormwater and flood protection 
infrastructure capacity in order to accommodate 
changes in precipitation and extreme weather events. 
 

Consistent: The proposed project will include an on-site 
drainage basin. 

Policy HS-6.1: Development Restrictions in High Risk 
Areas (RDR) 
 
Prohibit development in areas that may be more 
severely impacted by climate change, including areas at 
high risk of wildfire or flooding, unless proper design 
mitigation is included in the project. 
 

Consistent:  As discussed above, the Project site is not in 
a high risk area. 

Policy HS-6.2: Climate Change Monitoring and 
Adaptation (RDR) 
 
Prepare an analysis that monitors the impacts of climate 
change and use adaptive management to develop new 
strategies and modify existing strategies to respond to 
the impacts of climate change. 
 

Not applicable: This is a government action. However, 
the 2030 Merced County General Plan addresses climate 
change through its goals and policies which are listed 
throughout this table. 

Policy HS-6.3: New Agricultural Crops (RDR/PSR)  
 
Coordinate with University of California Cooperative 
Extension in efforts to identify new agricultural crop 
choices/varieties that accommodate a longer growing 
season and are resistant to heat, insects, and disease. 
Also identify agricultural production methods such as 
planting dates and irrigation methods to adapt to 
changes in the climate. 
 

Not applicable: At full build-out, the Project includes 
commercial uses and a drainage basin only. 

Policy HS-6.4: Public Health Facilities and Program 
(RDR) 
 
Support the expansion of public health facilities and 

Not applicable: This is a government action. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-38 

General Plan Policy Project Consistency 
 

programs that address increases in extreme weather 
events (e.g., heat waves) and reduced air quality. 
 
Policy HS-6.5: Early Warning System (RDR) 
 
Prepare and maintain an early warning system for 
disease outbreaks and extreme heat events. 
 

Not applicable: This is a government action. 

Policy HS-6.6: Emergency Planning (RDR) 
 
Support emergency planning for disease outbreaks and 
extreme weather events. 
 

Not applicable: This is a government action. 

Policy HS-6.7: Public Awareness (PI 
 
Support public awareness of water conservation 
measures, agricultural changes, storm and flood 
preparedness, forest/range fire protection, air quality 
issues, extreme weather events, and disease prevention. 

Not applicable: This is a government action. However, 
the proposed Project would implement water saving 
strategies. 

Source: County of Merced, 2013. 
Note: Project consistency or applicability determined by Quad Knopf. 

 
The proposed Project is consistent with the policies in Table 3.7-2. Aside from helping to 
implement measures contemplated in CARB’s Scoping Plan, the Project design features and 
standard measures likely will help to implement measures contemplated by the SJVAPCD’s 
CEQA guidance document.  
 
SCOPING PLAN 
 
Emission reductions in California alone would not be able to stabilize the concentration of GHGs 
in the earth’s atmosphere. However, California’s actions set an example and drive progress 
towards a reduction in GHGs elsewhere. If other states and countries were to follow California’s 
emission reduction targets, this could avoid medium or higher ranges of global temperature 
increases. Thus, severe consequences of climate change could also be avoided.  
 
The California CARB Governing Board approved a Climate Change Scoping Plan in December 
2008, which outlined the State’s strategy to achieve the 2020 GHG emissions limit. The Scoping 
Plan, “proposes a comprehensive set of actions designed to reduce overall GHG emissions in 
California, improve our environment, reduce our dependence on oil, diversify our energy 
sources, save energy, create new jobs, and enhance public health” (California Air Resources 
Board 2008). Project consistency with applicable strategies in the Scoping Plan is assessed in 
Table 3.7-3 As shown, the Project is consistent with the Plan. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-39 

Table 3.7-3 
Consistency with Applicable Scoping Plan Reduction Measures 

 
Scoping Plan Reduction Measure Project Consistency or  

Reason Why Not Applicable 

California Light-Duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas 
Standards: Implement adopted standards and 
planned second phase of the program.  Align zero 
emission vehicle, alternative and renewable fuel and 
vehicle technology programs with long-term climate 
change goals. 

 

Not applicable: This is a statewide measure that 
cannot be implemented by a project applicant. 
When this measure is initiated, the standards would 
be applicable to the light-duty vehicles that would 
access the project site. 

Energy Efficiency:  Maximize energy efficiency 
building and appliance standards; pursue additional 
efficiency including new technologies, policy, and 
implementation mechanisms.  Pursue comparable 
investment in energy efficiency from all retail 
providers of electricity in California 

 

Consistent:  This is a measure for the State to 
increase its energy efficiency standards.  

Renewable Portfolio Standard: Achieve 33 percent 
renewable energy mix statewide. Renewable energy 
sources include (but are not limited to) wind, solar, 
geothermal, small hydroelectric, biomass, anaerobic 
digestion, and landfill gas.   

 

Not Applicable: The proposed Project will include 
renewable energy sources. 

Low Carbon Fuel Standard:  Develop and adopt the 
Low Carbon Fuel Standard 

Not Applicable: This is a statewide measure that 
cannot be implemented by a project applicant. 
When this measure is initiated, the standard would 
be applicable to the fuel used by vehicles that would 
access the Project site. 

 
Regional Transportation-Related Greenhouse Gas 
Targets: Develop regional GHG emissions 
reduction targets for passenger vehicles.  This 
measure refers to SB 375. 

 

Not Applicable: This is a statewide measure that 
cannot be implemented by a project applicant. 
When this measure is initiated, the standard would 
be applicable to passenger vehicles that would 
access the Project site. 
 

Vehicle Efficiency Measures: Implement light duty 
vehicle efficiency measures. 

Not Applicable: When this measure is initiated, the 
standards would be applicable to the light-duty 
vehicles that would access the Project site. 

 
Goods Movement: Implement adopted regulations 
for the use of shore power for ships at berth.  
Improve efficiency in goods movement activities. 

 

Not Applicable: The Project does not propose any 
changes to maritime, rail, or intermodal facilities or 
forms of transportation. 

Million Solar Roofs Program: Install 3,000 MW of 
solar-electric capacity under California’s existing 
solar programs. 

Not Applicable to Project. 
 

Medium/Heavy-Duty Vehicles: Adopt medium and 
heavy-duty vehicle efficiency measures. 

This is a statewide measure that cannot be 
implemented by a project applicant or lead agency.  
When this measure is adopted, the standards would 
be applicable to vehicles that access the Project site. 

 
Industrial Emissions: Require assessment of large 
industrial sources to determine whether individual 

Not Applicable: The Project is not an industrial land 
use. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-40 

Scoping Plan Reduction Measure Project Consistency or  
Reason Why Not Applicable 

sources within a facility can cost-effectively reduce 
GHG emissions and provide other pollution 
reduction co-benefits.  Reduce GHG emissions from 
fugitive emissions from oil and gas extraction and 
gas transmission.  Adopt and implement regulations 
to control fugitive methane emissions and reduce 
flaring at refineries. 

 
High Speed Rail: Support implementation of a high-
speed rail system. 

 

Not Applicable: This is a statewide measure that 
cannot be implemented by a project applicant. 

 
Green Building Strategy: Expand the use of green 
building practices to reduce the carbon footprint of 
California’s new and existing inventory of 
buildings. 

 

Consistent: The State’s goal is to increase the use of 
green building practices. The Project would 
implement some green building strategies through 
project design features. 

 
High Global Warming Potential Gases:  Adopt 
measures to reduce high global warming potential 
gases. 

Consistent: When this measure is initiated, it would 
be applicable to those gases that have high global 
warming potential that would be used by the Project 
(such as in air conditioning and refrigerators). 

 
Recycling and Waste: Reduce methane emissions at 
landfills. Increase waste diversion, composting, and 
commercial recycling.  Move toward zero-waste. 

 

Consistent: The project would not contain a landfill. 
The State’s goal is to help increase waste diversion. 
The Project would be required to be in compliance 
with the City’s recycling program. 

 
Sustainable Forests: Preserve forest sequestration 
and encourage the use of forest biomass for 
sustainable energy generation. 

 

Not Applicable: The project site is located in an 
area with no forested land. 

Water: Continue efficiency programs and use 
cleaner energy sources to move and treat water. 

Consistent:  Although this is a measure for State and 
local agencies, the proposed Project will result in a 
reduction of energy and water use. 

 
Agriculture: In the near-term, encourage investment 
in manure digesters and at the five-year Scoping 
Plan update determine if the program should be 
made mandatory by 2020. 

Not applicable: At full build-out, the Project includes 
commercial uses and a drainage basin only.  

Source: California Air Resources Board, 2008. 

 
In summary, the Project would not obstruct attainment of any of the goals established under AB 
32. The Project would comply with all present and future regulatory measures developed in 
accordance with AB 32 and CARB’s Scoping Plan. The proposed Project will incorporate a 
number of features that would minimize GHG emissions beyond existing regulatory 
requirements. Such features are also consistent with the California Air Pollution Control Officers 
Association paper and general guidance provided by the SJVAPCD.  
 
With the incorporation of standard measures, project design features, and applicable laws, the 
Project’s forecasted emission reduction is 29.0 percent, which not only shows compliance with 
SJVAPCD thresholds, but also promotion of AB 32 goals for 2020.  
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-41 

Regarding goals for 2050 under Executive Order S-3-05, at this time it is not possible to quantify 
the emissions savings from future regulatory measures, as they have not yet been developed. 
Nevertheless, it can be anticipated that operation of the Project would comply with future 
measures as enacted by state lawmakers that would lead to an 80 percent reduction below 1990 
levels by 2050. The proposed Project already includes project design features that exceed 
regulatory requirements and thereby reduce vehicle miles traveled. 
 
The Project furthers the State’s goals toward reducing GHG emissions to 1990 levels by 2020 
and an 80 percent reduction below 1990 levels by 2050, and does not obstruct their attainment. 
This takes into account the proposed Project’s emissions, project design features, and standard 
measures and the progress being made by the State towards reducing emissions in key sectors 
such as transportation, industry, and electricity. 
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project is consistent with both the 2030 Merced County General 
Plan policies and the State’s Scoping Plan objectives, therefore, impacts will be less than 
significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-42 

3.8 HAZARDS/HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

Would the project: 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through the routine transport, use, or 
disposal of hazardous materials?   

    

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through reasonably foreseeable upset 
and accident conditions involving the release of 
hazardous materials into the environment? 

    

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or 
acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste 
within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed 
school? 

    

d) Be located on a site which is included on a list of 
hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to 
Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, 
would it create a significant hazard to the public or 
the environment?  

    

e) For a project located within an airport land use 
plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, 
within two miles of a public airport or public use 
airport, would the project result in a safety hazard 
for people residing or working in the project area?  

    

f) For a project within the vicinity of a private 
airstrip, would the project result in a safety hazard 
for people residing or working in the project area? 

    

g) Impair implementation of or physically interfere 
with an adopted emergency response plan or 
emergency evacuation plan? 

    

h) Expose people or structures to a significant risk of 
loss, injury or death involving wildland fires, 
including where wildlands are adjacent to 
urbanized areas or where residences are intermixed 
with wildlands? 

    

 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-43 

Response: 
 
Impact #3.8.1 – Create Significant Hazards to the Public (a, b): The proposed Project site 
may result in the transport and use of large amounts of hazardous materials including gasoline, 
oil and other automotive materials, pesticides, fertilizers, cleaners, solvents, paints, etc. during 
construction and on-going operation.  Commercial transporters of hazardous materials must 
comply with California Vehicle Code Section 3103, which specifies transportation routes with 
the least overall travel time and prohibits transportation of hazardous materials through 
residential neighborhoods.   
 
Hazardous materials (such as pesticides, fertilizers, gasoline, and solvents) will be used at the 
Project site in routine landscaping and other facility maintenance activities. If not properly used 
and stored, such materials could create hazards.  Federal and state laws require labeling of all 
such materials.  The labeling identifies use, storage, and disposal instructions.  
 
Conclusion:  With the compliance with Federal and state laws, this impact will be reduced to 
less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.8.2 - Hazards within One-Quarter Mile (c):  Although Buhach Colony High 
School is located within one-quarter mile of the Project site, the types of uses proposed for the 
Project site are ones that typically do not handle or emit hazardous materials or emissions.  
 
Conclusion:  No impact has been identified. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.8.3 - Be located on a site included on a list of hazardous materials sites (d): 
Pursuant to Government Code 65962.5, the following databases were consulted: 
 
U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA): 
 
 Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, Liability Information System 

(CERCLIS) 
 National Priority List (NPL) 
 No Further Remedial Action Planned Sites (NFRAP) 
 Municipal Solid Waste Landfills (MSWLF) 
 Leaking Underground Storage Tanks (LUST) 
 
This search revealed that the Project site is not included on any list of hazardous material sites or 
within one mile of a hazardous materials site and would not create a significant hazard to the 
public or the environment. In addition, a search through the EnviroStor database concluded that 
no cleanup sites were found on or near the Project site.  
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-44 

Conclusion:  As the site is not located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous 
materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5, there is no impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.8.4 - Airport Land Use (e, f):  The proposed Project site is not within an airport land 
use plan or located within two miles of a public airport or private airport or airstrip and ultimate 
development of the site will not pose a safety hazard for people residing or working within the 
site.   
 
Conclusion:   Because the proposed Project site is not located within two miles of a public or 
private airport or airstrip, there is no impact related to project proximity to an airport or airstrip. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.8.5 - Emergency Response Plans (g):  According to the City’s General Plan, 
response procedures are described in the City of Atwater Emergency Plan, dated November 
1984.  Emergency response and evacuation is dependent upon the public roadway system, owned 
and maintained by the City, which provides for emergency access and evacuation of the 
proposed Project site.   
 
Conclusion:  The proposed project will not inhibit the ability of local roadways to continue to 
accommodate emergency response and evacuation activities, therefore, the proposed Project 
would have a less than significant impact on emergency response and evacuation plans. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.8.6 – Public Risk Due to Wildfires (h):  Surrounding land uses in the vicinity of the 
proposed project are primarily residential and are not subject to high levels of risk from wildland 
fires.  According to the City’s General Plan, the project site is located in an area of Merced 
County that is considered to have a low risk for wildland fire. 
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project site is not in an area that is at risk from wildland fires, 
therefore the Project would have no impact regarding exposure of people or structures to 
wildland fires. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
 
 
 
   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-45 

3.9 HYDROLOGY/WATER QUALITY 

Would the project: 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Violate any water quality standards or waste 
discharge requirements?  

    

b) Substantially deplete ground-water supplies or 
interfere substantially with groundwater recharge 
such that there would be a net deficit in aquifer 
volume or a lowering of the local groundwater 
table level (e.g., the production rate of pre-existing 
nearby wells would drop to a level which would 
not support existing land uses or planned uses for 
which permits have been granted)?   

    

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of 
the site or area, including through the alteration of 
the course of a stream or river, in a manner which 
would result in substantial erosion or siltation on- 
or off-site? 

    

d) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of 
the site or area, including through the alteration of 
the course of a stream or river, or substantially 
increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a 
manner which would result in flooding on- or off-
site? 

    

e) Create or contribute runoff water which would 
exceed the capacity of existing or planned 
stormwater drainage systems or provide 
substantial additional sources of polluted runoff? 

    

f) Otherwise substantially degrade water quality?     

g) Place housing within a 100-year flood hazard area 
as mapped on a federal flood Hazard Boundary or 
Flood Insurance Rate Map or other flood hazard 
delineation map? 

    

h) Place within a 100-year flood hazard area 
structures which would impede or redirect flood 
flows? 

    



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-46 

Would the project: 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

i) Expose people or structures to a significant risk of 
loss, injury or death involving flooding, including 
flooding as a result of the failure of a levee or 
dam? 

    

j) Inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow?     

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.9.1 – Violate any Water Quality Standards or Waste Discharge Requirements 
(a):  Ultimate development of the proposed Project site subsequent to recordation of a final 
subdivision map could result in runoff of storm water containing sediment, violating water 
quality standards.  At the time of development project proponents will be required to submit a 
Notice of Intent and Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) to the Regional Water 
Quality Control Board to obtain a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 
General Construction permit.  The SWPPP will include (Best Management Practices) BMPs to 
control erosion and siltation in order to prevent water quality degradation.   
 
The Project is required to comply with standards for appropriate sizing and design of the 
stormwater detention basin, location, reduction in runoff and pollutants, elimination of illicit 
discharge, and inspections, monitoring, analysis, and enforcement. 
 
Potential water quality effects resulting from additional individual septic systems are discussed 
in Section 3.17, Utilities and Service Systems. 
 
Conclusion:  Implementation of an approved SWPPP and required compliance with stormwater 
standards, which include inspections and enforcement, will ensure compliance with water quality 
standards and waste discharge requirements.  This impact is less than significant.   
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.9.2 – Deplete Groundwater Supplies (b):   
 
REGIONAL GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT 
 
Water supply within the Region is primarily from groundwater pumped from the Merced 
Subbasin. Management of water supplies within the Merced Subbasin is complex, involving 
many agencies and private entities. The Merced Irrigation District (MID) and the City of Merced 
prepared a Groundwater Management Plan (GWMP) in 1997 to comply with requirements of the 
Groundwater Management Act (also known as Assembly Bill 3030 or AB3030). Due to wide 
interest in groundwater management within the area, in December 1997, public agencies, 
including the County of Merced and water purveyors within the Merced Subbasin signed a 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-47 

Memorandum of Understanding to create MAGPI – the Merced Area Groundwater Pool 
Interests, formally agreeing to work cooperatively to promote conjunctive use projects within the 
Merced Subbasin.  In 2008, MAGPI adopted a Groundwater Management Plan Update (GWMP 
Update) which supersedes the 1997 GWMP. 
 
Subsequently, the Merced Integrated Regional Water Management Plan (MIRWMP) was 
prepared and adopted in August 2013 by the County of Merced and other entities representing 
years of cooperation among regional stakeholders, and is the first integrated water management 
plan in the Merced region. 
 
The Merced Region includes the northeast portion of Merced County. 
 
GROUNDWATER LEVELS IN THE REGION 
 
According to the 2008 GWMP Update, Merced subbasin groundwater elevations have been 
monitored by the Department of Water Resources (DWR), MID, and others via water supply and 
monitoring wells since the 1950s.  DWR monitors more than 305 wells on a semi-annual basis 
throughout the Merced Groundwater Basin.  MID currently measures static regional groundwater 
levels monthly in a total of 290 active wells within its service area.  The monitoring data show 
that since 1980, average groundwater levels beneath the Merced Subbasin have declined 
approximately 14 feet, with most of the decrease occurring between 1980 and 1996.  Therefore, 
the Merced Subbasin is considered to be in a state of mild long-term groundwater level decline 
(MIRWMP, 2013). 
 
EXISTING AND PROJECTED GROUNDWATER SUPPLIES 
 
Available groundwater supply is difficult to estimate for the Region, as groundwater supplies 
depend upon numerous varying factors. Groundwater is frequently used by private pumpers to 
meet demands not met by surface water supplies. As such, groundwater pumping generally 
increases in drought years when there is not enough surface water available to meet water 
demands. 
 
According to the 2008 GWMP Update, groundwater levels within the Merced Subbasin declined 
by an average of approximately 3.7 feet per year between 1995 to 2007. Using an assumption of 
a 9.0 percent average specific yield, this decline in groundwater levels represents a decrease in 
storage capacity of approximately 117,200 Acre Feet (AF). Historical data suggest that the 
Merced Subbasin experiences periods of long-term, groundwater level decline and subsequent 
recovery, with a general trend toward mild groundwater level decline.  Although there have been 
attempts to estimate safe yield in the basin, a defensible and robust safe yield estimate will 
require a comprehensive hydrologic and groundwater study. MAGPI is in the process of 
developing an Integrated Water Resources Model, which, once developed, will be used to 
estimate the safe yield of the Merced Subbasin. This estimate will guide the long-term 
management of the groundwater Basin and the water supplies in the Region (2008 GWMP 
Update). 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-48 

In order to address groundwater overdraft, the Merced Water Supply Plan Update – Final Status 
Report recommends taking actions to stabilize groundwater elevations in the Merced Subbasin to 
1999 levels, which were approximately 160 feet above mean sea level. The City of Merced and 
MID created a Merced Water Supply Task Force, which is comprised of City Council and MID 
Board members, that is working to implement recommended actions included in the Merced 
Water Supply Plan Update – Final Status Report, which will move the Region forward in 
stabilizing groundwater elevations in the Merced Subbasin to 1999 levels. 
 
GROUNDWATER RECHARGE 
 
Existing Recharge.  Water supplies within the Merced Basin consist of infiltration of 
precipitation, tributary inflow (surface water resulting from run-off of precipitation), surface 
water imported from the Merced River, and water stored in the subsurface as groundwater.   
 
Water is diverted from the Merced River into the MID distribution system through the Northside 
Canal from the Merced Falls Dam and through the Main Canal from the Crocker-Huffman 
Diversion Dam.  Between 1994 and 2007, MID diversions ranged between 430,600 and 
571,400 AF/yr and averaged about 499,400 AF/yr.   Most groundwater recharge in the Merced 
Basin occurs from the application of irrigation water that is diverted from the Merced River.  
As the water is transported and distributed to the fields, seepage from canals and ditches 
percolates through the soil and recharges the groundwater basin.  Annual seepage to 
groundwater is estimated by MID to be between 80,000 and 130,000 AF/yr.  As irrigation 
water is applied to crops, a portion percolates past the root zone and continues downward also 
recharging the groundwater basin. 
 
Other sources of surface water within the Merced Basin include permanent and ephemeral 
streams including Bear Creek, Black Rascal Creek, Burns Creek, Canal Creek, Cottonwood 
Creek, Deadman Creek, Dutchman Creek, Fahrens Creek, Little Dutchman Creek, Mariposa 
Creek and Owens Creek.  Gauging stations located at flood control structures on several of 
these creeks (Burns, Bear, Mariposa, and Owens) indicate that since 1993, annual outflow 
from the creeks has ranged between 15,000 and 238,700 AF/yr and averaged about 94,000 
AF/yr.  DWR has estimated that approximately half, or about 47,000 AF/yr of this water 
infiltrates and recharges groundwater (GWMP Update, 2008). 
 
Future Supplemental Recharge Projects.  As part of the IRWM planning effort, the Region 
completed a Groundwater Recharge Feasibility Study. The purpose of this study was to define 
areas with high potential for recharge.  An understanding of areas with high potential for 
recharge and factors that influence recharge assists in identifying where recharge projects should 
be considered, where recharge is occurring currently and where existing land use has impacted 
recharge. Identification of recharge areas and mechanisms can also assist in preserving and 
managing important natural features such as riparian areas or stream channels. Anthropogenic 
recharge, particularly deep percolation from agricultural irrigation and earthen-lined canals, is a 
key source of recharge in the Merced Region.  Identifying where this and other human 
influenced recharge is occurring provides an assessment of current recharge and assists in the 
recognition of the effects of land use change. Four opportunity areas were identified through the 
Recharge Feasibility Study. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-49 

EFFECTS OF THE PROJECT 
 
The Project carries the potential to impact local groundwater resources.  The Project could 
potentially impact local groundwater resources in two principle ways: (1) the lowering of the 
local groundwater table as a result of project related pumping and (2) a decrease of groundwater 
recharge. Both of these topics are discussed in detail under the subsequent headings. 
 
Groundwater Withdraw/Depletion.  The City of Atwater provides municipal water service within 
the corporate boundary, which is sourced from groundwater in the Merced basin. 
 
According to calculations completed by DWR, the total storage capacity of the Merced subbasin 
is estimated to be 21,100,000 AF to a depth of 300 feet, and 47,600,000 AF to the base (lowest 
accessible strata) of fresh groundwater. These same calculations give an estimate of 15,700,000 
AF of groundwater to a depth of 300 feet stored in this subbasin as of 1995 (DWR, Bulletin 118, 
2006). The Project’s percentage of use, based on the 1995 estimate, would potentially represent 
an extremely small fraction of the basin’s storage. In this context, although the Project could 
have the potential to contribute to increased groundwater pumping, the potential for significant 
decline of groundwater levels is low considering the extent and volume of the local aquifer and 
its increased ability to accommodate increased extraction due to regional efforts to reduce 
groundwater dependency and encourage conjunctive use. 
 
Development of the site would restrict onsite recharge where new impervious surface areas were 
created, although most of this would be directed to on- and/or off-site stormwater detention 
basins which facilitate percolation. 
 
The proposed 29-acre, ±249,000 s.f. commercial retail space Project does not reach the threshold 
of 500,000 s.f. to require preparation of a water supply assessment. It is estimated that the Project 
would represent a small percentage of the City’s overall water consumption.  Additionally, water 
use restrictions now required at the state and local level, such as the California Green Building 
Standards Code (Part 11 of Title 24, California Code of Regulations, CALGreen), will reduce the 
Project’s draw of municipal water and increase groundwater recharge.  
 
Conclusion: Based on the analysis above, a less than significant impact has been identified. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.9.3 - Surface Water, Erosion/Siltation (c, d):  The site is relatively flat and has been 
previously farmed. The Project does not propose to redirect runoff flows or alter existing 
drainage patterns.  
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project is not expected to alter existing drainage patterns on the 
proposed Project site and the potential for substantial erosion or siltation is low.  Additionally, as 
discussed above, the project proponent will be required to submit a Notice of Intent and SWPPP 
to the Regional Water Quality Control Board to obtain a NPDES General Construction permit at 
the time further development of the site is proposed.  The SWPPP will include BMPs to control 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-50 

erosion and siltation and prevent water quality degradation.  These impacts are less than 
significant.   
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.9.4 – Stormwater Runoff (e): An existing basin located east of the Project site 
adjacent to Joan Faul Park collects storm water from the areas drainage system. The City of 
Atwater can accommodate the storm water run-off to be generated by the Project.  However, the 
full build-out of the Project will require the expansion of this basin in order to accommodate the 
Project in its entirety.   
 
The City’s Utility Engineer – AECOM has completed a preliminary design to expand the Joan 
Faul Park basin to accommodate an additional 2,600 CY of storage capacity for the subject 
development.  Currently the existing basin capacity is 25,140 CY.  The proposed modifications 
would include expanding the basin approximately 10 feet to the south. The expansion would also 
require a 5-foot wide maintenance strip be added as well at the top of slope, so that the total 
encroachment into the park would be 15 feet.  The expansion would provide an additional 2,755 
cu yards of new capacity to meet the needs of the Project at full build out. 
 
Conclusion:  The existing basin will need to be expanded in order to accommodate stormwater 
run-off of the Project at full build-out. Without the expansion, this would be a potentially 
significant impact.  
 
Mitigation Measure #3.9.1: All future developers shall pay a per-acre fee as determined by the 
City of Atwater. This will go toward the payment of the drainage expansion. 
 
Effectiveness of Mitigation Measure: Implementation of all of the mitigation measures will 
result in the impact being less than significant.  

Impact #3.9.5 - Water Quality (f): Water quality impacts have been discussed in Impacts 3.9.1 
through 3.9.3 above.   
 
Conclusion:  With construction of the storm drainage infrastructure at the time of future 
development and implementation of an approved and permitted SWPPP, this impact would be 
less than significant.   
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.9.6 - Flood Hazard (g, h, i,): As seen from Figure 3.9-1, the Project site is not 
located in a 100-year flood zone, therefore, no structures will impede or redirect flood flows. 
This Project does not contain any proposed residential uses, therefore, no housing will be placed 
within a 100 year flood hazard area.  The potential for exposure of people or structures to 
flooding at this location is minimal and the proposed Project will not result in additional risk of 
loss, injury, or death involving flooding. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-51 

Conclusion:  The proposed Project site and surrounding lands are not located in the 100-year 
flood zone and aside from the canals located along the northern Project boundary, no significant 
waterways are located within the vicinity of the site.   No impact has been identified. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-52 

 
FEMA Flood Zones 

Figure 
3.9-1 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-53 

Impact #3.9.7 - Dam Failure Inundation (i): There are no dams or levees in the vicinity of the 
proposed Project site that pose a threat to the site from flooding due to failure. 

 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project site is not located with an inundation area in the event of a 
dam failure. There would be No impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.9.8 - Seiche/Tsunami/Mud Flow (j):  A seiche is an oscillation of the surface of a 
landlocked body of water (as a lake) that varies in period from a few minutes to several hours 
(Merriam-Webster), generally caused by seismic activity.  It is unlikely that a seiche could 
achieve a height that would threaten structures within the proposed Project site due to the low 
potential for seismic activity in the vicinity and absence of a large water body in proximity to the 
site.  The proposed Project site is separated from the Pacific Ocean by a distance of over 100 
miles and the coastal mountain range and is not subject to the threat of a Tsunami.  The proposed 
project site has minimal sloping (0 to three percent) which virtually eliminates the possibility for 
a mudflow. 
 
Conclusion:  No water bodies in the vicinity of the proposed Project site could cause flooding by 
seiche or tsunami.  Due to the location and the relatively flat terrain, there is no potential for 
mudflow.  No impact has been identified. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-54 

3.10 LAND USE/PLANNING  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Physically divide an established community?      

b) Conflict with any applicable land use plan, policy, 
or regulation of an agency with jurisdiction over 
the project (including, but not limited to the 
general plan, specific plan, local coastal program, 
or zoning ordinance) adopted for the purpose of 
avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect?   

    

c) Conflict with any applicable habitat conservation 
plan or natural community conservation plan?  

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.10.1 - Divide Established Community (a):  The proposed Project site is located in 
an urban area and is surrounded by residential and public facility uses.  Ultimate development of 
the undeveloped site will occur within the boundaries of the proposed Project site and would not 
result in modification to surrounding residential or public facility land uses in the vicinity.   
 
Conclusion:    The Project will not physically divide an established community.  No impact has 
been identified.   
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.10.2 - Conflict with Land Use and Zoning (b):  The proposed Project is located 
within the City limits of Atwater; therefore, it is subject to both the City of Atwater General Plan 
and the City of Atwater Zoning Ordinance.  The Project site is currently designated by the 
General Plan for Commercial and as Planned Development by the Zoning Ordinance.  The 
proposed Project is not requesting, and does not require, a zone change or general plan 
amendment.   
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project will not conflict with any applicable land use plan, policy, or 
regulation of an agency with jurisdiction over the Project.  This impact is less than significant.   
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 

Impact #3.10.3 - Conservation Plan (c):  The proposed Project does not fall within an approved 
habitat conservation plan. 
 
Conclusion:  There will be no impact. 
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-55 

Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
 
 
 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-56 

3.11 MINERAL RESOURCES  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Result in the loss of availability of a known 
mineral resource that would be of value to the 
region and the residents of the state?  

    

b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally 
important mineral resource recovery site 
delineated on a local general plan, specific plan 
or other land use plan? 

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.11.1 - Mineral Resources (a, b):  According to the City of Atwater General Plan, the 
City, along with most of Merced County, is located on land primarily consisting of sedimentary 
rocks and alluvial sediments deposited by several of the river tributaries draining into the San 
Joaquin River. Mineralogical occurrences within the County overall are less abundant than other 
areas of the state. More specifically, the Project site is not located in an area of potential mineral 
resources of value to the region or local area.  
 
Conclusion:  The Project site is not delineated on any local general plans, specific plans, or other 
land use plans indicating locally-important or significant mineral resource recovery sites. The 
Project will therefore, not result in a loss of mineral resources.  There is no impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
 
 
   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-57 

3.12 NOISE  

Would the project result in: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Exposure of persons to or generation of noise 
levels in excess of standards established in the 
local general plan or noise ordinance, or 
applicable standards of other agencies?  

    

b) Exposure of persons to or generation of excessive 
groundborne vibration or groundborne noise 
levels?  

    

c) A substantial permanent increase in ambient noise 
levels in the project vicinity above levels existing 
without the project? 

    

d) A substantial temporary or periodic increase in 
ambient noise levels in the project vicinity above 
levels existing without the project?  

    

e) For a project located within an airport land use 
plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, 
within two miles of a public airport or public use 
airport, would the project expose people residing 
or working in the project area to excessive noise 
levels?  

    

f) For a project within the vicinity of a private 
airstrip, would the project expose people residing 
or working in the project area to excessive noise 
levels? 

    

 
Response:   
 
ACOUSTICAL TERMINOLOGY 
 
Noise is often described as unwanted sound.  Sound is defined as any pressure variation in air 
that the human ear can detect.  If the pressure variations occur frequently enough, they can be 
heard and are called sound.  The number of pressure variations per second is called the frequency 
of sound, and is expressed as cycles per second, called Hertz (Hz). 
 
Measuring sound directly in terms of pressure would require a very large and awkward range of 
numbers.  As a result, the decibel scale was devised.  The decibel scale uses the hearing 
threshold (20 micropascals of pressure), as a point of reference, defined as 0 dB.  Other sound 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-58 

pressures are then compared to the reference pressure, and the logarithm is taken to keep the 
numbers in a practical range.  The decibel scale allows a million-fold increase in pressure to be 
expressed as 120 dB, and changes in levels (dB) correspond closely to human perception of 
relative loudness. 
 
The perceived loudness of sounds is dependent upon many factors, including sound pressure 
level and frequency content.  However, within the usual range of environmental noise levels, 
perception of loudness is relatively predictable, and can be approximated by the A-weighing 
network.  There is a strong correlation between A-weighted sound levels (expressed as dBA) and 
the way the human ear perceives noise.  For this reason, the A-weighted sound level has become 
the standard tool of environmental noise assessment.  Noise levels referenced in this section are 
in terms of A-weighted levels.   
 
Community noise is commonly described in terms of the "ambient" noise level, which is defined 
as the all-encompassing noise level associated with a given noise environment.  A common 
statistical tool to measure the ambient noise level is the average, or equivalent, sound level (Leq), 
which corresponds to a steady-state A-weighted sound level containing the same total energy as 
a time-varying signal over a given time period (usually one hour).  The Leq is the foundation of 
the composite noise descriptor, Ldn, and shows very good correlation with community response 
to noise. 
 
The Day-night Average Level (Ldn) is based upon the average noise level over a 24-hour day, 
with a +10 decibel weighing applied to noise occurring during nighttime (10:00 p.m. to 7:00 
a.m.) hours.  The nighttime penalty is based upon the assumption that people react to nighttime 
noise exposures as though they were twice as loud as daytime exposures.  Because Ldn 
represents a 24-hour average, it tends to disguise short-term variations in the noise environment. 
 
Impact #3.12.1 - Exposure of persons to or generation of noise levels in excess of standards 
(a):  The proposed Project is surrounded by existing residential uses and Buhach Colony High 
School. For the purposes of evaluating noise impacts to new projects, the criteria contained in 
Table 6-5 Land Use Compatibility Guidelines for Development, within the City of Atwater’s 
General Plan were used. According to this table, community noise exposure at 60 dB Ldn is 
“generally acceptable” and requires no mitigation measures. Community noise exposure between 
60 to 70 dB Ldn is considered to be “Conditionally Acceptable.” Any proposed Project that 
generates noise between 60 to 70 dB Ldn should be permitted only after careful study and 
inclusion of mitigation measures as needed to satisfy the polices of the City’s Noise Element.  
 
While the proposed Project has the potential to increase noise during the construction period, all 
construction activity will be limited to the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. Monday through 
Friday, and 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Saturdays and Sundays, per the City’s Noise Control 
section of the Municipal Plan (Section 8.44.050 - Construction). These limitations will result in 
construction occurring during hours of less noise sensitivity. Upon completion of the Project, all 
construction noise would cease. 
 
As discussed in Chapter 2 – Project Description, proposed uses on the Project site include: 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-59 

 Fast food establishments; 
 Fitness center; 
 Gas station/market ; 
 Retail establishments; 
 Major retail hubs; 
 Grocery store; 
 Pharmacy. 
 
The primary source of noise at the Project site is vehicle traffic traveling on Buhach Road and 
Juniper Avenue. Typical operational noise generated by the proposed Project will come from 
stationary noise sources such as mechanical equipment from the buildings, and mobile noise 
sources from vehicular and pedestrian traffic on site. Delivery vehicles for the site will occur on 
a regular but not daily basis. This increase in truck delivery/loading is not expected to increase 
average 24-hour daily noise levels in the immediate Project area above City noise standards 
compared to existing conditions, which include noise generated by residential uses, schools 
facilities, and existing vehicular traffic. In addition, any required outdoor mechanical equipment 
would be housed according to manufacturer’s specifications to minimize noise emissions and 
would not increase average 24- hour daily noise levels in the immediate Project area above City 
noise standards compared to existing conditions. 
 
In addition, the proposed Project’s Landscape Plan, dated April 9, 2015 indicates that Afghan 
Pine and Sawleaf Zelkova are two types of trees that will be planted along the perimeter of the 
Project site, to serve as noise-reduction barriers between the site and the surrounding land uses. 
These tree varieties are commonly used to serve as noise buffers between noise producers and 
sensitive receptors.   
 
Conclusion:  Although the proposed Project has the potential to increase noise and expose 
people on the proposed Project site to additional noise as future development occurs, compliance 
with applicable General Plan policies, the City’s Municipal Code, and incorporation of proposed 
noise-reducing design measures will ensure that noise impacts on surrounding uses is less than 
significant.  
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.12.2 - Exposure of persons to or generation of excessive groundborne vibration 
or groundborne noise levels (b):  Future construction activities within the proposed Project site 
is not expected to involve the use of explosives or other intensive construction activities that 
could generate excessive groundborne vibration or noise.  Any excavating and paving equipment 
will generate some minor vibration on a short-term basis. The proposed Project will not generate 
excessive groundborne vibration.  
 
Conclusion:  Any potential groundborne vibration and noise during future construction activities 
will be intermittent and temporary, limiting any potential impacts on adjacent properties to 
discontinuous activity during the construction phase.  This impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-60 

 
Impact #3.12.3 - Permanent Ambient Noise Levels (c):  The proposed Project would generate 
some operational noise through stationary equipment such as HVAC units and mobile sources 
such as vehicular and pedestrian traffic. However, the Project would be required to comply with 
the goals and policies of the City’s Noise Element and Noise provisions of the City’s Municipal 
Code. The City’s Zoning Code, Chapter 17.38.040(F) requires a solid wall between a Residential 
Zone and Commercial Zone parcel or property.  The intent is to minimize noise impacts to a 
level consist with each lot adjacent to a Residential Zone shall be responsible for that portion of 
the solid wall when it is constructed.  While there is potential for a temporary increase in ambient 
noise above current levels during construction activities, ultimate build-out of the proposed 
Project will not result in a significant increase in ambient noise due to the general urban setting 
nature of the existing area, along with existing noise from mobile sources traveling along Buhach 
Road and Juniper Avenue. 
 
Conclusion:  This impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.12.4 – Temporary or periodic ambient noise levels (d): Construction of the 
proposed Project would result in a temporary increase in noise levels. These levels could be 
perceptible but would not dominate the noise environment. The City exempts noise from 
construction provided that it occurs only between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m., Monday 
through Friday, and 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on Saturdays and at no time on federal holidays or 
Sundays. Therefore, impacts from construction would be less than significant. 
 
Typical construction equipment would include tractors, forklifts, and miscellaneous equipment 
(e.g., pneumatic tools, generators and portable air compressors).  Noise levels generated by this 
type of construction equipment at various distances from the noise source are shown in 
Table 3.12-1. 

Table 3.12-1 
Estimated Construction Noise Levels 

 
Construction Equipment Typical Noise Level (dBA) 

(distance from source) 
50 feet 100 feet 1.0 mile 

Pneumatic tools 85 79 45 
Truck (e.g., dump, water) 84 78 48 

Concrete mixer (truck) 85 79 45 
Scraper 85 79 48 

Bulldozer 85 79 48 
Backhoe 80 74 40 

Portable air compressor 80 71 40 
Source: Federal Highway Administration Construction Noise Handbook, 2006 
 
Noise levels generated from construction activities decrease with increasing distance from the 
noise source; generally, noise levels reduce by six decibels for every doubling of distance from 
the source.  Although construction equipment may increase the noise levels, future construction 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-61 

activities will be intermittent, temporary and will only occur during the hours of 7:00 AM to 
7:00 PM. 
 
Conclusion:  Construction activities will be temporary in nature and normally occur during 
daytime hours.  Noise levels generated from construction activities are expected to be less than 
significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.12.5 - Airport Noise (e, f):  Estimates of future aircraft activity levels and flight 
paths were developed for the Merced County Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. Noise 
exposure contours that were developed and presented in that document were based on estimates 
from the City’s General Plan. Those contours, which are reproduced in the City of Atwater’s 
General Plan document as Figure 6-6, indicate that the noise impact area for the airport would be 
located to the north and east of Santa Fe Drive. The proposed Project site is located outside of 
the noise impact area, and is not located in the vicinity of a private airport or airstrip.   
 
Conclusion:  No impact has been identified. 
 
 
 
 
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-62 

3.13 POPULATION AND HOUSING 

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Induce substantial population growth in an area, 
either directly (for example, by proposing new 
homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, 
through extension of roads or other infrastructure)? 

    

b) Displace substantial numbers of existing housing, 
necessitating the construction of replacement 
housing elsewhere?  

    

c) Displace substantial numbers of people, 
necessitating the construction of replacement 
housing elsewhere? 

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.13.1 - Population Growth and Displacement (a):  The proposed Project site is 
located in a built-out, urban setting within the City of Atwater. The site, which is currently zoned 
Planned Development, currently contains no housing or residents that could be displaced as the 
result of future development activities. At full build-out, the proposed Project will consist of 
commercial uses. This commercial Project will serve the existing residents of the adjacent area, 
and is not anticipated to spur future substantial population growth. 
 
Conclusion:  No direct or indirect substantial population growth beyond that planned by the 
adopted City of Atwater General Plan is expected to result from ultimate development of the 
proposed Project site. There is a less than significant impact related to growth inducement 
attributable to the proposed project.  
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.13.2 - Housing (b) (c):   As described in Impact #3.13.1, ultimate development 
within the proposed Project site will not displace housing or people.  Although construction of 
the proposed Project has the potential to create a demand in housing for construction workers 
hired to construct the Project, it is likely that the majority of hired workers already reside in the 
Project vicinity. 
 
Conclusion:  No impact has been identified. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-63 

3.14 PUBLIC SERVICES  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Result in substantial adverse physical impacts 
associated with the provision of new or physically 
altered governmental facilities, need for new or 
physically altered governmental facilities, the 
construction of which could cause significant 
environmental impact, in order to maintain 
acceptable service ratios for any of the public 
services: 

    

 Fire protection?     

 Police protection?     

 Schools?     

 Parks?     

 Other public facilities?     

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.14.1 – Fire Protection Services (a):  Fire protection and emergency response 
services are provided by Cal Fire. The closest fires station to the Project site is the Atwater Fire 
Station 42, located approximately 0.3 miles away. 
 
The proposed Project site would not substantially impact the City’s response time in addressing 
calls for assistance. At the time of future development, structures will be required to install 
appropriate fire suppression systems in accordance with the Uniform Fire Code and any other 
local ordinances. During building permit review, each structure will be required to demonstrate 
fire flow requirements, or be subject to State and federal codes which provide for alternate fire 
safety provisions. Additionally, the building permit applicant will be required to pay impact fees 
prior to issuance of occupancy permits to offset potential project induced costs. The amount of 
the mitigation fee will be determined by the fee schedule in effect on the date of building permit 
issuance.   
 
Conclusion:  The impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.14.2 – Police Protection (b):  Police protection in Atwater is provided by the 
Atwater Police Department. The police department is located approximately two miles away at 
750 Bellevue Road.  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-64 

 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project does not include any residential uses and is not expected to 
generate substantial population growth to the area that would result in the need for additional 
police services. At the time of future development, the applicant will be required to pay impact 
fees prior to issuance of occupancy permits to offset costs pertaining to law enforcement 
services.  The amount of the mitigation fee will be determined by the fee schedule in effect on 
the date of building permit issuance.  The impact is less than significant.  
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 

 
Impact #3.14.3 – School Facilities (c): The proposed Project does not include any residential 
uses and is not expected to generate substantial population growth to the area that would result in 
the need for additional school facilities. 
 
Conclusion: The proposed Project will not result in a substantial population growth, 
necessitating the demand for future school facilities.  At the time of future development, the 
applicant will be required to pay school impact fees in effect for commercial development prior 
to issuance of occupancy permits.  The impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.14.4 – Park Facilities (d):  The proposed Project will not result in a substantial 
population growth, necessitating the demand for future park facilities.  The proposed Project will 
not result in adverse physical impacts to any existing park facilities. 
 
Conclusion:  This impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 

Impact #3.14.5 – Other Public Facilities (e):  No other public services will be impacted by 
implementation of the proposed Project. 
 
Conclusion:  This impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-65 

3.15 RECREATION 

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Increase the use of existing neighborhood and 
regional parks or other recreational facilities such 
that substantial physical deterioration of the 
facility would occur or be accelerated?  

    

b) Does the project include recreational facilities or 
require the construction or expansion of 
recreational facilities which might have an adverse 
physical effect on the environment? 

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.15.1 - Recreational facilities (a, b): The proposed Project does not include any uses 
that would increase the usage of existing neighborhood or regional parks or other recreational 
facilities. Therefore, the proposed Project is not anticipated to have a substantial impact on parks 
or other recreational facilities. The proposed Project would not include recreational facilities or 
require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have an adverse 
physical effect on the environment 
 
Conclusion:  There is no impact. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
   
   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-66 

3.16 TRANSPORTATION/TRAFFIC  

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Conflict with an applicable plan, ordinance or 
policy establishing measures of effectiveness for 
performance of the circulation system, taking into 
account all modes of transportation including mass 
transit and non-motorized travel and relevant 
components of the circulation system, including 
but not limited to intersections, streets, highways 
and freeways, pedestrian and bicycle paths, and 
mass transit?   

    

b) Conflict with an applicable congestion 
management program, including, but not limited to 
level of service standards and travel demand 
measures, or other standards established by the 
county congestion management agency for 
designated roads or highways? 

    

c) Result in a change in air traffic patterns, including 
either an increase in traffic levels or a change in 
location that results in substantial safety risks? 

    

d) Substantially increase hazards due to a design 
feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous 
intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm 
equipment)? 

    

e) Result in inadequate emergency access?     

f) Conflict with adopted polices, plans, or programs 
regarding public transit, bicycle, or pedestrian 
facilities, or otherwise decrease the performance or 
safety of such facilities? 

    

 
Response: 
 
This section analyzes the existing transportation system in the area of the proposed Project and 
addresses potential transportation and circulation impacts resulting from ultimate development at 
the proposed Project site. This analysis is based on the Focused Traffic Impact Study (FTIS) 
prepared by Arch beach Consulting dated July 10, 2015 (Appendix D). This section includes a 
brief description of the physical transportation setting, analysis methodology and impact analysis 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-67 

for evaluation of traffic operations. The impact analysis includes an examination of roadway, 
transit, bicycle and pedestrian components of the overall transportation system.  
 
Impact #3.16.1 – Conflict with applicable plan, ordinance or policy (a): At full-build out, the 
29-acre Project site will consist of a commercial development. Regional access to the Project site 
is provided by Buhach Road which has direct access to Santa Fe Drive (County Road J7) to the 
north, and SR 99 to the south. Local access to the site is provided by Juniper Avenue – Avenue 
Two, which bisects the Project site.  
 
The City of Atwater’s General Plan Circulation Element states that Level of Service (LOS) D is 
the minimum acceptable LOS.  LOS standards are used by City of Atwater, Caltrans, and local 
agencies to measure the street and highway system's performance. According to the City General 
Plan, to determine the type and number of transportation projects that may be necessary to 
accommodate Atwater’s expected growth, freeway, expressway, arterial, and collector facility 
LOS was assessed. Any study intersection that is operating at LOS A, B, C, or D for any study 
scenario without project traffic in which the addition of project traffic causes the intersection to 
degrade to LOS E or F, shall be mitigated so as to bring the intersection back to at least LOS D 
(Arch Beach Consulting, Focused Traffic Impact Study, 2015). Any study intersection that is 
currently operating at LOS E or F for any study scenario without project traffic, shall be 
mitigated so as to bring the intersection back to the overall level of delay established prior to 
Project traffic being added.  
 
EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
According to the FTIS, the existing LOS for the adjacent intersections are listed below in Table 
3.16-1. 
 

Table 3.16-1 
Existing Condition Intersection Level of Service Summary 

 

 
Source: Arch Beach Consulting, Focused Traffic Impact Study, 2015 
 
Existing traffic volumes were collected at the study intersections in November 2014 during a 
weekday while the adjacent Buhach Colony High School (BCHS) was in regular session. Based 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-68 

on the existing LOS analysis, the unsignalized driveway intersection of Buhach Road/BCHS 
driveway is currently operating at LOS E in the a.m. peak hour. The impacted movement is 
associated with the westbound left turns exiting the school to go south on Buhach Road. 
 
EXISTING CONDITIONS PLUS PROJECT 
 
The Existing plus Project Condition traffic was developed by adding the proposed Project traffic 
(at buildout) to the Existing (baseline) Condition. See Appendix D for full description on Project 
Trip Generation. 
 
According to the Focused FTIS, based on the Existing plus Project LOS analysis, the proposed 
Project at full buildout would create a significant traffic impact, as it would decrease the LOS at 
the locations listed below in Table 3.16-2. 
 

Table 3.16-2 
Existing plus Project Intersection Level of Service Summary 

 
According to the table, those intersections are: 
 
 Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in a.m. peak hour, and LOS B to LOS F in 

p.m. peak hour); 
 Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 

p.m. peak hour); and 
 Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway (LOS E to LOS F in a.m. peak hour). 
 
OPENING YEAR 2017 
 
This scenario is comprised of the existing (2014) traffic conditions, plus three years of ambient 
traffic growth (2014 to 2017), plus traffic from cumulative (approved and/or pending) 
developments in the study area (if any). The FTIS stated that, based on discussions with City 
Planning Department staff, there are no cumulative development projects in the project vicinity 
that would be constructed within the timeframe of the Opening Year (2017). Therefore, traffic 
growth in the short-term would likely occur from ambient traffic growth and new traffic 
generated from the completion of the final phases of residential subdivision developments in the 
area. Therefore, it was assumed that the annual growth rate of two percent (six percent total over 
three years) would include traffic from these sources. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-69 

Based on the analysis methodology previously described, the Opening Year 2017 Baseline, a.m. 
and p.m. peak hour traffic volumes were input into the Synchro LOS software to determine the 
intersection delay and LOS values. Table 3.16-3 presents the results of the Opening Year 
Baseline intersection LOS analysis, while the LOS calculation sheets are provided in Appendix 
B of the FTIS (Appendix D). 
 

Table 3.16-3 
Opening Year 2017 Baseline Intersection Level of Service Summary 

 
 
Traffic generated by the proposed Project, at buildout, was added to the Opening Year 2017 
Baseline scenario and the Project impacts on the circulation system were analyzed. The results 
from this scenario are shown below in Table 3.16-4. 

 
Table 3.16.4 

Opening Year 2017 plus Project Intersection Level of Service Summary 
 

 
 
Based on the Opening Year 2017 plus Project LOS analysis, the proposed Project, at full 
buildout, would create a significant traffic impact by reducing the LOS at the following 
locations: 
 
 Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in both peak hours); 
 Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 

p.m. peak hour); and 
 Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway (worsening of LOS F in a.m. peak hour). 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-70 

 
Conclusion: Based on the decrease in LOS as shown above, the Project at full buildout would 
conflict with the City’s General Plan criteria of maintaining a minimum standard of LOS D. This 
impact is potentially significant. The following mitigation measures are required to reduce the 
Project’s traffic impact to less than significant levels. 
 
EXISTING PLUS PROJECT MITIGATION MEASURES 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1a: The Applicant shall signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue 
at Augusta Lane and install pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the 
California Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south 
legs of the intersection, and at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the westbound 
left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center).  
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1b:  The Applicant shall modify the traffic signal at the intersection 
of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to implement protective left turn phasing in all directions and 
to accommodate the following: 

 
 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane; 
 Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane; and 
 Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-turns from the existing 

eastbound left turn lane. 
 

Mitigation Measure #3.16.1c: The Applicant shall modify the existing concrete median island 
on Buhach Road at the Buhach Colony High School Driveway to permanently restrict outbound 
left turn movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to the 
school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration. 
 
YEAR 2017 PLUS PROJECT MITIGATION MEASURES 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1d: The Applicant shall signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue 
at Augusta Lane and install pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the 
California Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south 
legs of the intersection, and, at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the westbound 
left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center).  
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1e: The Applicant shall modify the traffic signal at the intersection 
of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to implement protective left turn phasing in all directions and 
to accommodate the following: 
 
 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane; 
 Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane; 
 Construct a second westbound through lane; and  
 Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-Turns from the existing 

eastbound left turn lane. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-71 

Mitigation Measure #3.16.1f: The Applicant shall modify the existing concrete median island 
on Buhach Road at the BCHS Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left turn movements 
from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to the school will still be 
provided from the median reconfiguration.  
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1g: Additional technical traffic analyses will likely be required in the 
future for specific development phases to determine the level of mitigation needed by that 
specific phase. As the TIS only determined traffic mitigation measures needed if the proposed 
Project is built out by the end of 2017, and development of the Project is very likely to take place 
well beyond 2017. 
 
GENERAL MITIGATION MEASURES  
 
The following is an excerpt from a letter from Scott Mcbride, the City of Atwater Community 
Development Director, dated November 24, 2015, with the subject line: REVIEW OF THE REVISED 
FOCUSED TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY (TIS) DATED JULY 10, 2015 FOR THE PROPOSED COMMERCIAL 
PROJECT, LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST AND SOUTHWEST CORNERS OF BUHACH ROAD AND 
JUNIPER AVENUE - TIS 15-001, VENTANA DEL REY PARCEL MAPS 
 
The Comments and Conditions within this correspondence shall be incorporated into the 
proposed Mitigated Negative Declaration Document (MND) for the Project.  These combined 
with subsequent Atwater City Council approving resolutions shall become the conditions of 
approval for the proposed Project. The conditions shall run with each of the respective Parcel 
Maps and be recorded with them.  These comments shall also be incorporated into an 
Improvement Agreement to be executed with the Master Developer at the time when the 
Tentative Parcel Maps are sought for approval.  The Master Developer shall also provide 
security in a form to be approved by the City Attorney in an amount to cover the costs to design 
all roadway improvements, the new traffic signal at Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane and the 
signal modifications at Buhach Road at Juniper Avenue as well as all related roadway 
improvements associated with the all required offsite improvements. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1h: With the exception of the proposed traffic signal at the 
intersection of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane, access to Juniper Avenue will be limited to right 
in and right out.  This shall apply to both the Northwest and Southwest Parcel Maps. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1i: This Project shall pay all applicable local traffic impact fees 
incorporated into the City’s adopted AB 1600 Impact Fees as well as the adopted Regional 
Transportation Impact Fees (RTIF).  All fees shall be determined and paid at the time of building 
permit issuance for a specific portion of the Project.  

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1j: The proposed Project Developer(s) shall make necessary street 
improvements and right-of-way dedications along adjacent public street(s) pursuant to the City 
of Atwater standards/requirements – or as approved by the City Engineer. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1k: Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for a 
development project on any of specific parcels on either of the Tentative Parcel Maps, all Parcel 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-72 

Specific Conditions – Mitigation Measures as contained in this document, or as approved for 
amendment by the City Engineer, for the specific parcel(s) shall be completed. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1l: The proposed Planned Development Master Plan and Final 
Development Plan shall be reviewed concurrently with the Tentative Parcel Map. Pursuant to the 
Atwater Municipal Code the City Council shall have the authority to approve or deny the 
applications. Also, pursuant to the Atwater Municipal Code, the Master Plan and Final 
Development Plan shall require a recommendation by the Community Development & 
Resources Commission – acting in the capacity as the Planning Commission.     

 
PARCEL SPECIFIC MITIGATION MEASURES 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1m: As part of the development of Parcel 1 of the Northwest Parcel 
Map or Parcel 1 or 6 of the Southwest Parcel Map, the north side of Juniper Avenue shall be 
widened to accommodate U-Turns from the existing eastbound left turn lane on Juniper Avenue. 
The widening shall be able to accommodate 37 ft. measured from the south face of curb of the 
existing median island. These modifications will require the traffic signal equipment at the 
northwest corner of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to be modified as well. 
The first of the three parcels to develop shall also construct a second westbound through lane at 
Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road with 150 ft. storage capacity with a 120 ft. bay taper. Costs shall 
be paid by the first of either Parcel 1 of the Northwest Parcel Map or Parcel 1 or Parcel 6 of the 
Southwest Parcel Map, the second and third to develop shall repay the initial developer a third of 
the improvement costs. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1n: As part of the development of Parcels 1 or 4 of the Northwest 
Parcel Map, the southbound right turn lane shall be constructed.  The southbound right turn lane 
shall include a storage capacity of 100 ft. and approximately 45 ft. bay taper. This will require 
that the traffic signal equipment at the northwest corner of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at 
Buhach Road be modified. Costs shall be paid by the first of either Parcel 1 or 4 of the Northwest 
Parcel Map, the second to develop shall repay the initial developer half of the improvement 
costs. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1o: As part of the development of Parcel 1of the Southwest Parcel 
Map, an eastbound right turn lane shall be constructed on Juniper Avenue. This will require that 
the traffic signal equipment at the southwest corner of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at 
Buhach Road be modified. It shall include the construction of a dedicated eastbound right turn 
lane with a storage capacity of 130 ft. and approximately 85 ft. bay taper. Costs shall be paid by 
the developer of Parcel 1 of the Southwest Parcel Map. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1p: Prior to obtaining access from the proposed driveway for Parcel 
3 of the Southwest Parcel Map, the Project shall modify the existing concrete median island on 
Buhach Road at the Buhach Colony High School. Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left 
turn movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to the school 
will still be provided from the median reconfiguration. Costs shall be paid by entirely by the 
developer of Parcel 3 of the Southwest Parcel Map. 

 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-73 

Mitigation Measure #3.16.1q: Due to health and safety reasons, access to and from the existing 
driveway, between Parcels 4 and 5 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map, will be limited to right 
in, right out, and left in. Left out movements will be prohibited. Therefore, the construction of a 
median island worm at this location of Buhach Road will be made a condition of approval prior 
to obtaining access to/from this driveway. Costs associated with this shall be by either of the first 
to develop, either Parcel 4 or Parcel 5, the second shall repay the first half the costs.  In the event 
that Parcel(s) 3, 6, 7, 8, 10, or 11 seek to use this driveway and should one of these precede 
Parcels 4 or 5 then the first to develop shall design and pay for the necessary improvements and 
the second parcel to develop shall reimburse the first one half of the total costs for design and 
construction. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1r: Prior to allowing access to Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane, the 
Project shall signalize the intersection with protective left turn phasing in all directions. The 
median island on Juniper Avenue shall also be modified to include a 150 ft. left turn pocket with 
a 120 ft. bay taper. Pedestrian crosswalks shall also be installed, across the north and south legs 
of the intersection, and, at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the westbound left 
turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center). The throat 
width of the Augusta Avenue driveway shall be 41 ft. Signalization of the intersection of Juniper 
Avenue at Augusta Lane shall include emergency vehicle preemption and a signal interconnect 
between this intersection and that of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road. Signal interconnect shall 
be via the use of signal interconnect cable within signal conduits. The costs to prepare the signal 
plans, timing plans, and related civil improvements and the overall construction costs shall be 
paid by the first Parcel needing access to Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane.  The second parcel 
needing access from this location shall reimburse the first one, half of the entire costs for design 
and construction.   

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1s: Parcel 8 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map shall construct a 
100 ft. bus bay with approximately 40 ft. bay tapers on both ends. The width of the bus bay shall 
be 8 ft. measured from the existing face of curb. The construction of the bus bay will require the 
reconstruction of the sidewalk and trail adjacent to the bus bay.  The developer of Parcel 8 shall 
pay the entire cost of this improvement. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1t: Prior to obtaining full access to the existing driveway between 
Parcels 9 and 13 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map, the Project shall prepare  a focused traffic 
study of this intersection based on existing conditions at the time of the requested access, Five 
Years after Project Buildout, and Long Term (20 years after Project Buildout). The purpose of 
this focused traffic study is to ensure the safety of motorists and pedestrians that would be 
utilizing this intersection. In lieu of the focused traffic study, the Project can elect to limit this 
access point to right in, right out, and left in (left out movements will be prohibited). If the 
Project elects to go with limited access (no left out) then the Project shall construct a median 
island worm at this location of Buhach Road. The costs to prepare the focused traffic study and 
to implement any necessary improvements shall be paid by the first to develop of either Parcels 9 
through 14, the second shall reimburse the first, half of the costs. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-74 

Effectiveness of Mitigation Measure: With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the 
intersection operations would improve to LOS C in the a.m. hour and the Project’s impact would 
become less than significant. 
 
Impact #3.16.2 – Congestion management program or other established standards (b):  
With the implementation of Mitigation Measures #3.16.1 through #3.16.19 above, the Project 
will not conflict with LOS standards, travel demand measures, or other similar standards 
established by the county congestion management agency for designated roads or highways  
 
Conclusion:  There are less than significant impacts to any applicable congestion management 
programs or other standards established by the county or any congestion management agency.  
 
Mitigation Measures:  No additional mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.16.3 – Air Traffic Patterns (c):  The nearest airport to the Project site is Castle 
Airport. The proposed Project will not conflict with the airport and will be required to abide by 
the 35-footbuilding height restrictions as set forth in the City’s Municipal Plan (Section 
17.44.130).    
  
Conclusion:  There are less than significant impacts to air traffic patterns from this Project. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.16.4 – Substantially increase hazards due to a design feature or incompatible 
uses (d):  The proposed Project does not propose any design features that would substantially 
increase hazards to vehicular access to the site or its surroundings. Additionally, the proposed 
Project is not incorporating any incompatible uses at the Project site. The Project site will be 
subject to a site plan review at which time the City can determine if any on site hazards, design 
features or incompatible uses would need to be redesigned.  
 
Conclusion:  This impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.16.5 – Result in inadequate emergency access (e):  Project site access points will be 
along Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue. The Applicant will be required to comply with all City 
Roadway Design Standards.  All engineering plans for the proposed Project will be reviewed by 
the City’s Public Works and Planning Departments to ensure compliance with all applicable 
design and building codes.  Additionally the Project, as proposed, will not block access to or 
affect access on the surrounding roadway.  
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project will be required to comply with all applicable roadway 
design standards set forth by the City of Atwater. The proposed Project will not result in 
inadequate emergency access to the Project site, nor will it obstruct emergency access to the 
surrounding areas.  This impact is less than significant. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-75 

Impact #3.16.6 – Conflict with adopted polices, plans, or programs regarding public 
transit, bicycle, or pedestrian facilities, or otherwise decrease the performance or safety of 
such facilities (f):  Implementation of the proposed Project is not in conflict with any policies, 
plans, or programs related to transit, bicycle, or pedestrian facilities. The proposed Project is not 
expected to increase demand for transit, bicycle, pedestrian facilities or other alternative 
transportation modes. Additionally, the proposed Project site will be subject to a site plan review 
at which time the City can determine if any the proposed design will conflict with any facilities 
associated with alternative modes of transportation. The City is providing a Class I bike path 
along Juniper Avenue, adjacent to the 20.9 acre parcel. The Project will compliment this 
alternative transportation project by including the necessary rights of way on the applicable map. 
 
Conclusion:  The proposed Project results in a less than significant impact on public transit, 
bicycle, or pedestrian facilities. 
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
   



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-76 

3.17 UTILITIES/SERVICE SYSTEMS 

Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

With 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
No 

Impact 

a) Exceed wastewater treatment requirements of the 
applicable Regional Water Quality Control Board? 

    

b) Require or result in the construction of new water 
or wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of 
existing facilities, the construction of which could 
cause significant environmental effects? 

    

c) Require or result in the construction of new storm 
water drainage facilities or expansion of existing 
facilities, the construction of which could cause 
significant environmental effects? 

    

d) Have sufficient water supplies available to serve 
the project from existing entitlements and 
resources, or are new or expanded entitlements 
needed? 

    

e) Result in a determination by the wastewater 
treatment provider which serves or may serve the 
project that it has adequate capacity to serve the 
project’s projected demand in addition to the 
provider’s existing commitments? 

    

f) Be served by a landfill with sufficient permitted 
capacity to accommodate the project’s solid waste 
disposal needs? 

    

g) Comply with federal, state, and local statutes and 
regulations related to solid waste? 

    

 
Response: 
 
Impact #3.17.1 – Exceed wastewater treatment requirements (a):  After construction, the 
proposed Project will connect to the City of Atwater sanitary sewer system, which is regulated 
by the RWQCB and the State Water Resources Control Board. The RWQCB is responsible for 
protecting water resources in the region, and as such prescribes standards for the treatment and 
disposal of wastewater. The proposed Project will adhere to all wastewater treatment 
requirements of the RWQCB.  
 
Conclusion:  This impact is less than significant.   
     



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-77 

Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.17.2 – Require or result in the construction of new water or wastewater 
treatment facilities or expansion of existing facilities (b): The proposed Project would not 
require or result in the construction of a new water or wastewater treatment facility nor would it 
result in the expansion of an existing facility. Water supply within the Region is primarily 
accessed through groundwater pumped from the Merced Subbasin. Commercial and industrial 
wastewater is treated at the Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) located at Commerce Avenue 
and Atwater Drain. The WWTP’s maximum dry weather capacity is 6.0 million gallons per day 
(mgd) with an average flow of approximately 3.0 mgd. A rough estimate of the proposed 
Project’s average amount of wastewater production was calculated by multiplying the total 
building square footage and a typical shopping center flow of 325 gallons per day (gpd) 
(Lockman & Associates, 1991). Based on this calculation, the proposed Project would produce 
approximately .081 mpd of wastewater. This would not substantially affect the treatment 
capacity at the existing WWTP because the plant would have adequate capacity to serve project 
demand.       
 
Conclusion: The proposed Project will not result in the need for building new water or 
wastewater treatment facilities or expanding existing facilities. This impact is less than 
significant.   
     
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.17.3 – Require or result in the construction of new storm water drainage 
facilities or expansion of existing facilities (c):  Stormwater runoff generated from future build-
out of the proposed Project site will be disposed of through the City of Atwater’s Storm Water 
System.   An existing basin located east of the Project site adjacent to Joan Faul Park collects 
storm water from the areas drainage system. However the full build out of the Project will 
require the expansion of the basin.  The City of Atwater can accommodate the storm water run-
off to be generated by the Project once the basin has been expanded.  
 
The City’s Utility Engineer – AECOM completed a preliminary design to expand the Joan Faul 
Park basin to accommodate an additional 2,600 CY of storage capacity for the subject 
development.  Currently the existing basin capacity is 25,140 CY.  The proposed modifications 
would include expanding the basin approximately 10 feet to the south. The expansion will also 
require a 5-foot wide maintenance strip be added as well at the top of slope, so the total 
encroachment into the park would be 15 feet.  The expansion would provide an additional 2,755 
cu yards of new capacity to meet the needs of the Project at full build out. 
 
Conclusion:  The existing basin will need  to be expanded in order to accommodate stormwater 
run-off of the Project at full build-out. Without the expansion, this would be a potentially 
significant impact.  
 
Mitigation Measures:  See Mitigation Measure #3.9.1. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-78 

 
Effectiveness of Mitigation Measures: Implementation of all of the mitigation measures will 
result in the impact being less than significant.  

Impact #3.17.4 – Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project (d): As stated 
in Impact #3.17.2, water supply within the Region is primarily from groundwater pumped from 
the Merced Subbasin. The proposed Project will not have a significant impact on the City’s water 
supplies as there is an adequate amount available to meet the Project demand. The proposed 
Project will receive access to the water supply through the City’s water services by connecting 
the Project’s pipeline system to the 12-inch water line located along Juniper Avenue. Therefore, 
the proposed Project will have a less than significant impact on the City’s water supplies. Refer 
to section 3.9 Hydrology/Water Quality for additional analysis on the Merced region water 
supply.  
 
Conclusion:  This impact is less than significant.   
     
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.17.5 – Wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve the project has 
adequate capacity to serve the project (e):  The City operates a Regional Waste Water 
Treatment Plant located at Bert Crane Rd. As stated in Impact #3.17.2, the proposed Project 
would not substantially affect the treatment capacity at the existing WWTP as the plant would 
have adequate capacity to serve Project demand. Wastewater is collected through a gravity flow 
system with approximately 20 lift stations throughout the City. The existing sewer system 
consists of pipes ranging from 6 inches to 36 inches in diameter (City of Atwater, 2006). A 12-
inch sewer main runs south along Buhach Road, and then west along E. Juniper Avenue. 
Wastewater generated from the proposed Project site will be disposed of through pipelines 
connected to the 12-inch sewer trunk line via E. Juniper Avenue. The Project’s generated 
wastewater would not exceed the treatment plant’s maximum capacity or substantially impact the 
typical flow of the 12 inch pipeline.  
 
Conclusion:  Ultimate development of the undeveloped portion of the proposed Project site will 
have no impact on public wastewater treatment providers.   
 
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.17.6 – Be served by a landfill with sufficient permitted capacity to accommodate 
the project (f):  According to the City of Atwater’s General Plan, there are no solid waste 
disposal sites designated within the Atwater Planning area. Solid waste generated within the City 
is collected by a private contractor, Allied Waste, and transported directly to the Merced County 
Landfill located off State Highway 59, approximately one and one-half miles north of Old Lake 
Road. The County of Merced is the contracting agency for landfill operations and maintenance. 
Solid waste from the proposed Project site will be transported to the Highway 59 Disposal site. 
This location currently has a remaining capacity of 28,025,334 Cubic Yards and can 
accommodate solid waste generated on the proposed Project site (Cal Recycle, SWIS 
Facility/Site Search).  
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-79 

Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 
Impact #3.17.7 – Comply with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to 
solid waste (g):  The proposed Project will comply with all federal, state and local statutes and 
regulations relating to solid waste.   
 
Conclusion:  No impact has been identified.    
     
Mitigation Measures:  No mitigation measures are required. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 

Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-80 

 

3.18 MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

With 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Does the project have the potential to substantially 

degrade the quality of the environment; 

substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife 

species; cause a fish or wildlife population to drop 

below self-sustaining levels; threaten to eliminate a 

plant or animal community; substantially reduce 

the number or restrict the range of an endangered, 

rare or threatened species; or eliminate important 

examples of the major periods of California history 

or prehistory? 

    

b) Does the project have possible impacts that are 

individually limited, but cumulatively 

considerable? (“Cumulatively considerable” means 

that the incremental effects of a project are 

considerable when viewed in connection with the 

effects of past projects, the effects of other current 

projects, and the effects of probable future 

projects)? 

    

c) Does the project have environmental effects which 

will cause substantial adverse effects on human 

beings, either directly or indirectly? 

    

 

Response: 
 

a) A California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB) search was completed for the Project site 

and it was concluded that there were no sightings of a candidate, sensitive, or special status 

species on the Project site. Though there are no records of CNDDB occurrences on the Project 

site, there are historical occurrences of several special status-species in the Project vicinity. The 

Project site contains potential foraging and breeding habitat for the San Joaquin kit fox, 

American badger, Western burrowing owl, and Swainson’s hawk. Ground nesting migratory 

birds could nest on the Project site as well. Impact will be less than significant with incorporated 

mitigation measures listed above in Section 3.4. 

 

b) With implementation of applicable mitigation measures, the proposed Project would have less 

than significant cumulative impacts on all environmental topics discussed. Additionally, in 

consideration of the size and scale of the proposed project, consistency of the proposed Project 

with the surrounding land uses, the General Plan land use and zoning designations of the 

proposed project site, cumulative impacts are not cumulatively considerable.   

 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-81 

c) The analyses of environmental issues contained in this Initial Study indicate that the Project is 
not expected to have substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly. 
Implementation of mitigation measures above will further ensure that any potential impacts will 
be mitigated to a level of less than significant.   
 
  



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-82 

REFERENCES 
 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife. California Bird Species of Special Concern. 

Accessed June, 2015. http://www.dfg.ca.gov/wildlife/nongame/ssc/birds.html 
 
California Department of Toxic Substance Control, Cleanup Sites. Accessed June, 2015. 

http://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/default.asp) 
 

California Department of Transportation. California Scenic Highways Program. Accessed July, 
2015. http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LandArch/scenic_highways/scenic_hwy.htm 
 

California Department of Water Resources (DWR) Water Data Library, Accessed June, 2015. 
http://www.water.ca.gov/waterdatalibrary/index.cfm 

 
California Integrated Waste Management Board (CIWMB), California Waste Stream Profiles, 

Accessed June, 2015. http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Profiles/Facility/Landfill/Default.asp 
 
California State Water Resources Control Board. Geotracker. Accessed July, 2015.  

http://geotracker.swrcb.ca.gov/map 
 
California Integrated Waste Management Board, Solid Waste Information Systems.  Facility/Site 

Summary Details, Highway 59 Disposal Site (24-AA-0001).  Accessed July, 2015.  
http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/SWFacilities/Directory/24-AA-0001/Detail/ 

City of Atwater. 2000. General Plan. Adopted July 24, 2000. Prepared by PMC. 
 
City of Atwater. 2006. City of Atwater Sewer System Master Plan. July 2015 
 
Federal Emergency Management Agency.  Map Service Center.  Accessed July, 2015. 

http://msc.fema.gov/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/FemaWelcomeView?storeId=10001&cata
logId=10001&langId=-1 

 
Lockman & Associates. 1991. Water and Wastewater Development Fee Study. July 2015.  
 
San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District.  2002.  Guide for Assessing and Mitigating 

Air Quality Impacts. 
 
 

San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District.  2015.  CalEEMod Reporting Results. 
 
Quality Code Publishing, Inc. City of Atwater Code. Accessed June, 2015.  

https://www.municode.com/library/ca/atwater/codes/code_of_ordinances 
 
United States Department of Fish and Wildlife Service.  Conservation Plans and Agreements 

Database.  Accessed April, 2015.  http://ecos.fws.gov/conserv_plans/public.jsp 
 
United States Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration.  National Scenic 

Byways Program.  Accessed March, 2015. http://www.byways.org/browse/states/CA/ 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 3-83 

 
 
United States Department of Fish and Wildlife Service.  Conservation Plans and Agreements 

Database.  Accessed June, 2015.  http://ecos.fws.gov/conserv_plans/public.jsp 
 
 





 4.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 





Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-1 

4.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 
 

Air Quality 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.3.2a: The Applicant shall water exposed areas 3 times per day or as 
needed for dust control. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.3.2b: The Applicant shall implement a Voluntary Worker Trip 
Reduction Program for construction workers. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.3.2c: The Project shall be in compliance with all mandatory rules and 
regulations applicable to the Project, including but not limited to, the following: 
 
 SJVAPCD Rule 2201 New or Modified Stationary Source; and 
 SJVAPCD Regulation VIII - Dust Control Rules 
 
Mitigation Measures #3.3.2d:  Prior to the issuance of building permits, the Applicant shall 
provide the City with confirmation that it has made an application to the SJVAPCD for a permit 
under Rule 9510 - Indirect Source Rule (ISR).  
 
For ISR compliance, the Applicant shall submit an air impact assessment (AIA) providing the 
quantified NOx and PM emissions associated with Project operations. The applicant shall 
incorporate mitigation measures identified by SJVAPCD into the Project to reduce the NOx and 
PM emissions associated with Project operations by at least 33.3 percent and 50 percent 
respectively over a period of ten years. These reduction requirements shall be met through on-
site emission reduction measures, including, but not limited to: installing energy efficient LED in 
all proposed outdoor lighting fixtures; install internally LED illuminated signage for commercial 
uses, and directional signs throughout the project site; installing efficient heating and other 
appliances, such as water heaters, cooking equipment, refrigerators, beyond Title 24 
requirements and install energy efficient interior lighting; improving thermal integrity/efficiency 
of buildings and reduce load with automated and timed temperature controls or occupant sensors. 
If the ISR NOx and PM emissions reductions are not reduced by on-site measures, the applicant 
shall pay a monetary Off-Site Fee to SJVAPCD, as calculated under Rule 9510. 
 
Mitigation Measures #3.3.2e: The Applicant shall enter into a VERA with the SJVAPCD to 
reduce the Project-related impact on air quality. 
 
Biological Resources 
 
Mitigation Measures #3.4.1a:   
 
 Preconstruction surveys for the San Joaquin kit fox and American badger should be 

conducted within 14 to 30 days prior to ground disturbance activities in accordance with 
Standardized Recommendations for Protection of the Endangered San Joaquin Kit Fox Prior 
to or During Ground Disturbance Activities (USFWS 2011). These recommendations are 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-2 

also applicable to the American badger. Exclusion zones should be placed in accordance with 
USFWS Recommendations using the following: 

 

Potential Den 50-foot radius 
Known Den 100-foot radius 
Natal/Pupping Den  
(Occupied and Unoccupied) 

Contact U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service for guidance 

Atypical Den 50-foot radius 

 
If dens must be removed, they must be appropriately monitored and excavated by a trained 
wildlife biologist. Replacement dens will be required. Destruction of natal dens and other 
“known” kit fox dens must not occur until authorized by USFWS. 

 

 Project-related vehicles should observe a 20-mph speed limit in all Project areas, except on 
city and county roads and State and Federal highways.  Nighttime construction should be 
avoided, unless the construction area is appropriately fenced to exclude the San Joaquin kit 
fox and American badger. The area within any such fence must be determined to be 
uninhabited by these species prior to initiation of construction. Off-road traffic outside of 
designated Project areas should be prohibited. 

 
 All food-related trash items such as wrappers, cans, bottles, and food scraps should be 

disposed of in closed containers and removed at least once a week from a construction or 
Project site.  

 
 To prevent harassment, mortality of San Joaquin kit fox or American badgers or destruction 

of dens by dogs or cats, no pets should be permitted on the Project site. 
 

 Any contractor, employee(s), or military or agency personnel who inadvertently kills or 
injures an American badger shall immediately report the incident to their representative.  
This representative shall contact the CDFW immediately in the case of a dead, injured or 
entrapped badger.  The CDFW contact for immediate assistance is State Dispatch at (916) 
445 0045.  They will contact the local warden or biologist. 

 
Mitigation Measures 3.4.1b:  
 
 In order to protect burrowing owls, which may occur within the areas of potential effect at 

any time of year, pre-construction surveys for burrowing owls shall be conducted within 14 
to 30 days prior to ground disturbing activities. If more than 30 days lapse between the time 
of the preconstruction survey and the start of ground-disturbing activities, another 
preconstruction survey must be completed, including but not limited to a final survey 
conducted within 24 hours prior to ground disturbance.  
 

 If burrowing owls are present on the construction site (or within 500 feet of the construction 
site) during the breeding season (February 1 through August 31), and appear to be engaged in 
nesting behavior, exclusion fencing shall be installed between the nest site or active burrow 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-3 

and any earth-moving activity or other disturbance. This buffer could be removed once it is 
determined by a qualified biologist that the young have fledged. Typically, the young fledge 
by August 31st. This date may be earlier than August 31st, or later, and would have to be 
determined by a qualified biologist.  

 
 If burrowing owls are present in the non-breeding season and must be passively relocated 

from the project site, passive relocation shall not commence until October 1st and must be 
completed by February 1st. Passive relocation may only be conducted by a qualified biologist 
or ornithologist and with approval by CDFW. After passive relocation, the area where owls 
occurred and its immediate vicinity will be monitored by a qualified biologist daily for one 
week and once per week for an additional two weeks to document that owls are not 
reoccupying the site.  

 
 Compensation for the loss of burrowing owl habitat shall be based upon the number of owls 

or pairs of owls located on the construction area during pre-construction surveys following 
the CDFW’s March 7, 2012 Staff Report on Burrowing Owl Mitigation. The areas identified 
as land retirement areas and enhancement areas shall be used as compensation for the loss of 
habitat and for relocation of burrowing owls.  

 
Mitigation Measures 3.4.1c:  
 
 Pre-construction surveys for nesting Swainson’s hawk should be conducted within 0.5 mile 

of the Project site during the breeding season immediately prior to ground disturbance 
activities, but not more than 14 days before construction in accordance with Recommended 
Timing and Methodology for Swainson’s Hawk Nesting Surveys in California’s Central 
Valley (Swainson’s Hawk Technical Advisory Committee 2000). Surveys shall be conducted 
for nesting raptors and other migratory bird species within 500 feet of the area of potential 
effect within 14 days prior to ground disturbance activities.  

 
 If active nests are located in trees on or surrounding the site, the Applicant shall implement 

measures to ensure that the species will not be adversely affected. To protect nesting birds, 
construction will not occur until after the young have fledged or, alternatively, buffer areas 
where construction will be prohibited will be established around each nest. Buffer areas will 
consist of a 500-foot radius around any active raptor nests and a 250-foot buffer around all 
other migratory bird nests, unless consultations with USFWS and CDFW determine that 
smaller buffers will be approved. If an active Swainson’s hawk nest is observed within one-
half mile of the construction area, consultation with USFWS is required in order for a buffer 
to be established.  

 
 The results of the pre-construction survey will be sent to CDFW within 15 days prior to 

construction. These measures will ensure compliance with the Migratory Bird Treaty Act and 
the California Department of Fish and Wildlife Code 3503.5. The County or their 
environmental consultant is responsible for obtaining the appropriate permits. All monitoring 
activities and descriptions of the implementation of mitigation measures shall be submitted to 
CDFW as instructed within the permit, which may include on site monitoring.  

 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-4 

 
Cultural Resources 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.5.1a: Although there is no recorded evidence of historic or 
archaeological sites within the Project area, there is the potential during Project-related 
excavation and construction for the discovery of these types of resources.  The project proponent 
shall incorporate into the construction contract(s) for the Project a provision that if a potentially 
significant historical or archaeological resource is encountered during subsurface construction 
activities (i.e., trenching, grading), all construction activities within a 50-foot radius of the 
identified potential resource shall cease until a qualified archaeologist evaluates the item for its 
significance and records the item on the appropriate State Department of Parks and Recreation 
(DPR) forms.  The archaeologist shall determine whether the item requires further study.  If, 
after the qualified archaeologist conducts appropriate technical analyses, the item is determined 
to be significant under CEQA, the archaeologist shall recommend feasible mitigation measures, 
which may include avoidance, preservation in place or other appropriate measure, as outlined in 
Public Resources Code section 21083.2.  The Applicant shall implement said measures.    
 
Mitigation Measure #3.5.1b: The project proponent will incorporate into the construction 
contract(s) a provision that in the event a fossil or fossil formations are discovered during any 
subsurface construction activities for the proposed Project (i.e., trenching, grading), all 
excavations within 50 feet of the find shall be temporarily halted until the find is examined by a 
qualified paleontologist, in accordance with Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards. The 
paleontologist shall notify the Applicant, who shall coordinate with the paleontologist as to any 
necessary investigation of the find.  If the find is determined to be significant under CEQA, the 
Applicant shall implement those measures, which may include avoidance, preservation in place, 
or other appropriate measures, as outlined in Public Resources Code section 21083.2.   
 
Mitigation Measure #3.5.1c:  If ground-disturbing activities uncover previously unknown 
human remains, Section 7050.5 of the California Health and Safety Code applies, and the 
following procedures shall be followed: 
 
There shall be no further excavation or disturbance of the area where the human remains were 
found until the City Coroner is contacted.  Duly authorized representatives of the Coroner shall 
be permitted onto the Project site and shall take all actions consistent with Health and Safety 
Code Section 7050.5 and Government Code Section 27460, et seq.  Excavation or disturbance of 
the area where the human remains were found or within 50 feet of the find shall not be permitted 
to re-commence until the Coroner determines that the remains are not subject to the provisions of 
law concerning investigation of the circumstances, manner, and cause of any death.  If the 
Coroner determines the remains are Native American, the Coroner shall contact the NAHC 
within 24 hours, and the NAHC shall identify the person or persons it believes to be the “most 
likely descendant” (MLD) of the deceased Native American. The MLD may make 
recommendations to the landowner or the person responsible for the excavation work, for means 
of treating or disposing of, with appropriate dignity, the human remains and any associated grave 
goods as provided in PRC Section 5097.98. 
 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-5 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1a:  The Project must utilize 100 percent Low VOC for all cleaning 
supplies. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1b:  The Project shall not include any hearths within any of the future 
proposed uses. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1c:  The Applicant shall use low 50 g/L of VOC paint (interior and 
exterior) for architectural coatings. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1d: Ten percent of outdoor electrical equipment shall be dedicated to 
the use of electric leaf blowers and chainsaws. The Project shall include outdoor electrical outlets 
to achieve this. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.7.1e: Energy efficient lighting shall be installed on site in order to 
achieve an energy reduction of at least 10 percent.  
 
Hydrology/Water Quality 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.9.1: All future developers shall pay a per–acre fee as determined by the 
City of Atwater. This will go towards the payment of the drainage expansion. 
 
Transportation/Traffic 
 
EXISTING PLUS PROJECT MITIGATION MEASURES 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1a:  The Applicant shall signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue 
at Augusta Lane and install pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the 
California Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south 
legs of the intersection, and at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the westbound 
left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center).  
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1b:  The Applicant shall modify the traffic signal at the intersection 
of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to implement protective left turn phasing in all directions and 
to accommodate the following: 

 
 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane; 
 Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane; and 
 Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-turns from the existing 

eastbound left turn lane. 
 

Mitigation Measure #3.16.1c:  The Applicant shall modify the existing concrete median island 
on Buhach Road at the Buhach Colony High School Driveway to permanently restrict outbound 
left turn movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to the 
school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-6 

 
YEAR 2017 PLUS PROJECT MITIGATION MEASURES 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1d:  The Applicant shall signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue 
at Augusta Lane and install pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the 
California Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south 
legs of the intersection, and, at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the westbound 
left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center). 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1e:  The Applicant shall modify the traffic signal at the intersection 
of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to implement protective left turn phasing in all directions and 
to accommodate the following: 
 
 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane; 
 Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane; 
 Construct a second westbound through lane; and  
 Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-Turns from the existing 

eastbound left turn lane. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1f: The Applicant shall modify the existing concrete median island 
on Buhach Road at the BCHS Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left turn movements 
from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to the school will still be 
provided from the median reconfiguration. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1g: Additional technical traffic analyses will likely be required in the 
future for specific development phases to determine the level of mitigation needed by that 
specific phase. As the TIS only determined traffic mitigation measures needed if the proposed 
Project is built out by the end of 2017, and development of the Project is very likely to take place 
well beyond 2017. 

 
GENERAL MITIGATION MEASURES 
 

Mitigation Measure #3.16.1h: With the exception of the proposed traffic signal at the 
intersection of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane, access to Juniper Avenue will be limited to right 
in and right out.  This shall apply to both the Northwest and Southwest Parcel Maps. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1i: This Project shall pay all applicable local traffic impact fees 
incorporated into the City’s adopted AB 1600 Impact Fees as well as the adopted Regional 
Transportation Impact Fees (RTIF).  All fees shall be determined and paid at the time of building 
permit issuance for a specific portion of the Project. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1j: The proposed Project Developer(s) shall make necessary street 
improvements and right-of-way dedications along adjacent public street(s) pursuant to the City 
of Atwater standards/requirements – or as approved by the City Engineer. 
 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-7 

Mitigation Measure #3.16.1k: Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for a 
development project on any of specific parcels on either of the Tentative Parcel Maps, all Parcel 
Specific Conditions – Mitigation Measures as contained in this document, or as approved for 
amendment by the City Engineer, for the specific parcel(s) shall be completed. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1l: The proposed Planned Development Master Plan and Final 
Development Plan shall be reviewed concurrently with the Tentative Parcel Map. Pursuant to the 
Atwater Municipal Code the City Council shall have the authority to approve or deny the 
applications. Also, pursuant to the Atwater Municipal Code, the Master Plan and Final 
Development Plan shall require a recommendation by the Community Development & 
Resources Commission – acting in the capacity as the Planning Commission.     
 
PARCEL SPECIFIC MITIGATION MEASURES 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1m:  As part of the development of Parcel 1 of the Northwest Parcel 
Map or Parcel 1 or 6 of the Southwest Parcel Map, the north side of Juniper Avenue shall be 
widened to accommodate U-Turns from the existing eastbound left turn lane on Juniper Avenue. 
The widening shall be able to accommodate 37 ft. measured from the south face of curb of the 
existing median island. These modifications will require the traffic signal equipment at the 
northwest corner of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to be modified as well. 
The first of the three parcels to develop shall also construct a second westbound through lane at 
Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road with 150 ft. storage capacity with a 120 ft. bay taper. Costs shall 
be paid by the first of either Parcel 1 of the Northwest Parcel Map or Parcel 1 or Parcel 6 of the 
Southwest Parcel Map, the second and third to develop shall repay the initial developer a third of 
the improvement costs. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1n: As part of the development of Parcels 1 or 4 of the Northwest 
Parcel Map, the southbound right turn lane shall be constructed.  The southbound right turn lane 
shall include a storage capacity of 100 ft. and approximately 45 ft. bay taper. This will require 
that the traffic signal equipment at the northwest corner of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at 
Buhach Road be modified. Costs shall be paid by the first of either Parcel 1 or 4 of the Northwest 
Parcel Map, the second to develop shall repay the initial developer half of the improvement 
costs. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1o:  As part of the development of Parcel 1 of the Southwest Parcel 
Map, an eastbound right turn lane shall be constructed on Juniper Avenue. This will require that 
the traffic signal equipment at the southwest corner of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at 
Buhach Road be modified. It shall include the construction a dedicated eastbound right turn lane 
with a storage capacity of 130 ft. and approximately 85 ft. bay taper. Costs shall be paid by the 
the developer of Parcel 1of the Southwest Parcel Map. 

 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1p: Prior to obtaining access from the proposed driveway for Parcel 
3 of the Southwest Parcel Map, the Project shall modify the existing concrete median island on 
Buhach Road at the Buhach Colony High School. Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left 
turn movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to the school 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-8 

will still be provided from the median reconfiguration. Costs shall be paid by entirely by the 
developer of Parcel 3 of the Southwest Parcel Map. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1q:  Due to health and safety reasons, access to and from the existing 
driveway, between Parcels 4 and 5 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map, will be limited to right 
in, right out, and left in. Left out movements will be prohibited. Therefore, the construction of a 
median island worm at this location of Buhach Road will be made a condition of approval prior 
to obtaining access to/from this driveway. Costs associated with this shall be by either of the first 
to develop, either Parcel 4 or Parcel 5, the second shall repay the first half the costs.  In the event 
that Parcel(s) 3, 6, 7, 8, 10, or 11 seek to use this driveway and should one of these precede 
Parcels 4 or 5 then the first to develop shall design and pay for the necessary improvements and 
the second parcel to develop shall reimburse the first one half of the total costs for design and 
construction. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1r : Prior to allowing access to Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane, the 
Project shall signalize the intersection with protective left turn phasing in all directions. The 
median island on Juniper Avenue shall also be modified to include a 150 ft. left turn pocket with 
a 120 ft. bay taper. Pedestrian crosswalks shall also be installed, across the north and south legs 
of the intersection, and, at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the westbound left 
turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center). The throat 
width of the Augusta Avenue driveway shall be 41 ft. Signalization of the intersection of Juniper 
Avenue at Augusta Lane shall include emergency vehicle preemption and a signal interconnect 
between this intersection and that of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road. Signal interconnect shall 
be via the use of signal interconnect cable within signal conduits. The costs to prepare the signal 
plans, timing plans, and related civil improvements and the overall construction costs shall be 
paid by the first Parcel needing access to Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane.  The second parcel 
needing access from this location shall reimburse the first one, half of the entire costs for design 
and construction.   
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1s: Parcel 8 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map shall construct a 
100 ft. bus bay with approximately 40 ft. bay tapers on both ends. The width of the bus bay shall 
be 8 ft. measured from the existing face of curb. The construction of the bus bay will require the 
reconstruction of the sidewalk and trail adjacent to the bus bay.  The developer of Parcel 8 shall 
pay the entire cost of this improvement. 
 
Mitigation Measure #3.16.1t: Prior to obtaining full access to the existing driveway between 
Parcels 9 and 13 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map, the Project shall prepare  a focused traffic 
study of this intersection based on existing conditions at the time of the requested access, Five 
Years after Project Buildout, and Long Term (20 years after Project Buildout). The purpose of 
this focused traffic study is to ensure the safety of motorists and pedestrians that would be 
utilizing this intersection. In lieu of the focused traffic study, the Project can elect to limit this 
access point to right in, right out, and left in (left out movements will be prohibited). If the 
Project elects to go with limited access (no left out) then the Project shall construct a median 
island worm at this location of Buhach Road. The costs to prepare the focused traffic study and 
to implement any necessary improvements shall be paid by the first to develop of either Parcels 9 
through 14, the second shall reimburse the first, half of the costs. 



Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  Page 4-9 

Utilities/Service Systems 
 
See Mitigation Measure #3.9.1. 
 





5.0 LIST OF PREPARERS 





Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration June 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony   Page 5-1 

5.0 LIST OF PREPARERS 
 

Quad Knopf, Inc. 
 
Garth Pecchenino, PE, Branch Manager 
 
Desmond Johnston, AICP, Senior Planner 
 
Ginger White, AICP, Senior Planner 
 
Annalisa Perea, LEED AP, Associate Planner 
 
Heather Ellison, Senior Planner, Air Quality Specialist 
 
Kimber Gutierrez, Assistant Planner 
 
Kristoffer Law, GIS Specialist 
 
Andy Glass, Senior Biologist 
 
Tyler Schade, Associate Biologist 
 
Martina Pernicano, Senior Associate Biologist 
 
Other consultant contributors 
 
Jose Benevides, JLB Traffic Engineering, Inc. 
 
Dennis Pascua, Arch Beach Consulting 





APPENDIX A 
 
  





Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - acreage per applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition per applicant

Merced County, Annual

Atwater

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Regional Shopping Center 125.85 1000sqft 15.00 125,850.00 0

Pharmacy/Drugstore w/o Drive Thru 14.00 1000sqft 1.62 14,000.00 0

Fast Food Restaurant with Drive Thru 20.20 1000sqft 2.00 20,200.00 0

Convenience Market With Gas Pumps 3.00 1000sqft 0.34 3,000.00 0

Health Club 45.00 1000sqft 5.20 45,000.00 0

Supermarket 41.20 1000sqft 4.77 41,200.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

2005Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 4:02 PMPage 1 of 34



2.0 Emissions Summary

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblArchitecturalCoating EF_Nonresidential_Exterior 250.00 150.00

tblArchitecturalCoating EF_Nonresidential_Interior 250.00 150.00

tblArchitecturalCoating EF_Residential_Exterior 250.00 150.00

tblArchitecturalCoating EF_Residential_Interior 250.00 150.00

tblAreaCoating Area_EF_Nonresidential_Exterior 250 150

tblAreaMitigation UseLowVOCPaintNonresidentialInteriorV
alue

250 150

tblAreaMitigation UseLowVOCPaintResidentialExteriorValu
e

250 150

tblAreaMitigation UseLowVOCPaintResidentialInteriorValu
e

250 150

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 30.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 4/23/2004 4/26/2004

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 5/13/2002 5/10/2002

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 1/28/2000 3/11/2002

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 3/6/2004 3/9/2004

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 5/11/2002 5/13/2002

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 3/12/2002 3/11/2002

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/17/2004 1/19/2004

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2000 2/12/2002

tblLandUse LotAcreage 2.89 15.00

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.32 1.62

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.46 2.00

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.07 0.34

tblLandUse LotAcreage 1.03 5.20

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.95 4.77

tblProjectCharacteristics OperationalYear 2014 2005

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 4:02 PMPage 2 of 34



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2002 0.0000 561.8158 561.8158 0.1190 0.0000 564.3143

2003 0.0000 576.6858 576.6858 0.1273 0.0000 579.3588

2004 0.0000 77.3334 77.3334 0.0176 0.0000 77.7035

Total 0.0000 1,215.835
0

1,215.835
0

0.2639 0.0000 1,221.376
6

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2002 0.0000 561.8153 561.8153 0.1190 0.0000 564.3139

2003 0.0000 576.6854 576.6854 0.1273 0.0000 579.3584

2004 0.0000 77.3334 77.3334 0.0176 0.0000 77.7034

Total 0.0000 1,215.834
0

1,215.834
0

0.2639 0.0000 1,221.375
6

Mitigated Construction

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 4:02 PMPage 3 of 34



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.0000 4.4500e-
003

4.4500e-
003

2.0000e-
005

0.0000 4.8900e-
003

Energy 0.0000 1,535.862
8

1,535.862
8

0.0582 0.0182 1,542.739
6

Mobile 0.0000 25,350.98
80

25,350.98
80

2.7260 0.0000 25,408.23
37

Waste 183.6683 0.0000 183.6683 10.8545 0.0000 411.6124

Water 7.7416 47.2026 54.9442 0.7973 0.0192 77.6441

Total 191.4099 26,934.05
79

27,125.46
77

14.4360 0.0375 27,440.23
46

Unmitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 4:02 PMPage 4 of 34



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.0000 4.4500e-
003

4.4500e-
003

2.0000e-
005

0.0000 4.8900e-
003

Energy 0.0000 1,535.862
8

1,535.862
8

0.0582 0.0182 1,542.739
6

Mobile 0.0000 25,350.98
80

25,350.98
80

2.7260 0.0000 25,408.23
37

Waste 183.6683 0.0000 183.6683 10.8545 0.0000 411.6124

Water 7.7416 47.2026 54.9442 0.7971 0.0192 77.6317

Total 191.4099 26,934.05
79

27,125.46
77

14.4358 0.0374 27,440.22
22

Mitigated Operational

3.0 Construction Detail

Construction Phase

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.08 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 4:02 PMPage 5 of 34



Merced County, Annual

Atwater Phase 2

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Fast Food Restaurant w/o Drive Thru 3.40 1000sqft 0.39 3,400.00 0

Convenience Market With Gas Pumps 3.00 1000sqft 0.34 3,000.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

2017Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 10:52 AMPage 1 of 28



Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Per Applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition acitivities per applicant

Sequestration - 

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Mobile Commute Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Energy Mitigation - 

Water Mitigation - 

Waste Mitigation - 

2.0 Emissions Summary

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 10.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 6/7/2016 6/8/2017

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 6/15/2017 6/14/2017

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 1/1/2016 1/15/2016

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/20/2016 1/20/2017

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 6/9/2017 6/8/2017

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2016 1/15/2016

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.08 0.39

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.07 0.34

tblProjectCharacteristics OperationalYear 2014 2017

tblSequestration NumberOfNewTrees 0.00 8.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 10:52 AMPage 2 of 28



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2016 2.0400e-
003

0.0181 0.0130 2.0000e-
005

1.1200e-
003

1.2200e-
003

2.3400e-
003

4.7000e-
004

1.1500e-
003

1.6200e-
003

0.0000 1.6129 1.6129 3.5000e-
004

0.0000 1.6204

2017 0.1129 0.6688 0.4411 6.3000e-
004

1.4800e-
003

0.0448 0.0463 4.0000e-
004

0.0413 0.0417 0.0000 57.7014 57.7014 0.0169 0.0000 58.0567

Total 0.1149 0.6870 0.4541 6.5000e-
004

2.6000e-
003

0.0460 0.0486 8.7000e-
004

0.0424 0.0433 0.0000 59.3143 59.3143 0.0173 0.0000 59.6771

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2016 2.0400e-
003

0.0181 0.0130 2.0000e-
005

5.0000e-
004

1.2200e-
003

1.7200e-
003

2.0000e-
004

1.1500e-
003

1.3500e-
003

0.0000 1.6129 1.6129 3.5000e-
004

0.0000 1.6204

2017 0.1129 0.6688 0.4411 6.3000e-
004

1.4800e-
003

0.0448 0.0463 4.0000e-
004

0.0413 0.0417 0.0000 57.7013 57.7013 0.0169 0.0000 58.0567

Total 0.1149 0.6870 0.4541 6.5000e-
004

1.9800e-
003

0.0460 0.0480 6.0000e-
004

0.0424 0.0430 0.0000 59.3143 59.3143 0.0173 0.0000 59.6770

Mitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 23.85 0.00 1.28 31.03 0.00 0.62 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 10:52 AMPage 3 of 28



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.0295 0.0000 6.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 1.1000e-
004

1.1000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 1.2000e-
004

Energy 4.0700e-
003

0.0370 0.0311 2.2000e-
004

2.8100e-
003

2.8100e-
003

2.8100e-
003

2.8100e-
003

0.0000 79.1203 79.1203 2.5300e-
003

1.1000e-
003

79.5150

Mobile 4.9624 10.2223 57.6194 0.0420 2.0322 0.1123 2.1445 0.5472 0.1030 0.6502 0.0000 3,342.708
2

3,342.708
2

0.1219 0.0000 3,345.268
1

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 9.7801 0.0000 9.7801 0.5780 0.0000 21.9178

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.3979 2.1801 2.5780 0.0410 9.9000e-
004

3.7438

Total 4.9959 10.2593 57.6505 0.0422 2.0322 0.1151 2.1473 0.5472 0.1058 0.6530 10.1780 3,424.008
7

3,434.186
7

0.7434 2.0900e-
003

3,450.444
9

Unmitigated Operational

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 10:52 AMPage 4 of 28



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.0276 0.0000 6.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 1.1000e-
004

1.1000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 1.2000e-
004

Energy 3.9900e-
003

0.0363 0.0305 2.2000e-
004

2.7600e-
003

2.7600e-
003

2.7600e-
003

2.7600e-
003

0.0000 76.7467 76.7467 2.4400e-
003

1.0700e-
003

77.1304

Mobile 4.9624 10.2223 57.6194 0.0420 2.0322 0.1123 2.1445 0.5472 0.1030 0.6502 0.0000 3,342.708
2

3,342.708
2

0.1219 0.0000 3,345.268
1

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 4.8901 0.0000 4.8901 0.2890 0.0000 10.9589

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.3358 1.8519 2.1877 0.0346 8.3000e-
004

3.1712

Total 4.9939 10.2585 57.6499 0.0422 2.0322 0.1150 2.1472 0.5472 0.1058 0.6529 5.2259 3,421.306
9

3,426.532
8

0.4479 1.9000e-
003

3,436.528
7

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.04 0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.04 0.00 0.00 0.05 0.01 48.66 0.08 0.22 39.75 9.09 0.40

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 10:52 AMPage 5 of 28



Merced County, Annual

Atwater Phase 2

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Fast Food Restaurant w/o Drive Thru 3.40 1000sqft 0.39 3,400.00 0

Strip Mall 10.00 1000sqft 1.16 10,000.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

2018Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:26 PMPage 1 of 28



Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Per Applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition acitivities per applicant

Sequestration - 

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Mobile Commute Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Energy Mitigation - 

Water Mitigation - 

Waste Mitigation - 

2.0 Emissions Summary

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 20.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 11/1/2018 10/31/2018

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 10/16/2017 10/5/2018

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 10/19/2018 10/18/2018

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 1/4/2016 1/3/2017

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 10/19/2018 10/18/2018

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/10/2017 1/1/2018

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 10/6/2018 10/5/2018

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2016 1/1/2017

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.08 0.39

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.23 1.16

tblProjectCharacteristics OperationalYear 2014 2018

tblSequestration NumberOfNewTrees 0.00 8.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:26 PMPage 2 of 28



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2017 6.1600e-
003

0.0639 0.0434 5.0000e-
005

0.0158 3.4400e-
003

0.0193 8.0600e-
003

3.1700e-
003

0.0112 0.0000 4.3642 4.3642 1.3000e-
003

0.0000 4.3915

2018 0.3623 1.8116 1.4956 2.3800e-
003

5.8400e-
003

0.1094 0.1152 1.5800e-
003

0.1055 0.1071 0.0000 198.5823 198.5823 0.0390 0.0000 199.4017

Total 0.3684 1.8755 1.5390 2.4300e-
003

0.0217 0.1128 0.1345 9.6400e-
003

0.1087 0.1183 0.0000 202.9465 202.9465 0.0403 0.0000 203.7931

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2017 6.1600e-
003

0.0639 0.0434 5.0000e-
005

6.2900e-
003

3.4400e-
003

9.7300e-
003

3.1700e-
003

3.1700e-
003

6.3400e-
003

0.0000 4.3642 4.3642 1.3000e-
003

0.0000 4.3915

2018 0.3623 1.8116 1.4956 2.3800e-
003

5.8400e-
003

0.1094 0.1152 1.5800e-
003

0.1055 0.1071 0.0000 198.5820 198.5820 0.0390 0.0000 199.4014

Total 0.3684 1.8755 1.5390 2.4300e-
003

0.0121 0.1128 0.1250 4.7500e-
003

0.1087 0.1134 0.0000 202.9463 202.9463 0.0403 0.0000 203.7929

Mitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 44.00 0.00 7.09 50.73 0.00 4.12 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:26 PMPage 3 of 28



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.0617 0.0000 1.2000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 2.4000e-
004

2.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 2.5000e-
004

Energy 4.4900e-
003

0.0409 0.0343 2.5000e-
004

3.1000e-
003

3.1000e-
003

3.1000e-
003

3.1000e-
003

0.0000 101.8775 101.8775 3.4500e-
003

1.3500e-
003

102.3692

Mobile 2.4601 6.5843 30.2237 0.0332 1.6686 0.0849 1.7535 0.4493 0.0781 0.5273 0.0000 2,592.366
0

2,592.366
0

0.0843 0.0000 2,594.137
3

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 10.0805 0.0000 10.0805 0.5957 0.0000 22.5911

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.5624 3.3198 3.8822 0.0579 1.4000e-
003

5.5309

Total 2.5263 6.6252 30.2582 0.0334 1.6686 0.0880 1.7566 0.4493 0.0812 0.5304 10.6429 2,697.563
6

2,708.206
6

0.7414 2.7500e-
003

2,724.628
7

Unmitigated Operational

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:26 PMPage 4 of 28



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.0578 0.0000 1.2000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 2.3000e-
004

2.3000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 2.5000e-
004

Energy 4.3800e-
003

0.0398 0.0334 2.4000e-
004

3.0200e-
003

3.0200e-
003

3.0200e-
003

3.0200e-
003

0.0000 98.2039 98.2039 3.3100e-
003

1.3100e-
003

98.6788

Mobile 2.4403 6.3876 29.8899 0.0319 1.5982 0.0816 1.6798 0.4303 0.0750 0.5053 0.0000 2,489.677
4

2,489.677
4

0.0815 0.0000 2,491.388
0

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 5.0403 0.0000 5.0403 0.2979 0.0000 11.2956

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.4747 2.8326 3.3073 0.0489 1.1800e-
003

4.6981

Total 2.5024 6.4274 29.9234 0.0321 1.5982 0.0847 1.6828 0.4303 0.0780 0.5084 5.5149 2,590.714
1

2,596.229
0

0.4315 2.4900e-
003

2,606.060
6

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.94 2.99 1.11 3.92 4.22 3.84 4.20 4.22 3.84 4.16 48.18 3.96 4.13 41.80 9.45 4.35

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:26 PMPage 5 of 28



Merced County, Annual

Atwater Phase 3

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Fast Food Restaurant w/o Drive Thru 3.25 1000sqft 0.37 3,250.00 0

Pharmacy/Drugstore w/o Drive Thru 14.00 1000sqft 1.62 14,000.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

2019Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:48 PMPage 1 of 28



Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Per Applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition acitivities per applicant

Sequestration - 

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Mobile Commute Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Energy Mitigation - 

Water Mitigation - 

Waste Mitigation - 

2.0 Emissions Summary

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 20.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 11/1/2019 10/31/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 10/15/2018 10/7/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 10/21/2019 10/18/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 1/4/2016 1/2/2018

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 10/19/2019 10/18/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/9/2018 1/1/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 10/8/2019 10/7/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2016 1/1/2018

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.07 0.37

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.32 1.62

tblProjectCharacteristics OperationalYear 2014 2019

tblSequestration NumberOfNewTrees 0.00 10.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:48 PMPage 2 of 28



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2018 5.4400e-
003

0.0559 0.0404 5.0000e-
005

0.0158 2.9600e-
003

0.0188 8.0600e-
003

2.7300e-
003

0.0108 0.0000 4.2891 4.2891 1.2900e-
003

0.0000 4.3163

2019 0.3569 1.6668 1.4669 2.4100e-
003

7.2800e-
003

0.0948 0.1021 1.9700e-
003

0.0915 0.0934 0.0000 199.7995 199.7995 0.0372 0.0000 200.5796

Total 0.3623 1.7227 1.5072 2.4600e-
003

0.0231 0.0978 0.1209 0.0100 0.0942 0.1042 0.0000 204.0886 204.0886 0.0384 0.0000 204.8958

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2018 5.4400e-
003

0.0559 0.0404 5.0000e-
005

6.2900e-
003

2.9600e-
003

9.2500e-
003

3.1700e-
003

2.7300e-
003

5.9000e-
003

0.0000 4.2891 4.2891 1.2900e-
003

0.0000 4.3163

2019 0.3569 1.6668 1.4669 2.4100e-
003

7.2800e-
003

0.0948 0.1021 1.9700e-
003

0.0915 0.0934 0.0000 199.7993 199.7993 0.0372 0.0000 200.5793

Total 0.3623 1.7227 1.5072 2.4600e-
003

0.0136 0.0978 0.1113 5.1400e-
003

0.0942 0.0993 0.0000 204.0884 204.0884 0.0384 0.0000 204.8956

Mitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 41.26 0.00 7.89 48.75 0.00 4.68 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:48 PMPage 3 of 28



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.0794 0.0000 1.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 3.1000e-
004

3.1000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 3.3000e-
004

Energy 4.5600e-
003

0.0415 0.0348 2.5000e-
004

3.1500e-
003

3.1500e-
003

3.1500e-
003

3.1500e-
003

0.0000 111.8213 111.8213 3.8800e-
003

1.4500e-
003

112.3528

Mobile 2.4746 7.2620 32.1050 0.0386 1.9324 0.0955 2.0279 0.5203 0.0879 0.6082 0.0000 2,947.841
7

2,947.841
7

0.0933 0.0000 2,949.800
4

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 16.1459 0.0000 16.1459 0.9542 0.0000 36.1840

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.6259 3.7849 4.4108 0.0645 1.5500e-
003

6.2458

Total 2.5585 7.3034 32.1400 0.0389 1.9324 0.0986 2.0310 0.5203 0.0911 0.6114 16.7718 3,063.448
3

3,080.220
0

1.1158 3.0000e-
003

3,104.583
3

Unmitigated Operational

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:48 PMPage 4 of 28



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.0743 0.0000 1.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 3.0000e-
004

3.0000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 3.2000e-
004

Energy 4.4300e-
003

0.0403 0.0338 2.4000e-
004

3.0600e-
003

3.0600e-
003

3.0600e-
003

3.0600e-
003

0.0000 107.4850 107.4850 3.7200e-
003

1.4000e-
003

107.9968

Mobile 2.4530 7.0543 31.7469 0.0371 1.8508 0.0918 1.9426 0.4983 0.0845 0.5828 0.0000 2,831.779
8

2,831.779
8

0.0901 0.0000 2,833.672
5

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 8.0730 0.0000 8.0730 0.4771 0.0000 18.0920

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.5282 3.2338 3.7621 0.0544 1.3100e-
003

5.3101

Total 2.5318 7.0946 31.7809 0.0373 1.8508 0.0948 1.9457 0.4983 0.0876 0.5859 8.6012 2,942.499
0

2,951.100
2

0.6253 2.7100e-
003

2,965.071
7

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

1.04 2.86 1.12 3.91 4.22 3.85 4.20 4.22 3.84 4.16 48.72 3.95 4.19 43.96 9.67 4.49

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:48 PMPage 5 of 28



Merced County, Annual

Atwater Phase 4

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Fast Food Restaurant w/o Drive Thru 3.50 1000sqft 0.41 3,500.00 0

Health Club 45.00 1000sqft 5.20 45,000.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

2022Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:14 PMPage 1 of 75



Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Per Applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition acitivities per applicant

Sequestration - 

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Mobile Commute Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Energy Mitigation - 

Water Mitigation - 

Waste Mitigation - 

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 20.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 10/29/2021 10/18/2021

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 2/11/2019 2/8/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 3/8/2019 11/13/2020

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 1/14/2016 1/14/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 12/12/2020 12/1/2020

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/15/2019 1/14/2019

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 2/9/2019 10/18/2020

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2016 1/1/2019

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.08 0.41

tblLandUse LotAcreage 1.03 5.20

tblProjectCharacteristics OperationalYear 2014 2022

tblSequestration NumberOfNewTrees 0.00 25.00

tblVehicleEF HHD 0.03 0.03

tblVehicleEF HHD 0.01 0.01

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:14 PMPage 2 of 75



2.0 Emissions Summary

tblVehicleEF UBUS 2.3420e-003 2.3990e-003

tblVehicleEF UBUS 0.09 0.10

tblVehicleEF UBUS 1.2920e-003 1.3180e-003

tblVehicleEF UBUS 0.77 0.81

tblVehicleEF UBUS 0.92 0.89

tblVehicleEF UBUS 1.11 1.14

tblVehicleEF UBUS 0.02 0.02

tblVehicleEF UBUS 6.7000e-004 6.7500e-004

tblVehicleEF UBUS 2.3420e-003 2.3990e-003

tblVehicleEF UBUS 0.09 0.10

tblVehicleEF UBUS 1.2920e-003 1.3180e-003

tblVehicleEF UBUS 0.85 0.90

tblVehicleEF UBUS 0.92 0.89

tblVehicleEF UBUS 1.19 1.21

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:14 PMPage 47 of 75



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2019 0.0483 0.4972 0.4169 5.2000e-
004

0.1578 0.0261 0.1839 0.0838 0.0240 0.1079 0.0000 45.8224 45.8224 0.0141 0.0000 46.1184

2020 0.3790 0.3812 0.3823 6.2000e-
004

3.9400e-
003

0.0214 0.0254 1.0600e-
003

0.0201 0.0211 0.0000 53.0787 53.0787 0.0132 0.0000 53.3548

2021 0.2076 1.8425 1.8879 3.1700e-
003

0.0219 0.0997 0.1216 5.9200e-
003

0.0938 0.0997 0.0000 267.6863 267.6863 0.0583 0.0000 268.9100

Total 0.6350 2.7210 2.6870 4.3100e-
003

0.1836 0.1473 0.3308 0.0908 0.1378 0.2286 0.0000 366.5874 366.5874 0.0855 0.0000 368.3831

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2019 0.0483 0.4972 0.4169 5.2000e-
004

0.0627 0.0261 0.0888 0.0330 0.0240 0.0570 0.0000 45.8223 45.8223 0.0141 0.0000 46.1183

2020 0.3790 0.3812 0.3823 6.2000e-
004

3.9400e-
003

0.0214 0.0254 1.0600e-
003

0.0201 0.0211 0.0000 53.0786 53.0786 0.0132 0.0000 53.3547

2021 0.2076 1.8425 1.8879 3.1700e-
003

0.0219 0.0997 0.1216 5.9200e-
003

0.0938 0.0997 0.0000 267.6860 267.6860 0.0583 0.0000 268.9097

Total 0.6350 2.7210 2.6870 4.3100e-
003

0.0885 0.1473 0.2357 0.0400 0.1378 0.1778 0.0000 366.5870 366.5870 0.0855 0.0000 368.3827

Mitigated Construction

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:14 PMPage 48 of 75



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.2232 0.0000 4.5000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 8.7000e-
004

8.7000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 9.1000e-
004

Energy 9.2900e-
003

0.0844 0.0709 5.1000e-
004

6.4200e-
003

6.4200e-
003

6.4200e-
003

6.4200e-
003

0.0000 250.1205 250.1205 8.9200e-
003

3.1700e-
003

251.2889

Mobile 2.5551 7.6933 34.0639 0.0470 2.3730 0.1120 2.4849 0.6389 0.1031 0.7420 0.0000 3,486.441
7

3,486.441
7

0.1057 0.0000 3,488.661
7

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 60.2518 0.0000 60.2518 3.5608 0.0000 135.0281

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 1.1814 7.5917 8.7731 0.1217 2.9400e-
003

12.2386

Total 2.7875 7.7777 34.1352 0.0475 2.3730 0.1184 2.4913 0.6389 0.1095 0.7484 61.4332 3,744.154
7

3,805.587
9

3.7971 6.1100e-
003

3,887.218
2

Unmitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 51.79 0.00 28.74 55.97 0.00 22.23 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:14 PMPage 49 of 75



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.2090 0.0000 4.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 8.5000e-
004

8.5000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 8.9000e-
004

Energy 8.7800e-
003

0.0798 0.0671 4.8000e-
004

6.0700e-
003

6.0700e-
003

6.0700e-
003

6.0700e-
003

0.0000 238.7829 238.7829 8.5300e-
003

3.0100e-
003

239.8965

Mobile 2.5298 7.4705 33.6497 0.0451 2.2725 0.1076 2.3801 0.6119 0.0991 0.7109 0.0000 3,347.678
2

3,347.678
2

0.1021 0.0000 3,349.821
1

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 30.1259 0.0000 30.1259 1.7804 0.0000 67.5141

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.9971 6.5075 7.5046 0.1027 2.4800e-
003

10.4283

Total 2.7476 7.5503 33.7172 0.0456 2.2725 0.1136 2.3861 0.6119 0.1051 0.7170 31.1230 3,592.969
4

3,624.092
4

1.9937 5.4900e-
003

3,667.660
9

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

1.43 2.92 1.22 3.98 4.23 4.01 4.22 4.23 4.01 4.20 49.34 4.04 4.77 47.50 10.15 5.65

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:14 PMPage 50 of 75



Merced County, Annual

Atwater Phase 5

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Strip Mall 10.00 1000sqft 1.16 10,000.00 0

Supermarket 41.20 1000sqft 4.77 41,200.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:54 PMPage 1 of 31



Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Per Applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition acitivities per applicant

Sequestration - 

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Mobile Commute Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Energy Mitigation - 

Water Mitigation - 

Waste Mitigation - 

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:54 PMPage 2 of 31



2.0 Emissions Summary

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblArchitecturalCoating EF_Nonresidential_Exterior 250.00 150.00

tblArchitecturalCoating EF_Nonresidential_Interior 250.00 150.00

tblArchitecturalCoating EF_Residential_Exterior 250.00 150.00

tblArchitecturalCoating EF_Residential_Interior 250.00 150.00

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 20.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 11/17/2016 10/18/2021

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 12/7/2001 12/31/2015

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 2/11/2021 2/10/2021

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 3/10/2021 11/12/2021

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 11/1/2021 1/14/2021

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2016 12/1/2020

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 12/8/2001 1/1/2016

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/15/2021 1/14/2021

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 2/11/2021 10/18/2021

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 10/19/2021 1/1/2021

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.23 1.16

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.95 4.77

tblSequestration NumberOfNewTrees 0.00 25.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:54 PMPage 3 of 31



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2001 0.3655 0.0520 0.0323 3.0000e-
004

2.2000e-
004

4.1500e-
003

4.3700e-
003

7.0000e-
005

4.1500e-
003

4.2200e-
003

0.0000 2.8251 2.8251 7.8000e-
004

0.0000 2.8414

2020 0.0256 0.2257 0.2123 3.5000e-
004

2.0600e-
003

0.0129 0.0150 5.6000e-
004

0.0121 0.0127 0.0000 29.4793 29.4793 6.5300e-
003

0.0000 29.6166

2021 0.2601 2.3753 2.4038 3.8800e-
003

0.1775 0.1269 0.3044 0.0892 0.1187 0.2079 0.0000 330.4447 330.4447 0.0786 0.0000 332.0955

Total 0.6511 2.6530 2.6484 4.5300e-
003

0.1798 0.1439 0.3237 0.0898 0.1350 0.2248 0.0000 362.7491 362.7491 0.0859 0.0000 364.5534

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2001 0.3655 0.0520 0.0323 3.0000e-
004

2.2000e-
004

4.1500e-
003

4.3700e-
003

7.0000e-
005

4.1500e-
003

4.2200e-
003

0.0000 2.8251 2.8251 7.8000e-
004

0.0000 2.8414

2020 0.0256 0.2257 0.2123 3.5000e-
004

2.0600e-
003

0.0129 0.0150 5.6000e-
004

0.0121 0.0127 0.0000 29.4793 29.4793 6.5300e-
003

0.0000 29.6165

2021 0.2601 2.3753 2.4038 3.8800e-
003

0.0825 0.1269 0.2093 0.0384 0.1187 0.1571 0.0000 330.4443 330.4443 0.0786 0.0000 332.0951

Total 0.6511 2.6530 2.6484 4.5300e-
003

0.0847 0.1439 0.2287 0.0390 0.1350 0.1740 0.0000 362.7487 362.7487 0.0859 0.0000 364.5530

Mitigated Construction

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:54 PMPage 4 of 31



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.2356 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Energy 7.1800e-
003

0.0653 0.0548 3.9000e-
004

4.9600e-
003

4.9600e-
003

4.9600e-
003

4.9600e-
003

0.0000 513.1276 513.1276 0.0214 5.4400e-
003

515.2618

Mobile 3.7127 9.8430 47.5968 0.0494 2.4273 0.1223 2.5496 0.6536 0.1126 0.7662 0.0000 3,763.832
7

3,763.832
7

0.1230 0.0000 3,766.414
7

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 49.3004 0.0000 49.3004 2.9136 0.0000 110.4854

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 1.8462 9.7826 11.6288 0.1901 4.5700e-
003

17.0366

Total 3.9554 9.9082 47.6516 0.0498 2.4273 0.1273 2.5546 0.6536 0.1176 0.7711 51.1466 4,286.742
9

4,337.889
5

3.2479 0.0100 4,409.198
5

Unmitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 52.88 0.00 29.37 56.59 0.00 22.61 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:54 PMPage 5 of 31



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.2206 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Energy 6.7800e-
003

0.0617 0.0518 3.7000e-
004

4.6900e-
003

4.6900e-
003

4.6900e-
003

4.6900e-
003

0.0000 497.7015 497.7015 0.0208 5.2600e-
003

499.7676

Mobile 3.6855 9.5814 47.1457 0.0475 2.3245 0.1177 2.4422 0.6259 0.1083 0.7342 0.0000 3,617.627
1

3,617.627
1

0.1190 0.0000 3,620.126
0

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 24.6502 0.0000 24.6502 1.4568 0.0000 55.2427

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 1.5582 8.2925 9.8507 0.1604 3.8500e-
003

14.4126

Total 3.9129 9.6431 47.1975 0.0478 2.3245 0.1224 2.4469 0.6259 0.1130 0.7389 26.2084 4,123.621
1

4,149.829
6

1.7569 9.1100e-
003

4,189.548
9

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

1.07 2.68 0.95 3.86 4.23 3.87 4.22 4.23 3.89 4.18 48.76 3.81 4.34 45.91 8.99 4.98

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 2:54 PMPage 6 of 31



Merced County, Annual

Atwater Phase 6

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Strip Mall 23.00 1000sqft 2.66 23,000.00 0

Fast Food Restaurant with Drive Thru 3.25 1000sqft 0.38 3,250.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

2023Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:00 PMPage 1 of 30



Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Per Applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition acitivities per applicant

Sequestration - 

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Mobile Commute Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Energy Mitigation - 

Water Mitigation - 

Waste Mitigation - 

2.0 Emissions Summary

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 20.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 12/7/2022 10/18/2023

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 1/7/2016 1/7/2022

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/20/2022 12/1/2022

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2016 1/1/2022

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.53 2.66

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.07 0.38

tblProjectCharacteristics OperationalYear 2014 2023

tblSequestration NumberOfNewTrees 0.00 8.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:00 PMPage 2 of 30



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2022 0.0360 0.3378 0.3520 5.4000e-
004

0.0733 0.0170 0.0902 0.0388 0.0158 0.0546 0.0000 46.5231 46.5231 0.0123 0.0000 46.7814

2023 0.3605 1.5973 1.8906 3.1900e-
003

0.0117 0.0774 0.0891 3.1700e-
003

0.0728 0.0760 0.0000 271.7800 271.7800 0.0621 0.0000 273.0840

Total 0.3964 1.9352 2.2427 3.7300e-
003

0.0850 0.0943 0.1794 0.0420 0.0886 0.1306 0.0000 318.3031 318.3031 0.0744 0.0000 319.8654

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2022 0.0360 0.3378 0.3520 5.4000e-
004

0.0298 0.0170 0.0467 0.0155 0.0158 0.0312 0.0000 46.5230 46.5230 0.0123 0.0000 46.7813

2023 0.3605 1.5973 1.8906 3.1900e-
003

0.0117 0.0774 0.0891 3.1700e-
003

0.0728 0.0760 0.0000 271.7797 271.7797 0.0621 0.0000 273.0837

Total 0.3964 1.9352 2.2427 3.7300e-
003

0.0415 0.0943 0.1358 0.0186 0.0886 0.1072 0.0000 318.3027 318.3027 0.0744 0.0000 319.8650

Mitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 51.21 0.00 24.28 55.65 0.00 17.89 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:00 PMPage 3 of 30



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.1208 0.0000 2.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 4.7000e-
004

4.7000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 4.9000e-
004

Energy 5.1000e-
003

0.0464 0.0390 2.8000e-
004

3.5300e-
003

3.5300e-
003

3.5300e-
003

3.5300e-
003

0.0000 141.0806 141.0806 5.0600e-
003

1.7700e-
003

141.7366

Mobile 1.3822 3.1462 18.4733 0.0236 1.1694 0.0513 1.2207 0.3148 0.0472 0.3620 0.0000 1,712.699
7

1,712.699
7

0.0488 0.0000 1,713.724
2

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 12.5022 0.0000 12.5022 0.7389 0.0000 28.0183

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.8535 5.3619 6.2154 0.0879 2.1200e-
003

8.7185

Total 1.5081 3.1926 18.5125 0.0239 1.1694 0.0548 1.2242 0.3148 0.0508 0.3655 13.3557 1,859.142
6

1,872.498
3

0.8806 3.8900e-
003

1,892.198
0

Unmitigated Operational

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:00 PMPage 4 of 30



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.1131 0.0000 2.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 4.6000e-
004

4.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 4.8000e-
004

Energy 4.9200e-
003

0.0448 0.0376 2.7000e-
004

3.4000e-
003

3.4000e-
003

3.4000e-
003

3.4000e-
003

0.0000 135.0728 135.0728 4.8400e-
003

1.7000e-
003

135.7018

Mobile 1.3714 3.0748 18.3008 0.0227 1.1199 0.0493 1.1692 0.3014 0.0455 0.3469 0.0000 1,646.209
2

1,646.209
2

0.0472 0.0000 1,647.200
4

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 6.2511 0.0000 6.2511 0.3694 0.0000 14.0091

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.7203 4.5907 5.3111 0.0742 1.7900e-
003

7.4228

Total 1.4895 3.1195 18.3386 0.0230 1.1199 0.0527 1.1726 0.3014 0.0489 0.3503 6.9714 1,785.873
2

1,792.844
7

0.4957 3.4900e-
003

1,804.334
6

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

1.23 2.29 0.94 3.85 4.24 3.78 4.22 4.24 3.78 4.17 47.80 3.94 4.25 43.72 10.28 4.64

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:00 PMPage 5 of 30



Merced County, Annual

Atwater Phase 7

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Regional Shopping Center 15.85 1000sqft 1.83 15,850.00 0

Regional Shopping Center 22.00 1000sqft 2.55 22,000.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

2024Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:06 PMPage 1 of 30



Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Per Applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition acitivities per applicant

Sequestration - 

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Mobile Commute Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Energy Mitigation - 

Water Mitigation - 

Waste Mitigation - 

2.0 Emissions Summary

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 20.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 12/5/2024 12/4/2024

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 12/6/2023 10/17/2024

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 11/12/2024 11/11/2024

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 1/7/2016 1/6/2023

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 11/12/2024 11/11/2024

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/19/2023 12/1/2023

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 10/18/2024 10/17/2024

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2016 1/1/2023

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.36 1.83

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.51 2.55

tblProjectCharacteristics OperationalYear 2014 2024

tblSequestration NumberOfNewTrees 0.00 8.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:06 PMPage 2 of 30



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2023 0.0327 0.3025 0.3401 5.4000e-
004

0.0736 0.0145 0.0881 0.0389 0.0135 0.0524 0.0000 45.9027 45.9027 0.0120 0.0000 46.1546

2024 0.4326 1.5099 1.9169 3.2900e-
003

0.0156 0.0685 0.0842 4.2400e-
003

0.0644 0.0687 0.0000 278.9479 278.9479 0.0621 0.0000 280.2528

Total 0.4652 1.8124 2.2570 3.8300e-
003

0.0893 0.0830 0.1723 0.0431 0.0779 0.1211 0.0000 324.8505 324.8505 0.0741 0.0000 326.4074

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2023 0.0327 0.3025 0.3401 5.4000e-
004

0.0301 0.0145 0.0446 0.0155 0.0135 0.0291 0.0000 45.9026 45.9026 0.0120 0.0000 46.1545

2024 0.4326 1.5099 1.9169 3.2900e-
003

0.0156 0.0685 0.0842 4.2400e-
003

0.0644 0.0687 0.0000 278.9476 278.9476 0.0621 0.0000 280.2525

Total 0.4652 1.8124 2.2569 3.8300e-
003

0.0457 0.0830 0.1288 0.0198 0.0779 0.0977 0.0000 324.8502 324.8502 0.0741 0.0000 326.4070

Mitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 48.77 0.00 25.27 54.15 0.00 19.29 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:06 PMPage 3 of 30



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.1742 0.0000 3.5000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 6.8000e-
004

6.8000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 7.1000e-
004

Energy 2.2800e-
003

0.0207 0.0174 1.2000e-
004

1.5700e-
003

1.5700e-
003

1.5700e-
003

1.5700e-
003

0.0000 123.0514 123.0514 4.9800e-
003

1.3500e-
003

123.5755

Mobile 0.8208 2.2963 11.1800 0.0205 1.0493 0.0440 1.0933 0.2824 0.0406 0.3230 0.0000 1,481.273
9

1,481.273
9

0.0391 0.0000 1,482.094
6

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 8.0669 0.0000 8.0669 0.4767 0.0000 18.0784

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.8895 6.1629 7.0524 0.0916 2.2100e-
003

9.6633

Total 0.9972 2.3170 11.1977 0.0206 1.0493 0.0456 1.0949 0.2824 0.0421 0.3245 8.9563 1,610.488
9

1,619.445
2

0.6124 3.5600e-
003

1,633.412
5

Unmitigated Operational

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:06 PMPage 4 of 30



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.1631 0.0000 3.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 6.6000e-
004

6.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 7.0000e-
004

Energy 2.0900e-
003

0.0190 0.0160 1.1000e-
004

1.4400e-
003

1.4400e-
003

1.4400e-
003

1.4400e-
003

0.0000 116.0223 116.0223 4.7100e-
003

1.2700e-
003

116.5152

Mobile 0.8113 2.2337 11.0301 0.0197 1.0046 0.0423 1.0469 0.2704 0.0390 0.3094 0.0000 1,421.746
4

1,421.746
4

0.0377 0.0000 1,422.537
8

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 4.0334 0.0000 4.0334 0.2384 0.0000 9.0392

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.7507 5.3028 6.0535 0.0773 1.8700e-
003

8.2563

Total 0.9766 2.2527 11.0464 0.0198 1.0046 0.0437 1.0483 0.2704 0.0404 0.3108 4.7841 1,543.072
1

1,547.856
2

0.3581 3.1400e-
003

1,556.349
2

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

2.07 2.78 1.35 4.03 4.26 4.10 4.25 4.26 4.11 4.24 46.58 4.19 4.42 41.53 11.80 4.72

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:06 PMPage 5 of 30



Merced County, Annual

Atwater Phase 8

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage Floor Surface Area Population

Regional Shopping Center 23.00 1000sqft 2.66 23,000.00 0

Regional Shopping Center 22.00 1000sqft 2.55 22,000.00 0

Fast Food Restaurant with Drive Thru 3.40 1000sqft 0.39 3,400.00 0

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization

Climate Zone

Urban

3

Wind Speed (m/s) Precipitation Freq (Days)2.2 49

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

1.0 Project Characteristics

Utility Company Pacific Gas & Electric Company

2030Operational Year

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

641.35 0.029CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:14 PMPage 1 of 30



Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Per Applicant

Construction Phase - No demolition acitivities per applicant

Sequestration - 

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Mobile Commute Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Energy Mitigation - 

Water Mitigation - 

Waste Mitigation - 

2.0 Emissions Summary

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 20.00 0.00

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 12/30/2025 11/18/2026

tblConstructionPhase PhaseEndDate 1/14/2016 1/14/2025

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 2/12/2025 1/1/2026

tblConstructionPhase PhaseStartDate 1/1/2016 1/1/2025

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.53 2.66

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.51 2.55

tblLandUse LotAcreage 0.08 0.39

tblProjectCharacteristics OperationalYear 2014 2030

tblSequestration NumberOfNewTrees 0.00 12.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:14 PMPage 2 of 30



2.1 Overall Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2025 0.0294 0.2663 0.3270 5.2000e-
004

0.1578 0.0120 0.1698 0.0838 0.0111 0.0949 0.0000 44.7470 44.7470 0.0141 0.0000 45.0428

2026 0.3607 1.5568 2.1433 3.7400e-
003

0.0219 0.0657 0.0876 5.9500e-
003

0.0617 0.0677 0.0000 316.3191 316.3191 0.0694 0.0000 317.7766

2027 0.1522 5.1900e-
003

8.4600e-
003

1.0000e-
005

1.1000e-
004

2.3000e-
004

3.4000e-
004

3.0000e-
005

2.3000e-
004

2.6000e-
004

0.0000 1.2261 1.2261 7.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.2275

Total 0.5423 1.8283 2.4788 4.2700e-
003

0.1798 0.0779 0.2578 0.0898 0.0730 0.1628 0.0000 362.2922 362.2922 0.0836 0.0000 364.0469

Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

2025 0.0294 0.2663 0.3270 5.2000e-
004

0.0627 0.0120 0.0747 0.0330 0.0111 0.0441 0.0000 44.7470 44.7470 0.0141 0.0000 45.0428

2026 0.3607 1.5568 2.1433 3.7400e-
003

0.0219 0.0657 0.0876 5.9500e-
003

0.0617 0.0677 0.0000 316.3188 316.3188 0.0694 0.0000 317.7762

2027 0.1522 5.1900e-
003

8.4600e-
003

1.0000e-
005

1.1000e-
004

2.3000e-
004

3.4000e-
004

3.0000e-
005

2.3000e-
004

2.6000e-
004

0.0000 1.2261 1.2261 7.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.2275

Total 0.5423 1.8283 2.4788 4.2700e-
003

0.0848 0.0779 0.1627 0.0390 0.0730 0.1120 0.0000 362.2918 362.2918 0.0836 0.0000 364.0465

Mitigated Construction

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:14 PMPage 3 of 30



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.2227 0.0000 4.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 8.6000e-
004

8.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 9.1000e-
004

Energy 6.6000e-
003

0.0600 0.0504 3.6000e-
004

4.5600e-
003

4.5600e-
003

4.5600e-
003

4.5600e-
003

0.0000 215.6635 215.6635 8.0500e-
003

2.6000e-
003

216.6398

Mobile 1.5243 4.0496 21.0327 0.0371 1.8935 0.0772 1.9707 0.5094 0.0712 0.5805 0.0000 2,618.455
3

2,618.455
3

0.0649 0.0000 2,619.818
4

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 17.5405 0.0000 17.5405 1.0366 0.0000 39.3093

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 1.3849 9.0187 10.4036 0.1427 3.4400e-
003

14.4666

Total 1.7536 4.1096 21.0835 0.0375 1.8935 0.0818 1.9753 0.5094 0.0757 0.5851 18.9254 2,843.138
3

2,862.063
7

1.2522 6.0400e-
003

2,890.234
9

Unmitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 52.87 0.00 36.88 56.59 0.00 31.22 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:14 PMPage 4 of 30



2.2 Overall Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Area 0.2086 0.0000 4.3000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 8.5000e-
004

8.5000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 8.9000e-
004

Energy 6.3100e-
003

0.0574 0.0482 3.4000e-
004

4.3600e-
003

4.3600e-
003

4.3600e-
003

4.3600e-
003

0.0000 205.4900 205.4900 7.6700e-
003

2.4800e-
003

206.4207

Mobile 1.5091 3.9525 20.7959 0.0357 1.8131 0.0743 1.8874 0.4878 0.0685 0.5562 0.0000 2,515.203
9

2,515.203
9

0.0627 0.0000 2,516.519
6

Waste 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 8.7702 0.0000 8.7702 0.5183 0.0000 19.6546

Water 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 1.1689 7.7361 8.9049 0.1204 2.9000e-
003

12.3327

Total 1.7240 4.0099 20.8445 0.0360 1.8131 0.0786 1.8917 0.4878 0.0728 0.5606 9.9391 2,728.430
8

2,738.369
9

0.7090 5.3800e-
003

2,754.928
6

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

1.69 2.43 1.13 3.95 4.24 3.84 4.23 4.24 3.83 4.19 47.48 4.03 4.32 43.38 10.93 4.68

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2013.2.2 Date: 7/13/2015 3:14 PMPage 5 of 30





APPENDIX B 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





 MEMO PAGE 1 OF 24 

 

 
 

 
 
Date: April 30, 2015 Project No.: AT150081 
 
To: Desmond Johnston 
 
From: Andy Glass 
 
Subject: Biological Desktop Analysis 
 
cc:  
 

 

Dear Mr. Johnston: 

 

We have completed a Biological Desktop Analysis of the Marketplace at the Colony Project site 

that is being proposed by the City of Atwater. The Project site is composed of two parcels (APNs 

004-010-028 and 004-010-029) totaling approximately 30.4 acres. The Project would consist of a 

commercial center on the northwest and southwest corners of Juniper Avenue and Buhach Road 

in the City of Atwater, California. The Project site occurs in Township 7 South, Range 13 East, 

Section 6 (Mount Diablo Base and Meridian) of the Atwater U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 

7.5-minute quadrangle (Figure 1). The Project is bounded by Livingston Canal to the north, 

Buhach Road to the east, and residential developments to the west and south. Juniper Road, 

which is oriented east-west, separates the two parcels (Figure 2). 

 

This Biological Desktop Analysis is intended to identify potential biological issues that may 

arise as a result of Project development. Biological constraints are often driving factors for 

projects in the San Joaquin Valley because of the high numbers of endemic threatened and 

endangered species that occur in the region, and the high costs associated with providing 

appropriate mitigation and compensation required by regulatory agencies when those species, 

their habitats, and their designated Critical Habitat are affected.   

 

The results presented are based upon literature reviews, database searches, evaluation of aerial 

images, the potential for sensitive biological resources to occur on and in the vicinity of the 

Project site, and a professional evaluation of adverse environmental impacts that the Project 

could potentially cause to sensitive biological resources. Sensitive biological resources generally 

include:   

 

 Special Status Species.  These taxa may fall into one or more of the following categories: 

 

- Species that are officially listed or candidates for listing under the Federal and/or State 

Endangered Species Acts; 

- Species that are tracked by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife’s (CDFW) 

California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB); 

- Taxa considered by the CDFW to be a “Species of Special Concern”; 

- Taxa classified by CDFW as “Fully Protected”; 



 MEMO PAGE 2 OF 24 

 

 
 

- Taxa that are biologically rare, very restricted in distribution, declining throughout their 

range, or have a critical, vulnerable stage in their life cycle that warrants monitoring; 

- Populations in California that may be on the periphery of a taxon’s range but are 

threatened with extirpation in California; 

- Taxa closely associated with a habitat that is declining in California at an alarming rate 

(e.g.  wetlands, riparian, old growth forests, desert aquatic systems, native grasslands, 

vernal pools); and 

- Taxa designated as special-status, sensitive, or declining by other State or federal 

agencies, or a non-governmental organization. 

 

 Sensitive Habitats. Sensitive habitats may include the following: 

 

- Native habitats of limited distribution (e.g.  wetlands of various types, riparian habitat, 

native grasslands); 

- Native habitats used by state or federally listed endangered species; 

- Habitats supporting particularly high concentrations of native plants and animals; and 

- Habitat that is within the jurisdiction of one or more State and federal resource agencies 

(i.e. wetland, endangered species habitat). 

- Critical habitat (specific geographic area essential for threatened or endangered species 

and that may require special management and protection); and 

- Wetlands and other waters. 

 

 Migratory Corridors of Native Fish and Wildlife Species. Wildlife movement corridors 

(also referred to as dispersal corridors or landscape linkages) are linear features that connect 

at least two significant habitat areas. Examples of such corridors include the following: 

 

- Rivers and associated riparian habitats; 

- Irrigation canals and associated levies; 

- Ridge lines; and 

- Adjoining green space areas in urbanized landscapes. 

 

Methods 
 

Literature reviews and database searches that were conducted for this Biological Desktop 

Analysis included a review of the CNDDB (April 2015), California Native Plant Society (CNPS) 

database (April 2015), and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) Threatened and Endangered 

Species List (April 2015). These sources provide information about known and potential 

occurrences of special status species within the Project vicinity.  Information was gathered for 

the Atwater 7.5-minute topographical USGS quadrangle, which encompasses the Project site, 

and the surrounding eight 7.5-minute USGS quadrangles. The surrounding quadrangles include 

El Nido, Sandy Mush, Turner Ranch, Yosemite Lake, Merced, Winton, Cressey, and Arena. The 

CNDDB was also queried for specific records occurring within 10 miles of the Project site to 

satisfy CDFW reporting requirements. The CNDDB provides element-specific spatial 

information on individual documented occurrences of special status species and sensitive natural 

vegetation communities. The CNPS database provides similar information, but at a much lower 



 MEMO PAGE 3 OF 24 

 

 
 

spatial resolution, for additional sensitive plant species tracked by the CNPS. The USFWS query 

generates a list of federally protected species known to potentially occur within individual USGS 

quadrangles. Wildlife species designated as “Fully Protected” by California Fish and Game Code 

Sections 5050 (Fully Protected reptiles and amphibians), 3511 (Fully Protected birds), 4700 

(Fully Protected mammals), and 5515 (Fully Protected Fish) are included on the final list. 

 

Habitat conditions and vegetation were evaluated based on aerial imagery from ArcGIS Online 

(Esri World Imagery), CDFW (NAIP), and Google Maps online. ArcGIS Online World Imagery 

was mapped circa May 2010 and features 0.3 meter resolution imagery in the continental United 

States. The CDFW’s NAIP imagery was mapped in the summer of 2012 and features one meter 

resolution. This imagery was sourced from the USGS, which produces Digital Orthophoto 

Quarter Quads (DOQQs). Google Maps was used to access image captures at the street view 

level. The Street View imagery was collected by Google Maps in August, 2012. 

 

Additional databases that were accessed included the USFWS National Wetlands Inventory 

(NWI) Map (April 2015) and USFWS Critical Habitat Unit database (April 2015). Regional 

hydrologic information was obtained from the Geospatial Data Gateway website of the Natural 

Resources Conservation Service (NRCS). 

 

Findings 
 

LAND USE 
 

Aerial Imagery indicates that the Project site had historically undergone disking or other types of 

disturbances and prior modifications (i.e. scraped earth with parallel linear rows in the soil). 

Livingston Canal is adjacent to the northern section of the Project site. The canal flows from east 

to west. Water from the canal is diverted into other canals, eventually merging with the Merced 

River. Access roads occur on both sides of the canal, and vegetation occurs within the canal and 

on its banks. Vegetation appeared to occur predominantly on the north side of the bank, with 

little, if any, vegetation occurring on the south bank. 

 

The Project site has historically been disturbed and consists mostly of ruderal vegetation. The 

topography of the land is relatively flat. Surrounding land uses includes residential development 

to the south, to the west, and across Buhach Road to the east.  Livingston Canal lies to the north, 

a school is located to the southeast, and a golf course is southwest of the Project site. 

Agricultural row crops occur east of the eastern residential development. 

 

VEGETATION AND WILDLIFE 
 

The vegetation throughout the Project site appeared to consist of non-native grassland and 

ruderal species. There are trees adjacent to the Project site that appeared to be associated with 

nearby residential developments. The grassland habitat on the Project site may provide foraging 

and denning opportunities for a variety of species. Several special-status species that could 

potentially be present include the San Joaquin kit fox (Vulpes macrotis mutica), American 



 MEMO PAGE 4 OF 24 

 

 
 

badger (Taxidea taxus), Swainson’s hawk (Buteo swainsoni), and western burrowing owl 

(Athene cunicularia). 

 

WETLANDS AND WATERS  
 

The USFWS NWI depicts no wetlands occurring within the Project site (Figure 3). Several 

wetland features consisting of Freshwater Ponds and Freshwater Emergent Wetlands occur 

within the Project Vicinity (see Figure 3). The closest NWI wetland features were Freshwater 

Ponds (PUBHx) located within a nearby golf course; the nearest wetland feature is 

approximately 0.1 mile southwest of the Project site. There is one “blue-line” drainage, Buhach 

Lateral, which is hown to occur within the Project site (NRCS); however, there is no sign of this 

drainage on the aerial imagery and it is likely that it is no longer present on the site. Livingston 

Canal is shown as a blue-line drainage, but it occurs north of the Project site. No potential 

wetland features, historical wetland features, or large surface water features appeared on the 

aerial imagery or had NRCS or NWI records on the Project site. 

 

SENSITIVE NATURAL COMMUNITIES AND SPECIAL-STATUS SPECIES 

 
The database search listed historical occurrences of two Sensitive Natural Communities, 25 

special-status plant species, and 38 special-status wildlife species occurring within the 9-

quadrangle search area, and within a 10-mile radius of the Project site (Table 1). Though there 

are no records of CNDDB occurrences on the Project site, there are historical occurrences of 

several special status-species in the Project vicinity (Figure 4). The closest records of special-

status species to the Project site include San Joaquin kit fox located approximately 0.84 mile 

northwest of the site, Swainson’s hawk located approximately 1.0 mile east of the site, 

burrowing owl located approximately 1.0 mile southeast of the site, western pond turtle (Emys 

marmorata) located approximately 1.3 miles northeast of the site, vernal pool fairy shrimp 

(Branchinecta lynchi) located approximately 1.4 miles east of the site, and ferruginous hawk 

(Buteo regalis) located approximately 1.9 miles northeast of the site (see Figure 4). 

 

There are no USFWS-designated Critical Habitat units on the Project site, but a total of 33 units 

covering 10 different species occur within 10 miles of the Project site (Figure 5). Critical Habitat 

within the Project vicinity are designated for Hoover’s spurge (Chamaesyce hooveri), Colusa 

grass (Neostapfia colusana), Green’s tuctoria (Tuctoria greenei), San Joaquin Orcutt grass 

(Orcuttia ineaqualis), Succulent owl’s clover (Castileja campestris ssp. suculenta) vernal pool 

fairy shrimp (Branchinecta lynchi), vernal pool tadpole shrimp (Lepidurus packardi), 

conservancy fairy shrimp (Branchinecta conservation), California tiger salamander (Ambystoma 

californiense) and Central Valley steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss) (see Figure 5). The closest 

Critical Habitat unit for San Joaquin Orcutt grass (Unit SJVAL 1), Succulent owl’s clover (Unit 

SUCCL 3B), Greene’s Tuctoria (Unit GREEN 7), Colusa grass (COLUS 6), Conservancy fairy 

shrimp (CONSFS 6) and Vernal Pool fairy shrimp (VERFS 22) is located approximately 3.2 

miles northeast of the Project site (see Figure 5). The closest Critical Habitat unit for Hoover’s 

spurge (Unit HOOVR 6C) and Vernal pool tadpole shrimp (VERTS 16D) is located 

approximately 7.8 miles southwest of the Project site (see Figure 5). The closest Critical Habitat 

unit for California tiger salamander (Unit cv9) is located approximately 7.9 miles east of the 



 MEMO PAGE 5 OF 24 

 

 
 

Project site, and the closest Critical Habitat unit for Central Valley steelhead (Unit WW3) is 

located approximately 6.7 miles northwest of the Project site (see Figure 5). 

 

The Project site contains potential foraging and breeding habitat for the San Joaquin kit fox, 

American badger, and western burrowing owl. The site also contains potential foraging habitat 

for Swainson’s hawk. Ground nesting migratory birds could nest on the Project site. Tree and 

shrub nesting migratory birds could nest in the trees located adjacent to the Project site. 

 

CONCLUSION 
 

The Project site could potentially support several special-status species that are known to occur 

in the vicinity. These species include, but are not limited to, the San Joaquin kit fox, American 

badger, Swainson’s hawk, western burrowing owl, and nesting raptor and migratory birds. Other 

species could also potentially be present. 

 

In lieu of completing an on-site biological survey and Project impacts analysis, we recommend 

conducting a preconstruction/preactivity survey for the San Joaquin kit fox, American badger, 

Swainson’s hawk, western burrowing owl, and nesting raptor and migratory birds no less than 14 

days prior to the beginning of ground disturbance and/or construction activities. Furthermore, 

Buhach Lateral is a potential blue-line drainage, and it should be investigated during the 

preconstruction survey.  If it is found to have a bank to bank or Ordinary High Water Mark 

(OHMW, then that should be delineated and consultations with the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers (USACE) or Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) should be conducted 

prior to development activities. It is unlikely that CDFW would claim jurisdiction of the drainage 

given its apparent lack of riparian habitat. 

 

We trust that this Biological Desktop Analysis meets the Marketplace at the Colony Project 

needs. Please let us know if you have any questions regarding the contents of this letter or 

findings of our analysis. We look forward to performing additional services for you as this 

Project moves forward.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Andy Glass 

Senior Associate Biologist 

 

 
AT150081 

AG:af 

 

 



 MEMO PAGE 6 OF 24 
 

 
 

Table 1 

Sensitive Communities and Special-Status Species Potentially Occurring or Known to 

Occur on the Marketplace at the Colony Project Site, Merced County, California 

 

 

Scientific Name Common Name Status Habitat Requirements 

Potential 

for 

Occurrence 

Sensitive Natural Communities  

Northern Claypan 

Vernal Pool 

 

Northern Claypan 

Vernal Pool 

 

G1, 

S1.1 

Northern Claypan Vernal Pools 

communities consist of a low, 

herbaceous community dominated by 

annual herbs and grasses. 

Germination and growth begin with 

winter rains, often continuing even 

when inundated. Rising spring 

temperatures evaporate the pools, 

leaving concentric bands of 

vegetation.  Claypan vernal pools are 

typically small and contain less cover 

than northern hardpan vernal pools. 

Low 

Northern Hardpan 

Vernal Pool 

Northern Hardpan 

Vernal Pool 

G3, 

S3.1 

A low, amphibious, herbaceous 

community dominated by annual 

herbs and grasses. Germination and 

growth begin with winter rains, often 

continuing even when inundated. 

Rising spring temperatures evaporate 

the pools, leaving concentric bands 

of vegetation that colorfully encircle 

the drying pool. 

Low 

Plants  

Atriplex cordulata heartscale 1B.2 This species occurs in Chenopod 

scrubland and grassland habitats, but 

it also is known to occur in wet areas.  

It is most common on alkaline soils. 

It flowers between May and October, 

and it ranges in elevation from 1 to 

1,000 feet.  

Low 

Atriplex depressa brittlescale 1B.2 This species occurs in Chenopod 

scrubland, grassland, and alkali sink 

habitats, but it also is known to occur 

in wet areas. It flowers from April to 

October, and it ranges in elevation 

from 1 to 1050 feet. 

Low 

Atriplex joaquinana San Joaquin 

spearscale 

1B.2 This species occurs in Chenopod 

scrub, meadows and seeps, playas, 

and valley and foothill grassland. It 

flowers from April to October and 

ranges in elevation from sea level to 

2,740 feet. 

Low 

Atriplex minuscula 

 

lesser saltscale 

 

1B.1 This species occurs in Chenopod 

scrubland, grassland, and alkali sink 

Low 



 MEMO PAGE 7 OF 24 

 

 
 

Scientific Name Common Name Status Habitat Requirements 

Potential 

for 

Occurrence 

habitats, but it also is known to occur 

in wet areas.  It is most common on 

sandy soils in alkaline areas.  It 

flowers between May and October, 

and it ranges in elevation from 1 to 

330 feet. 

Atriplex persistens vernal pool 

smallscale 

1B.2 This species is restricted to alkaline 

vernal pools on the floor of the San 

Joaquin Valley and is endemic to 

California.  It is most common in 

northern Claypan soils.  It flowers 

between July and September, and it 

ranges in elevation from 25 to 345 

feet. 

Low 

Atriplex subtilis subtle orache 1B.2 This species occurs in Chenopod 

scrubland, grassland, and alkali sink 

habitats, but it also is known to occur 

in wet areas.  It flowers from June to 

August, and it ranges in elevation 

from 130 to 330 feet. 

Low 

California 

macrophylla 

round-leaved 

filaree 

1B.1 This species occurs in Cismontane 

woodland, valley and foothill 

grassland, on clay soils. It flowers 

from March to May, and it ranges in 

elevation from 49 to 3,937 feet. 

Low 

Castilleja campestris 

ssp. succulenta 

succulent owl's-

clover 

FT, CE, 

1B.2 

This species occurs in the margins of 

vernal pools, swales and some 

seasonal wetlands, often on acidic 

soils. It flowers from April to May, 

and it ranges in elevation from 80 to 

2,300 feet. 

Low 

Chamaesyce hooveri 

 

Hoover's spurge 

 

FT, 

1B.2 

This species occurs only in vernal 

pools.  It flowers from May to 

October, and it ranges in elevation 

from 1 to 650 feet. 

Low 

Clarkia rostrata beaked clarkia 1B.3 This species occurs in Cismontane 

woodland, and valley and foothill 

grasslands. It flowers from April to 

May, and it ranges in elevation from 

196 to 1,640 feet. 

Low 

Delphinium 

recurvatum 

recurved  larkspur 1B.2 This species is commonly found in 

chenopod scrub, valley and foothill 

grassland and cismontane woodland. 

It is most common on sandy or clay 

alkaline soils.  It flowers from March 

to May, and it ranges in elevation 

from 10 to 2,592 feet. 

Low 

Eryngium 

racemosum 

Delta button-celery CE, 

1B.1 

This species occurs in riparian scrub, 

clay soils on sparsely vegetated 

margins of seasonally flooded flood 

Low 



 MEMO PAGE 8 OF 24 

 

 
 

Scientific Name Common Name Status Habitat Requirements 

Potential 

for 

Occurrence 

plains.  It flowers from June to 

September, and it ranges in elevation 

from 15 to 75 feet. 

Eryngium 

spinosepalum 

Spiny-sepaled 

button-celery 

1B.2 This species is associated with vernal 

pools and depressions within 

grasslands. It flowers from April to 

May, and it ranges in elevation from 

330 to 840 feet.  

Low 

Lagophylla 

dichotoma 

forked hare-leaf 1B.1 This species occurs in Cismontane 

woodland, and valley and foothill 

grassland, occasionally on clay soils. 

It flowers from April to May, and it 

ranges in elevation from 147 to 1,100 

feet. 

Low 

Lasthenia glabrata 

ssp. coulteri 

Coulter's goldfields 1B.1 This species is found in coastal 

marshes and swamps, and playas and 

vernal pools in the interior of 

California.  It flowers from February 

to June, and ranges in elevation range 

from sea level to 4,002 feet. 

Low 

Lepidium latipes 

var. heckardii 

Heckard’s pepper-

grass 

1B.2 This species is found in valley and 

foothill grasslands on alkaline flats. It 

flowers from March to May and it 

ranges in elevation from 0 to 656 

feet. 

Low 

Monardella 

leucocephala 

Merced monardella 1A This species is found in valley and 

foothill grasslands on sandy, mesic 

soil. It flowers from May to August 

and ranges in elevation from 115 to 

328 feet. 

Low 

Navarretia 

nigelliformis ssp. 

radians 

shining navarretia 1B.2 This species occurs in Cismontane 

woodland, valley and foothill 

grassland and in vernal pools, 

occasionally on clay soils. It flowers 

from April to July, and it ranges in 

elevation from 249 to 3,280 feet. 

Low 

Navarretia prostrata prostrate vernal 

pool navarretia 

1B.1 This species is found in coastal 

scrub, meadows and seeps, valley 

and foothill grassland on alkaline 

soils, and in vernal pools. It flowers 

from April to July and ranges in 

elevation from sea level to 3,970 feet. 

Low 

Neostapfia colusana Colusa grass FT, CE, 

1B.1 

This species occurs in vernal pools 

with adobe soils.  It is most common 

in alkali or acidic soils.  It flowers 

from May to July, and it ranges in 

elevation from 16 to 345 feet. 

Low 

Orcuttia inaequalis San Joaquin Valley 

Orcutt grass 

FT, CE, 

1B.1 

This species occurs in vernal pools.  

It is most common in acidic soils that 

vary in texture from clay to sandy 

Low 



 MEMO PAGE 9 OF 24 

 

 
 

Scientific Name Common Name Status Habitat Requirements 

Potential 

for 

Occurrence 

loam.  It flowers from May through 

August, and it ranges in elevation 

from 100 to 2,500 feet.   

Ocuttia pilosa hairy Orcutt grass FE, CE, 

1B.1 

This species occurs in vernal pools. It 

is most common in acidic and saline-

alkaline soils. It flowers from May to 

September, and it ranges in elevation 

from 75 to 375 feet. 

Low 

Sagittaria sanfordii Sanford's 

arrowhead 

1B.2 This species is endemic to California. 

It is occurs in sandy loam and clay 

soils.  It is found in riparian habitats, 

and prefers marshes or swamps.  It 

flowers from July to September, and 

it ranges in elevation from 10 to 100 

feet. 

Absent 

Sidalcea keckii Keck’s 

checkerbloom 

1B.1 This species occurs in Cismontane 

woodland, and valley and foothill 

grassland on serpentine and clay 

soils. It flowers from April to June, 

and it ranges in elevation from 246 to 

2,132 feet. 

Absent 

Tuctoria greenei Greene's tuctoria FE, 

1B.1 

This species occurs in small or 

shallow vernal pools or the early 

drying sections of large, deep vernal 

pools in the Central Valley.  It is 

most common in Anita clay and 

Tuscan loam soils.  It flowers from 

May to July, and it ranges in 

elevation from 110 to 440 feet. 

Low 

Invertebrates  

Branchinecta 

conservatio 

 

Conservancy fairy 

shrimp 

 

FE Endemic to the grasslands of the 

northern two-thirds of the central 

valley; found in large, turbid pools. 

Inhabits astatic pools located in 

swales formed by old, braided 

alluvium; filled by winter/spring 

rains, last until June. 

Low 

Branchinecta 

longiantenna 

 

longhorn fairy 

shrimp 

 

FE Endemic to the eastern margin of the 

central coast mountains, found 

seasonally in astatic grassland vernal 

pools. Inhabits small, clear-water 

depressions in sandstone and clear-

to-turbid clay/grass-bottomed pools 

in shallow swales. 

Low 

Branchinecta lynchi 

 

vernal pool fairy 

shrimp 

 

FT Vernal pool fairy shrimp occur in a 

variety of vernal pool habitats from 

small, clear sandstone rock pools to 

large, turbid, alkaline, grassland 

valley floor pools. 

Low 

Branchinecta midvalley fairy G2, S2 Lives in vernal pools, vernal swales, Low 



 MEMO PAGE 10 OF 24 

 

 
 

Scientific Name Common Name Status Habitat Requirements 

Potential 

for 

Occurrence 

mesovallensis shrimp and other ephemeral water bodies; 

sometimes in roadside puddles.  This 

species generally requires shallow 

vernal pools with low to moderate 

dissolved salts. Commonly on 

"riverbank" geologic formations and 

on low terrace, basin rim, and 

volcanic mudflow landforms at low 

elevations with low gradients. 

Desmocerus 

californicus 

dimorphus 

Valley elderberry 

longhorn beetle 

FT Valley elderberry longhorn beetles 

are associated with elderberry bushes 

(Sambucus spp.) in the Central 

Valley.   

Absent 

Lepidurus packardi 

 

vernal pool tadpole 

shrimp  

 

FE Inhabits vernal pools and swales, 

commonly found in grass bottomed 

swales of unplowed grasslands in the 

Sacramento Valley. Some pools are 

mud-bottomed & highly turbid. 

Low 

Linderiella 

occidentalis 

California 

linderiella 

G2G3, 

S2S3 

Found in a variety of natural, and 

artificial, seasonally ponded habitat 

types including: vernal pools, swales, 

ephemeral drainages,  stock ponds, 

reservoirs, ditches, backhoe pits, and 

ruts caused by vehicular activities. 

Low 

Lytta molesta Molestan blister 

beetle 

G2, S2 This species occurs in annual 

grassland, foothill woodland, and 

atriplex scrub, and dried vernal 

pools. Adults are herbivorous, with 

many species feeding mostly on 

flowers, but some feed on foliage. 

Low 

Fish  

Hypomesus 

transpacificus 

Delta smelt FE, CT Delta smelt are found only in the 

Sacramento and San Joaquin 

estuaries of the San Francisco Bay. 

Occurs primarily in main water 

bodies and sloughs of the Delta and 

Suisun Bay. Not directly associated 

with small stream systems. 

Absent 

Mylopharodon 

conocephalus 

 

hardhead 

 

CSC This small fish inhabits deep pools in 

slow moving streams and rivers in 

the San Joaquin and Sacramento 

Valleys from Modoc County in the 

north to Kern County in the south.   

Absent 

Oncorhynchus 

mykiss 

Central Valley 

steelhead 

FT This species inhabits relatively clear 

water drainages. It occurs in stream 

and rivers with connections with the 

San Joaquin River.  The species 

requires access to natal streams. 

Absent 



 MEMO PAGE 11 OF 24 

 

 
 

Scientific Name Common Name Status Habitat Requirements 

Potential 

for 

Occurrence 

Oncorhynchus 

tshawytscha 

 

Central Valley 

spring-run chinook 

salmon  

 

FT Few wild spawning populations 

remain in the Sacramento River 

system, California; native 

populations extirpated in San Joaquin 

River drainage; dams block spawning 

habitat, and remaining spawning 

habitat is degraded by human 

activities. 

Absent 

Oncorhynchus 

tshawytscha 

 

winter-run chinook 

salmon, 

Sacramento River  

 

FE, CE, These anadromous fish spawn in 

streams of the Sacramento and 

Joaquin river systems in California 

from July through August; threatened 

by habitat degradation, reduced water 

quality, loss of riparian and estuarine 

habitat, and the detrimental impacts 

of hatchery fishes. 

Absent 

Amphibians  

Ambystoma 

californiense 

 

California tiger 

salamander 

FT, CT, 

CSC 

California tiger salamanders occur in 

natural ephemeral pools or ponds that 

mimic them, that remain inundated 

for 12 weeks or more.  They require 

nearby upland habitat containing 

small mammal burrows or crevices 

that provide refugia.   

Low 

Lithobates pipiens northern leopard 

frog 

CSC This species inhabits grassland, wet 

meadows, potholes, forests, 

woodland, brushlands, springs, 

canals, bogs, marshes, and reservoirs. 

It generally prefers permanent water 

with abundant aquatic vegetation. It 

may also use grassy woodlands or 

hay fields in summer provided there 

is sufficient vegetative cover. 

Absent 

Rana aurora 

draytonii 

California red-

legged frog 

FT,  

CSC 

California red-legged frogs occur in 

small streams, ponds and marshes, 

preferably with dense shrubby 

vegetation such as cattails and 

willows near deep water pools. 

Absent 

Spea hammondii western spadefoot CSC Occurs primarily in grassland 

habitats, but can be found in valley-

foothill hardwood woodlands. Vernal 

pools are essential for breeding and 

egg-laying. 

Low 

Birds  

Agelaius tricolor 

 

tricolored blackbird 

 

 CE* Tricolored blackbirds live near fresh 

water, and prefer emergent wetland 

vegetation with tall, dense cattails or 

tules, but they also are found in 

thickets of willow, blackberry, wild 

rose, and tall herbs.  They forage in 

Potentially 

present as a 

forager 



 MEMO PAGE 12 OF 24 

 

 
 

Scientific Name Common Name Status Habitat Requirements 

Potential 

for 

Occurrence 

grassland and agricultural fields. 

Athene cunicularia burrowing owl CSC This species inhabits open annual or 

perennial grasslands, deserts and 

scrublands characterized by low-

growing vegetation. 

Potentially 

present 

Buteo regalis Ferruginous hawk  G4 

S3S4 

This hawk occurs in open areas, 

primarily prairies, plain and 

badlands. The species breeds in trees 

near streams or on steep slopes, 

sometimes on mounds in open desert. 

Potentially 

present as a 

forager 

Buteo swainsoni Swainson's hawk CT Swainson's hawks occur in riparian 

forests and other forested areas.  

They roost in a variety of trees and 

forage widely over forests, 

grasslands, and shrublands. They are 

easily disturbed by human activities. 

Potentially 

present as a 

forager 

Charadrius 

montanus 

Mountain plover SSC This bird inhabits plains and grassy 

or bare dirt fields.  It winters in the 

Central Valley and coastal valleys, in 

open short grasslands and plowed 

agricultural fields, where it forages 

for seed and grain. 

Low 

Falco columbarius Merlin MBTA This species can be found in coastal 

areas and along rivers and can nest in 

riparian vegetation and in small 

groves of deciduous trees planted as 

wind breaks. During migration 

Merlins stop in grasslands, open 

forests, and coastal areas. Merlins lay 

their eggs in abandoned nests in 

conifers or deciduous trees of 

semiopen habitats. 

Absent 

Haliaeetus 

leucocephalus 

Bald eagle CE, 

MBTA, 

BGEPA 

This species typically nests in 

forested areas adjacent to large 

bodies of water, staying away from 

heavily developed areas when 

possible. They may congregate for 

feeding around fish processing 

plants, dumps, and below dams 

where fish concentrate. For perching, 

Bald Eagles prefer tall, mature 

coniferous or deciduous trees that 

afford a wide view of the 

surroundings. Bald Eagles nest in 

tall, sturdy conifers that protrude 

above the forest canopy, providing 

easy flight access and good visibility. 

Potentially 

present as a 

seasonal 

forager 

  



 MEMO PAGE 13 OF 24 

 

 
 

Reptiles  

Emys marmorata 

 

western pond turtle 

 

CSC Western pond turtles can be found in 

ponds and small lakes with abundant 

vegetation; also found in marshes, 

slow moving streams, reservoirs, and 

brackish water. Require basking 

sites. 

Absent 

Gambelia sila blunt-nosed 

leopard lizard 

FE, CE, 

FP 

Blunt-nosed leopard lizards occur in 

sparsely vegetated alkali and desert 

scrub habitats, in areas of low 

topographic relief.  They seek cover 

in mammal burrows, under shrubs, or 

structures such as fence posts. 

Absent 

Phrynosoma 

blainvillii 

coast horned lizard G3G4, 

S3S4 

California horned lizards are found 

on sandy or alkaline soils, in alkali 

flats and playas, and in grassland 

habitats. 

Absent 

Thamnophis gigas giant garter snake FT, CT This species requires permanent or 

semi-permanent marshes and 

sloughs.  Prefers sloughs to be 

flooded in summer and dry in winter. 

Absent 

Mammals  

Antrozous pallidus 

 

pallid bat 

 

 CSC This bat is found in deserts, 

grasslands, shrublands, woodlands & 

forests. Most common in open, dry 

habitats with rocky areas for 

roosting. Roosts must protect bats 

from high temperatures. Very 

sensitive to disturbance of roosting 

sites. 

Low 

Dipodomys 

nitratoides exilis 

Fresno kangaroo 

rat 

FE, CE,  Fresno kangaroo rats historically 

occurred in alkali sink and open 

grassland habitats on the valley floor 

in Fresno County and portions of 

Tulare, Kings, and Madera counties.  

The last confirmed specimen was 

captured in 1992 and they may be 

extinct.   

Absent 

Dipodomys 

heermanni dixoni 

Merced kangaroo 

rat 

G3G4, 

S2S4 

A subspecies of kangaroo rat 

inhabiting the east side of the San 

Joaquin Valley (Lower Sonoran 

Zone). It was recorded at Snelling, 

near Merced Falls, and below 

Lagrange. It inhabits open sandy or 

dusty places.  

Low 

Eumops perotis 

californicus 

western mastiff bat CSC Western mastiff bats are found in 

many open, semi-arid to arid 

habitats, including conifer and 

deciduous woodlands, coastal scrub, 

grasslands, and chaparral. They roost 

in crevices on cliff faces, high 

buildings, trees, and tunnels. 

Low 



 MEMO PAGE 14 OF 24 

 

 
 

Lasiurus blossevillii 

 

western red bat 

 

CSC Roosts primarily in trees, 2-40 feet 

above ground, from sea level up 

through mixed conifer forests. 

Prefers riparian habitat edges with 

walnuts, oaks, willows, cottonwoods, 

and sycamores where they roost, and 

mosaics with trees protected from 

above and open below with open 

areas for foraging.  

Low 

Lasiurus cinereus hoary bat G5, S4 The hoary bat lives in forests of the 

eastern U.S. and in arid deserts of the 

Southwest, but is most abundant in 

the forests and croplands of the 

Plains states and in forests of the 

Pacific Northwest. Diverse forest 

habitats with a mixture of forest and 

small open areas that provide edges 

seem ideal for this species. 

Low 

Myotis yumanensis Yuma myotis G5, S4 This bat is often found near 

reservoirs and roosts in buildings, 

trees, mines, caves, bridges, and rock 

crevices.  Maternity colonies are 

active between May and July. 

Low 

Perognathus 

inornatus 

San Joaquin pocket 

mouse 

G2G3, 

S2S3 

The San Joaquin pocket mouse lives 

in arid annual grasslands, oak 

savannah and saltbush scrub in 

friable soils. It is endemic to the San 

Joaquin Valley region. 

Low 

Taxidea taxus 

 

American Badger CSC Most abundant in drier open stages of 

most shrub, forest, and herbaceous 

habitats, with friable soils. Needs 

sufficient food and open, 

uncultivated ground. Preys on 

burrowing rodents and digs burrows. 

Potentially 

present 

Vulpes macrotis 

mutica 

 

San Joaquin Kit 

fox 

FE, CT Found in annual grasslands or grassy 

open stages with scattered shrubby 

vegetation. Need loose-textured 

sandy soils for burrowing, and 

suitable prey base. 

Potentially 

present 

*On December 3, 2014 the California Fish and Game Commission voted 3-2 to enact emergency protections for tricolored 

blackbird in response to a petition. The commission has protected the species under the California Endangered Species Act 

(CESA) for 180 days. 

 

Sources: 

California Department of Fish and Wildlife. 2015. California Natural Diversity Data Base 

California Native Plant Society (CNPS). 2015. Inventory of Rare and Endangered Plants, Rare Plant Scientific Advisory 

Committee. 

United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015. Critical Habitat Portal, Critical Habitat Map, United States Fish and 

Wildlife Service, Sacramento, CA. 

United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015 Federal Endangered and Threatened Species List, Sacramento Fish 

and Wildlife Office. 

 

USGS 7.5 Minute Quadrangles: 

Atwater, Cressey, Winton, Yosemite Lake, Arena, Merced, Turner Ranch, Sandy Mush, El Nido 

 



 MEMO PAGE 15 OF 24 

 

 
 

Abbreviations: 

FP: Fully Protected  

FE Federal Endangered Species 

FT Federal Threatened Species 

MBTA Species Protected Under the Auspices of the Migratory Bird treaty Act 

CE California Endangered Species 

CT California Threatened Species 

CSC California Department of Fish and Game Species of Special Concern 

1B California Native Plant Society List 1B Species-Plants Categorized as Rare, Threatened, or Endangered in California and 

Elsewhere 

1B.1 California Native Plant Society List 1B Species-Plants Categorized as Rare, Threatened, or Endangered in California and 

Elsewhere; Seriously Threatened in California 

1B.2 California Native Plant Society List 1B Species-Plants Categorized as Rare, Threatened, or Endangered in California and 

Elsewhere; Fairly Threatened in California 

 

CDFW S Rank Rating System 

1: Extremely endangered 

2: Endangered 

3: Restricted Range 

4: Apparently Secure 

5: Demonstrably Secure 

 

CDFW Global Rank System 

G1 :  Less than 6 viable element occurrences (EOs) OR less than 1,000 individuals OR less than 2,000 acres. 

G2 : 6-20 EOs OR 1,000-3,000 individuals OR 2,000-10,000 acres. 

G3 : 21-100 EOs OR 3,000-10,000 individuals OR 10,000-50,000 acres. 

G4 : Apparently secure. 

G5 = Population or stand demonstrably secure to ineradicable due to being commonly found in the world. 

 

 



 MEMO PAGE 16 OF 24 
 

 
 

 

 

REGIONAL LOCATION, MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY 
PROJECT SITE, MERCED COUNTY, CA 

Figure 
1 



 MEMO PAGE 17 OF 24 

 

 
 

 

 

LOCAL VICINITY, MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY 
PROJECT SITE, MERCED COUNTY, CA 

Figure 
2 



 MEMO PAGE 18 OF 24 
 

 
 

 

 

NWI AND HYDROLOGY, MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY 
PROJECT SITE, MERCED COUNTY, CA 

Figure 
3 



 MEMO PAGE 19 OF 24 

 

 
 

 

 CNDDB RECORDS WITHIN 10 MILES OF THE 
MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY PROJECT SITE, 

MERCED COUNTY, CA 

Figure 
4A 



 MEMO PAGE 20 OF 24 

 

 
 

 

 CNDDB RECORDS WITHIN 10 MILES OF THE 
MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY PROJECT SITE, 

MERCED COUNTY, CA 

Figure 
4B 



 MEMO PAGE 21 OF 24 

 

 
 

Inse 

 
CNDDB RECORDS WITHIN 10 MILES OF THE 

MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY PROJECT SITE, 
MERCED COUNTY, CA 

Figure 
4C 



 MEMO PAGE 22 OF 24 

 

 
 

 

 USFWS CRITICAL HABITAT UNITS WITHIN 10 MILES OF 
THE MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY PROJECT SITE, 

MERCED COUNTY, CA 

Figure 
5A 



 MEMO PAGE 23 OF 24 

 

 
 

 

 USFWS CRITICAL HABITAT UNITS WITHIN 10 MILES OF 
THE MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY PROJECT SITE, 

MERCED COUNTY, CA 

Figure 
5B 



 MEMO PAGE 24 OF 24 

 

 
 

 



APPENDIX C 
 
  













APPENDIX D 
 
 
 





zPhoto here

BUHACH ROAD/JUNIPER AVENUE

NWC/NWC2/SWC

COMMERCIAL PROJECT
City of Atwater, CA

July 10, 2015

REVISED FOCUSED

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY

arch beach
C  O  N  S  U  L  T  I  N  G



REVISED  
FOCUSED TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 
 
 
 

BUHACH ROAD/JUNIPER AVENUE 
NWC/NWC2/SWC COMMERCIAL 
PROJECT  
 
 
City of Atwater, California 
 
   

Prepared by 

 

Project No. 14-034 
July 10, 2015 

April 24, 2015 
December 10, 2014 (original submittal) 

 
 

Contact 
Arch Beach Consulting 

1155 Camino Del Mar, #125 
Del Mar, California  92014 

office phone/fax (858) 925-6190 
mobile phone (949) 637-9007 

www.archbeachconsulting.com 



  
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page i 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
1.0  INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................................... 1 

Purpose and Objectives of the Traffic Study ............................................................................... 1 
Site Location and Study Area ............................................................................................................ 1 
Methodology ............................................................................................................................................. 3 
Significance Criteria ................................................................................................................................ 3 
Traffic Analysis Scenarios ...................................................................................................................... 4 

 
2.0  PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND TRAFFIC GENERATION .................................................................. 6 

Project Size and Description ............................................................................................................... 6 
Project Traffic ........................................................................................................................................... 10 
Trip Distribution and Assignment ..................................................................................................... 12 

 
3.0  EXISTING CONDITIONS ANALYSIS .................................................................................................... 15 

Existing Traffic Conditions ................................................................................................................... 15 
Existing plus Project ................................................................................................................................ 19 

 
4.0  OPENING YEAR 2017 TRAFFIC CONDITIONS ............................................................................... 24 

Opening Year 2017 Baseline Condition ....................................................................................... 24 
Opening Year 2017 plus Project ...................................................................................................... 26 

 
5.0  PROJECT ACCESS, CIRCULATION AND PARKING...................................................................... 31 

Project Access and Driveway Queuing ...................................................................................... 31 
Parking ......................................................................................................................................................... 34 

 
6.0  CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................. 36 

Project Trip Generation ....................................................................................................................... 36 
Existing plus Project ................................................................................................................................ 36 
Opening Year 2017 plus Project ...................................................................................................... 37 
Project Access, Circulation and Parking ..................................................................................... 39 

 
7.0  REFERENCES ............................................................................................................................................... 41 



  
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page ii 

 

LIST OF TABLES 
Table A – Level of Service Definitions ......................................................................................................... 3 
Table B – Level of Service Descriptions ....................................................................................................... 4 
Table C – Project Trip Generation Estimates ........................................................................................... 11 
Table D – Existing Condition Intersection Level of Service Summary ................................................... 16 
Table E – Existing plus Project Intersection Level of Service Summary ................................................ 21 
Table F – Opening Year 2017 Baseline Intersection Level of Service Summary ................................. 24 
Table G – Opening Year 2017 plus Project Intersection Level of Service Summary ......................... 28 
Table H – Project Driveway Queuing Analysis Summary ....................................................................... 32 
Table I – Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue Queuing Analysis Summary ................................................. 33 
 
LIST OF FIGURES 
Figure 1 – Project Site Location and Study Area ...................................................................................... 2 
Figure 2 – Project Site Plan............................................................................................................................ 7 
Figure 3 – Project Net Trip Distribution and Assignment ......................................................................... 13 
Figure 4 – Project Total Driveway Trip Assignment .................................................................................. 14 
Figure 5 – Existing Traffic Controls and Lane Geometrics ...................................................................... 17 
Figure 6 – Existing AM and PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes .................................................................... 18 
Figure 8 – Opening Year 2017 Baseline AM and PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes .............................. 25 
Figure 9 – Opening Year 2017 plus Project AM and PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes......................... 27 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix A – ITE Internal Trip Capture Worksheets 
Appendix B – Raw Traffic Volume Count Sheets 
Appendix C – Intersection Level of Service Worksheets 
Appendix D – Signal Warrant Worksheets 
Appendix E – Traffic Data for Proposed Project at 55% Development (NWC and SWC) and No 

Development of NWC2 
Appendix F –  Queuing Analysis Worksheets  
 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 1 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
The following presents the Revised Focused Traffic Impact Study (TIS) prepared by Arch Beach 
Consulting for the Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue Northwest Corner (NWC), Northwest Corner 2 
(NWC 2), and Southwest Corner (SWC) commercial project (proposed project) in the City of 
Atwater (City) in Merced County (County).  The proposed project is the development of 249,250 
square feet (SF) of retail/commercial uses on three parcels on the west side of Buhach Road at 
Juniper Avenue (110,050 SF on 12.5 acres on NWC, 58,100 SF on 7.73 acres on NWC 2, and 81,100 
SF on 8.6 acres on SWC).  The project site is bounded by single-family residential subdivisions to the 
north, south, and west; and, single-family homes and Buhach Colony High School to the east.   
This Focused TIS has been prepared consistent with the City’s General Plan Circulation Element.  
The Lead Agency of the proposed project is the City of Atwater.   

Purpose and Objectives of the Traffic Study 
The purpose of this traffic study is to evaluate the traffic and circulation impacts of the proposed 
project.  The study objectives of this traffic study include: 

 Documentation of existing traffic conditions and future traffic conditions corresponding 
to the “Existing plus Project” scenario (consisting of existing year 2014 plus project buildout 
conditions),  and “Opening Year” (2017 consisting of existing plus ambient growth plus 
cumulative projects). 

 Determination of additional circulation system features and system management actions 
needed to achieve the City’s levels of service requirements with implementation of the 
proposed project at its buildout. 

Site Location and Study Area 
Figure 1 illustrates the project site location and study area.  Regional access to the project site is 
provided by Buhach Road which has direct access to Santa Fe Drive (County Road J7) to the 
north, and State Route 99 (SR 99) to the south.  Local access to the site is provided by Juniper 
Avenue – Avenue Two which bisects the project site.  Per discussion with City staff, the study area 
intersections are as follows: 

1. Augusta Lane – proposed NWC driveway/Juniper Avenue 
2. Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue – Avenue Two 
3. Buhach Road/Buhach Colony High School parking lot driveway 
4. Buhach Road/proposed NWC driveway (proposed intersection) 
5. Buhach Road/proposed NWC 2 driveway (proposed intersection) 

All study area intersections are within the jurisdiction of the City. 
  









 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 3 

 

Methodology 

Intersections 
The study area intersections were analyzed under the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) 
“Operations” methodology using the Synchro level of service (LOS) software program which is 
consistent with the HCM.  The HCM method determines the control delay a driver may experience 
at the intersection.  In addition, Synchro provided the 95th percentile (design) queues for the 
approach lanes of the intersections. 

The degree of congestion at an intersection is described by the level of service, which ranges from 
LOS A to LOS F, with LOS A representing free-flow conditions with little delay and LOS F representing 
over-saturated traffic flow throughout the peak hour.  A complete description of the meaning of 
level of service can be found in the Highway Research Board Special Report 209, Highway 
Capacity Manual (HCM).  Brief descriptions of the six levels of service for signalized and 
unsignalized intersections based on the HCM methodology are shown in Table A.  Table B below 
provides detailed descriptions of each level of service. 

Table A – Level of Service Definitions  

Level of Service 
Control Delay in Seconds 

(signalized) 
Control Delay in Seconds 

(unsignalized) 
A 0.0 – 10.0 seconds  0.0 – 10.0 seconds  
B 10.1 – 20.0 seconds 10.1 – 15.0 seconds 
C 20.1 – 35.0 seconds 15.1 – 25.0 seconds 
D 35.1 – 55.0 seconds 25.1 – 35.0 seconds 
E 55.1 – 80.0 seconds 35.1 – 50.0 seconds 
F 80.1 seconds or greater 50.1 seconds or greater 

 

Significance Criteria 
Standards applied to the analysis of significant project impacts were determined based on the 
City’s General Plan Circulation Element LOS policy of LOS D as the minimum acceptable LOS.  The 
thresholds to determine significant traffic impacts for purposes of this project are as follows: 

Signalized Intersections 
Any study intersection that is operating at LOS A, B, C, or D for any study scenario without project 
traffic in which the addition of project traffic causes the intersection to degrade to LOS E or F shall 
be mitigated so as to bring the intersection back to at least LOS D. 

Any study intersection that is operating at LOS E or F for any study scenario without project traffic 
shall be mitigated so as to bring the intersection back to the overall level of delay established prior 
to project traffic being added. 

Unsignalized Intersections 
An impact is considered significant if the study determines that one of the following conditions 
would occur at an unsignalized intersection: 

a) The addition of project related traffic causes the intersection to move from LOS D or 
better to LOS E or worse. 

OR 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 4 

 

Table B – Level of Service Descriptions 

LOS Description 

A No approach phase is fully utilized by traffic, and no vehicle waits longer than 
one red indication.  Typically, the approach appears quite open, turns are made 
easily, and nearly all drivers find freedom of operation. 

B This service level represents stable operation, where an occasional approach 
phase is fully utilized and a substantial number are nearing full use.  Many drivers 
begin to feel restricted within platoons of vehicles. 

C This level still represents stable operating conditions.  Occasionally drivers may 
have to wait through more than one red signal indication, and backups may 
develop behind turning vehicles.  Most drivers feel somewhat restricted, but not 
objectionably so. 

D This level encompasses a zone of increasing restriction approaching instability at 
the intersection.  Delays to approaching vehicles may be substantial during short 
peaks within the peak period; however, enough cycles with lower demand 
occur to permit periodic clearance of developing queues, thus preventing 
excessive backups. 

E Capacity occurs at the upper end of this service level.  It represents the most 
vehicles that any particular intersection approach can accommodate.  Full 
utilization of every signal cycle is seldom attained no matter how great the 
demand. 

F This level describes forced flow operations at low speeds, where volumes exceed 
capacity.  These conditions usually result from queues of vehicles backing up 
from a restriction downstream.  Speeds are reduced substantially, and stoppages 
may occur for short or long periods of time due to the congestion.  In the 
extreme case, both speed and volume can drop to zero. 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual (HCM 2010), Transportation Research Board, Washington, 
D.C., 2010. 

 
b) The project contributes additional traffic to an intersection that is already projected to 

operate at LOS E or F with background traffic. 
OR 
c) The intersection meets the peak hour traffic signal warrant after the addition of project 

traffic.  The Peak Hour signal warrant from the California Manual of Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices (MUTCD) will be used.  

Traffic Analysis Scenarios 

This traffic study analyzed the following traffic scenarios: 

Existing Condition 
Existing traffic volumes were collected at the study intersections in November 2014 during a typical 
weekday while the adjacent Buhach Colony High School (BCHS) was in regular session.  The 
existing traffic scenario constitutes the environmental setting in accordance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) analysis at the time that the hearing body reviews the 
proposed project. 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 5 

 

Existing plus Project Condition 
The Existing plus Project Condition traffic was developed by adding the proposed project traffic 
(at buildout) to the Existing (baseline) Condition.  This scenario was the basis for determining 
project-specific impacts and mitigation measures.  

Opening Year 2017 Baseline Condition 
The proposed project is anticipated to be constructed in several phases consistent with growth in 
the area.  However, at this time there are no known specific phases of development.  Therefore, 
for purposes of this analysis, the proposed project has been analyzed to be fully constructed and 
operational by year 2017.  Additional technical traffic analyses may be required in the future for 
specific development phases to determine the level of mitigation needed by that specific phase.  
This TIS would determine all the traffic mitigation measures needed if the proposed project was 
built out by the end of 2017. 

Opening year traffic in this scenario was forecast for 2017 by applying an annual ambient growth 
rate to the existing traffic volumes.  In addition to the ambient growth rate, traffic from approved 
and pending projects (i.e. cumulative projects) in the project’s vicinity (if any) has been added.   

Opening Year 2017 plus Project Condition 
The Opening Year 2017 plus Project Condition traffic was developed by adding the proposed 
project traffic (at buildout) to the Opening Year Baseline Condition.  This scenario was also the 
basis for determining project-specific impacts and mitigation measures.  

 

 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 6 

 

2.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND TRAFFIC GENERATION 
The following section provides information on the permanent operation of the proposed project 
relative to the local and regional circulation network.   

Project Size and Description 
Figure 2 illustrates the site plan of the proposed project.  The proposed project is the development 
of 249,250 square feet (SF) of retail/commercial uses on three parcels on the west side of Buhach 
Road at Juniper Avenue (110,050 SF on 12.5 acres on NWC, 58,100 SF on 7.73 acres on NWC 2, 
and 81,100 SF on 8.6 acres on SWC).  The currently vacant project site is bounded by single-family 
residential subdivisions to the north, south, and west; and, single-family homes and Buhach Colony 
High School to the east.  

Northwest Corner Parcel (NWC) 
The NWC parcel of the project site is proposed to be developed with 110,050 SF of 
retail/commercial uses, specifically including the following: 

 Three Major retail tenants totaling 90,000 SF (45,000 SF, 20,000 SF and 25,000 SF) 
 6,250 SF of retail/commercial uses in one building 
 Three fast-foot restaurants with drive-through lanes (3,400 SF, 3,900 SF, and 3,500 SF) 
 A gas station with 12 fueling positions (6 pumps), 3,000 SF convenience store, and car wash 

The parking requirements for the proposed project were based on the City’s Municipal Code 
Parking Requirements (Chapter 17.63) for commercial uses (Section 17.63.040 – Commercial Uses) 
for the specific uses: 

 Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks and post offices:  
one space for each 250 square feet of floor area. 

 Restaurants:  for cafes, restaurants and other businesses in the sale and consumption of 
food or beverages, one space for each three seats or one space per 35 square feet of 
(seating1) floor area, whichever is greater. 

Based on the City’s parking requirements, the NWC parcel would require the following number of 
parking spaces: 

 Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks and post offices:  
99,250 SF ÷ 250 SF = 397 spaces 

 Restaurants:  10,800 SF X 35% = 3,780 SF (seating area) ÷ 35 SF = 108 spaces 
 Total parking requirement = 505 spaces 

Per the site plan, the NWC parcel would provide 597 spaces.  Therefore, the NWC parcel would 
be consistent with the City Code and would have surplus of 92 spaces. 

Site Access 
Per the site plan shown in Figure 2, driveway access to the NWC parcel would be provided from 
the following four driveways:   

  

                                                 
1 Restaurant square footage is based on seating area, not gross floor area.  Typically, a restaurant parking ratio is one 
space per 100 square feet, or one space per three seats, whichever is greater.  The City’s rate assumes that the seating 
area is approximately 35 percent of the gross floor area. 







 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 8 

 

 Full-access, unsignalized driveway on Buhach Road with the following lane geometrics: 
o New eastbound left turn lane (driveway egress). 
o New eastbound right turn lane (driveway egress). 
o New single westbound receiving lane (driveway ingress). 
o Ingress would be provided by an existing northbound left turn lane (storage 

pocket), and the existing southbound No. 2 through lane would become a shared 
through plus right turn lane. 

o U-turns on the existing northbound left turn lane would be prohibited as the existing 
southbound roadway width does not meet the City’s 37 foot U-turn width standard. 

 Right turn in/out only driveway on Buhach Road. 

 Right turn in/out only driveway on Juniper Avenue. 

 Full-access, unsignalized driveway at the existing intersection of Augusta Lane/Juniper 
Avenue with the following lane geometrics: 

o Installation of a new traffic signal when warranted per the MUTCD signal warrants. 
o New southbound shared left plus through lane (driveway egress). 
o New southbound right turn lane (driveway egress). 
o New eastbound left turn lane with a 150 foot storage pocket and 120 foot bay 

taper (driveway ingress). 
o New single northbound receiving lane (driveway ingress). 
o Ingress would also be provided by converting the existing northbound approach 

(a shared left and right turn lane) to a shared left plus through plus right turn lane; 
and, the existing westbound No. 2 through lane would become a shared through 
plus right turn lane. 

o U-turns on the existing westbound left turn lane would be prohibited as the existing 
eastbound roadway width does not meet the City’s 37 foot U-turn width standard. 

In addition, the proposed project will construct the following improvements at the intersection of 
Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue: 

 Widen the southbound approach and construct a new dedicated right turn lane with a 
150 foot storage pocket. 

Additional access to the NWC parcel would also be provided from three drive aisles connecting 
to the NWC 2 parcel which also has a driveway proposed on Buhach Road. 

Northwest Corner 2 Parcel (NWC 2) 
The NWC 2 parcel of the project site is proposed to be developed with 58,100 SF of 
retail/commercial uses, specifically including the following: 

 Two Major retail tenants totaling 45,000 SF (25,000 SF and 20,000 SF) 
 Two 4,800 SF retail buildings totaling 9,600 SF 
 A 3,500 SF fast-foot restaurant with drive-through lane 

Based on the City’s parking requirements, the NWC 2 parcel would require the following number 
of parking spaces: 

 Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks and post offices:  
54,600 SF ÷ 250 SF = 218 spaces 

 Restaurants:  3,500 SF X 35% = 3,780 SF (seating area) ÷ 35 SF = 35 spaces 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 9 

 

 Total parking requirement = 253 spaces 

Per the site plan, the NWC 2 parcel would provide 346 spaces.  Therefore, the NWC 2 parcel would 
be consistent with the City Code and would have surplus of 93 spaces. 

Site Access 
Per the site plan, driveway access to the NWC 2 parcel would be provided from one full-access, 
unsignalized driveway on Buhach Road with the following lane geometrics: 

 Full-access, unsignalized driveway on Buhach Road with the following lane geometrics: 
o New eastbound left turn lane (driveway egress). 
o New eastbound right turn lane (driveway egress). 
o New single westbound receiving lane (driveway ingress). 
o Ingress would be provided by an existing northbound left turn lane (storage 

pocket), and the existing southbound No. 2 through lane would become a shared 
through plus right turn lane. 

o U-turns on the existing northbound left turn lane would be prohibited as the existing 
southbound roadway width does not meet the City’s 37 foot U-turn width standard. 

Additional access to the NWC 2 parcel would also be provided from three drive aisles connecting 
to the NWC parcel which also has two driveways proposed on Buhach Road, and two driveways 
proposed on Juniper Avenue. 

Southwest Corner Parcel (SWC) 
The SWC parcel of the project site is proposed to be developed with 81,100 SF of retail/commercial 
uses, specifically including the following: 

 41,200 SF grocery store 
 14,000 SF pharmacy/retail store 
 10,000 SF Major retail store 
 9,500 SF of retail/commercial uses in one building 
 Two fast-foot restaurants with drive-through lanes (both at 3,200 SF) 

Based on the City’s parking requirements, the SWC parcel would require the following number of 
parking spaces: 

 Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks and post offices:  
74,700 SF ÷ 250 SF = 299 spaces 

 Restaurants:  6,400 SF X 35% = 2,240 SF (seating area) ÷ 35 SF = 64 spaces 
 Total parking requirement = 363 spaces 

Per the site plan, the SWC parcel would provide 363 spaces.  Therefore, the SWC parcel would be 
consistent with the City Code. 

Site Access 
Per the site plan, driveway access to the SWC parcel would be provided from four driveways:  
three right turn in/out only driveways on Buhach Road; and, one right turn in/out only driveway on 
Juniper Avenue.   

In addition, the proposed project will construct the following improvements at the intersection of 
Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue: 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 10 

 

 Widen the eastbound approach and construct a new dedicated right turn lane with a 150 
foot storage pocket. 

 Widen the westbound return lane approach on Juniper Avenue, at its intersection with 
Buhach Road, to allow for U-turns at the eastbound left turn lane (to go westbound on 
Juniper Avenue).   

Project Traffic 
This section describes the trip generation, distribution, and assignment of the proposed project’s 
traffic volumes on the study area transportation network facilities.   

Trip Generation 
Weekday daily, a.m. and p.m. peak hour trip generation estimates for the proposed project were 
developed using trip rates and equations (for the Shopping Center uses) provided in the Institute 
of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation, 9th Edition.  Trips for the specified gas station with 
convenience mart and car wash, supermarket, and pharmacy uses were generated based on 
their respective trip rates.  Unspecified retail/commercial land uses were assumed under the 
“Shopping Center” trip rates (equations). 

Pass-by Trips 
Pass-by trip reductions for retail/commercial uses allow for a reduction of project trips at all off-site 
intersections as it assumes that existing and/or baseline (background) traffic, already traveling on 
the street network, would deviate from their pattern and create a pass-by trip to a retail use.  For 
example, a driver that is already traveling from his office, back to his home (which is called the 
“primary” trip), may now decide to pass-by a retail use (e.g., to purchase goods, or obtain 
services, like banks or dry cleaners) now that this use is on his way home.  At that point, his existing 
trip through the street network is now a pass-by trip to the retail use, and not a creation of a new 
trip on the street network by the retail use.  Pass-by trip reduction percentages for the specific 
retail/commercial uses were obtained from ITE’s Trip Generation Handbook (2nd Edition, 2004).   

Internal Trip Capture 
Internal trip capture reduction rates assume that a certain percentage of project-related trips 
between two or more complementary land uses would be “captured” on-site thereby reducing 
the number of new trips generated by the project.  In other words, the number and variety of retail 
and restaurant uses on the proposed project site would likely have the same patrons visiting each 
site which would not require a new trip destined to each visited land use.  For example, one patron 
to the proposed retail center would make one (inbound and outbound) trip to the site to shop at 
one or more retail uses then, have a meal at a restaurant use on site.  This reduces the potential 
for two or more additional trips since the patron is going to multiple uses on the project site.  
Internal trip capture reduction percentages for each parcel were calculated based on the 
methodology also contained in ITE’s Trip Generation Handbook.  Internal trip capture worksheets 
are provided in Appendix A of this TIS.   

Summaries of the trip generation rates, pass-by trip percentages, internal trip capture reductions, 
and resulting vehicle trips for the proposed project are presented in Table C.    



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 11 

 

Table C – Project Trip Generation Estimates 

 
  

Daily In Out Total In Out Total
TRIP RATES
Shopping Center (ITE 820) ITE
Gas Station w/ Mart & Car Wash (ITE 946) 152.84 6.04 5.80 11.84 7.07 6.79 13.86
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Thru (ITE 934) 496.12 23.16 22.26 45.42 16.98 15.67 32.65
Pharmacy/Drugstore w/ Drive Thru (ITE 881) 96.91 1.79 1.66 3.45 4.96 4.96 9.91
Supermarket (ITE 850) 102.24 2.11 1.29 3.40 4.83 4.65 9.48
TRIP GENERATION
Northwest Corner Parcel
Shopping Center 96.250 TSF 6,624 94 58 152 280 304 584

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -629 -9 -5 -14 -53 -58 -111
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%) -779 -11 -7 -18 -59 -64 -123

subtotal 5,216 74 46 120 168 182 350
Gas Station w/ Mart & Car Wash 12 positions 1,834 72 70 142 85 81 166

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -174 -7 -7 -13 -16 -15 -32
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 47.4%/PM 42.8%)) -787 -31 -30 -61 -29 -28 -58

subtotal 873 34 33 68 39 38 77
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 10.800 TSF 5,358 250 240 491 183 169 353

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -509 -24 -23 -47 -35 -32 -67
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%) -1,817 -85 -82 -166 -57 -52 -109

subtotal 3,032 142 136 278 92 85 176
Total Trip Generation 13,817 417 368 785 548 554 1,103

Total Internal Trip Capture -1,313 -40 -35 -75 -104 -105 -210
Total Pass-by Trips -3,383 -127 -118 -245 -145 -145 -290

Total NET Trip Generation 9,121 250 215 465 299 304 603
Northwest Corner Parcel 2
Shopping Center 54.600 TSF 4,583 67 41 108 192 208 399

Internal Trip Capture (AM 4.5%/PM 9%) -206 -3 -2 -5 -17 -19 -36
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%) -569 -8 -5 -13 -45 -49 -95

subtotal 3,807 56 34 90 129 140 269
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 3.500 TSF 1,736 81 78 159 59 55 114

Internal Trip Capture (AM 4.5%/PM 9%) -78 -4 -4 -7 -5 -5 -10
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%) -621 -29 -28 -57 -21 -19 -40

subtotal 1,037 48 47 95 33 31 64
Total Trip Generation 6,319 148 119 267 251 263 514

Total Internal Trip Capture -284 -7 -5 -12 -23 -24 -46
Total Pass-by Trips -1,190 -37 -33 -70 -66 -68 -134

Total NET Trip Generation 4,844 104 81 184 163 171 333
Southwest Corner Parcel
Supermarket 41.200 TSF 4,212 87 53 140 199 191 391

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -316 -7 -4 -11 -30 -29 -59
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.8%/PM 27.5%) -536 -11 -7 -18 -47 -45 -91

subtotal 3,360 69 42 112 123 118 241
Pharmacy/Drrugstore w/ Drive Through 14.000 TSF 1,357 25 23 48 69 69 139

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -102 -2 -2 -4 -10 -10 -21
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 18.7%/PM 37.5%) -235 -4 -4 -8 -22 -22 -44

subtotal 1,020 19 17 36 37 37 74
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 6.400 TSF 3,175 148 142 291 109 100 209

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -238 -11 -11 -22 -16 -15 -31
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%) -1,101 -51 -49 -101 -35 -33 -68

subtotal 1,837 86 82 168 57 53 110
Shopping Center 19.500 TSF 2,347 36 22 58 96 104 200

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -176 -3 -2 -4 -14 -16 -30
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%) -282 -4 -3 -7 -21 -23 -44

subtotal 1,889 29 18 46 60 66 126
Total Trip Generation 11,091 296 241 537 473 465 939

Total Internal Trip Capture -832 -22 -18 -40 -71 -70 -141
Total Pass-by Trips -2,154 -71 -63 -134 -125 -123 -248

Total NET Trip Generation 8,105 203 160 362 277 273 550
Northwest and Southwest Corner Parcels

Total Trip Generation 31,227 861 727 1,588 1,273 1,282 2,555
Total Internal Trip Capture -2,429 -68 -58 -127 -198 -199 -397

Total Pass-by Trips -6,728 -235 -214 -449 -337 -335 -672
TOTAL PROJECT NET TRIP GENERATION 22,070 557 455 1,012 739 748 1,487

Notes:

* Trip rates and equations obtained from Trip Generation, 9th Edition , Institute of Transportation Engineers, 2012.
* Internal Trip Capture rate methodology based on ITE Trip Generation Manual, 9th Edition , 2012.  ITE had no AM data, the

AM internal trip capture rate was assumed to be one-half of the PM rate.
* Pass-by percentages based on rates/equations obtained from the Trip Generation Manual, 9th Edition , ITE, 2012.

  - Pass-by percentages have been determined for the Shopping Center use based on "adjacent street traffic".  The pass- 
    by percentages for the other uses have been adjusted based on the proportional relationship of the "average"
   pass-by percentage and the "adjacent street traffic" pass-by percentage.  Where ITE had no AM data, the AM pass-by
  percentage was assumed to be one-half of the PM percentage.  The pass-by adjustments are:
 - Shopping Center:  ITE PM average is 34%; and, adjusted to 26% per adjacent street traffic (a 24% reduction), therefore
   AM/PM adjusted pass-by percentages are 13% and 26%.
 - Gas Station:  ITE AM/PM average is 62% and 56%; and, adjusted to 47% and 43% per adjacent street traffic.
 - Fast-Food:  ITE AM/PM average is 49% and 50%; and, adjusted to 37% and 38% per adjacent street traffic.
 - Supermarket:  ITE PM average is 36%; and, adjusted to 28% per adjacent street traffic, therefore AM/PM adjusted
   pass-by percenatages are 14% and 28%.
 - Pharmacy:  ITE PM average is 49%; and, adjusted to 37% per adjacent street traffic, therefore AM/PM adjusted pass-by
   percentages are 19% and 37%.

fueling positions
per TSF
per TSF
per DU

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour
Land Use Size/Units

per TSF ITE equation used ITE equation used





 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 12 

 

According to the table, the NWC parcel would generate approximately 9,121 new daily trips, 465 
new a.m. peak hour trips (250 inbound and 215 outbound), and 603 new p.m. peak hour trips (299 
inbound and 304 outbound).  The NWC 2 parcel would generate approximately 4,844 new daily 
trips, 184 new a.m. peak hour trips (104 inbound and 81 outbound), and 334 new p.m. peak hour 
trips (163 inbound and 171 outbound).  The SWC parcel would generate approximately 8,105 new 
daily trips, 363 new a.m. peak hour trips (203 inbound and 160 outbound), and 550 new p.m. peak 
hour trips (277 inbound and 273 outbound).  Together, all three parcels would generate 
approximately 22,070 new daily trips, 1,012 new a.m. peak hour trips (557 inbound and 455 
outbound), and 1,487 new p.m. peak hour trips (739 inbound and 748 outbound). 

Trip Distribution and Assignment 
Regional and local trip distribution percentages for the proposed project were based on logical 
peak hour commute patterns.  Figure 3 illustrates the trip distribution percentages for the proposed 
project.   

The trip distribution percentages at each intersection were applied to the proposed project’s 
weekday a.m. and p.m. peak hour trip generation estimates to calculate the project trip 
assignment.  The resulting weekday a.m. and p.m. peak hour net trip assignments (which includes 
pass-by trip reductions) are also shown on Figure 3.  Figure 4 illustrates the total project trip 
assignment (total project trips minus internal trip capture, no pass-by reduction) at all project 
primary (full access) and secondary (right turn in/out only) driveways.  







 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 15 

 

3.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS ANALYSIS 
The following section describes the existing traffic conditions in the project study area.  Existing 
traffic volumes were collected for vehicles, pedestrians, and bicyclists at the study area 
intersections in November 2014 during a typical weekday while the adjacent Buhach Colony High 
School was in session.  This section describes the traffic conditions related to the Existing (baseline) 
Conditions and Existing plus Project. 

Existing Traffic Conditions 

Roadways 
Regional access to the project site is provided by Buhach Road which has direct access to Santa 
Fe Drive (County Road J7) to the north, and SR 99 to the south.  Local access to the site is provided 
by Juniper Avenue – Avenue Two which bisects the project site.  The following describes the 
roadways in the study area:   

Buhach Road  
Buhach Road is designated as a 4-lane Urban Major Arterial in the City’s Circulation Plan (Figure 
3-7 of the Circulation Element).  Buhach Road provides north-south regional and local access on 
the eastern side of the City starting at its interchange with SR 99, and ending at its intersection with 
Santa Fe Drive, in front of Castle Airport (a General Aviation airport).  In the vicinity of the project 
site, Buhach Road is a divided four-lane roadway with a raised, landscaped median with left-turn 
pockets.  On-street parking is prohibited on both sides of the street, and the posted speed limit is 
40 miles per hour (MPH) north of Juniper Avenue, and 50 MPH south of Juniper Avenue.  The 
exception is along the Buhach Colony High School school zone where signs are posted indicating 
“25 MPH when children are present”.  There are continuous sidewalks and a Class I (off-street) trail 
along the west side of roadway, while the east side contains sidewalks along the frontages of 
BCHS.  In addition, the Transit Joint Powers Authority for Merced County operates “The Bus” and 
has two bus lines that run along Buhach Road:  A1 – Atwater Loop, and A3 – Castle Crosstown 
route.  Per November 2014 traffic counts, the ADT on Buhach Road, north of Juniper Avenue is 
approximately 7,350 ADT; and, 8,010 ADT south of Juniper Avenue. 

Juniper Avenue – Avenue Two 
West of Buhach Road, Juniper Avenue – Avenue Two is Juniper Avenue, while east of Buhach 
Road it is Avenue Two.  Juniper Avenue is designated as a 2-lane Urban Connector City’s General 
Plan, Mobility and Access Element, although between Shaffer Road and Buhach Road, Juniper 
Avenue is a 4-lane divided road with a painted (between Shaffer Road and Bridgewater Street) 
and raised median (between Bridgewater Street and Buhach Road).  Avenue Two is a 4-lane, 
undivided roadway from Buhach Road to El Rodebaugh Court where it becomes a 2-lane 
undivided roadway.  Juniper Avenue provides east-west local access through the center of the 
City.  In the vicinity of the project site, Juniper Avenue is a divided four-lane roadway with a raised, 
landscaped median.  On-street parking is prohibited on both sides of the street, and the posted 
speed limit is 45 MPH, except for “25 miles per hour (MPH) when children are present” within the 
school zone.  There are continuous sidewalks along both sides of the roadway, including a Class I 
(off-street) trail on the north side of the road.  In addition, “The Bus” and has one bus line that runs 
along Juniper Avenue:  A3 – Castle Crosstown route.  Per November 2014 traffic counts, the ADT 
on Juniper Avenue, west of Buhach Road is approximately 8,570 ADT. 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 16 

 

Intersection Geometrics and Traffic Volumes 
Figure 5 illustrates the existing traffic controls and lane geometrics at the study area intersections 
and roadway segments.  Figure 6 shows the existing a.m. and p.m. peak hour traffic volumes at 
the study intersections.  The raw traffic volume count sheets are provided in Appendix B. 

Levels of Service 
Based on the analysis methodology described in Section 1.0, the existing a.m. and p.m. peak hour 
traffic volumes were input into the Synchro LOS software to determine the existing intersection 
delay and LOS values.  Table D presents the results of the existing intersection LOS analysis, while 
the LOS calculation sheets are provided in Appendix C. 

Table D – Existing Condition Intersection Level of Service Summary 

  Existing Condition 
  AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Intersection Control Delay LOS Delay LOS 
1. Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue 1-way stop 19.6 sec C 14.6 sec B 
2. Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue signal 46.7 sec D 42.8 sec D 
3. Buhach Road/BCHS driveway 1-way stop 40.9 sec E 10.8 sec B 
4. Buhach Road/NWC driveway -- proposed intersection 
5. Buhach Road/NWC 2 driveway -- proposed intersection 
Notes: Delay and LOS for intersections based on Highway Capacity Manual (HCM). 
 Bold value indicates intersection is operating with unsatisfactory LOS, at LOS E or F. 
 

Based on the existing LOS analysis, the unsignalized driveway intersection of Buhach Road/Buhach 
Colony High School driveway is currently operating at LOS E in the a.m. peak hour.  The impacted 
movement is associated with the westbound left turns exiting the school to go south on Buhach 
Road. 

Pedestrian and Bicycle Facilities 
There are three basic categories of pedestrian and bicycle facilities as defined by the City.  Class 
I bike paths involve designs which are completely separated from traffic lanes.  Class II paths are 
on-street paths that are located along the edge of a street with a striped lane denoting this bike 
path.  Class III paths also are located along a street edge, but are not striped.  These paths are 
identified by street signs only.   

Currently, there are continuous sidewalks along the west side of Buhach Road, north and south of 
Juniper Avenue (along the project frontages); and, on both sides of Juniper Avenue in the study 
area.  There are continuous sidewalks along the frontage of the high school.  Currently, there is a 
Class I bicycle/pedestrian trail along the west side of Buhach Road that runs through the frontage 
of the project site and terminates at the canal overcrossing at the NWC 2 parcel.  South of Juniper 
Avenue, the Class I trail continues south, past the project site.  There is also a Class I bike lane along 
developed segments on the north side of Juniper Avenue between Sierra Madre Drive and 
Augusta Lane.   

  







 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 19 

 

Existing plus Project 
Traffic generated by the proposed project (at buildout) was added to the existing scenario and 
the project impacts on the circulation system were analyzed.  This scenario would determine 
project-specific impacts and mitigation measures (if required) with project traffic added to 
existing traffic volumes. 

Traffic Volumes 
The proposed project trip assignment shown in Figure 3 was added to the existing traffic volumes 
in Figure 6 which resulted in the Existing plus Project traffic volumes.  Figure 7 illustrates the Existing 
plus Project a.m. and p.m. peak hour traffic volumes. 

Levels of Service 
Based on the analysis methodology described in Section 1.0, the Existing plus Project a.m. and 
p.m. peak hour traffic volumes were input into the Synchro LOS software to determine the 
intersection delay and LOS values.  Table E presents the results of the Existing plus Project 
intersection LOS analysis, while the LOS calculation sheets are provided in Appendix C.   

Based on the Existing plus Project LOS analysis, the proposed project, at full buildout, would create 
a significant traffic impact per the City’s Significance Criteria at the following locations: 

 Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in a.m. peak hour, and LOS B to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour) 

 Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour) 

 Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway (LOS E to LOS F in a.m. peak hour) 

Mitigation measures will be required to bring the impacted intersections back to impact levels of 
less than significant. 

Mitigation Measures 
The proposed project, at full buildout, would create significant impacts at the following study area 
intersections in the Existing plus Project conditions. 

 Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue 
 Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue 
 Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway  

The following mitigation measures are required to reduce the project’s traffic impact to less than 
significant levels.  LOS worksheets for the mitigated intersections are provided in Appendix C. 

TRAF 1 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in a.m. peak hour, and LOS B to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour): 

 Install a traffic signal with protected left turn phasing on the east- and westbound 
movements; permissive phasing on the north- and southbound movements; and, 
emergency vehicle preemption.  Based on a Peak Hour Signal Warrant Analysis, 
consistent with the California MUTCD, the peak hour volumes would warrant traffic 
signal installation in both peak hours.  The signal warrant worksheets are provided 
in Appendix D.  



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 17 

 

TRAF 4 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in both peak hours): 

 Convert the intersection from two-way stop control to all-way stop control (AWSC) 
by the installation of stop signs at all four approaches. 

 Install pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the California 
MUTCD, across the north and south legs of the intersection, and at least, across the 
east leg of the intersection where the westbound left turn volume is lower than the 
eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center).  

 Based on a Peak Hour Signal Warrant Analysis, consistent with the California 
MUTCD, of both peak hours of the Opening Year 2016 plus Project condition, the 
peak hour volumes would not warrant traffic signal installation in either peak hour.  
The signal warrant worksheets are provided in Appendix D. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS D in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

TRAF 5 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour): 

 Construct a second (dual) northbound left turn lane. 
 Conduct a traffic signal modification and convert the existing split phasing of the 

east-west movements to protected left turn phasing. 
 Construct a second westbound through lane. 
 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS D in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

 Alternative TRAF 5 Mitigation Measure 
However, the construction of the second (dual) northbound left turn lane, dedicated 
southbound right turn lane, and second westbound through lane would not be needed 
until past the development of 40 percent of the NWC and SWC parcels, and no 
development of the NWC2 parcel.  The signal modification to convert the existing east-
west split phasing to protected left turn phasing is still required.  In addition, per a SimTraffic 
queuing analysis, the existing (single) 150 foot northbound left turn lane would need to be 
extended by 41 feet to accommodate the forecast 95th percentile queue of 191 feet. 

Based on the trip generation estimates for this level of development, the NWC parcel 
would generate approximately 4,437 new daily trips, 207 new a.m. peak hour trips, and 
291 new p.m. peak hour trips.  The NWC 2 parcel would not be developed.  The SWC 
parcel would generate approximately 3,528 new daily trips, 153 new a.m. peak hour trips, 
and 238 new p.m. peak hour trips.  Together, the NWC and SWC parcels, at 40 percent 
development, would generate approximately 7,965 new daily trips, 360 new a.m. peak 
hour trips, and 529 new p.m. peak hour trips.  These trips were distributed to the study 
intersections and based on the LOS analysis, Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue is forecast to 
operate at LOS D in both peak hours at this level of development.  The trip generation 
estimates, LOS and queuing worksheets are provided in Appendix E. 

Dennis
Highlight





 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 21 

 

Table E – Existing plus Project Intersection Level of Service Summary 

  Existing Condition Existing plus Project  
  AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour  

Intersection Control Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Impact? 
1. Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue 2-way stop 19.6 sec C 14.6 sec B 171.1 sec F >300 sec F YES 
2. Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue signal 46.7 sec D 42.8 sec D 65.9 sec E 83.8 sec F YES 
3. Buhach Road/BCHS driveway 1-way stop 40.9 sec E 10.8 sec B 268.6 sec F 29.9 sec D YES 
4. Buhach Road/NWC driveway 1-way stop does not exist 16.1 sec C 20.0 sec C no 
5. Buhach Road/NWC 2 driveway 1-way stop does not exist 13.3 sec B 15.3 sec C no 
Notes: Delay and LOS for intersections based on Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), Transportation Research Board. 
 Bold value indicates intersection is operating with unsatisfactory LOS, at LOS E or F. 
  Bold value indicates significant project impact per the appropriate City’s LOS significance criteria. 

 
  
 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 22 

 

 Install pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the California 
Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south legs 
of the intersection, and at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the 
westbound left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the 
shopping center).  

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would improve to 
LOS B in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than significant. 

TRAF 2 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour): 

 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane. 
 Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane. 
 Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-turns from the 

existing eastbound left turn lane. 
 Conduct a traffic signal modification and convert the existing split phasing of the 

east-west movements to protected left turn phasing. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS D in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

 Alternative TRAF 2 Mitigation Measure (reduced project operations) 
However, the construction of the dedicated southbound right turn lane and dedicated 
southbound right turn lane would not be needed until past the development of 55 percent 
of the NWC and SWC parcels, and no development of the NWC2 parcel.  The signal 
modification to convert the existing east-west split phasing to protected left turn phasing 
is still required.  In addition, per a SimTraffic queuing analysis, the existing (single) 150 foot 
northbound left turn lane would need to be extended by 49 feet to accommodate the 
forecast 95th percentile queue of 199 feet. 

Based on the trip generation estimates for this level of development, the NWC parcel 
would generate approximately 5,684 new daily trips, 273 new a.m. peak hour trips, and 
374 new p.m. peak hour trips.  The NWC 2 parcel would not be developed.  The SWC 
parcel would generate approximately 4,699 new daily trips, 206 new a.m. peak hour trips, 
and 318 new p.m. peak hour trips.  Together, the NWC and SWC parcels, at 55 percent 
development, would generate approximately 10,383 new daily trips, 479 new a.m. peak 
hour trips, and 692 new p.m. peak hour trips.  These trips were distributed to the study 
intersections and based on the LOS analysis, Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue is forecast to 
operate at LOS D in both peak hours at this level of development.  The trip generation 
estimates, LOS and queuing worksheets are provided in Appendix E. 

TRAF 3 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Buhach Colony High School Driveway (to parking lot)(LOS E to LOS F in 
a.m. peak hour: 

 While regulatory signage exists on the high school’s driveway restricting westbound 
left turn movements during the a.m. peak period from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 a.m., 
corresponding to the peak drop-off period of the high school, the project 
applicant will modify the existing median on Buhach Road to permanently restrict 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 23 

 

outbound left turn movements from the school’s driveway.  Southbound inbound 
left turn access to the school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would improve to 
LOS C in the a.m. hour and the project’s impact would become less than significant. 

 
  



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 24 

 

4.0 OPENING YEAR 2017 TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 

Opening Year 2017 Baseline Condition 
This scenario is comprised of the existing (2014) traffic conditions, plus three years of ambient traffic 
growth (2014 to 2017), plus traffic from cumulative (approved and/or pending) developments in 
the study area (if any).  An ambient traffic growth rate of two (2) percent per year was applied 
per direction from staff2 at Merced County Association of Governments (MCAG). 

Based on discussions with City Planning Department staff3, there are no cumulative development 
projects in the project vicinity that would be constructed within the timeframe of the Opening 
Year (2017).  Therefore, traffic growth in the short-term would likely occur from ambient traffic 
growth and new traffic generated from the completion of the final phases of residential 
subdivision developments in the area.  Therefore, it was assumed that the annual growth rate of 
two percent (six percent total over three years) would include traffic from these sources.   

Traffic Controls and Intersection Geometrics 
There no improvements planned for the study area roadways and intersections through the 2017 
project opening year.  Therefore, the existing intersection traffic controls and geometrics were 
assumed for those intersections in the 2017 level of service analysis. 

Traffic Volumes 
As discussed above, Opening Year 2017 baseline traffic volumes were forecast by applying an 
annual growth rate of two (2) percent per year to the existing traffic volumes.  Figure 8 illustrates 
the Opening Year (2017) Baseline a.m. and p.m. peak hour volumes. 

Levels of Service 
Based on the analysis methodology described in Section 1.0, the Opening Year 2017 Baseline a.m. 
and p.m. peak hour traffic volumes were input into the Synchro LOS software to determine the 
intersection delay and LOS values.  Table F presents the results of the Opening Year Baseline 
intersection LOS analysis, while the LOS calculation sheets are provided in Appendix B.   

Table F – Opening Year 2017 Baseline Intersection Level of Service Summary 

  Opening Year 2017 Baseline 
  AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Intersection Control Delay LOS Delay LOS 
1. Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue 1-way stop 21.4 sec C 15.3 sec C 
2. Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue signal 50.6 sec D 47.6 sec D 
3. Buhach Road/BCHS driveway 1-way stop 60.3 sec F 13.3 sec B 
4. Buhach Road/NWC driveway -- proposed intersection 
5. Buhach Road/NWC2 driveway -- proposed intersection 
Notes: Delay and LOS for intersections based on Highway Capacity Manual (HCM). 
 Bold value indicates intersection is operating with unsatisfactory LOS, at LOS E or F. 
 

  

                                                 
2 Telephone conversation with Matt Fell, Transportation Planner, MCAG, November 17, 2014. 
3 Telephone conversation with Justin Hendrix, City of Atwater Community Development Department, November 2014. 









 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 26 

 

Based on the Opening Year baseline LOS analysis, the unsignalized driveway intersection of 
Buhach Road/Buhach Colony High School driveway is forecast to continue to operate with 
unsatisfactory LOS (LOS F) in the a.m. peak hour.  The impacted movement is associated with the 
westbound left turns exiting the school to go south on Buhach Road. 

Opening Year 2017 plus Project 
Traffic generated by the proposed project, at buildout, was added to the Opening Year 2017 
Baseline scenario and the project impacts on the circulation system were analyzed.  This scenario 
would determine project-specific impacts and mitigation measures (if required). 

Traffic Volumes 
The proposed project trip assignment noted in Figure 3 was added to the Opening Year 2017 
Baseline traffic volumes in Figure 8 which resulted in the Opening Year 2017 plus Project traffic 
volumes.  Figure 9 illustrates the Opening Year 2017 plus Project a.m. and p.m. peak hour traffic 
volumes. 

Levels of Service 
Based on the analysis methodology described in Section 1.0, the Opening Year plus Project a.m. 
and p.m. peak hour traffic volumes were input into the Synchro LOS software to determine the 
intersection delay and LOS values.  Table G presents the results of the Opening Year 2017 plus 
Project intersection LOS analysis, while the LOS calculation sheets are provided in Appendix B.   

Based on the Opening Year 2017 plus Project LOS analysis, the proposed project, at full buildout, 
would create a significant traffic impact per the City’s Significance Criteria at the following 
locations: 

 Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in both peak hours) 
 Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 

p.m. peak hour) 
 Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway (worsening of LOS F in a.m. peak hour) 

Mitigation measures will be required to bring the impacted intersections back to impact levels of 
less than significant. 

Mitigation Measures 
The proposed project, at full buildout, would create significant impacts at the following study area 
intersections in the Opening Year 2017 plus Project conditions. 

 Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue 
 Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue 
 Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway  

The following mitigation measures are required to reduce the project’s traffic impact to less than 
significant levels.  LOS worksheets for the mitigated intersections are provided in Appendix C. 

  







 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 28 

 

Table G – Opening Year 2017 plus Project Intersection Level of Service Summary 

  Opening Year 2017 Baseline Opening Year 2017 plus Project  
  AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour  

Intersection Control Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Impact? 
1. Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue 2-way stop 21.4 sec C 15.3 sec C 243.6 sec F >300 sec F YES 
2. Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue signal 50.6 sec D 47.6 sec D 73.8 sec E 93.4 sec F YES 
3. Buhach Road/BCHS driveway 1-way stop 60.3 sec F 13.3 sec B >300 sec F 31.1 sec D YES 
4. Buhach Road/NWC driveway 1-way stop does not exist 16.7 sec C 21.1 sec C no 
5. Buhach Road/NWC 2 driveway 1-way stop does not exist 13.8 sec B 16.0 sec C no 
Notes: Delay and LOS for intersections based on Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), Transportation Research Board. 
 Bold value indicates intersection is operating with unsatisfactory LOS, at LOS E or F. 
  Bold value indicates significant project impact per the appropriate City’s LOS significance criteria. 

 
 

 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 29 

 

TRAF 4 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in both peak hours): 

 Install a traffic signal with protected left turn phasing on the east- and westbound 
movements; permissive phasing on the north- and southbound movements; and, 
emergency vehicle preemption.  Based on a Peak Hour Signal Warrant Analysis, 
consistent with the California MUTCD, the peak hour volumes would warrant traffic 
signal installation in both peak hours.  The signal warrant worksheets are provided 
in Appendix D. 

 Install pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the California 
MUTCD, across the north and south legs of the intersection, and at least, across the 
east leg of the intersection where the westbound left turn volume is lower than the 
eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center).  

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS B in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

TRAF 5 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour): 

 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane. 
 Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane. 
 Construct a second westbound through lane. 
 Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-turns from the 

existing eastbound left turn lane. 
 Conduct a traffic signal modification and convert the existing split phasing of the 

east-west movements to protected left turn phasing. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS D in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

 Alternative TRAF 5 Mitigation Measure (reduced project operations) 
However, the construction of the dedicated southbound right turn lane, dedicated 
eastbound right turn lane, and second westbound through lane would not be needed 
until past the development of 40 percent of the NWC and SWC parcels, and no 
development of the NWC2 parcel.  The signal modification to convert the existing east-
west split phasing to protected left turn phasing is still required.  In addition, per a SimTraffic 
queuing analysis, the existing (single) 150 foot northbound left turn lane would need to be 
extended by 41 feet to accommodate the forecast 95th percentile queue of 191 feet. 

Based on the trip generation estimates for this level of development, the NWC parcel 
would generate approximately 4,437 new daily trips, 207 new a.m. peak hour trips, and 
291 new p.m. peak hour trips.  The NWC 2 parcel would not be developed.  The SWC 
parcel would generate approximately 3,528 new daily trips, 153 new a.m. peak hour trips, 
and 238 new p.m. peak hour trips.  Together, the NWC and SWC parcels, at 40 percent 
development, would generate approximately 7,965 new daily trips, 360 new a.m. peak 
hour trips, and 529 new p.m. peak hour trips.  These trips were distributed to the study 
intersections and based on the LOS analysis, Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue is forecast to 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 30 

 

operate at LOS D in both peak hours at this level of development.  The trip generation 
estimates, LOS and queuing worksheets are provided in Appendix E. 

TRAF 6 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Buhach Colony High School Driveway (to parking lot)(LOS E to LOS F in 
a.m. peak hour: 

 While regulatory signage exists on the high school’s driveway restricting westbound 
left turn movements during the a.m. peak period from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 a.m., 
corresponding to the peak drop-off period of the high school, the project 
applicant will modify the existing median on Buhach Road to permanently restrict 
outbound left turn movements from the school’s driveway.  Southbound inbound 
left turn access to the school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS C in the a.m. hour and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

  



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 31 

 

5.0 PROJECT ACCESS, CIRCULATION AND PARKING 
The following section discusses the proposed project’s access and circulation characteristics, and 
parking requirements.  If required, mitigation measures will be proposed to mitigate impacts to less 
than significant levels. 

Project Access and Driveway Queuing 
Per the site plan shown in Figure 2, driveway access to the NWC parcel would be provided from 
four driveways:  one full-access, unsignalized driveway on Buhach Road; one right turn in/out only 
driveway on Buhach Road; one right turn in/out only driveway on Juniper Avenue; and, one full-
access, unsignalized driveway at the existing intersection of Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue.  The 
proposed project would modify the existing raised median at Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue and 
construct an eastbound left turn storage lane that would provide inbound access to the NWC 
parcel. 

Driveway access to the NWC 2 parcel would be provided from one full-access, unsignalized 
driveway on Buhach Road.  Additional access to the NWC 2 parcel would be from three drive 
aisles connecting to the NWC parcel which also has two driveways proposed on Buhach Road, 
and two driveways proposed on Juniper Avenue. 

Driveway access to the SWC parcel would be provided from four driveways:  three right turn in/out 
only driveways on Buhach Road; and, right turn in/out only driveway on Juniper Avenue.   

Internal circulation within the project site is based on drive aisles from each access driveway on 
Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue with minimum widths of 30 feet for the right turn in/out 
driveways, and drive aisles with minimum widths of 35 feet for three-quarter and full-access 
driveways.  At the full-access driveways it is recommended that three lanes be accommodated 
(one inbound lane, and two outbound lanes).  The site plan layout will be designed to meet the 
City’s design standards. 

Queuing at Project Driveways 
A peak hour queuing analysis was conducted at the full-access driveways on Buhach Road and 
Juniper Avenue (for the NWC and NWC2 parcels only; the SWC parcel will have all right turn in/out 
driveways) using the SimTraffic microsimulation software which is consistent with the Highway 
Capacity Manual (HCM).  The queuing analysis determines the 95th percentile (design) queue for 
specific storage lanes and lane approaches (for shared turning lanes).  The analysis is based on 
a.m. and p.m. peak hour traffic volumes for the Existing plus Project and Opening Year 2017 plus 
Project conditions with the implementation of Mitigation Measures TRAF-1 through TRAF-6 above.  
The queuing analysis worksheets are provided in Appendix F. 

Based on a queuing analysis prepared for the proposed project shown in Table H, the storage 
lanes at the two full-access project driveways for the NWC parcel, and the full-access driveway 
for the NWC2 parcel, would be adequate to serve the proposed project and would not impact 
the adjacent driveways or street operations on Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue.  

Queuing at Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue 
A peak hour queuing analysis was conducted at the intersection of Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue 
also using the SimTraffic microsimulation software.  The analysis is based on a.m. and p.m. peak 
hour traffic volumes for the Existing plus Project and Opening Year 2017 plus Project conditions 
with the implementation of Mitigation Measures TRAF-1 through TRAF-6 above.  The queuing 
analysis worksheets are provided in Appendix F. 

  



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 32 

 

Table H – Project Driveway Queuing Analysis Summary 

  AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Driveway 
Available 
storage 

95th 
percentile 

queue 1 Impact? 

95th 
percentile 

queue 1 Impact? 
EXISTING PLUS PROJECT 
1. Augusta Lane/NWC Driveway      
   - northbound approach 150 feet 2 92 feet no 72 feet no 
   - southbound left+through lane 110 feet 3 61 feet no 69 feet no 
   - eastbound left turn lane 150 feet 4 53 feet no 121 feet no 
   - westbound left turn lane 100 feet 43 feet no 117 feet no 
3. Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway      
  - southbound left turn lane 150 feet 122 feet no 104 feet no 
  - westbound right turn lane 300 feet5 187 feet no 44 feet no 
4. Buhach Road/NWC Driveway      
   - northbound left turn lane 150 feet 57 feet no 69 feet no 
   - eastbound left turn lane 120 feet 3 68 feet no 103 feet no 
5. Buhach Road/NWC2 Driveway      
   - northbound left turn lane 150 feet 49 feet no 57 feet no 
   - eastbound left turn lane 120 feet 3 45 feet no 57 feet no 
OPENING YEAR 2017 PLUS PROJECT 
1. Augusta Lane/NWC Driveway      
   - northbound approach 150 feet 2 77 feet no 60 feet no 
   - southbound left+through lane 110 feet 3 83 feet no 80 feet no 
   - eastbound left turn lane 150 feet 4 122 feet no 124 feet no 
   - westbound left turn lane 100 feet 49 feet no 63 feet no 
3. Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway      
  - southbound left turn lane 150 feet 120 feet no 83 feet no 
  - westbound right turn lane 300 feet5 112 feet no 31 feet no 
4. Buhach Road/NWC Driveway      
   - northbound left turn lane 150 feet 58 feet no 96 feet no 
   - eastbound left turn lane 120 feet 3 72 feet no 42 feet no 
5. Buhach Road/NWC2 Driveway      
   - northbound left turn lane 150 feet 51 feet no 50 feet no 
   - eastbound left turn lane 120 feet 3 47 feet no 55 feet no 
Notes: 1 Average passenger-car vehicle length is assumed at 22 feet per vehicle, which includes front 
  and rear spacing. 
 2 Storage length is assumed to be 150 feet although there is no storage lane on Augusta Lane. 
 3 Storage length is based on storage distances provided in project site plan. 
 4 Project will construct new eastbound left turn storage lane to City’s specifications. 
 5 Based on queuing area provided on campus. 
 

 
Based on a queuing analysis prepared for the intersection of Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue in 
Table I, the following storage lanes would be impacted by the proposed project in the Existing 
plus Project condition: 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 33 

 

Table I – Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue Queuing Analysis Summary 

  AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Driveway 
Available 
storage 

95th 
percentile 

queue Impact? 

95th 
percentile 

queue Impact? 
EXISTING PLUS PROJECT 
NORTHBOUND APPROACH      
   - left turn lane 150 feet 195 feet YES 199 feet YES 
   - through lane -- 378 feet no 387 feet no 
   - through + right turn lane -- 256 feet no 208 feet no 
SOUTHBOUND APPROACH      
   - left turn lane 150 feet 158 feet YES 172 feet YES 
   - through lane -- 168 feet no 195 feet No 
   - right turn lane (project mitigation) 150 feet 65 feet no 117 feet no 
EASTBOUND APPROACH      
   - left turn lane 175 feet 216 feet YES 228 feet YES 
   - through lane -- 162 feet no 277 feet no 
   - right turn lane (project mitigation) -- 84 feet no 51 feet no 
WESTBOUND APPROACH      
   - left turn lane 200 feet 1 114 feet no 111 feet no 
   - through + right turn lane -- 339 feet no 335 feet no 
OPENING YEAR 2017 PLUS PROJECT 
NORTHBOUND APPROACH      
   - left turn lane 150 feet 189 feet YES 192 feet YES 
   - through lane -- 379 feet no 226 feet no 
   - through + right turn lane -- 282 feet no 188 feet no 
SOUTHBOUND APPROACH      
   - left turn lane 150 feet 151 feet YES 135 feet no 
   - through lane -- 172 feet no 177 feet no 
   - right turn lane (project mitigation) 150 feet 75 feet no 115 feet no 
EASTBOUND APPROACH      
   - left turn lane 175 feet 220 feet YES 230 feet YES 
   - through lane -- 116 feet no 263 feet no 
   - right turn lane (project mitigation) -- 114 feet no 55 feet no 
WESTBOUND APPROACH      
   - left turn lane 200 feet 1 112 feet no 110 feet no 
   - through lane -- 155 feet no 149 feet no 
   - through + right turn lane (proj mit) -- 140 feet no 147 feet no 
Notes: 1 Left turn storage lane is part of continuous two-way left turn lane (TWLTL).  Storage assumed to  
 be 200 feet. 
 

  



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 34 

 

 150 foot northbound left turn lane:  195 feet in a.m. peak hour, and 199 feet in p.m. peak 
hour. 

 150 foot southbound left turn lane:  158 feet in a.m. peak hour, and 172 feet in p.m. peak 
hour. 

 175 foot eastbound left turn lane:  216 feet in a.m. peak hour, and 228 feet in p.m. peak 
hour. 

The following storage lanes would be impacted by the proposed project in the Opening Year 2017 
plus Project condition: 

 150 foot northbound left turn lane:  189 feet in a.m. peak hour, and 192 feet in p.m. peak 
hour. 

 150 foot southbound left turn lane:  151 feet in a.m. peak hour only. 
 175 foot eastbound left turn lane:  220 feet in a.m. peak hour, and 230 feet in p.m. peak 

hour. 

Mitigation Measures 
The proposed project, at full buildout, would create significant impacts to some of the storage 
lanes at the Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue intersections in the Existing plus Project and Opening 
Year 2017 plus Project conditions.  The following mitigation measures are required to reduce the 
project’s traffic impact to less than significant levels.   

TRAF 7 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall extend the 
following storage lanes at the intersection (based on the Opening Year 2017 plus Project 
condition with Mitigation Measures TRAF-1 through TRAF-6): 

 Northbound left turn lane:  extend the storage lane by 45 feet for a total storage capacity 
of 195 feet.  This would require modifying the existing landscaped median. 

 Southbound left turn lane:  extend the storage lane by five (5) feet for a total storage 
capacity of 155 feet.  This would require modifying the existing landscaped median. 

 Eastbound left turn lane:  extend the storage lane by 55 feet for a total storage capacity 
of 230 feet.  This would require modifying the existing landscaped median. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the queuing impacts to the Buhach 
Road/Juniper Avenue intersection would become less than significant. 

Parking 
The parking requirements for the proposed project were based on the City’s Municipal Code 
Parking Requirements (Chapter 17.63) for commercial uses (Section 17.63.040 – Commercial Uses) 
for the specific uses: 

 Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks and post offices:  
one space for each 250 square feet of floor area. 

 Restaurants:  for cafes, restaurants and other businesses in the sale and consumption of 
food or beverages, one space for each three seats or one space per 35 square feet of 
(seating) floor area, whichever is greater. 

Northwest Corner Parcel (NWC) 
Based on the City’s parking requirements, the NWC parcel would require the following number of 
parking spaces: 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 35 

 

 Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks and post offices:  
99,250 SF ÷ 250 SF = 397 spaces 

 Restaurants:  10,800 SF X 35% = 3,780 SF (seating area) ÷ 35 SF = 108 spaces 
 Total parking requirement = 505 spaces 

Per the site plan, the NWC parcel would provide 597 spaces.  Therefore, the NWC parcel would 
be consistent with the City Code and would have surplus of 92 spaces. 

Northwest Corner 2 Parcel (NWC 2) 
Based on the City’s parking requirements, the NWC 2 parcel would require the following number 
of parking spaces: 

 Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks and post offices:  
54,600 SF ÷ 250 SF = 218 spaces 

 Restaurants:  3,500 SF X 35% = 3,780 SF (seating area) ÷ 35 SF = 35 spaces 
 Total parking requirement = 253 spaces 

Per the site plan, the NWC 2 parcel would provide 346 spaces.  Therefore, the NWC 2 parcel would 
be consistent with the City Code and would have surplus of 93 spaces. 

Southwest Corner Parcel (SWC) 
The SWC parcel of the project site is proposed to be developed with 81,100 SF of retail/commercial 
uses, specifically including the following: 

 41,200 SF grocery store 
 14,000 SF pharmacy/retail store 
 10,000 SF Major retail store 
 9,500 SF of retail/commercial uses in one building 
 Two fast-foot restaurants with drive-through lanes (both at 3,200 SF) 

Based on the City’s parking requirements, the SWC parcel would require the following number of 
parking spaces: 

 Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks and post offices:  
74,700 SF ÷ 250 SF = 299 spaces 

 Restaurants:  6,400 SF X 35% = 2,240 SF (seating area) ÷ 35 SF = 64 spaces 
 Total parking requirement = 363 spaces 

Per the site plan, the SWC parcel would provide 363 spaces.  Therefore, the SWC parcel would be 
consistent with the City Code. 

Mitigation Measures 
No mitigation measure required.  



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 36 

 

6.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
The following section provides the conclusions and recommendations (if any) for the traffic 
analysis of the proposed project as noted above in Sections 3.0 – Existing Conditions, 4.0 – Opening 
Year 2017, 5.0 – Project Access, Circulation and Parking. 

Project Trip Generation 
The NWC parcel would generate approximately 9,121 new daily trips, 465 new a.m. peak hour 
trips (250 inbound and 215 outbound), and 603 new p.m. peak hour trips (299 inbound and 304 
outbound).  The NWC 2 parcel would generate approximately 4,844 new daily trips, 184 new a.m. 
peak hour trips (104 inbound and 81 outbound), and 334 new p.m. peak hour trips (163 inbound 
and 171 outbound).  The SWC parcel would generate approximately 8,105 new daily trips, 363 
new a.m. peak hour trips (203 inbound and 160 outbound), and 550 new p.m. peak hour trips (277 
inbound and 273 outbound).  Together, all three parcels would generate approximately 22,070 
new daily trips, 1,012 new a.m. peak hour trips (557 inbound and 455 outbound), and 1,487 new 
p.m. peak hour trips (739 inbound and 748 outbound). 

Existing plus Project 
The proposed project, at full buildout, would create significant impacts at the following study area 
intersections in the Existing plus Project conditions. 

 Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue 
 Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue 
 Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway  

The following mitigation measures are required to reduce the project’s traffic impact to less than 
significant levels.   

TRAF 1 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in a.m. peak hour, and LOS B to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour): 

Install a traffic signal with protected left turn phasing on the east- and westbound 
movements; permissive phasing on the north- and southbound movements; and, 
emergency vehicle preemption.  Based on a Peak Hour Signal Warrant Analysis, consistent 
with the California MUTCD, the peak hour volumes would warrant traffic signal installation 
in both peak hours.  The signal warrant worksheets are provided in Appendix D. 

TRAF 2 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour): 

 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane. 
 Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane. 
 Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-turns from the 

existing eastbound left turn lane. 
 Conduct a traffic signal modification and convert the existing split phasing of the 

east-west movements to protected left turn phasing. 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 37 

 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS D in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

 Alternative TRAF 2 Mitigation Measure (reduced project operations) 
However, the construction of the dedicated southbound right turn lane and dedicated 
southbound right turn lane would not be needed until past the development of 55 percent 
of the NWC and SWC parcels, and no development of the NWC2 parcel.  The signal 
modification to convert the existing east-west split phasing to protected left turn phasing 
is still required.  In addition, per a SimTraffic queuing analysis, the existing (single) 150 foot 
northbound left turn lane would need to be extended by 49 feet to accommodate the 
forecast 95th percentile queue of 199 feet. 

Based on the trip generation estimates for this level of development, the NWC parcel 
would generate approximately 5,684 new daily trips, 273 new a.m. peak hour trips, and 
374 new p.m. peak hour trips.  The NWC 2 parcel would not be developed.  The SWC 
parcel would generate approximately 4,699 new daily trips, 206 new a.m. peak hour trips, 
and 318 new p.m. peak hour trips.  Together, the NWC and SWC parcels, at 55 percent 
development, would generate approximately 10,383 new daily trips, 479 new a.m. peak 
hour trips, and 692 new p.m. peak hour trips.  These trips were distributed to the study 
intersections and based on the LOS analysis, Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue is forecast to 
operate at LOS D in both peak hours at this level of development.  The trip generation 
estimates, LOS and queuing worksheets are provided in Appendix E. 

TRAF 3 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Buhach Colony High School Driveway (to parking lot)(LOS E to LOS F in 
a.m. peak hour: 

 While regulatory signage exists on the high school’s driveway restricting westbound 
left turn movements during the a.m. peak period from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 a.m., 
corresponding to the peak drop-off period of the high school, the project 
applicant will modify the existing median on Buhach Road to permanently restrict 
outbound left turn movements from the school’s driveway.  Southbound inbound 
left turn access to the school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would improve to 
LOS C in the a.m. hour and the project’s impact would become less than significant. 

Opening Year 2017 plus Project 
The proposed project, at full buildout, would create significant impacts at the following study area 
intersections in the Opening Year 2017 plus Project conditions. 

 Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue 
 Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue 
 Buhach Road/BCHS Driveway  

The following mitigation measures are required to reduce the project’s traffic impact to less than 
significant levels.   

TRAF 4 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue (LOS C to LOS F in both peak hours): 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 38 

 

 Install a traffic signal with protected left turn phasing on the east- and westbound 
movements; permissive phasing on the north- and southbound movements; and, 
emergency vehicle preemption.  Based on a Peak Hour Signal Warrant Analysis, 
consistent with the California MUTCD, the peak hour volumes would warrant traffic 
signal installation in both peak hours.  The signal warrant worksheets are provided 
in Appendix D. 

 Install pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the California 
MUTCD, across the north and south legs of the intersection, and at least, across the 
east leg of the intersection where the westbound left turn volume is lower than the 
eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center).  

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS B in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

TRAF 5 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue (LOS D to LOS E in a.m. peak hour, and LOS D to LOS F in 
p.m. peak hour): 

 Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane. 
 Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane. 
 Construct a second westbound through lane. 
 Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-turns from the 

existing eastbound left turn lane. 
 Conduct a traffic signal modification and convert the existing split phasing of the 

east-west movements to protected left turn phasing. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS D in both peak hours and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

 Alternative TRAF 5 Mitigation Measure (reduced project operations) 
However, the construction of the dedicated southbound right turn lane, dedicated 
eastbound right turn lane, and second westbound through lane would not be needed 
until past the development of 40 percent of the NWC and SWC parcels, and no 
development of the NWC2 parcel.  The signal modification to convert the existing east-
west split phasing to protected left turn phasing is still required.  In addition, per a SimTraffic 
queuing analysis, the existing (single) 150 foot northbound left turn lane would need to be 
extended by 41 feet to accommodate the forecast 95th percentile queue of 191 feet. 

Based on the trip generation estimates for this level of development, the NWC parcel 
would generate approximately 4,437 new daily trips, 207 new a.m. peak hour trips, and 
291 new p.m. peak hour trips.  The NWC 2 parcel would not be developed.  The SWC 
parcel would generate approximately 3,528 new daily trips, 153 new a.m. peak hour trips, 
and 238 new p.m. peak hour trips.  Together, the NWC and SWC parcels, at 40 percent 
development, would generate approximately 7,965 new daily trips, 360 new a.m. peak 
hour trips, and 529 new p.m. peak hour trips.  These trips were distributed to the study 
intersections and based on the LOS analysis, Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue is forecast to 
operate at LOS D in both peak hours at this level of development.  The trip generation 
estimates, LOS and queuing worksheets are provided in Appendix E. 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 39 

 

TRAF 6 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall construct 
the following street improvements to mitigate the project’s traffic impact (at full buildout) 
at Buhach Road/Buhach Colony High School Driveway (to parking lot)(LOS E to LOS F in 
a.m. peak hour: 

 While regulatory signage exists on the high school’s driveway restricting westbound 
left turn movements during the a.m. peak period from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 a.m., 
corresponding to the peak drop-off period of the high school, the project 
applicant will modify the existing median on Buhach Road to permanently restrict 
outbound left turn movements from the school’s driveway.  Southbound inbound 
left turn access to the school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the intersection operations would 
improve to LOS C in the a.m. hour and the project’s impact would become less than 
significant. 

Project Access, Circulation and Parking 

Project Access and Circulation 
Per the site plan, driveway access to the NWC parcel would be provided from four driveways:  
one full-access, unsignalized driveway on Buhach Road; one right turn in/out only driveway on 
Buhach Road; one right turn in/out only driveway on Juniper Avenue; and, one full-access, 
unsignalized driveway at the existing intersection of Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue.  The proposed 
project would modify the existing raised median at Augusta Lane/Juniper Avenue and construct 
an eastbound left turn storage lane that would provide inbound access to the NWC parcel. 

Driveway access to the NWC 2 parcel would be provided from one full-access, unsignalized 
driveway on Buhach Road.  Additional access to the NWC 2 parcel would be from three drive 
aisles connecting to the NWC parcel which also has two driveways proposed on Buhach Road, 
and two driveways proposed on Juniper Avenue. 

Driveway access to the SWC parcel would be provided from four driveways:  three right turn in/out 
only driveways on Buhach Road; and, right turn in/out only driveway on Juniper Avenue.  

Internal circulation within the project site is based on drive aisles from each access driveway on 
Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue with minimum widths of 28 feet for the right turn in/out 
driveways, and drive aisles with minimum widths of 38 feet for full-access driveways.  At the full-
access driveways it is recommended that three lanes be accommodated (one inbound lane, 
and two outbound lanes).  The site plan layout will be designed to meet the City’s design 
standards. 

No mitigation measures required. 

Queuing 
Based on a queuing analysis prepared for the proposed project, the storage lanes at the two full-
access project driveways for the NWC parcel, and the full-access driveway for the NWC2 parcel, 
would be adequate to serve the proposed project and would not impact the adjacent driveways 
or street operations on Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue.  

No mitigation measures required. 

The proposed project, at full buildout, would create significant impacts to some of the storage 
lanes at the Buhach Road/Juniper Avenue intersections in the Existing plus Project and Opening 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 40 

 

Year 2017 plus Project conditions.  The following mitigation measures are required to reduce the 
project’s traffic impact to less than significant levels.   

TRAF 7 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the project applicant shall extend the 
following storage lanes at the intersection (based on the Opening Year 2017 plus Project 
condition with Mitigation Measures TRAF-1 through TRAF-6): 

 Northbound left turn lane:  extend the storage lane by 45 feet for a total storage capacity 
of 195 feet.  This would require modifying the existing landscaped median. 

 Southbound left turn lane:  extend the storage lane by five (5) feet for a total storage 
capacity of 155 feet.  This would require modifying the existing landscaped median. 

 Eastbound left turn lane:  extend the storage lane by 55 feet for a total storage capacity 
of 230 feet.  This would require modifying the existing landscaped median. 

With the implementation of this mitigation measure, the queuing impacts to the Buhach 
Road/Juniper Avenue intersection would become less than significant. 

Parking 
The parking requirement for the NWC parcel is 505 spaces.  Per the site plan, the NWC parcel 
would provide 597 spaces.  Therefore, the NWC parcel would be consistent with the City Code 
and would have surplus of 92 spaces.  The parking requirement for the NWC2 parcel is 253 spaces.  
The NWC 2 parcel would provide 346 spaces.  Therefore, the NWC 2 parcel would be consistent 
with the City Code and would have surplus of 93 spaces.  The parking requirement for the SWC 
parcel is 363 spaces.  Per the site plan, the SWC parcel would provide 363 spaces.  Therefore, the 
SWC parcel would be consistent with the City Code. 

No mitigation measures required. 

 

  



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Page 41 

 

7.0 REFERENCES 
 
City of Atwater, General Plan Circulation Element, 2000. 
 
City of Atwater, Municipal Code, Title 17 – Zoning, Chapter 17.63 Parking Requirements, June 
2014. 
 
Institute of Transportation Engineers, Trip Generation, 9th Edition, 2012. 
 
Institute of Transportation Engineers, Trip Generation Handbook, 2nd Edition, 2004. 
 
Transportation Research Board, Highway Capacity Manual, Special Report No. 209,  
Washington, D.C., 2000. 
 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Appendix A 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
Internal Trip Capture Worksheets 
 

  



98
 

3.
11

 
• 

L 
1a

Jd
8

l/
8

 
uo

111
p3

 p
u

z 
'>i

O
O

Q
pu

eH
 u

o1
1e

;a
u

a
8

 d
1J

1 

- s 
"' io 

DI 
11 

IC
 

I 

' 
I 

i ~ 
I 

r w
 i ~

 i 
I 

lo 
I 

~ 

iz
 

rn 
~
 
~ 

!L
 

I 
~ 
i 3 

I~ 
Ci 

I 
!!

. .....
 

~
 

('
) 
~t
 

I 
'-

! 
.....

.. ~ 
.....

.. 

10 
01 

fi 
l 

Il
l 

• 
I 

c 

ior
C 

i!
 

1'
 

J1 
C::

 
I 

I i I
 

LJ
 

I~ 
! 

5i 
0 

ror
C 

"
' 

'a
 

i 
i 

~ 
0 

3 

-IE 
• 

E
 

I!
 

:I
 

1L 
-

f i
 

.....
. 

i 
8 

! 
-::'!

. 
r 

, 
5;:

 
0 

z 
"\ 

a 
0 

~ 
I 

i 
( 

rl
 

! 
n

 

f 
\'

 
Ii 

I 

I 
I 

1 
ID 

I 
. I 

I 
01 

~ 
~ 

I 
11 

I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

J 
I 



s;e
 3

.1
1 

• 
L 

1
a

id
e1

.o
 

u
o

111
p3

 p
u;

:: 
·~
o
o
q
p
u
e
H
 u

o
11

eJ
au

a9
 d

1J
1 

io 
rn 

f i i f w
 i i

 r
 

~
 "..

) I'-
. 
~
 
iz

 
~
 
\J

 ~
 
~
 

iv
 '1

 It
' 1-

....
.. 

~i
 

3 !!.
 

-f
 

.....
.. 

\.Q
 ~
 ~
 
~t

 
'
-

~
 .....

... 
N

 fR 
l 

tD
 
I:

 
c ii

 
C: I i !
 

if
 

0 
:I • :II -

!IA
, ~
 ~
 (\

i 
a 

' 
N

 
~
 ~
 \

l 
~
 
~ 

I~ 
Ci 

10 
01 

1'
 

J1 
LJ

 
1L 

-i
! 
i 

.....
 

I 
Ii

 
I~ 

8 
r 

' 
~
 

::!
. 

0 

z c 

I 
i n

 

\D
 I 

I 
!~
 I 

I 

-
I 

f 

ID 
DI I 

J 

lo 
DI 

ro1
C 

io1
C 

"' ('
 

~
 ~ ~ \ 

rl
 

Ii ~I 

s s E
 

I I I I It
 

I I I I I I I I ! ! I I I 



M M M U U M M U M M M M M M ~ M ~ ~ ~ ~ • 

:;1 
fr 
G) 
co 
:::J 
co 
el 
6 
:::J 

I w 
:::J 
a. 
0-

8 
'?'° 
l\J 
:::J 
a. 
m 
g, 
6 
:::J 

9 
f5 
~ 
'-J 

• 
~ 
CD 
CJI 

AMlrM~~~~~~-
Datl 

LAND USE A. 
rrE LU Codt SvP~'r . f" PAfr Pov'? 

bltto&tltMI I Stz• f /, ~ rt1 6·ko 
I I 

EnW 

[- J Exl 

~tant~ I 1-

...... ,,.,,,,_, 

o..td 

LANDUSEB-

rrE LU Code ?~~':? <? _2#..,~ C 

&1•~ I ~· L'f. :;n,o tJ 1~-:2:' Dlllllrld ~ ,,,,,..,,,, 

I :JI I t-:J I I 
Enter Enter 

:J 

NlmeofDwlp\ 
T1mePMtod 

~ 

s~c,, PAf2-cc1.-

LANDUIEC 

.., .... ...,., 
Toal I ,,,,.,,,., I ~ I I I 

Exl 

Ta: 1100% I I I ' I .,,.,....,,.., 
Exl L -:JI I L:J 

,,,,,..,,,, ..,.,.,.,, Oetrwfd r- -1 I To1e1 I-_ 
Enflr lt'Dm &f9mlll " 1 00 % 

Net External Trips for Multl-Uu Development 
LAND USE A LANDUSEB LAND USEC 10TAL 

Enter 2.:73 1 >v ~o~ 
eo-: Klllll-·------.-.. 

Bel 7 <;";fl Is 'J 3.Yb 
Total c-~J Z,,7i7 80/ /NJ'ERNAL CAPnJRE 

Slngl&-Uae Trip Gen. Est. )!}~ ~3~ 337 I ~ "/.,1 I 





 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Appendix B 

 

APPENDIX B 
 
Raw Traffic Volume Count Sheets 
  





File Name  :
Date  :

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total Uturn Total
07:00 0 0 0 0 0 3 60 0 0 63 7 0 5 0 12 0 74 4 0 78 153 0
07:15 0 0 0 0 0 4 72 0 0 76 17 0 11 0 28 1 121 7 0 129 233 0
07:30 0 0 0 0 0 5 72 0 0 77 7 0 11 0 18 0 143 7 0 150 245 0
07:45 0 0 0 0 0 6 106 1 0 113 8 0 11 0 19 0 149 5 0 154 286 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 18 310 1 0 329 39 0 38 0 77 1 487 23 0 511 917 0

08:00 0 0 0 0 0 7 85 0 0 92 6 0 7 0 13 0 97 8 0 105 210 0
08:15 0 0 0 0 0 1 42 0 0 43 9 0 9 0 18 0 61 7 0 68 129 0
08:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 36 0 0 37 2 0 3 0 5 0 54 1 0 55 97 0
08:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 33 0 0 36 1 0 5 0 6 0 60 5 0 65 107 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 12 196 0 0 208 18 0 24 0 42 0 272 21 0 293 543 0

16:00 0 0 0 0 0 8 110 0 0 118 8 0 3 0 11 0 78 9 0 87 216 0
16:15 0 0 0 0 0 4 105 0 0 109 6 0 6 0 12 0 60 10 0 70 191 0
16:30 0 0 0 0 0 6 105 0 0 111 1 0 4 0 5 0 74 8 0 82 198 0
16:45 0 0 0 0 0 10 89 0 0 99 1 0 8 0 9 0 76 11 0 87 195 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 28 409 0 0 437 16 0 21 0 37 0 288 38 0 326 800 0

17:00 0 0 0 0 0 4 107 0 0 111 5 0 3 0 8 0 74 12 0 86 205 0
17:15 0 0 0 0 0 8 117 0 0 125 10 0 9 0 19 0 75 6 0 81 225 0
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 15 90 0 0 105 5 0 7 0 12 0 101 7 0 108 225 0
17:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 68 0 0 71 2 0 13 0 15 0 62 3 0 65 151 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 30 382 0 0 412 22 0 32 0 54 0 312 28 0 340 806 0

Grand Total 0 0 0 0 0 88 1297 1 0 1386 95 0 115 0 210 1 1359 110 0 1470 3066 0
Apprch % 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.3% 93.6% 0.1% 0.0% 45.2% 0.0% 54.8% 0.0% 0.1% 92.4% 7.5% 0.0%

Total % 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.9% 42.3% 0.0% 0.0% 45.2% 3.1% 0.0% 3.8% 0.0% 6.8% 0.0% 44.3% 3.6% 0.0% 47.9% 100.0%

14-7744-001 Augusta Lane-Juniper Avenue.ppd

Unshifted Count = All Vehicles
Nothing on Bank 2

11/18/2014

Southbound
Juniper Avenue

Westbound
Augusta Lane
Northbound

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater
All Vehicles on Unshifted
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
(916) 771-8700

orders@atdtraffic.com



File Name  :
Date  :

14-7744-001 Augusta Lane-Juniper Avenue.ppd

Unshifted Count = All Vehicles
Nothing on Bank 2

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater
All Vehicles on Unshifted
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
(916) 771-8700

orders@atdtraffic.com

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 07:15 to 08:15
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 07:15

07:15 0 0 0 0 0 4 72 0 0 76 17 0 11 0 28 1 121 7 0 129 233
07:30 0 0 0 0 0 5 72 0 0 77 7 0 11 0 18 0 143 7 0 150 245
07:45 0 0 0 0 0 6 106 1 0 113 8 0 11 0 19 0 149 5 0 154 286
08:00 0 0 0 0 0 7 85 0 0 92 6 0 7 0 13 0 97 8 0 105 210

Total Volume 0 0 0 0 0 22 335 1 0 358 38 0 40 0 78 1 510 27 0 538 974
% App Total 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.1% 93.6% 0.3% 0.0% 48.7% 0.0% 51.3% 0.0% 0.2% 94.8% 5.0% 0.0%

PHF .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .786 .790 .250 .000 .792 .559 .000 .909 .000 .696 .250 .856 .844 .000 .873 .851

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:45 to 17:45
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 0 0 0 0 0 10 89 0 0 99 1 0 8 0 9 0 76 11 0 87 195
17:00 0 0 0 0 0 4 107 0 0 111 5 0 3 0 8 0 74 12 0 86 205
17:15 0 0 0 0 0 8 117 0 0 125 10 0 9 0 19 0 75 6 0 81 225
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 15 90 0 0 105 5 0 7 0 12 0 101 7 0 108 225

Total Volume 0 0 0 0 0 37 403 0 0 440 21 0 27 0 48 0 326 36 0 362 850
% App Total 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 8.4% 91.6% 0.0% 0.0% 43.8% 0.0% 56.3% 0.0% 0.0% 90.1% 9.9% 0.0%

PHF .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .617 .861 .000 .000 .880 .525 .000 .750 .000 .632 .000 .807 .750 .000 .838 .944

Southbound
PM PEAK 

HOUR

Augusta Lane
Northbound

AM PEAK 
HOUR

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

Augusta Lane
Northbound

Juniper Avenue
WestboundSouthbound

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

Juniper Avenue
Westbound



File Name  :
Date  :

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total Uturn Total
07:00 13 42 12 0 67 17 27 12 0 56 25 32 20 0 77 20 42 25 0 87 287 0
07:15 12 42 15 0 69 7 26 7 0 40 37 57 23 6 123 24 53 43 0 120 352 6
07:30 24 55 9 0 88 24 38 13 0 75 29 59 55 12 155 38 78 37 0 153 471 12
07:45 46 58 26 0 130 42 50 36 0 128 38 93 59 22 212 31 90 49 0 170 640 22
Total 95 197 62 0 354 90 141 68 0 299 129 241 157 40 567 113 263 154 0 530 1750 40

08:00 7 25 23 0 55 17 34 11 0 62 35 41 11 12 99 24 63 22 0 109 325 12
08:15 7 32 14 1 54 3 16 1 0 20 14 34 7 1 56 23 34 11 0 68 198 2
08:30 4 35 11 0 50 3 19 1 0 23 6 25 11 1 43 5 40 14 0 59 175 1
08:45 4 29 7 0 40 5 20 4 0 29 9 34 2 0 45 16 42 4 0 62 176 0
Total 22 121 55 1 199 28 89 17 0 134 64 134 31 14 243 68 179 51 0 298 874 15

16:00 11 43 20 0 74 14 64 13 0 91 30 48 17 0 95 17 51 14 0 82 342 0
16:15 11 50 34 0 95 12 54 11 0 77 19 41 16 0 76 19 38 12 0 69 317 0
16:30 11 40 26 0 77 17 63 13 0 93 24 55 18 1 98 11 47 15 0 73 341 1
16:45 14 47 17 0 78 7 54 10 0 71 27 49 26 1 103 17 48 23 0 88 340 1
Total 47 180 97 0 324 50 235 47 0 332 100 193 77 2 372 64 184 64 0 312 1340 2

17:00 6 53 29 0 88 20 57 14 0 91 26 55 17 0 98 19 43 13 0 75 352 0
17:15 12 35 24 1 72 18 72 8 0 98 27 60 19 0 106 17 47 16 0 80 356 1
17:30 11 47 28 0 86 12 53 13 0 78 26 47 20 1 94 24 56 28 0 108 366 1
17:45 14 45 12 0 71 16 40 7 0 63 19 51 21 1 92 19 41 16 0 76 302 1
Total 43 180 93 1 317 66 222 42 0 330 98 213 77 2 390 79 187 73 0 339 1376 3

Grand Total 207 678 307 2 1194 234 687 174 0 1095 391 781 342 58 1572 324 813 342 0 1479 5340 60
Apprch % 17.3% 56.8% 25.7% 0.2% 21.4% 62.7% 15.9% 0.0% 24.9% 49.7% 21.8% 3.7% 21.9% 55.0% 23.1% 0.0%

Total % 3.9% 12.7% 5.7% 0.0% 22.4% 4.4% 12.9% 3.3% 0.0% 20.5% 7.3% 14.6% 6.4% 1.1% 29.4% 6.1% 15.2% 6.4% 0.0% 27.7% 100.0%

14-7744-002 Buhach Road-Avenue Two.ppd

Unshifted Count = All Vehicles
Nothing on Bank 2

11/18/2014

Buhach Road
Southbound

Avenue Two
Westbound

Buhach Road
Northbound

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater
All Vehicles on Unshifted
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
(916) 771-8700

orders@atdtraffic.com



File Name  :
Date  :

14-7744-002 Buhach Road-Avenue Two.ppd

Unshifted Count = All Vehicles
Nothing on Bank 2

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater
All Vehicles on Unshifted
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
(916) 771-8700

orders@atdtraffic.com

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 07:15 to 08:15
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 07:15

07:15 12 42 15 0 69 7 26 7 0 40 37 57 23 6 123 24 53 43 0 120 352
07:30 24 55 9 0 88 24 38 13 0 75 29 59 55 12 155 38 78 37 0 153 471
07:45 46 58 26 0 130 42 50 36 0 128 38 93 59 22 212 31 90 49 0 170 640
08:00 7 25 23 0 55 17 34 11 0 62 35 41 11 12 99 24 63 22 0 109 325

Total Volume 89 180 73 0 342 90 148 67 0 305 139 250 148 52 589 117 284 151 0 552 1788
% App Total 26.0% 52.6% 21.3% 0.0% 29.5% 48.5% 22.0% 0.0% 23.6% 42.4% 25.1% 8.8% 21.2% 51.4% 27.4% 0.0%

PHF .484 .776 .702 .000 .658 .536 .740 .465 .000 .596 .914 .672 .627 .591 .695 .770 .789 .770 .000 .812 .698

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:45 to 17:45
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 14 47 17 0 78 7 54 10 0 71 27 49 26 1 103 17 48 23 0 88 340
17:00 6 53 29 0 88 20 57 14 0 91 26 55 17 0 98 19 43 13 0 75 352
17:15 12 35 24 1 72 18 72 8 0 98 27 60 19 0 106 17 47 16 0 80 356
17:30 11 47 28 0 86 12 53 13 0 78 26 47 20 1 94 24 56 28 0 108 366

Total Volume 43 182 98 1 324 57 236 45 0 338 106 211 82 2 401 77 194 80 0 351 1414
% App Total 13.3% 56.2% 30.2% 0.3% 16.9% 69.8% 13.3% 0.0% 26.4% 52.6% 20.4% 0.5% 21.9% 55.3% 22.8% 0.0%

PHF .768 .858 .845 .250 .920 .713 .819 .804 .000 .862 .981 .879 .788 .500 .946 .802 .866 .714 .000 .813 .966

Buhach Road
Southbound

PM PEAK 
HOUR

Buhach Road
Northbound

AM PEAK 
HOUR

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

Buhach Road
Northbound

Avenue Two
Westbound

Buhach Road
Southbound

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

Avenue Two
Westbound



File Name  :
Date  :

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total Uturn Total
07:00 14 59 0 4 77 4 0 14 0 18 0 62 11 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 168 4
07:15 29 61 0 12 102 10 0 36 0 46 0 71 24 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 243 12
07:30 29 83 0 12 124 10 0 30 0 40 0 131 27 0 158 0 0 0 0 0 322 12
07:45 45 113 0 13 171 13 0 81 0 94 0 113 58 0 171 0 0 0 0 0 436 13
Total 117 316 0 41 474 37 0 161 0 198 0 377 120 0 497 0 0 0 0 0 1169 41

08:00 5 66 0 4 75 1 0 6 0 7 0 67 7 0 74 0 0 0 0 0 156 4
08:15 0 44 0 3 47 2 0 3 0 5 0 48 2 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 102 3
08:30 1 43 0 3 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 37 1 0 38 0 0 0 0 0 85 3
08:45 2 41 0 2 45 0 0 1 0 1 0 37 0 0 37 0 0 0 0 0 83 2
Total 8 194 0 12 214 3 0 10 0 13 0 189 10 0 199 0 0 0 0 0 426 12

16:00 2 61 0 3 66 2 0 2 0 4 0 92 1 0 93 0 0 0 0 0 163 3
16:15 2 77 0 1 80 5 0 0 0 5 0 68 4 0 72 0 0 0 0 0 157 1
16:30 0 70 0 0 70 5 0 5 0 10 0 90 2 0 92 0 0 0 0 0 172 0
16:45 9 75 0 2 86 4 0 10 0 14 0 87 8 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 195 2
Total 13 283 0 6 302 16 0 17 0 33 0 337 15 0 352 0 0 0 0 0 687 6

17:00 6 71 0 1 78 1 0 1 0 2 0 94 2 0 96 0 0 0 0 0 176 1
17:15 4 57 0 1 62 0 0 1 0 1 0 100 2 0 102 0 0 0 0 0 165 1
17:30 13 79 0 3 95 2 0 1 0 3 0 86 9 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 193 3
17:45 21 54 0 1 76 0 0 2 0 2 0 89 8 0 97 0 0 0 0 0 175 1
Total 44 261 0 6 311 3 0 5 0 8 0 369 21 0 390 0 0 0 0 0 709 6

Grand Total 182 1054 0 65 1301 59 0 193 0 252 0 1272 166 0 1438 0 0 0 0 0 2991 65
Apprch % 14.0% 81.0% 0.0% 5.0% 23.4% 0.0% 76.6% 0.0% 0.0% 88.5% 11.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Total % 6.1% 35.2% 0.0% 2.2% 43.5% 2.0% 0.0% 6.5% 0.0% 8.4% 0.0% 42.5% 5.5% 0.0% 48.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0%

14-7744-003 Buhach Road-BCHS South Driveway.ppd

Unshifted Count = All Vehicles
Nothing on Bank 2

11/18/2014

Buhach Road
Southbound

BCHS South Driveway
Westbound

Buhach Road
Northbound Eastbound

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater
All Vehicles on Unshifted
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
(916) 771-8700

orders@atdtraffic.com



File Name  :
Date  :

14-7744-003 Buhach Road-BCHS South Driveway.ppd

Unshifted Count = All Vehicles
Nothing on Bank 2

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater
All Vehicles on Unshifted
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
(916) 771-8700

orders@atdtraffic.com

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 to 08:00
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 07:00

07:00 14 59 0 4 77 4 0 14 0 18 0 62 11 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 168
07:15 29 61 0 12 102 10 0 36 0 46 0 71 24 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 243
07:30 29 83 0 12 124 10 0 30 0 40 0 131 27 0 158 0 0 0 0 0 322
07:45 45 113 0 13 171 13 0 81 0 94 0 113 58 0 171 0 0 0 0 0 436

Total Volume 117 316 0 41 474 37 0 161 0 198 0 377 120 0 497 0 0 0 0 0 1169
% App Total 24.7% 66.7% 0.0% 8.6% 18.7% 0.0% 81.3% 0.0% 0.0% 75.9% 24.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

PHF .650 .699 .000 .788 .693 .712 .000 .497 .000 .527 .000 .719 .517 .000 .727 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .670

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT UTURNS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:45 to 17:45
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 9 75 0 2 86 4 0 10 0 14 0 87 8 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 195
17:00 6 71 0 1 78 1 0 1 0 2 0 94 2 0 96 0 0 0 0 0 176
17:15 4 57 0 1 62 0 0 1 0 1 0 100 2 0 102 0 0 0 0 0 165
17:30 13 79 0 3 95 2 0 1 0 3 0 86 9 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 193

Total Volume 32 282 0 7 321 7 0 13 0 20 0 367 21 0 388 0 0 0 0 0 729
% App Total 10.0% 87.9% 0.0% 2.2% 35.0% 0.0% 65.0% 0.0% 0.0% 94.6% 5.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

PHF .615 .892 .000 .583 .845 .438 .000 .325 .000 .357 .000 .918 .583 .000 .951 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .935

Buhach Road
Southbound

PM PEAK 
HOUR

Buhach Road
Northbound

AM PEAK 
HOUR

Eastbound
Buhach Road
Northbound

BCHS South Driveway
Westbound

Buhach Road
Southbound Eastbound

BCHS South Driveway
Westbound



File Name  :
Date  :

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total Ped Total
07:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
07:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 8
07:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 3 14 3 0 1 0 0 1 5 14
07:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 17 2 0 1 0 3 1 3 20
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 6 42 6 0 2 0 3 2 10 45

08:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1
08:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
08:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
08:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 7 1 0 1 0 0 1 2 7

16:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
16:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
16:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 7
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 12

17:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
17:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
17:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Grand Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 3 0 0 7 60 7 0 3 0 5 3 13 65
Apprch % 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 33.3% 66.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0%

Total % 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 7.7% 15.4% 0.0% 23.1% 0.0% 0.0% 53.8% 53.8% 0.0% 23.1% 0.0% 23.1% 100.0%

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

Nothing on Bank 2

Southbound
Juniper Avenue

Westbound
Augusta Lane
Northbound

Bank 1 Count = Peds & Bikes

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater (916) 771-8700
All Vehicles on Unshifted orders@atdtraffic.com 14-7744-001 Augusta Lane-Juniper Avenue.ppd
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1



File Name  :
Date  :

Nothing on Bank 2
Bank 1 Count = Peds & Bikes

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater (916) 771-8700
All Vehicles on Unshifted orders@atdtraffic.com 14-7744-001 Augusta Lane-Juniper Avenue.ppd
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 07:15 to 08:15
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 07:15

07:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
07:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 3 14 3 0 1 0 0 1 5
07:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 17 2 0 1 0 3 1 3
08:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

Total Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 6 40 6 0 3 0 3 3 11
% App Total 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0%

PHF .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .500 .000 .500 .000 .000 .500 .500 .000 .750 .000 .750 .550

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:45 to 17:45
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 2 0 0
17:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
17:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Volume 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 2 0 1
% App Total 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

PHF .000 .000 .000 .000 .250 .000 .000 .250 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .250

PM PEAK 
HOUR Southbound

Juniper Avenue
Westbound

Augusta Lane
Northbound

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

AM PEAK 
HOUR Southbound

Juniper Avenue
Westbound

Augusta Lane
Northbound

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound



File Name  :
Date  :

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total Ped Total
07:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 23
07:15 0 0 1 3 1 0 1 1 8 2 0 0 0 17 0 0 1 0 1 1 4 29
07:30 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 24 0 0 3 0 5 3 4 39
07:45 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 32 0 0 0 0 26 0 0 4 0 1 4 5 59
Total 1 1 1 3 3 0 1 1 55 2 0 0 0 82 0 0 8 0 10 8 13 150

08:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 2
08:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 2 1 1 4
08:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2
08:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 6 0 1 1 0 4 2 2 12

16:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
16:15 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 9
16:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 5 1 0 0 0 3 0 1 10
16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 8
Total 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 13 1 0 0 0 11 0 1 29

17:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2
17:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
17:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 8

Grand Total 1 1 1 4 3 0 1 1 63 2 1 1 0 107 2 1 9 0 25 10 17 199
Apprch % 33.3% 33.3% 33.3% 0.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 0.0% 10.0% 90.0% 0.0%

Total % 5.9% 5.9% 5.9% 17.6% 0.0% 5.9% 5.9% 11.8% 5.9% 5.9% 0.0% 11.8% 5.9% 52.9% 0.0% 58.8% 100.0%

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

Nothing on Bank 2

Buhach Road
Southbound

Avenue Two
Westbound

Buhach Road
Northbound

Bank 1 Count = Peds & Bikes

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater (916) 771-8700
All Vehicles on Unshifted orders@atdtraffic.com 14-7744-002 Buhach Road-Avenue Two.ppd
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1



File Name  :
Date  :

Nothing on Bank 2
Bank 1 Count = Peds & Bikes

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater (916) 771-8700
All Vehicles on Unshifted orders@atdtraffic.com 14-7744-002 Buhach Road-Avenue Two.ppd
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 07:15 to 08:15
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 07:15

07:15 0 0 1 3 1 0 1 1 8 2 0 0 0 17 0 0 1 0 1 1 4
07:30 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 24 0 0 3 0 5 3 4
07:45 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 32 0 0 0 0 26 0 0 4 0 1 4 5
08:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

Total Volume 1 1 1 3 3 0 1 1 52 2 0 0 0 67 0 0 9 0 7 9 14
% App Total 33.3% 33.3% 33.3% 0.0% 50.0% 50.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0%

PHF .250 .250 .250 .750 .000 .250 .250 .250 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .563 .000 .563 .700

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:45 to 17:45
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 5 0 0
17:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
17:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 8 1 0 0 0 5 0 1
% App Total 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

PHF .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .250 .000 .000 .250 .000 .000 .000 .000 .250

PM PEAK 
HOUR

Buhach Road
Southbound

Avenue Two
Westbound

Buhach Road
Northbound

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound

AM PEAK 
HOUR

Buhach Road
Southbound

Avenue Two
Westbound

Buhach Road
Northbound

Juniper Avenue
Eastbound



File Name  :
Date  :

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total Ped Total
07:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
07:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
07:30 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
07:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
Total 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

08:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
08:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
08:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
08:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

16:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
16:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
16:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

17:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
17:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
17:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Grand Total 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 1 17 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 21
Apprch % 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Total % 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0%

Eastbound

Nothing on Bank 2

Buhach Road
Southbound

BCHS South Driveway
Westbound

Buhach Road
Northbound

Bank 1 Count = Peds & Bikes

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater (916) 771-8700
All Vehicles on Unshifted orders@atdtraffic.com 14-7744-003 Buhach Road-BCHS South Driveway.ppd
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1



File Name  :
Date  :

Nothing on Bank 2
Bank 1 Count = Peds & Bikes

11/18/2014

ALL TRAFFIC DATA
City of Atwater (916) 771-8700
All Vehicles on Unshifted orders@atdtraffic.com 14-7744-003 Buhach Road-BCHS South Driveway.ppd
Peds & Bikes on Bank 1

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 to 08:00
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 07:00

07:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
07:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
07:30 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
07:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Volume 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
% App Total 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

PHF .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000

START TIME LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL LEFT THRU RIGHT PEDS APP.TOTAL Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:45 to 17:45
Peak Hour For Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
17:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
17:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
17:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
% App Total 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

PHF .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .250 .250 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .250

PM PEAK 
HOUR

Buhach Road
Southbound

BCHS South Driveway
Westbound

Buhach Road
Northbound Eastbound

AM PEAK 
HOUR

Buhach Road
Southbound

BCHS South Driveway
Westbound

Buhach Road
Northbound Eastbound



Prepared by NDS/ATD

City: Atwater Project #: 14-7746-001
Location: Juniper Avenue between August Lane and Buhach Road
Start
Time Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon
12:00 3 65   5 51   
12:15 2 66   9 69   
12:30 4 51   2 77   
12:45 6 52 15 234 3 62 19 259 34 493
1:00 1 53   3 65   
1:15 3 54   0 61   
1:30 3 61   4 65   
1:45 1 54 8 222 1 98 8 289 16 511
2:00 0 51   3 69   
2:15 3 75   1 80   
2:30 4 98   3 90   
2:45 1 95 8 319 1 115 8 354 16 673
3:00 1 104   3 109   
3:15 0 77   2 90   
3:30 5 74   3 105   
3:45 5 90 11 345 4 95 12 399 23 744
4:00 8 73   5 118   
4:15 6 67   2 105   
4:30 13 76   5 116   
4:45 10 86 37 302 9 94 21 433 58 735
5:00 7 82   7 118   
5:15 18 83   8 122   
5:30 23 102   9 109   
5:45 24 76 72 343 22 68 46 417 118 760
6:00 23 61   15 69   
6:15 41 50   15 72   
6:30 56 70   28 52   
6:45 95 26 215 207 66 56 124 249 339 456
7:00 89 48   61 57   
7:15 124 40   74 50   
7:30 161 27   82 54   
7:45 154 25 528 140 120 36 337 197 865 337
8:00 96 43   84 33   
8:15 74 36   46 35   
8:30 52 30   35 35   
8:45 67 22 289 131 32 40 197 143 486 274
9:00 63 24   32 37   
9:15 63 25   43 33   
9:30 65 17   43 59   
9:45 55 14 246 80 47 21 165 150 411 230

10:00 61 17   38 24   
10:15 59 8   38 7   
10:30 63 10   41 14   
10:45 43 9 226 44 55 15 172 60 398 104
11:00 46 7   57 7   
11:15 59 6   48 10   
11:30 63 10   47 6   
11:45 56 4 224 27 54 5 206 28 430 55
Total 1879 2394 1879 2394 1315 2978 1315 2978 3194 5372

Combined
Total

AM Peak 7:15 AM 7:15 AM
Vol. 535 360

P.H.F. 0.831 0.750
PM Peak 2:30 PM 4:30 PM

Vol. 374 450
P.H.F. 0.899 0.922

Percentage 44.0% 56.0% 30.6% 69.4%

Volumes for: Tuesday, November 18, 2014

Combined TotalsEastbound Hour Totals Westbound Hour Totals

85664273 4273 4293 4293



Prepared by NDS/ATD

City: Atwater Project #: 14-7746-002
Location: Buhach Road north of Juniper Avenue
Start
Time Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon
12:00 7 58   7 48   
12:15 5 56   7 49   
12:30 8 48   2 54   
12:45 6 55 26 217 2 55 18 206 44 423
1:00 5 52   3 56   
1:15 2 41   2 39   
1:30 7 51   4 59   
1:45 3 57 17 201 4 53 13 207 30 408
2:00 4 63   1 47   
2:15 4 70   2 63   
2:30 2 57   4 82   
2:45 5 128 15 318 5 92 12 284 27 602
3:00 3 110   4 93   
3:15 5 82   6 94   
3:30 1 68   3 68   
3:45 3 83 12 343 3 57 16 312 28 655
4:00 4 72   7 80   
4:15 6 74   4 93   
4:30 9 75   11 81   
4:45 2 82 21 303 11 73 33 327 54 630
5:00 8 81   19 78   
5:15 17 88   17 74   
5:30 19 78   31 90   
5:45 20 79 64 326 14 69 81 311 145 637
6:00 29 44   23 64   
6:15 30 52   20 52   
6:30 28 41   46 50   
6:45 54 40 141 177 49 23 138 189 279 366
7:00 66 44   65 32   
7:15 83 29   74 32   
7:30 117 30   101 36   
7:45 164 34 430 137 120 21 360 121 790 258
8:00 72 31   54 30   
8:15 55 47   56 23   
8:30 34 29   43 25   
8:45 52 21 213 128 45 25 198 103 411 231
9:00 41 21   31 26   
9:15 35 30   29 17   
9:30 47 27   35 23 0  
9:45 43 21 166 99 43 18 138 84 304 183

10:00 37 13   34 12   
10:15 43 12   31 11   
10:30 44 12   31 10   
10:45 42 11 166 48 50 9 146 42 312 90
11:00 43 8   41 5   
11:15 46 8   46 8   
11:30 50 16   59 4   
11:45 45 2 184 34 54 5 200 22 384 56
Total 1455 2331 1455 2331 1353 2208 1353 2208 2808 4539

Combined
Total

AM Peak 7:15 AM 7:00 AM
Vol. 436 360

P.H.F. 0.665 0.750
PM Peak 2:45 PM 2:30 PM

Vol. 388 361
P.H.F. 0.785 0.960

Percentage 38.4% 61.6% 38.0% 62.0%

Southbound Hour Totals

Volumes for: Tuesday, November 18, 2014

73473786 3786 3561 3561

Combined TotalsNorthbound Hour Totals



Prepared by NDS/ATD

City: Atwater Project #: 14-7746-003
Location: Buhach Road south of Juniper Avenue
Start
Time Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon
12:00 5 53   7 53   
12:15 8 73   7 52   
12:30 5 59   0 59   
12:45 8 59 26 244 1 43 15 207 41 451
1:00 3 56   2 45   
1:15 1 38   1 45   
1:30 3 50   1 51   
1:45 2 74 9 218 2 59 6 200 15 418
2:00 5 70   1 62   
2:15 6 70   2 65   
2:30 0 79   4 88   
2:45 4 160 15 379 6 117 13 332 28 711
3:00 4 122   4 109   
3:15 3 73   6 94   
3:30 2 89   1 68   
3:45 3 82 12 366 6 63 17 334 29 700
4:00 4 96   9 60   
4:15 5 73   8 84   
4:30 7 98   8 74   
4:45 8 97 24 364 12 79 37 297 61 661
5:00 8 99   22 76   
5:15 7 101   19 72   
5:30 20 91   38 87   
5:45 21 90 56 381 16 78 95 313 151 694
6:00 28 54   20 74   
6:15 36 55   28 49   
6:30 38 42   52 45   
6:45 87 45 189 196 85 14 185 182 374 378
7:00 81 38   85 32   
7:15 110 28   96 31   
7:30 175 34   129 31   
7:45 199 36 565 136 170 28 480 122 1045 258
8:00 87 37   74 31   
8:15 53 45   50 25   
8:30 35 16   47 22   
8:45 45 24 220 122 43 17 214 95 434 217
9:00 38 25   38 24   
9:15 34 25   32 26   
9:30 43 21   40 19 0  
9:45 47 20 162 91 43 18 153 87 315 178

10:00 40 15   33 17   
10:15 32 11   42 9   
10:30 42 15   33 14   
10:45 39 11 153 52 41 6 149 46 302 98
11:00 48 2   32 5   
11:15 53 13   48 4   
11:30 53 12   65 5   
11:45 54 5 208 32 49 3 194 17 402 49
Total 1639 2581 1639 2581 1558 2232 1558 2232 3197 4813

Combined
Total

AM Peak 7:15 AM 7:00 AM
Vol. 571 480

P.H.F. 0.717 0.706
PM Peak 2:45 PM 2:30 PM

Vol. 444 408
P.H.F. 0.669 0.872

Percentage 38.8% 61.2% 41.1% 58.9%

80104220 4220 3790 3790

Combined TotalsNorthbound Hour Totals Southbound Hour Totals

Volumes for: Tuesday, November 18, 2014



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Appendix C 

 

APPENDIX C 
 
Intersection Level of Service Worksheets 
 
  



EXISTING CONDITION 

  



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing AM Peak Hour
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.2
 

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 510 27 22 335 38 40
Future Vol, veh/h 510 27 22 335 38 40
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 3 3 0 0 40
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 115 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 79 79 67 67
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 586 31 28 424 57 60
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 657 0 910 352
          Stage 1 - - - - 642 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 268 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.16 - 6.86 6.96
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.86 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.86 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.23 - 3.53 3.33
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 920 - 272 641
          Stage 1 - - - - 483 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 750 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 917 - 253 615
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 253 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 465 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 725 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.6 19.6
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 362 - - 917 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.322 - - 0.03 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 19.6 - - 9 -
HCM Lane LOS C - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.4 - - 0.1 -



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing AM Peak Hour
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 117 284 151 90 148 67 52 139 250 148 89 180
Future Volume (veh/h) 117 284 151 90 148 67 52 139 250 148 89 180
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.91 1.00 0.92 1.00 0.93 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 144 351 186 150 247 112 199 357 211 135 273
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1 2
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 404 424 329 416 277 126 229 584 337 164 582
Arrive On Green 0.23 0.23 0.23 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.13 0.28 0.28 0.09 0.24
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 1845 1433 1757 1169 530 1757 2079 1198 1757 2388
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 144 351 186 150 0 359 199 299 269 135 197
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1845 1433 1757 0 1699 1757 1752 1525 1757 1752
Q Serve(g_s), s 7.3 19.1 12.1 7.5 0.0 21.6 11.7 15.6 16.2 8.0 10.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 7.3 19.1 12.1 7.5 0.0 21.6 11.7 15.6 16.2 8.0 10.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.31 1.00 0.79 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 404 424 329 416 0 402 229 493 429 164 427
V/C Ratio(X) 0.36 0.83 0.57 0.36 0.00 0.89 0.87 0.61 0.63 0.82 0.46
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 433 455 353 428 0 414 263 493 429 198 427
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 34.1 38.7 36.0 33.6 0.0 39.0 45.0 32.9 33.1 47.0 34.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.5 11.5 1.8 0.5 0.0 20.6 22.9 5.5 6.8 20.6 3.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.6 11.1 4.9 3.7 0.0 12.4 7.2 8.3 7.6 4.8 5.3
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 34.6 50.1 37.8 34.1 0.0 59.6 67.8 38.4 39.9 67.5 37.6
LnGrp LOS C D D C E E D D E D
Approach Vol, veh/h 681 509 767 519
Approach Delay, s/veh 43.5 52.1 46.5 45.8
Approach LOS D D D D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 14.0 33.9 28.4 18.0 29.9 29.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 12 * 30 * 26 * 16 * 26 25.7
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 10.0 18.2 21.1 13.7 12.8 23.6
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.1 4.2 1.4 0.1 4.5 0.6

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 46.7
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing AM Peak Hour
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 10.4
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 37 161 377 120 41 117 316
Future Vol, veh/h 37 161 377 120 41 117 316
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length 0 - - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 70 304 516 164 59 170 458
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1211 266 0 0 681 524 0
          Stage 1 524 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 687 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 173 729 - - 528 1032 -
          Stage 1 556 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 458 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 172 723 - - 740 740 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 172 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 552 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 458 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 40.9 0 4
HCM LOS E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 452 740 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.827 0.309 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 40.9 12 -
HCM Lane LOS - - E B -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 7.9 1.3 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing PM Peak Hour
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.1
 

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 326 36 37 403 21 27
Future Vol, veh/h 326 36 37 403 21 27
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 3 3 0 0 40
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 115 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 79 79 67 67
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 375 41 47 510 31 40
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 456 0 784 251
          Stage 1 - - - - 435 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 349 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.16 - 6.86 6.96
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.86 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.86 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.23 - 3.53 3.33
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1094 - 328 746
          Stage 1 - - - - 617 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 682 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1091 - 301 716
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 593 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 593 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 651 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.7 11.2
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 656 - - 1091 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.109 - - 0.043 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.2 - - 8.4 -
HCM Lane LOS B - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - - 0.1 -



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing PM Peak Hour
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 77 194 80 57 236 45 2 106 211 82 1 43
Future Volume (veh/h) 77 194 80 57 236 45 2 106 211 82 1 43
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.90 1.00 0.93 1.00 0.93 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 95 240 99 95 393 75 151 301 117 65
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 353 371 285 511 432 82 181 737 278 84
Arrive On Green 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.10 0.30 0.30 0.05
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 1845 1416 1757 1487 284 1757 2439 919 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 95 240 99 95 0 468 151 214 204 65
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1845 1416 1757 0 1771 1757 1752 1605 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 4.8 12.6 6.4 4.3 0.0 27.0 8.9 10.3 10.8 3.9
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.8 12.6 6.4 4.3 0.0 27.0 8.9 10.3 10.8 3.9
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.16 1.00 0.57 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 353 371 285 511 0 515 181 529 485 84
V/C Ratio(X) 0.27 0.65 0.35 0.19 0.00 0.91 0.83 0.40 0.42 0.78
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 433 455 349 604 0 609 242 529 485 169
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 35.7 38.8 36.3 28.2 0.0 36.2 46.6 29.4 29.5 49.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.4 2.3 0.7 0.2 0.0 16.0 16.7 2.3 2.7 14.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.4 6.7 2.5 2.1 0.0 15.4 5.2 5.3 5.1 2.2
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 36.1 41.1 37.0 28.3 0.0 52.2 63.3 31.7 32.2 64.1
LnGrp LOS D D D C D E C C E
Approach Vol, veh/h 434 563 569
Approach Delay, s/veh 39.1 48.2 40.3
Approach LOS D D D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 9.2 36.2 25.5 15.1 30.3 35.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 10 * 31 * 26 * 15 * 26 36.4
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.9 12.8 14.6 10.9 14.3 29.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.5 1.4 0.1 3.7 1.8

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 42.8
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing PM Peak Hour
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 13 367 21 7 32 282
Future Vol, veh/h 7 13 367 21 7 32 282
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length 0 - - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 13 25 503 29 10 46 409
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 828 259 0 0 392 511 0
          Stage 1 511 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 317 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 307 737 - - 806 1043 -
          Stage 1 564 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 708 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 305 731 - - 987 987 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 560 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 560 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 708 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.8 0 1.1
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 660 987 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.057 0.057 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 10.8 8.9 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.2 0.2 -



EXISTING PLUS PROJECT 

  



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing + Project AM Peak Hour
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 23
 

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 133 548 27 38 418 20 28 19 57 40 10 67
Future Vol, veh/h 133 548 27 38 418 20 28 19 57 40 10 67
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 200 - - 115 - - - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 79 79 79 67 67 67 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 153 630 31 48 529 25 42 28 85 43 11 73
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 554 0 0 701 0 0 1357 1642 373 1313 1645 280
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 991 991 - 638 638 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 366 651 - 675 1007 -
Critical Hdwy 4.16 - - 4.16 - - 7.56 6.56 6.96 7.56 6.56 6.96
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.56 5.56 - 6.56 5.56 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.56 5.56 - 6.56 5.56 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.23 - - 2.23 - - 3.53 4.03 3.33 3.53 4.03 3.33
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1005 - - 885 - - 107 98 622 115 98 714
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 262 320 - 429 467 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 623 460 - 408 314 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1002 - - 882 - - 70 76 597 60 76 712
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 70 76 - 60 76 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 214 261 - 363 442 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 514 435 - 263 256 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.7 0.7 171.1 84.4
HCM LOS F F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 140 1002 - - 882 - - 63 712
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 1.109 0.153 - - 0.055 - - 0.863 0.102
HCM Control Delay (s) 171.1 9.2 - - 9.3 - - 183.4 10.6
HCM Lane LOS F A - - A - - F B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 8.6 0.5 - - 0.2 - - 4 0.3



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing + Project AM Peak Hour
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBU EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 24 179 303 172 110 161 90 113 191 360 156 108
Future Volume (veh/h) 24 179 303 172 110 161 90 113 191 360 156 108
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.92 1.00 0.93 1.00 0.93 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 221 374 212 183 268 150 273 514 223 164
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 435 457 357 442 271 152 134 676 292 82
Arrive On Green 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.08 0.29 0.29 0.05
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 1845 1441 1757 1078 604 1757 2328 1004 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 221 374 212 183 0 418 273 386 351 164
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1845 1441 1757 0 1682 1757 1752 1580 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 11.1 19.6 13.3 8.9 0.0 25.4 7.8 20.6 20.8 4.8
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 11.1 19.6 13.3 8.9 0.0 25.4 7.8 20.6 20.8 4.8
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.36 1.00 0.64 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 435 457 357 442 0 423 134 509 459 82
V/C Ratio(X) 0.51 0.82 0.59 0.41 0.00 0.99 2.04 0.76 0.76 2.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 733 769 601 442 0 423 134 509 459 82
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 33.2 36.4 34.1 32.1 0.0 38.3 47.4 33.1 33.2 48.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.9 3.7 1.6 0.6 0.0 40.6 494.9 10.2 11.5 488.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 5.5 10.4 5.5 4.4 0.0 16.5 22.1 11.4 10.5 13.5
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 34.1 40.1 35.6 32.7 0.0 78.9 542.3 43.3 44.7 537.1
LnGrp LOS C D D C E F D D F
Approach Vol, veh/h 807 601 1010
Approach Delay, s/veh 37.3 64.8 178.7
Approach LOS D E F

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 9.0 34.0 29.6 12.0 31.0 30.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 4.8 * 30 * 43 * 7.8 * 27 25.8
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.8 22.8 21.6 9.8 20.8 27.4
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.2 3.4 0.0 3.7 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 113.8
HCM 2010 LOS F

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing + Project AM Peak Hour
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 51.1
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 37 161 544 120 130 117 425
Future Vol, veh/h 37 161 544 120 130 117 425
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length 0 - - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 70 304 745 164 188 170 616
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1777 381 0 0 848 753 0
          Stage 1 753 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 1024 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 73 614 - - 412 846 -
          Stage 1 423 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 305 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 72 609 - - 435 435 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 72 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 420 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 305 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 268.6 0 15.3
HCM LOS F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 254 435 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 1.471 0.823 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 268.6 41.5 -
HCM Lane LOS - - F E -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 21.5 7.7 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing + Project AM Peak Hour
4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.3
 

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 60 133 113 487 384 57
Future Vol, veh/h 60 133 113 487 384 57
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 150 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 65 145 123 529 417 62
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 958 240 479 0 - 0
          Stage 1 448 - - - - -
          Stage 2 510 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 2.23 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 253 758 1073 - - -
          Stage 1 608 - - - - -
          Stage 2 565 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 224 758 1073 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 224 - - - - -
          Stage 1 608 - - - - -
          Stage 2 500 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 16.1 1.7 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1073 - 224 758 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.114 - 0.291 0.191 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 - 27.5 10.9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - 1.2 0.7 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing + Project AM Peak Hour
5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.4
 

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 23 91 113 434 342 28
Future Vol, veh/h 23 91 113 434 342 28
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 0 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 25 99 123 472 372 30
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1104 201 402 0 - 0
          Stage 1 387 - - - - -
          Stage 2 717 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.645 6.945 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.845 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.445 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5285 3.3285 2.23 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 218 804 1146 - - -
          Stage 1 654 - - - - -
          Stage 2 480 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 195 804 1146 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 195 - - - - -
          Stage 1 654 - - - - -
          Stage 2 428 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.3 1.8 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1146 - 195 804 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.107 - 0.128 0.123 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.5 - 26.2 10.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - 0.4 0.4 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing + Project PM
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 42.9
 

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 155 394 36 65 561 22 9 22 52 54 13 90
Future Vol, veh/h 155 394 36 65 561 22 9 22 52 54 13 90
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 200 - - 115 - - - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 79 79 79 67 67 67 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 178 453 41 82 710 28 13 33 78 59 14 98
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 738 0 0 534 0 0 1397 1773 290 1528 1780 372
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 870 870 - 889 889 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 527 903 - 639 891 -
Critical Hdwy 4.16 - - 4.16 - - 7.56 6.56 6.96 7.56 6.56 6.96
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.56 5.56 - 6.56 5.56 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.56 5.56 - 6.56 5.56 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.23 - - 2.23 - - 3.53 4.03 3.33 3.53 4.03 3.33
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 857 - - 1023 - - 100 81 704 80 80 622
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 311 365 - 302 357 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 500 352 - 428 357 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 855 - - 1020 - - 52 57 675 ~ 31 56 620
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 52 57 - ~ 31 56 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 237 278 - 239 328 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 370 324 - 264 272 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 2.7 0.9 131.6 $ 338.7
HCM LOS F F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 130 855 - - 1020 - - 34 620
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.953 0.208 - - 0.081 - - 2.142 0.158
HCM Control Delay (s) 131.6 10.3 - - 8.8 - -$ 777.8 11.9
HCM Lane LOS F B - - A - - F B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 6.4 0.8 - - 0.3 - - 8.2 0.6

Notes
~: Volume exceeds capacity       $: Delay exceeds 300s      +: Computation Not Defined      *: All major volume in platoon



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing + Project PM
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBU EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 41 175 223 109 85 251 76 85 189 362 96 75
Future Volume (veh/h) 41 175 223 109 85 251 76 85 189 362 96 75
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.91 1.00 0.93 1.00 0.94 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 216 275 135 142 418 127 270 517 137 114
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 388 408 316 474 359 109 123 837 220 70
Arrive On Green 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.27 0.27 0.27 0.07 0.31 0.31 0.04
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 1845 1428 1757 1333 405 1757 2702 711 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 216 275 135 142 0 545 270 334 320 114
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1845 1428 1757 0 1738 1757 1752 1661 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 10.9 13.7 8.1 6.4 0.0 27.0 7.0 16.3 16.5 4.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 10.9 13.7 8.1 6.4 0.0 27.0 7.0 16.3 16.5 4.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.23 1.00 0.43 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 388 408 316 474 0 469 123 543 514 70
V/C Ratio(X) 0.56 0.67 0.43 0.30 0.00 1.16 2.20 0.62 0.62 1.62
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 737 774 599 474 0 469 123 543 514 70
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 34.6 35.7 33.5 29.1 0.0 36.6 46.6 29.5 29.6 48.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.2 1.9 0.9 0.4 0.0 94.7 565.0 5.2 5.6 336.7
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 5.4 7.2 3.3 3.2 0.0 25.2 22.7 8.7 8.4 8.5
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 35.9 37.6 34.5 29.4 0.0 131.3 611.6 34.6 35.1 384.8
LnGrp LOS D D C C F F C D F
Approach Vol, veh/h 626 687 924
Approach Delay, s/veh 36.4 110.2 203.4
Approach LOS D F F

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 8.0 35.0 26.1 11.0 32.0 31.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 4.0 31.0 42.0 7.0 28.0 27.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.0 18.5 15.7 9.0 27.9 29.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 7.1 2.6 0.0 0.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 120.3
HCM 2010 LOS F

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing + Project PM
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.1
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 13 579 21 165 32 461
Future Vol, veh/h 7 13 579 21 165 32 461
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length 0 - - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 13 25 793 29 239 46 668
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1706 405 0 0 604 801 0
          Stage 1 801 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 905 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 81 592 - - 591 812 -
          Stage 1 400 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 353 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 80 587 - - 606 606 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 80 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 397 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 353 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 29.9 0 4.8
HCM LOS D
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 182 606 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.207 0.471 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 29.9 16.1 -
HCM Lane LOS - - D C -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 2.5 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing + Project PM
4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.8
 

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 81 180 133 440 433 67
Future Vol, veh/h 81 180 133 440 433 67
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 150 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 88 196 145 478 471 73
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1035 272 543 0 - 0
          Stage 1 507 - - - - -
          Stage 2 528 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 2.23 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 226 723 1015 - - -
          Stage 1 567 - - - - -
          Stage 2 553 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 194 723 1015 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 194 - - - - -
          Stage 1 567 - - - - -
          Stage 2 474 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 20 2.1 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1015 - 194 723 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.142 - 0.454 0.271 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.1 - 38.1 11.8 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - E B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - 2.1 1.1 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing + Project PM
5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.7
 

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 48 191 183 338 295 46
Future Vol, veh/h 48 191 183 338 295 46
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 0 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 52 208 199 367 321 50
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1111 185 371 0 - 0
          Stage 1 346 - - - - -
          Stage 2 765 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.645 6.945 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.845 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.445 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5285 3.3285 2.23 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 215 824 1177 - - -
          Stage 1 686 - - - - -
          Stage 2 456 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 179 824 1177 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 179 - - - - -
          Stage 1 686 - - - - -
          Stage 2 379 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 15.3 3 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1177 - 179 824 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.169 - 0.291 0.252 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.7 - 33.2 10.8 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 - 1.2 1 - -



EXISTING PLUS PROJECT WITH MITIGATION 

  



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 133 548 27 38 418 20 28 19 57 40 10 67
Future Volume (veh/h) 133 548 27 38 418 20 28 19 57 40 10 67
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.95 0.97 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1900 1845 1900 1900 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 153 630 31 48 529 25 42 28 85 43 11 73
Adj No. of Lanes 1 2 0 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.87 0.87 0.87 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.67 0.67 0.67 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 203 1405 69 71 1154 54 168 115 215 424 92 399
Arrive On Green 0.12 0.41 0.41 0.04 0.34 0.34 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 3395 167 1757 3403 161 245 451 846 1081 362 1568
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 153 325 336 48 272 282 155 0 0 54 0 73
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1752 1810 1757 1752 1811 1542 0 0 1443 0 1568
Q Serve(g_s), s 3.7 5.8 5.8 1.2 5.3 5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.7 5.8 5.8 1.2 5.3 5.3 3.4 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.6
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.09 1.00 0.09 0.27 0.55 0.80 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 203 725 749 71 594 614 498 0 0 516 0 399
V/C Ratio(X) 0.76 0.45 0.45 0.67 0.46 0.46 0.31 0.00 0.00 0.10 0.00 0.18
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 723 1572 1623 317 1167 1206 1177 0 0 1116 0 1116
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 18.5 9.1 9.1 20.5 11.2 11.2 13.3 0.0 0.0 12.4 0.0 12.6
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 5.6 0.4 0.4 10.5 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.1 2.8 2.9 0.8 2.6 2.7 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.7
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 24.2 9.6 9.5 31.0 11.7 11.7 13.6 0.0 0.0 12.5 0.0 12.8
LnGrp LOS C A A C B B B B B
Approach Vol, veh/h 814 602 155 127
Approach Delay, s/veh 12.3 13.3 13.6 12.7
Approach LOS B B B B

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 2 3 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.2 6.0 22.1 15.2 9.2 18.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 31 * 7.8 * 39 * 31 * 18 * 29
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.4 3.2 7.8 3.6 5.7 7.3
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.5 0.0 7.8 1.6 0.3 7.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 12.8
HCM 2010 LOS B

Notes



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

* HCM 2010 computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBU EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 24 179 303 172 110 161 90 113 191 360 156 108
Future Volume (veh/h) 24 179 303 172 110 161 90 113 191 360 156 108
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.93 1.00 0.93 1.00 0.94 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 221 374 212 183 268 150 273 514 223 164
Adj No. of Lanes 1 2 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 251 1002 416 217 291 163 305 741 319 193
Arrive On Green 0.14 0.29 0.29 0.12 0.27 0.27 0.17 0.32 0.32 0.11
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 3505 1455 1757 1080 605 1757 2333 1006 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 221 374 212 183 0 418 273 385 352 164
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1752 1455 1757 0 1685 1757 1752 1587 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 13.6 9.4 13.4 11.2 0.0 26.6 16.8 21.2 21.4 10.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 13.6 9.4 13.4 11.2 0.0 26.6 16.8 21.2 21.4 10.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.36 1.00 0.63 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 251 1002 416 217 0 453 305 556 504 193
V/C Ratio(X) 0.88 0.37 0.51 0.84 0.00 0.92 0.90 0.69 0.70 0.85
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 290 1002 416 410 0 517 390 556 504 244
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 46.3 31.5 32.9 47.3 0.0 39.2 44.6 32.9 33.0 48.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 23.3 0.2 1.0 8.7 0.0 20.7 19.0 6.9 7.8 19.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 8.3 4.6 5.5 6.0 0.0 14.9 9.7 11.3 10.5 6.0
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 69.6 31.7 34.0 56.0 0.0 59.8 63.6 39.8 40.8 67.8
LnGrp LOS E C C E E E D D E
Approach Vol, veh/h 807 601 1010
Approach Delay, s/veh 42.7 58.7 46.6
Approach LOS D E D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 16.6 39.5 18.1 36.0 23.6 32.5 19.9 34.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 * 4.2 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 15.3 35.0 25.7 26.0 24.5 25.8 * 18 33.8
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 12.1 23.4 13.2 15.4 18.8 15.3 15.6 28.6
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.1 5.9 0.4 4.1 0.4 5.6 0.2 1.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 47.3
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 298 131
Future Volume (veh/h) 298 131
Number 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 0.91
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 452 198
Adj No. of Lanes 2 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.66 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3
Cap, veh/h 890 362
Arrive On Green 0.25 0.25
Sat Flow, veh/h 3505 1426
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 452 198
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1752 1426
Q Serve(g_s), s 12.2 13.3
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 12.2 13.3
Prop In Lane 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 890 362
V/C Ratio(X) 0.51 0.55
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 890 362
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 35.2 35.6
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.1 5.8
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 6.2 5.8
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 37.3 41.4
LnGrp LOS D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 814
Approach Delay, s/veh 44.4
Approach LOS D

Timer



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
User approved ignoring U-Turning movement.
* HCM 2010 computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 14.2
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 198 544 120 130 117 425
Future Vol, veh/h 0 198 544 120 130 117 425
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length - 0 - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 0 374 745 164 188 170 616
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1777 381 0 0 918 753 0
          Stage 1 753 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 1024 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 73 614 - - 372 846 -
          Stage 1 423 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 305 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 72 609 - - 376 376 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 72 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 420 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 305 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 19.8 0 25.2
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 609 376 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.613 0.952 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 19.8 68.5 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C F -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 4.2 10.5 -



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing + Project PM_MIT
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 155 394 36 65 561 22 9 22 52 54 13 90
Future Volume (veh/h) 155 394 36 65 561 22 9 22 52 54 13 90
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.95 0.96 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1900 1845 1900 1900 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 178 453 41 82 710 28 13 33 78 59 14 98
Adj No. of Lanes 1 2 0 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.87 0.87 0.87 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.67 0.67 0.67 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 234 1419 128 104 1248 49 101 121 233 394 79 369
Arrive On Green 0.13 0.44 0.44 0.06 0.36 0.36 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 3244 292 1757 3434 135 69 516 991 1084 336 1568
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 178 244 250 82 362 376 124 0 0 73 0 98
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1752 1784 1757 1752 1817 1576 0 0 1420 0 1568
Q Serve(g_s), s 4.6 4.3 4.3 2.2 7.8 7.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.6 4.3 4.3 2.2 7.8 7.8 3.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.0 2.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.16 1.00 0.07 0.10 0.63 0.81 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 234 766 780 104 637 660 456 0 0 473 0 369
V/C Ratio(X) 0.76 0.32 0.32 0.79 0.57 0.57 0.27 0.00 0.00 0.15 0.00 0.27
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 702 1409 1434 403 1111 1151 1036 0 0 964 0 960
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 19.7 8.6 8.7 21.8 12.0 12.0 14.9 0.0 0.0 14.3 0.0 14.7
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 5.1 0.2 0.2 12.3 0.8 0.8 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.4
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.6 2.1 2.1 1.4 3.9 4.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 1.1
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 24.7 8.9 8.9 34.1 12.8 12.8 15.2 0.0 0.0 14.5 0.0 15.0
LnGrp LOS C A A C B B B B B
Approach Vol, veh/h 672 820 124 171
Approach Delay, s/veh 13.1 14.9 15.2 14.8
Approach LOS B B B B

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 2 3 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.3 7.0 24.8 15.3 10.5 21.3
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 29 * 11 * 38 * 29 * 19 * 30
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.0 4.2 6.3 4.4 6.6 9.8
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.6 0.1 8.0 1.6 0.3 6.9

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 14.2
HCM 2010 LOS B

Notes



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing + Project PM_MIT
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

* HCM 2010 computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing + Project PM_MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBU EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 41 175 223 109 85 251 76 85 189 362 96 75
Future Volume (veh/h) 41 175 223 109 85 251 76 85 189 362 96 75
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.94 1.00 0.94 1.00 0.94 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 216 275 135 142 418 127 270 517 137 114
Adj No. of Lanes 1 2 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 245 1207 507 175 404 123 301 903 238 141
Arrive On Green 0.14 0.34 0.34 0.10 0.30 0.30 0.17 0.33 0.33 0.08
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 3505 1471 1757 1335 406 1757 2706 712 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 216 275 135 142 0 545 270 334 320 114
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1752 1471 1757 0 1741 1757 1752 1665 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 13.6 6.3 7.5 8.9 0.0 34.1 16.9 17.6 17.9 7.2
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 13.6 6.3 7.5 8.9 0.0 34.1 16.9 17.6 17.9 7.2
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.23 1.00 0.43 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 245 1207 507 175 0 527 301 585 556 141
V/C Ratio(X) 0.88 0.23 0.27 0.81 0.00 1.03 0.90 0.57 0.58 0.81
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 271 1207 507 401 0 527 390 585 556 234
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 47.6 26.3 26.6 49.7 0.0 39.2 45.7 30.9 30.9 50.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 25.5 0.1 0.3 8.8 0.0 48.1 18.9 4.0 4.3 10.4
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 8.3 3.1 3.1 4.8 0.0 23.3 9.8 9.2 8.9 3.9
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 73.0 26.4 26.9 58.4 0.0 87.4 64.5 34.9 35.2 61.4
LnGrp LOS E C C E F E C D E
Approach Vol, veh/h 626 687 924
Approach Delay, s/veh 42.6 81.4 43.7
Approach LOS D F D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 13.0 41.6 15.2 42.8 23.3 31.3 19.9 38.1
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 * 4.2 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 15.0 37.3 25.7 26.0 25.0 27.3 * 17 34.1
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 9.2 19.9 10.9 9.5 18.9 25.6 15.6 36.1
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.1 7.8 0.3 5.1 0.4 1.2 0.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 54.3
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing + Project PM_MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 365 203
Future Volume (veh/h) 365 203
Number 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 0.91
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 553 308
Adj No. of Lanes 2 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.66 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3
Cap, veh/h 850 344
Arrive On Green 0.24 0.24
Sat Flow, veh/h 3505 1421
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 553 308
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1752 1421
Q Serve(g_s), s 16.0 23.6
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 16.0 23.6
Prop In Lane 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 850 344
V/C Ratio(X) 0.65 0.89
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 850 344
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 38.4 41.3
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 3.9 27.9
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 8.2 11.9
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 42.2 69.1
LnGrp LOS D E
Approach Vol, veh/h 975
Approach Delay, s/veh 53.0
Approach LOS D

Timer



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing + Project PM_MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
User approved ignoring U-Turning movement.
* HCM 2010 computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.



OPENING YEAR 2016 BASELINE 

  



HCM 2010 TWSC Opening Year 2017 Baseline AM Peak Hour
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.3
 

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 541 29 23 355 40 42
Future Vol, veh/h 541 29 23 355 40 42
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 3 3 0 0 40
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 115 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 79 79 67 67
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 622 33 29 449 60 63
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 695 0 962 371
          Stage 1 - - - - 679 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 283 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.16 - 6.86 6.96
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.86 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.86 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.23 - 3.53 3.33
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 890 - 252 623
          Stage 1 - - - - 462 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 737 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 887 - 234 598
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 234 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 444 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 711 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.6 21.4
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 340 - - 887 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.36 - - 0.033 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 21.4 - - 9.2 -
HCM Lane LOS C - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.6 - - 0.1 -



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Opening Year 2017 Baseline AM Peak Hour
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 124 301 160 95 157 71 55 147 265 157 94 191
Future Volume (veh/h) 124 301 160 95 157 71 55 147 265 157 94 191
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.91 1.00 0.92 1.00 0.93 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 153 372 198 158 262 118 210 379 224 142 289
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1 2
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 398 418 324 418 279 126 241 598 346 171 593
Arrive On Green 0.23 0.23 0.23 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.14 0.29 0.29 0.10 0.25
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 1845 1431 1757 1172 528 1757 2077 1202 1757 2390
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 153 372 198 158 0 380 210 318 285 142 209
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1845 1431 1757 0 1700 1757 1752 1527 1757 1752
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.3 21.9 13.9 8.4 0.0 24.6 13.1 17.7 18.3 8.9 11.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.3 21.9 13.9 8.4 0.0 24.6 13.1 17.7 18.3 8.9 11.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.31 1.00 0.79 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 398 418 324 418 0 404 241 505 440 171 435
V/C Ratio(X) 0.38 0.89 0.61 0.38 0.00 0.94 0.87 0.63 0.65 0.83 0.48
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 421 442 343 421 0 407 342 505 440 276 435
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 36.7 42.0 38.9 35.7 0.0 41.9 47.3 34.7 34.9 49.6 35.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.6 19.1 2.9 0.6 0.0 29.7 15.6 5.9 7.2 10.6 3.8
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 4.1 13.4 5.7 4.1 0.0 14.8 7.4 9.4 8.5 4.8 6.0
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 37.3 61.1 41.8 36.3 0.0 71.6 62.9 40.6 42.0 60.2 39.7
LnGrp LOS D E D D E E D D E D
Approach Vol, veh/h 723 538 813 548
Approach Delay, s/veh 50.8 61.2 46.8 45.4
Approach LOS D E D D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.1 36.5 29.5 19.6 32.0 30.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 18 * 32 * 27 * 22 * 28 26.8
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 10.9 20.3 23.9 15.1 14.1 26.6
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.2 4.5 1.0 0.3 4.9 0.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 50.6
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Opening Year 2017 Baseline AM Peak Hour
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 14.6
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 39 171 400 127 43 124 335
Future Vol, veh/h 39 171 400 127 43 124 335
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length 0 - - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 74 323 548 174 62 180 486
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1283 282 0 0 723 556 0
          Stage 1 556 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 727 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 155 712 - - 496 1004 -
          Stage 1 535 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 437 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 154 707 - - 702 702 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 154 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 531 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 437 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 60.3 0 4.3
HCM LOS F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 424 702 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.934 0.345 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 60.3 12.8 -
HCM Lane LOS - - F B -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 10.6 1.5 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Opening Year 2017 Baseline PM Peak Hour
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.4
 

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 346 38 39 427 22 29
Future Vol, veh/h 346 38 39 427 22 29
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 3 3 0 0 40
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 115 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 79 79 67 67
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 398 44 49 541 33 43
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 481 0 829 264
          Stage 1 - - - - 460 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 369 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.16 - 6.86 6.96
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.86 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.86 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.23 - 3.53 3.33
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1071 - 307 731
          Stage 1 - - - - 599 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 667 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1068 - 281 701
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 281 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 576 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 635 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.7 15.3
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 426 - - 1068 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.179 - - 0.046 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.3 - - 8.5 -
HCM Lane LOS C - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 - - 0.1 -



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Opening Year 2017 Baseline PM Peak Hour
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 82 206 85 60 250 48 2 112 224 87 1 46
Future Volume (veh/h) 82 206 85 60 250 48 2 112 224 87 1 46
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.90 1.00 0.94 1.00 0.93 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 101 254 105 100 417 80 160 320 124 70
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 348 365 280 527 446 85 188 736 277 90
Arrive On Green 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.11 0.30 0.30 0.05
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 1845 1414 1757 1486 285 1757 2439 919 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 101 254 105 100 0 497 160 227 217 70
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1845 1414 1757 0 1772 1757 1752 1605 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 5.5 14.4 7.2 4.7 0.0 30.7 10.1 11.7 12.2 4.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 5.5 14.4 7.2 4.7 0.0 30.7 10.1 11.7 12.2 4.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.16 1.00 0.57 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 348 365 280 527 0 531 188 529 484 90
V/C Ratio(X) 0.29 0.70 0.37 0.19 0.00 0.94 0.85 0.43 0.45 0.78
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 407 427 327 560 0 564 216 529 484 163
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 38.3 41.9 39.0 29.2 0.0 38.3 49.3 31.5 31.7 52.7
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.5 4.0 0.8 0.2 0.0 22.6 23.9 2.5 3.0 13.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.7 7.7 2.9 2.3 0.0 18.2 6.1 6.1 5.8 2.5
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 38.8 45.9 39.9 29.4 0.0 60.9 73.1 34.0 34.6 66.2
LnGrp LOS D D D C E E C C E
Approach Vol, veh/h 460 597 604
Approach Delay, s/veh 43.0 55.6 44.6
Approach LOS D E D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 9.9 38.1 26.4 16.2 31.8 37.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 10 * 31 * 26 * 14 * 28 35.8
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.4 14.2 16.4 12.1 16.0 32.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.7 1.4 0.1 4.0 1.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 47.6
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Opening Year 2017 Baseline PM Peak Hour
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 14 389 22 7 34 299
Future Vol, veh/h 7 14 389 22 7 34 299
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length 0 - - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 13 26 533 30 10 49 433
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 877 274 0 0 415 541 0
          Stage 1 541 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 336 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 286 721 - - 779 1017 -
          Stage 1 545 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 693 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 284 716 - - 963 963 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 284 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 541 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 693 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.3 0 1.1
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 475 963 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.083 0.062 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 13.3 9 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.3 0.2 -



OPENING YEAR 2016 PLUS PROJECT 

  



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year + Proj AM Peak Hour
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 31.5
 

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 133 578 29 40 438 20 30 19 60 40 10 67
Future Vol, veh/h 133 578 29 40 438 20 30 19 60 40 10 67
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 200 - - 115 - - - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 79 79 79 67 67 67 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 153 664 33 51 554 25 45 28 90 43 11 73
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 580 0 0 738 0 0 1411 1708 392 1360 1711 293
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 1027 1027 - 668 668 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 384 681 - 692 1043 -
Critical Hdwy 4.16 - - 4.16 - - 7.56 6.56 6.96 7.56 6.56 6.96
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.56 5.56 - 6.56 5.56 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.56 5.56 - 6.56 5.56 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.23 - - 2.23 - - 3.53 4.03 3.33 3.53 4.03 3.33
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 983 - - 857 - - 97 89 604 106 89 700
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 249 308 - 412 452 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 608 446 - 398 302 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 980 - - 855 - - 62 68 579 51 68 698
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 62 68 - 51 68 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 202 250 - 348 425 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 498 419 - 251 245 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.7 0.8 243.6 111.7
HCM LOS F F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 126 980 - - 855 - - 54 698
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 1.291 0.156 - - 0.059 - - 1.006 0.104
HCM Control Delay (s) 243.6 9.4 - - 9.5 - - 246.9 10.8
HCM Lane LOS F A - - A - - F B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 10.4 0.6 - - 0.2 - - 4.5 0.3



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year + Proj AM Peak Hour
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBU EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 24 186 320 181 116 169 94 116 200 375 165 113
Future Volume (veh/h) 24 186 320 181 116 169 94 116 200 375 165 113
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.91 1.00 0.92 1.00 0.93 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 230 395 223 193 282 157 286 536 236 171
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 393 412 319 388 238 132 315 665 291 200
Arrive On Green 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.18 0.29 0.29 0.11
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 1845 1429 1757 1076 599 1757 2314 1014 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 230 395 223 193 0 439 286 405 367 171
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1845 1429 1757 0 1676 1757 1752 1576 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 13.6 24.6 16.7 11.2 0.0 25.7 18.6 24.9 25.2 11.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 13.6 24.6 16.7 11.2 0.0 25.7 18.6 24.9 25.2 11.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.36 1.00 0.64 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 393 412 319 388 0 370 315 504 453 200
V/C Ratio(X) 0.59 0.96 0.70 0.50 0.00 1.19 0.91 0.80 0.81 0.86
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 393 412 319 388 0 370 370 504 453 264
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 40.4 44.7 41.6 39.7 0.0 45.3 46.8 38.4 38.5 50.6
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.3 33.6 6.6 1.0 0.0 107.9 23.2 12.9 14.5 18.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 6.8 16.4 7.2 5.5 0.0 22.9 11.0 13.8 12.7 6.4
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 42.6 78.3 48.1 40.7 0.0 153.2 70.0 51.3 53.0 69.2
LnGrp LOS D E D D F E D D E
Approach Vol, veh/h 848 632 1058
Approach Delay, s/veh 60.7 118.8 56.9
Approach LOS E F E

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 17.7 37.9 30.5 25.4 30.3 30.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 17.5 32.8 26.0 24.5 25.8 25.7
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 13.1 27.2 26.6 20.6 25.5 27.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.2 3.7 0.0 0.3 0.2 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 73.8
HCM 2010 LOS E

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year + Proj AM Peak Hour
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 69
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 39 171 567 127 133 124 444
Future Vol, veh/h 39 171 567 127 133 124 444
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length 0 - - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 74 323 777 174 193 180 643
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1852 396 0 0 890 785 0
          Stage 1 785 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 1067 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver ~ 65 600 - - 388 823 -
          Stage 1 407 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 290 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver ~ 65 595 - - 406 406 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver ~ 65 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 404 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 290 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s $ 356.5 0 21.4
HCM LOS F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 237 406 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 1.672 0.917 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - -$ 356.5 58.4 -
HCM Lane LOS - - F F -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 25.7 9.9 -

Notes
~: Volume exceeds capacity       $: Delay exceeds 300s      +: Computation Not Defined      *: All major volume in platoon



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year + Proj AM Peak Hour
4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.3
 

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 60 133 113 513 404 57
Future Vol, veh/h 60 133 113 513 404 57
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 150 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 65 145 123 558 439 62
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 994 251 501 0 - 0
          Stage 1 470 - - - - -
          Stage 2 524 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 2.23 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 240 746 1052 - - -
          Stage 1 592 - - - - -
          Stage 2 556 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 212 746 1052 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 212 - - - - -
          Stage 1 592 - - - - -
          Stage 2 491 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 16.7 1.6 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1052 - 212 746 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.117 - 0.308 0.194 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.9 - 29.4 11 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - 1.2 0.7 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year + Proj AM Peak Hour
5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.4
 

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 23 91 113 460 363 28
Future Vol, veh/h 23 91 113 460 363 28
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 0 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 25 99 123 500 395 30
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1156 213 425 0 - 0
          Stage 1 410 - - - - -
          Stage 2 746 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.645 6.945 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.845 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.445 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5285 3.3285 2.23 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 202 790 1124 - - -
          Stage 1 637 - - - - -
          Stage 2 465 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 180 790 1124 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 180 - - - - -
          Stage 1 637 - - - - -
          Stage 2 414 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.8 1.7 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1124 - 180 790 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.109 - 0.139 0.125 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.6 - 28.2 10.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - 0.5 0.4 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year 2017 + Project PM
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 53.5
 

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 155 414 38 67 585 22 11 22 54 54 13 90
Future Vol, veh/h 155 414 38 67 585 22 11 22 54 54 13 90
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 200 - - 115 - - - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 79 79 79 67 67 67 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 178 476 44 85 741 28 16 33 81 59 14 98
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 768 0 0 560 0 0 1441 1832 303 1575 1840 387
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 894 894 - 924 924 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 547 938 - 651 916 -
Critical Hdwy 4.16 - - 4.16 - - 7.56 6.56 6.96 7.56 6.56 6.96
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.56 5.56 - 6.56 5.56 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.56 5.56 - 6.56 5.56 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.23 - - 2.23 - - 3.53 4.03 3.33 3.53 4.03 3.33
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 835 - - 1000 - - 92 75 690 73 74 609
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 300 355 - 288 344 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 486 339 - 421 347 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 833 - - 997 - - 46 52 662 ~ 26 51 607
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 46 52 - ~ 26 51 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 227 269 - 226 315 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 355 310 - 255 262 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 2.7 0.9 186.9 $ 423
HCM LOS F F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 117 833 - - 997 - - 29 607
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 1.11 0.214 - - 0.085 - - 2.511 0.161
HCM Control Delay (s) 186.9 10.5 - - 8.9 - - $ 975 12.1
HCM Lane LOS F B - - A - - F B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 7.8 0.8 - - 0.3 - - 8.6 0.6

Notes
~: Volume exceeds capacity       $: Delay exceeds 300s      +: Computation Not Defined      *: All major volume in platoon



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year 2017 + Project PM
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBU EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 41 180 235 114 88 265 79 85 196 374 101 78
Future Volume (veh/h) 41 180 235 114 88 265 79 85 196 374 101 78
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.90 1.00 0.93 1.00 0.94 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 222 290 141 147 442 132 280 534 144 118
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 354 372 286 462 352 105 268 856 229 144
Arrive On Green 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.32 0.08
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 1845 1417 1757 1338 400 1757 2691 721 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 222 290 141 147 0 574 280 347 331 118
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1845 1417 1757 0 1738 1757 1752 1660 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 13.6 17.6 10.4 7.9 0.0 31.0 18.0 19.8 20.1 7.8
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 13.6 17.6 10.4 7.9 0.0 31.0 18.0 19.8 20.1 7.8
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.23 1.00 0.43 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 354 372 286 462 0 457 268 557 528 144
V/C Ratio(X) 0.63 0.78 0.49 0.32 0.00 1.26 1.04 0.62 0.63 0.82
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 387 407 312 462 0 457 268 557 528 208
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 43.0 44.6 41.8 35.0 0.0 43.5 50.0 34.2 34.3 53.3
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.8 8.7 1.3 0.4 0.0 132.4 67.1 5.2 5.6 15.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 6.9 9.8 4.2 3.9 0.0 31.6 13.7 10.4 10.0 4.4
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 45.8 53.3 43.1 35.4 0.0 175.9 117.1 39.4 39.8 68.5
LnGrp LOS D D D D F F D D E
Approach Vol, veh/h 653 721 958
Approach Delay, s/veh 48.6 147.2 62.3
Approach LOS D F E

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 13.7 41.5 27.8 22.0 33.2 35.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 14.0 33.2 26.0 18.0 29.2 31.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 9.8 22.1 19.6 20.0 31.2 33.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.1 6.5 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 93.4
HCM 2010 LOS F

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year 2017 + Project PM
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.3
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 14 601 22 166 34 478
Future Vol, veh/h 7 14 601 22 166 34 478
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length 0 - - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 13 26 823 30 241 49 693
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1757 420 0 0 627 831 0
          Stage 1 831 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 926 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 75 579 - - 571 791 -
          Stage 1 386 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 344 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 74 575 - - 586 586 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 74 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 383 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 344 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 31.1 0 5
HCM LOS D
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 177 586 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.224 0.495 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 31.1 17 -
HCM Lane LOS - - D C -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 2.7 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year 2017 + Project PM
4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.9
 

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 81 180 133 460 452 67
Future Vol, veh/h 81 180 133 460 452 67
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 150 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 88 196 145 500 491 73
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1067 282 564 0 - 0
          Stage 1 528 - - - - -
          Stage 2 539 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 2.23 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 215 712 997 - - -
          Stage 1 553 - - - - -
          Stage 2 546 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 184 712 997 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 184 - - - - -
          Stage 1 553 - - - - -
          Stage 2 467 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 21.1 2.1 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 997 - 184 712 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.145 - 0.478 0.275 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.2 - 41.3 12 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - E B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - 2.3 1.1 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year 2017 + Project PM
5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.8
 

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 48 191 183 358 315 46
Future Vol, veh/h 48 191 183 358 315 46
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 0 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 52 208 199 389 342 50
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1154 196 392 0 - 0
          Stage 1 367 - - - - -
          Stage 2 787 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.645 6.945 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.845 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.445 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5285 3.3285 2.23 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 202 810 1156 - - -
          Stage 1 669 - - - - -
          Stage 2 445 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 167 810 1156 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 167 - - - - -
          Stage 1 669 - - - - -
          Stage 2 368 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 16 3 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1156 - 167 810 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.172 - 0.312 0.256 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 - 36.1 11 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - E B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 - 1.3 1 - -



OPENING YEAR 2016 PLUS PROJECT WITH MITIGATION 

 



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 133 578 29 40 438 20 30 19 60 40 10 67
Future Volume (veh/h) 133 578 29 40 438 20 30 19 60 40 10 67
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.95 0.97 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1900 1845 1900 1900 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 153 664 33 51 554 25 45 28 90 43 11 73
Adj No. of Lanes 1 2 0 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.87 0.87 0.87 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.67 0.67 0.67 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 202 1421 71 74 1179 53 168 111 218 424 92 402
Arrive On Green 0.12 0.42 0.42 0.04 0.35 0.35 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 3394 169 1757 3411 154 255 434 849 1086 360 1568
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 153 343 354 51 284 295 163 0 0 54 0 73
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1752 1810 1757 1752 1813 1538 0 0 1446 0 1568
Q Serve(g_s), s 3.8 6.3 6.3 1.3 5.6 5.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.8 6.3 6.3 1.3 5.6 5.7 3.7 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.6
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.09 1.00 0.08 0.28 0.55 0.80 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 202 734 758 74 606 627 498 0 0 516 0 402
V/C Ratio(X) 0.76 0.47 0.47 0.69 0.47 0.47 0.33 0.00 0.00 0.10 0.00 0.18
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 701 1525 1574 307 1132 1170 1140 0 0 1083 0 1083
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 19.1 9.4 9.4 21.1 11.4 11.4 13.7 0.0 0.0 12.7 0.0 12.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 5.7 0.5 0.4 10.9 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.1 3.1 3.2 0.8 2.8 2.9 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.7
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 24.8 9.8 9.8 32.0 12.0 12.0 14.1 0.0 0.0 12.8 0.0 13.1
LnGrp LOS C A A C B B B B B
Approach Vol, veh/h 850 630 163 127
Approach Delay, s/veh 12.5 13.6 14.1 13.0
Approach LOS B B B B

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 2 3 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.6 6.1 22.9 15.6 9.3 19.6
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 31 * 7.8 * 39 * 31 * 18 * 29
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.7 3.3 8.3 3.6 5.8 7.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.7 0.0 8.2 1.7 0.3 7.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 13.1
HCM 2010 LOS B

Notes



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

* HCM 2010 computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Movement EBU EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 24 186 320 181 116 169 94 116 200 375 165 113
Future Volume (veh/h) 24 186 320 181 116 169 94 116 200 375 165 113
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.92 1.00 0.92 1.00 0.94 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 230 395 223 193 282 157 286 536 236 171
Adj No. of Lanes 1 2 1 1 2 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 264 880 362 229 501 267 320 767 336 203
Arrive On Green 0.15 0.25 0.25 0.13 0.23 0.23 0.18 0.33 0.33 0.12
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 3505 1442 1757 2140 1141 1757 2322 1018 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 230 395 223 193 229 210 286 404 368 171
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1752 1442 1757 1752 1529 1757 1752 1587 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 13.3 9.9 14.2 11.2 11.9 12.7 16.5 20.8 21.0 9.9
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 13.3 9.9 14.2 11.2 11.9 12.7 16.5 20.8 21.0 9.9
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.75 1.00 0.64 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 264 880 362 229 410 358 320 578 524 203
V/C Ratio(X) 0.87 0.45 0.62 0.84 0.56 0.59 0.89 0.70 0.70 0.84
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 375 880 362 435 503 439 414 578 524 271
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 43.2 32.8 34.5 44.1 35.1 35.4 41.5 30.3 30.4 45.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 14.4 0.4 3.1 8.2 1.2 1.5 17.7 6.9 7.7 16.5
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 7.5 4.8 6.0 5.9 5.9 5.5 9.6 11.2 10.3 5.7
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 57.6 33.2 37.6 52.3 36.3 36.9 59.2 37.2 38.0 61.5
LnGrp LOS E C D D D D E D D E
Approach Vol, veh/h 848 632 1058
Approach Delay, s/veh 41.0 41.4 43.4
Approach LOS D D D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 16.5 38.8 18.0 30.6 23.4 31.8 19.8 28.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 * 4.2 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 16.0 34.3 25.7 26.0 24.5 25.8 * 22 29.8
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.9 23.0 13.2 16.2 18.5 14.8 15.3 14.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.2 6.1 0.4 4.0 0.4 5.9 0.3 5.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 41.8
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 4

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 309 135
Future Volume (veh/h) 309 135
Number 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 0.91
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 468 205
Adj No. of Lanes 2 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.66 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3
Cap, veh/h 922 377
Arrive On Green 0.26 0.26
Sat Flow, veh/h 3505 1431
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 468 205
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1752 1431
Q Serve(g_s), s 11.8 12.8
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 11.8 12.8
Prop In Lane 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 922 377
V/C Ratio(X) 0.51 0.54
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 922 377
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 32.6 32.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.0 5.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 6.0 5.6
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 34.5 38.5
LnGrp LOS C D
Approach Vol, veh/h 844
Approach Delay, s/veh 41.0
Approach LOS D

Timer



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 5

User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
User approved ignoring U-Turning movement.
* HCM 2010 computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.



HCM 2010 TWSC Open Year+Proj AM Peak Hour-MIT
3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 20.3
 

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBU SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 210 567 127 133 124 444
Future Vol, veh/h 0 210 567 127 133 124 444
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 8 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - - None
Storage Length - 0 - 80 - 160 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 53 53 73 73 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mvmt Flow 0 396 777 174 193 180 643
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1852 396 0 0 963 785 0
          Stage 1 785 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 1067 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.86 6.96 - - 6.46 4.16 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.86 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.86 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.53 3.33 - - 2.53 2.23 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 65 600 - - 348 823 -
          Stage 1 407 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 290 - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 65 595 - - 346 346 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 65 - - - - - -
          Stage 1 404 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 290 - - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 22.3 0 38.6
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 595 346 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.666 1.076 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 22.3 105.2 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C F -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 5 13.6 -



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year 2017+Proj PM-MIT
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 155 414 38 67 585 22 11 22 54 54 13 90
Future Volume (veh/h) 155 414 38 67 585 22 11 22 54 54 13 90
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.95 0.96 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1900 1845 1900 1900 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 178 476 44 85 741 28 16 33 81 59 14 98
Adj No. of Lanes 1 2 0 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.87 0.87 0.87 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.67 0.67 0.67 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 233 1430 132 108 1275 48 104 119 231 391 79 370
Arrive On Green 0.13 0.44 0.44 0.06 0.37 0.37 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 3237 298 1757 3440 130 86 507 979 1089 335 1568
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 178 257 263 85 377 392 130 0 0 73 0 98
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1752 1783 1757 1752 1818 1571 0 0 1424 0 1568
Q Serve(g_s), s 4.7 4.6 4.7 2.3 8.3 8.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.7 4.6 4.7 2.3 8.3 8.4 3.3 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.0 2.5
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.17 1.00 0.07 0.12 0.62 0.81 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 233 774 788 108 650 674 454 0 0 471 0 370
V/C Ratio(X) 0.76 0.33 0.33 0.78 0.58 0.58 0.29 0.00 0.00 0.16 0.00 0.27
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 684 1371 1395 393 1081 1121 1005 0 0 939 0 935
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 20.2 8.8 8.8 22.4 12.2 12.2 15.4 0.0 0.0 14.7 0.0 15.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 5.1 0.2 0.2 11.6 0.8 0.8 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.4
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.6 2.3 2.3 1.5 4.1 4.3 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 1.1
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 25.3 9.1 9.1 34.0 13.0 13.0 15.7 0.0 0.0 14.9 0.0 15.4
LnGrp LOS C A A C B B B B B
Approach Vol, veh/h 698 854 130 171
Approach Delay, s/veh 13.2 15.1 15.7 15.2
Approach LOS B B B B

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 2 3 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.6 7.2 25.5 15.6 10.6 22.1
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2 * 4.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 29 * 11 * 38 * 29 * 19 * 30
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.3 4.3 6.7 4.5 6.7 10.4
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.6 0.1 8.5 1.6 0.3 7.2

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 14.4
HCM 2010 LOS B

Notes



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year 2017+Proj PM-MIT
1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

* HCM 2010 computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year 2017+Proj PM-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 3

Movement EBU EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 41 180 235 114 88 265 79 85 196 374 101 78
Future Volume (veh/h) 41 180 235 114 88 265 79 85 196 374 101 78
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.93 1.00 0.92 1.00 0.94 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1845 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 222 290 141 147 442 132 280 534 144 118
Adj No. of Lanes 1 2 1 1 2 0 1 2 0 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 255 1001 415 184 636 187 316 985 264 147
Arrive On Green 0.15 0.29 0.29 0.10 0.24 0.24 0.18 0.37 0.37 0.08
Sat Flow, veh/h 1757 3505 1455 1757 2616 771 1757 2697 723 1757
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 222 290 141 147 294 280 280 346 332 118
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1757 1752 1455 1757 1752 1634 1757 1752 1668 1757
Q Serve(g_s), s 12.3 6.4 7.6 8.2 15.2 15.6 15.5 15.6 15.7 6.6
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 12.3 6.4 7.6 8.2 15.2 15.6 15.5 15.6 15.7 6.6
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.47 1.00 0.43 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 255 1001 415 184 426 397 316 640 609 147
V/C Ratio(X) 0.87 0.29 0.34 0.80 0.69 0.70 0.89 0.54 0.54 0.80
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 310 1001 415 452 620 578 423 640 609 264
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 41.7 27.8 28.2 43.6 34.4 34.5 39.9 25.0 25.1 44.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 19.6 0.2 0.5 7.7 2.0 2.3 16.0 3.3 3.5 9.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 7.4 3.1 3.1 4.4 7.6 7.3 8.9 8.1 7.8 3.6
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 61.4 27.9 28.7 51.3 36.4 36.8 55.9 28.3 28.6 54.4
LnGrp LOS E C C D D D E C C D
Approach Vol, veh/h 653 721 958
Approach Delay, s/veh 39.5 39.6 36.5
Approach LOS D D D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 12.4 40.5 14.5 32.5 21.9 30.9 18.7 28.3
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 * 4.2 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 15.0 35.9 25.7 27.4 24.0 26.9 * 18 35.3
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 8.6 17.7 10.2 9.6 17.5 22.7 14.3 17.6
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.1 8.3 0.3 5.2 0.4 2.9 0.2 4.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 39.5
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year 2017+Proj PM-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 4

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 376 209
Future Volume (veh/h) 376 209
Number 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 0.91
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 570 317
Adj No. of Lanes 2 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.66 0.66
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3
Cap, veh/h 945 386
Arrive On Green 0.27 0.27
Sat Flow, veh/h 3505 1433
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 570 317
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1752 1433
Q Serve(g_s), s 14.2 20.7
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 14.2 20.7
Prop In Lane 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 945 386
V/C Ratio(X) 0.60 0.82
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 945 386
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 31.8 34.2
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.9 17.5
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 7.2 10.1
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 34.6 51.7
LnGrp LOS C D
Approach Vol, veh/h 1005
Approach Delay, s/veh 42.3
Approach LOS D

Timer



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Open Year 2017+Proj PM-MIT
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 7/10/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 5

User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
User approved ignoring U-Turning movement.
* HCM 2010 computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Appendix D 

 

APPENDIX D 
 
 
Signal Warrant Worksheets 
 

  





/., AUCl/51/!- 6A.,.....,£/ Jvl\/J pert_ /4.l/.El'-0£ 

0 ><I ~JtJtr -1- P~o7M/r 

Figure 4C·4. Warrant 3, Peak Hour (70% Factor) 
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR ABOVE 7't 64 km/h OR ABOVE 40 mph ON MAJOR STREET) 

5AT)5FJeD 
I 
0.. 
> 

I 

J: 400 

~ t-o 
tti r.c 
~ &: 300 
en <S:: 
crW 

OR MORE LANES & 2 OR MORE CANES\--+-----< 
I I I I -

2 OR MORE LANES & 1 LANE 

1 LANE & 1 LANE 

~ ~ 200 
- ..J ~ 0 ,~7 -r----+--~ I I w ~~~~~~~~~ 

CJ 1• oc 
:I: 

I 

1' ~~ I I I I I =-'1 

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1 OOiQ 1100 1200 1300 
Ill<( iZ,~3 

MAJOR STREET-TOTAL OF BOTH APPAOACHES
VEHICLES PER HOUR (VPH) 

·Note: 100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes andl 75 vph applies as the lower 

threshold volume for a minor·street approach with one lane. 



/.. A.v6v 5'/ 4 0A./l./g / ..Ju1v1 PtJ12- AvErvvf 

O//ICIV) "--? '/(JAR- 1- f fZ-o 'J(;-oT 

Figure 4C·4. Warrant 3, Peak Hour (70% Factor) 
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR ABOVE 70 64 km/h OR ABOVE 40 mph ON MAJOR STREET) 

.SA ii SF'JC:-0 
I 
ll. 
> 

I 

:r: 400 
0 

t- <{ 
lJJ 0 
lJJ a: 
r:r: &:: 300 

~~ 
er: w 

1 1 • ""= 1 - 2 OR MORE LANES & 2 OR MORE LANES ___ __, 

I I I I 
2 OR MORE LANES & 1 LANE 

~ ~ 200 _ _. 
~ 0 )~7 _J I > I 1----

1 I,_.., ----- I a: 100 ~ r--
UJ ~ I 1 • · 
J: ' I ~ . 
I 

I I I I I l I 

300 1000 1100 1200 1300 
1?J8 IZb') 

400 500 600 700 800 900 

MAJOR STREET-TOTAL OF BOTH APPROACHES
VEHICLES PER HOUR (VPH) 

•Note: 100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower 

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane. 



:c: 600 
£L 

> 
I 5CHJ 

I 
0 

I- ~ 
UJ 0 400 
wCI: a:Q. 
I- a.. w< !300 
a: UJ 
o~ z :'.) 

200 
_ _J 

~o 1n 
~ • a: 
w 100 
I 
(!J I J: z,.I 

400 

~. _gu1-H4c µ. ll-?>4..o / gc 1-L s D/6/ ve:i-,c.7 

€;KI 5 () v ff" i- p 'f?- OJL....cJ 

Figt11e 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hour 

>A. T) .5Pl l=1:/ 11\../ A/./J { tx,.,~ ID >(JI-#»(_,.,- ~.ld-T'~ {;!-'4...f:PI!::) 

2. OR MORE LANES & 2 OR MORE LANES 

LANES & 1 LANE 

I I I EV' 
500 600 700 BOO 00 1 000 11 00 1200 J 300 1400 1500 1600 1700 1800 

/Z, '~~b 

MAJOR STREET~ TOTAL OF BOTH APPROACHE~ 
VEHICLES PER HOUR (VPH) 

Not~: 1 tio vpn applies as me iowef mfe.sno1d volume ror a miilOr-sHe~r 
approach with two or more lanes and 100 vph applies as the rower 

threshold volume for a rnlnor-streat approach wUh one lane. 



:r: 
n... 
> 
I 
u 
~ t--o 

UJa: 
WQ. 
a:: Q.. 

~< 
a: UJ 
o~ 
z=:i _ _J 

~o :;:. 
I a: 

w 
I 
(.!J 

::c:: 

600 

500 

40 

:.-mu 

w-1 I 2 • I 

3 ,. .C v J-Jv4..c 4 f?-4' r+-.p / e c .fl...S P ;z,' i-(3 ~I<! ..__ 

C?rP£1--1 ~ Y~ -1- pf!-a :rec/ 
Figu1e 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hou. 

SA7J5Fltx:J /A../ ft>Vl (l>VC W >C~L - ~lt;to T~FP0 

2 OR MORE LANES & 2 OR MORE LANES 

I ~ 

100 1 I I I I 

u l 
400 

I I 
500 600 

l fM 

700 AOO 900 1000 11 00 1 :200 1300 1400 1500 1600 1700 1800 
tzSI 13-7.s' 

MAJOR STREET= TOTAL OF BOTH APPROACHE~ 
VEHICLES PER HOUR (VPH) 

·Nore: 1 ::.o vpn apphe.s as me 10:we( uve:srio1a volume rot a m111or-slr'e~r 
approach with two or more lanes and 100 vph applies as the rower 

threshold volume for a rnlnor~street approach wilh one lane. 



I 600 
£L 
> 
• 5 (}{_] 

I 
0 

I-- a! 
UJO 400 w a: a: Q. 
I-- 0.. w< :mu 
a: UJ 
o~ -zz<. z~ _ _J 

200 
~o 

::> "' • a: 
100 w 

I 
('.!) 

:c: 
400 

1, 8v~tl. ~po/ }.!we, !J/2-IL/IC~"" 
€ x) $'#) /Vt:r· + p~ 'St::-Dr 

Figt11e 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hour 

f\./z:>t SA Tl.5 Fte0 

2 OR MORE LANES & 2 OR MORE LANES 

~= 1=--.i-·_i 50 

500 0 700 600 00 1 000 11 00 t200 1300 1400 1500 1600 1700 1 BOO 
Ito ) l/{;'6 

MAJOR STREET--"' TOTAL OF BOTH APPROACH E~ 
VEHICLES PER HOUR (VPH) 

·Not~: 1 ~o vpt1 e~phe.s as Hie 1ower mr~snold volume ror a m111or-!weet 
approactl with two or more lanes and 100 vph applies as the lower 

threshold volume for a minor-street approach wilh one lane. 

00 



I 600 
0... 
> 

I 
!;(}{] 

I 
0 

I- ~ 
wO 400 
wCI: a: Q.. 
I- a.. 
w< !300 
a: LLJ 
o~ -zz.<. z ::i _-1 200 :?O 
~ ,,(. 
• 0: 

100 w 
I 
(.!) 

::c: 
400 

PM 

4.. Cv 1-LA.c # /Z? YJ....o J µ IA...I c., f? JZ1 vtr Vv.x. / 

Of't- ,._, u-er '7~ -vo I & + Pf7.--.J Yl;C-F 

Figure 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hou 

µI SATJ SFICt:J 

2 OR MORE LANES & 2 OR MORE LANES 

.4-M T -=1=-=---1 .:.-1 so 

500 10 700 600 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500 1600 1700 1 BOO 
11~) 11.95 

MAJOR STREET---= TOTAL OF BOTH APPROACH ES 
VEHICLES PER HOUR (VPH) 

·Nore: 1 tio vpti apphe-s as me 1owe( nv~slie>l!i volume ror a mil'h~)(-SHeet 
approach with two or more lanes and 100 vph applies as the I owe 

threshold volume for a mlnor~street approach wUh one lane. 

00 



.:r: 600 
0.... 
> 

I 500 
I 
u 

I- < 
UJO 400 wa: 
a: Q. 
I-~ 
UJ~ :.>UU 
a:LU 
o~ ~9' z ::> _ _J 

200 
~o 

> "6 I • a: 
10 

I 
(.!J 

J: 

400 

I 

500 

;--, gvU-A-c-J..L {Z<?A-o / /v""vL. 2- PJZl~K!/' 

I ~ 

f; .)c:- I .5 TJ ~ + f JZ--0 'J<t-C.:t-

igllf6 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hou 

~T 54TJ>Fl£0 

2 OR MORE LANES & 2 OR MORE LANES 

700 ROO 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1 ~()0 1600 1700 ~ 80 
$6~ ,,,., 

MAJOR STREET=TOTAL OF BOTH APPROACHE 
VEHICLES PER HOUR (VPH) 

· Nor~: 1~0 vpti appht1S as 1ne 1owef mf~Sf)Old volume ror a m1nor-s1reet 
approach with two or more lanes and 100 vph applies as the lower 

threshold volume for a minor-street approach wilh one lane. 

00 



::r: 600 
(L 

:;it 
I 

!;CKl 
I 
u 

I-<: 
wO 400 wa: a: Q. 
I- a.. 
w< !300 
a: lJ.J 
o~ ~9' z:J 
---" 200 ::! 0 

:> ,19 I • a: 
w 100 
I 
(,!'.) 

:r:: 
400 

I 1µ.., 

500 600 

~ cv /-lv4-c# p,oAt? I A/l/VC L- PIZ-1 V~k'_""' 
OPcp-._.,; I--<- 7~ 24) £. + f7J2-crrLJ-G1--. 

Figure 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hour 

700 600 

20R MORE LANES& 2 OR MORE LANES 

LANES & 1 LANE 

1 000 11 00 1200 , 300 1400 1500 1600 1700 180 
- m J'].'J 

MAJOR STREET=TOTAL OF BOTH APPROACHES= 
VEHICLES PER HOUR (VPH) 

·Nore: 1 ~o vpti apph~s as me 1ower mr~s1101CJ volurne ror a minor-s1re<H 
approach with two or more lanes and 100 vph applies as the lower 

threshold volume for a mlnor~street approach wilh one lane. 

00 



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Appendix E 

 

APPENDIX E 
 
 
Traffic Data for Proposed Project at 55% and 40% 
Development (NWC and SWC) and No Development of 
NWC2 
 

  



Daily In Out Total In Out Total
TRIP RATES
Shopping Center (ITE 820) ITE
Gas Station w/ Mart & Car Wash (ITE 946) 152.84 6.04 5.80 11.84 7.07 6.79 13.86
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Thru (ITE 934) 496.12 23.16 22.26 45.42 16.98 15.67 32.65
Pharmacy/Drugstore w/ Drive Thru (ITE 881) 96.91 1.79 1.66 3.45 4.96 4.96 9.91
Supermarket (ITE 850) 102.24 2.11 1.29 3.40 4.83 4.65 9.48
TRIP GENERATION
Northwest Corner Parcel
Shopping Center 52.938 TSF 4,491 66 40 106 188 203 391

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -427 -6 -4 -10 -36 -39 -74
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%) -528 -8 -5 -12 -40 -43 -82

subtotal 3,536 52 32 83 113 122 235
Gas Station w/ Mart & Car Wash 7 positions 1,009 40 38 78 47 45 91

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -96 -4 -4 -7 -9 -9 -17
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 47.4%/PM 42.8%)) -433 -17 -16 -34 -16 -16 -32

subtotal 480 19 18 37 22 21 42
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 5.940 TSF 2,947 138 132 270 101 93 194

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -280 -13 -13 -26 -19 -18 -37
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%) -999 -47 -45 -91 -31 -29 -60

subtotal 1,668 78 75 153 50 47 97
Total Trip Generation 8,447 243 211 454 335 341 677

Total Internal Trip Capture -802 -23 -20 -43 -64 -65 -129
Total Pass-by Trips -1,961 -71 -66 -137 -87 -87 -174

Total NET Trip Generation 5,684 148 125 273 185 189 374
Northwest Corner Parcel 2
Shopping Center 54.600 TSF

Internal Trip Capture (AM 4.5%/PM 9%)
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%)

subtotal
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 3.500 TSF

Internal Trip Capture (AM 4.5%/PM 9%)
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%)

subtotal
Total Trip Generation

Total Internal Trip Capture
Total Pass-by Trips

Total NET Trip Generation
Southwest Corner Parcel
Supermarket 22.660 TSF 2,317 48 29 77 110 105 215

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -174 -4 -2 -6 -16 -16 -32
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.8%/PM 27.5%) -295 -6 -4 -10 -26 -25 -50

subtotal 1,848 38 23 61 67 65 132
Pharmacy/Drrugstore w/ Drive Through 7.700 TSF 746 14 13 27 38 38 76

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -56 -1 -1 -2 -6 -6 -11
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 18.7%/PM 37.5%) -129 -2 -2 -5 -12 -12 -24

subtotal 561 10 10 20 20 20 41
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 3.520 TSF 1,746 82 78 160 60 55 115

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -131 -6 -6 -12 -9 -8 -17
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%) -605 -28 -27 -55 -19 -18 -37

subtotal 1,010 47 45 92 31 29 60
Shopping Center 10.725 TSF 1,591 25 15 40 64 70 134

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -119 -2 -1 -3 -10 -10 -20
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%) -191 -3 -2 -5 -14 -15 -30

subtotal 1,280 20 12 32 41 44 84
Total Trip Generation 6,400 168 136 303 272 268 540

Total Internal Trip Capture -480 -13 -10 -23 -41 -40 -81
Total Pass-by Trips -1,221 -40 -35 -75 -71 -70 -142

Total NET Trip Generation 4,699 116 90 206 160 158 318
Northwest and Southwest Corner Parcels

Total Trip Generation 14,848 411 346 757 607 610 1,217
Total Internal Trip Capture -1,283 -36 -30 -66 -104 -105 -210

Total Pass-by Trips -3,181 -111 -101 -212 -158 -157 -316
TOTAL PROJECT NET TRIP GENERATION 10,384 264 215 479 344 347 692

Table - Project Trip Generation Estimates at 55 Percent Development (NWC and SWC) and No NWC2

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour
Land Use Size/Units

per TSF ITE equation used ITE equation used
fueling positions

per TSF
per TSF
per DU



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis Exisitng + Project AM @ 55% dev, no NWC2
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 4/26/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 142 295 169 102 155 74 87 169 296 153 10 95
Future Volume (vph) 142 295 169 102 155 74 87 169 296 153 10 95
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.97 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 1752 1845 1521 1752 1710 1752 3213 1752
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (perm) 1752 1845 1521 1752 1710 1752 3213 1752
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66 0.66
Adj. Flow (vph) 175 364 209 170 258 123 124 241 423 219 15 144
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 161 0 14 0 0 0 53 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 175 364 48 170 367 0 0 365 589 0 0 159
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 52 7 7 52 3 67 67
Confl. Bikes (#/hr) 9 1
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot Prot NA Prot Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 5 2 1 1
Permitted Phases 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 19.8 26.2 26.2 19.7 26.1 24.9 38.1 13.5
Effective Green, g (s) 19.8 26.2 26.2 19.7 26.1 24.9 38.1 13.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.17 0.23 0.23 0.17 0.23 0.22 0.33 0.12
Clearance Time (s) 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 303 422 348 301 390 381 1071 206
v/s Ratio Prot c0.10 0.20 0.10 c0.21 c0.21 c0.18 0.09
v/s Ratio Perm 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.58 0.86 0.14 0.56 0.94 0.96 0.55 0.77
Uniform Delay, d1 43.4 42.3 35.1 43.4 43.3 44.2 31.1 48.9
Progression Factor 1.01 1.01 1.07 1.00 1.00 1.03 1.02 1.02
Incremental Delay, d2 2.7 16.4 0.2 2.4 30.9 34.8 2.0 16.3
Delay (s) 46.4 59.3 37.8 45.8 74.2 80.6 33.8 66.0
Level of Service D E D D E F C E
Approach Delay (s) 50.3 65.4 50.7
Approach LOS D E D

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 52.7 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.78
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 114.3 Sum of lost time (s) 16.8
Intersection Capacity Utilization 77.6% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis Exisitng + Project AM @ 55% dev, no NWC2
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 4/26/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 228 102
Future Volume (vph) 228 102
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.2
Lane Util. Factor 0.95
Frpb, ped/bikes 0.99
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00
Frt 0.95
Flt Protected 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3324
Flt Permitted 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3324
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.66 0.66
Adj. Flow (vph) 345 155
RTOR Reduction (vph) 42 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 458 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3
Confl. Bikes (#/hr) 1
Turn Type NA
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s) 26.7
Effective Green, g (s) 26.7
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.23
Clearance Time (s) 4.2
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 776
v/s Ratio Prot 0.14
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio 0.59
Uniform Delay, d1 38.9
Progression Factor 0.99
Incremental Delay, d2 3.3
Delay (s) 41.9
Level of Service D
Approach Delay (s) 47.7
Approach LOS D

Intersection Summary



Queuing and Blocking Report Existing + Project AM @ 55% dev, no NWC2
Existing + Project AM 4/26/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L T TR UL T LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 46 19 36 91 27 90 52 31
Average Queue (ft) 31 7 7 52 5 54 28 24
95th Queue (ft) 51 21 31 94 23 94 56 44
Link Distance (ft) 1534 1534 579 1978 280 280
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 200 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served L T R L TR UL T TR UL T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 132 160 90 94 198 175 273 118 110 115 90
Average Queue (ft) 96 139 37 71 120 160 189 82 71 91 53
95th Queue (ft) 132 172 81 107 207 199 317 112 105 132 91
Link Distance (ft) 579 579 2279 656 656 433 433
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 190 70 150 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 12 19 20
Queuing Penalty (veh) 29 19 30

Intersection: 3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS

Movement WB SB
Directions Served LR UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 128 77
Average Queue (ft) 96 48
95th Queue (ft) 140 85
Link Distance (ft) 298
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 160
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)



Queuing and Blocking Report Existing + Project AM @ 55% dev, no NWC2
Existing + Project AM 4/26/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 71 80 58
Average Queue (ft) 38 54 40
95th Queue (ft) 65 88 62
Link Distance (ft) 256 256
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 30 77 78
Average Queue (ft) 18 45 31
95th Queue (ft) 43 76 80
Link Distance (ft) 260 260 512
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 78



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis Existing + Project PM @ 55% dev, no NWC2
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 4/26/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 120 211 107 73 245 54 50 155 273 90 16 52
Future Volume (vph) 120 211 107 73 245 54 50 155 273 90 16 52
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.98 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.96 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 1752 1845 1524 1752 1769 1752 3291 1752
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (perm) 1752 1845 1524 1752 1769 1752 3291 1752
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66 0.66
Adj. Flow (vph) 148 260 132 122 408 90 71 221 390 129 24 79
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 94 0 6 0 0 0 25 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 148 260 38 122 492 0 0 292 494 0 0 103
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 52 7 7 52 3 67 67
Confl. Bikes (#/hr) 9 1
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot Prot NA Prot Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 5 2 1 1
Permitted Phases 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 19.2 32.4 32.4 18.7 31.9 19.1 35.4 11.0
Effective Green, g (s) 19.2 32.4 32.4 18.7 31.9 19.1 35.4 11.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.17 0.29 0.29 0.16 0.28 0.17 0.31 0.10
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 296 526 435 288 497 294 1026 169
v/s Ratio Prot c0.08 0.14 0.07 c0.28 c0.17 0.15 0.06
v/s Ratio Perm 0.02
v/c Ratio 0.50 0.49 0.09 0.42 0.99 0.99 0.48 0.61
Uniform Delay, d1 42.8 33.7 29.7 42.6 40.6 47.1 31.6 49.2
Progression Factor 1.00 1.02 1.08 1.00 1.00 1.05 1.04 1.02
Incremental Delay, d2 1.3 0.7 0.1 1.0 37.1 50.3 1.6 6.1
Delay (s) 44.2 35.0 32.1 43.6 77.7 100.0 34.5 56.3
Level of Service D C C D E F C E
Approach Delay (s) 36.8 71.0 58.1
Approach LOS D E E

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 53.3 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.80
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 113.5 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 73.4% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis Existing + Project PM @ 55% dev, no NWC2
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 4/26/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Existing + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 252 144
Future Volume (vph) 252 144
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95
Frpb, ped/bikes 0.99
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00
Frt 0.95
Flt Protected 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3294
Flt Permitted 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3294
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.66 0.66
Adj. Flow (vph) 382 218
RTOR Reduction (vph) 65 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 535 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3
Confl. Bikes (#/hr) 1
Turn Type NA
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s) 27.3
Effective Green, g (s) 27.3
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.24
Clearance Time (s) 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 792
v/s Ratio Prot c0.16
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio 0.68
Uniform Delay, d1 39.1
Progression Factor 0.98
Incremental Delay, d2 4.6
Delay (s) 43.0
Level of Service D
Approach Delay (s) 44.9
Approach LOS D

Intersection Summary



Queuing and Blocking Report Exisitng + Proj PM @ 55% dev, no NWC2
Existing + Project PM 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L TR UL TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 40 48 26 101 52 31
Average Queue (ft) 17 11 29 5 61 34 31
95th Queue (ft) 32 38 59 23 100 49 31
Link Distance (ft) 1534 579 1978 280 280
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 200 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served L T R L TR UL T TR UL T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 206 190 50 94 243 161 113 96 90 112 95
Average Queue (ft) 122 130 32 70 190 126 67 61 60 69 64
95th Queue (ft) 224 188 47 119 278 164 122 110 91 108 102
Link Distance (ft) 579 579 2279 656 656 433 433
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 190 70 150 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 3 1 0 42 6
Queuing Penalty (veh) 7 1 1 31 8

Intersection: 3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS

Movement NB NB SB SB
Directions Served T T UL T
Maximum Queue (ft) 71 53 138 31
Average Queue (ft) 20 20 82 6
95th Queue (ft) 67 61 149 27
Link Distance (ft) 1219 1219 656
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 160
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)



Queuing and Blocking Report Exisitng + Proj PM @ 55% dev, no NWC2
Existing + Project PM 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB SB
Directions Served L R UL TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 52 172 72 59
Average Queue (ft) 34 77 39 12
95th Queue (ft) 49 162 66 51
Link Distance (ft) 256 256 190
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 52 77 74
Average Queue (ft) 29 52 31
95th Queue (ft) 56 83 78
Link Distance (ft) 260 260 512
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 48



Daily In Out Total In Out Total
TRIP RATES
Shopping Center (ITE 820) ITE
Gas Station w/ Mart & Car Wash (ITE 946) 152.84 6.04 5.80 11.84 7.07 6.79 13.86
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Thru (ITE 934) 496.12 23.16 22.26 45.42 16.98 15.67 32.65
Pharmacy/Drugstore w/ Drive Thru (ITE 881) 96.91 1.79 1.66 3.45 4.96 4.96 9.91
Supermarket (ITE 850) 102.24 2.11 1.29 3.40 4.83 4.65 9.48
TRIP GENERATION
Northwest Corner Parcel
Shopping Center 38.500 TSF 3,652 54 33 87 152 164 316

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -347 -5 -3 -8 -29 -31 -60
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%) -430 -6 -4 -10 -32 -35 -67

subtotal 2,875 43 26 69 91 99 189
Gas Station w/ Mart & Car Wash 5 positions 734 29 28 57 34 33 67

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -70 -3 -3 -5 -6 -6 -13
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 47.4%/PM 42.8%)) -315 -12 -12 -24 -12 -11 -23

subtotal 349 14 13 27 16 15 31
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 4.320 TSF 2,143 100 96 196 73 68 141

Internal Trip Capture (AM 9.5%/PM 19%) -204 -10 -9 -19 -14 -13 -27
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%) -727 -34 -33 -67 -23 -21 -44

subtotal 1,213 57 54 111 37 34 71
Total Trip Generation 6,528 183 157 340 259 265 524

Total Internal Trip Capture -620 -17 -15 -32 -49 -50 -99
Total Pass-by Trips -1,471 -53 -48 -101 -66 -67 -133

Total NET Trip Generation 4,437 113 94 207 143 147 291
Northwest Corner Parcel 2
Shopping Center 54.600 TSF

Internal Trip Capture (AM 4.5%/PM 9%)
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%)

subtotal
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 3.500 TSF

Internal Trip Capture (AM 4.5%/PM 9%)
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%)

subtotal
Total Trip Generation

Total Internal Trip Capture
Total Pass-by Trips

Total NET Trip Generation
Southwest Corner Parcel
Supermarket 16.480 TSF 1,685 35 21 56 80 77 156

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -126 -3 -2 -4 -12 -11 -23
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.8%/PM 27.5%) -215 -4 -3 -7 -19 -18 -37

subtotal 1,344 28 17 45 49 47 96
Pharmacy/Drrugstore w/ Drive Through 5.600 TSF 543 10 9 19 28 28 55

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -41 -1 -1 -1 -4 -4 -8
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 18.7%/PM 37.5%) -94 -2 -2 -3 -9 -9 -18

subtotal 408 8 7 15 15 15 29
Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive Through 2.560 TSF 1,270 59 57 116 43 40 84

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -95 -4 -4 -9 -7 -6 -13
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 37.5%/PM 38.2%) -440 -21 -20 -40 -14 -13 -27

subtotal 735 34 33 67 23 21 44
Shopping Center 7.800 TSF 1,294 20 12 33 52 56 108

Internal Trip Capture (AM 7.5%/PM 15%) -97 -2 -1 -2 -8 -8 -16
Pass-by trips (Daily & AM 13.0%/PM 26.0%) -156 -2 -2 -4 -12 -12 -24

subtotal 1,041 16 10 26 33 35 68
Total Trip Generation 4,791 124 100 225 203 201 404

Total Internal Trip Capture -359 -9 -8 -17 -30 -30 -61
Total Pass-by Trips -904 -29 -26 -55 -53 -52 -105

Total NET Trip Generation 3,528 86 67 153 119 118 238
Northwest and Southwest Corner Parcels

Total Trip Generation 11,320 308 257 565 462 465 927
Total Internal Trip Capture -980 -27 -22 -49 -80 -80 -160

Total Pass-by Trips -2,376 -82 -74 -156 -120 -119 -239
TOTAL PROJECT NET TRIP GENERATION 7,965 199 161 360 263 266 529

Table - Project Trip Generation Estimates at 40 Percent Development (NWC and SWC) and No NWC2

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour
Land Use Size/Units

per TSF ITE equation used ITE equation used
fueling positions

per TSF
per TSF
per DU



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity AnalysisOpen Year 2016 + Proj AM @ 40% dev, no NWC2
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 140 303 171 102 160 75 80 167 295 157 7 97
Future Volume (vph) 140 303 171 102 160 75 80 167 295 157 7 97
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.97 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 1752 1845 1521 1752 1711 1752 3207 1752
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (perm) 1752 1845 1521 1752 1711 1752 3207 1752
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66 0.66
Adj. Flow (vph) 173 374 211 170 267 125 114 239 421 224 11 147
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 162 0 14 0 0 0 56 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 173 374 49 170 378 0 0 353 589 0 0 158
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 52 7 7 52 3 67 67
Confl. Bikes (#/hr) 9 1
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot Prot NA Prot Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 5 2 1 1
Permitted Phases 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 19.8 26.5 26.5 19.7 26.4 24.2 36.6 13.5
Effective Green, g (s) 19.8 26.5 26.5 19.7 26.4 24.2 36.6 13.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.17 0.23 0.23 0.17 0.23 0.21 0.32 0.12
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 303 427 352 301 395 370 1026 206
v/s Ratio Prot c0.10 0.20 0.10 c0.22 c0.20 c0.18 0.09
v/s Ratio Perm 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.57 0.88 0.14 0.56 0.96 0.95 0.57 0.77
Uniform Delay, d1 43.4 42.3 34.8 43.4 43.4 44.5 32.4 48.9
Progression Factor 1.01 1.01 1.03 1.00 1.00 1.03 1.02 1.01
Incremental Delay, d2 2.6 17.9 0.2 2.4 34.0 34.7 2.3 15.6
Delay (s) 46.3 60.5 36.2 45.8 77.4 80.6 35.5 65.2
Level of Service D E D D E F D E
Approach Delay (s) 50.5 67.8 51.5
Approach LOS D E D

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 53.6 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.79
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 114.3 Sum of lost time (s) 18.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 78.0% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity AnalysisOpen Year 2016 + Proj AM @ 40% dev, no NWC2
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project AM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 223 97
Future Volume (vph) 223 97
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.5
Lane Util. Factor 0.95
Frpb, ped/bikes 0.99
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00
Frt 0.95
Flt Protected 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3328
Flt Permitted 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3328
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.66 0.66
Adj. Flow (vph) 338 147
RTOR Reduction (vph) 40 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 445 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3
Confl. Bikes (#/hr) 1
Turn Type NA
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s) 25.9
Effective Green, g (s) 25.9
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.23
Clearance Time (s) 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 754
v/s Ratio Prot 0.13
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio 0.59
Uniform Delay, d1 39.5
Progression Factor 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 3.4
Delay (s) 42.7
Level of Service D
Approach Delay (s) 48.2
Approach LOS D

Intersection Summary



Queuing and Blocking Report Open Year + Proj AM @ 40% dev, no NWC2
Opening Year + Project AM 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB WB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L UL T TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 42 29 27 48 94 73 31
Average Queue (ft) 24 11 5 19 48 37 25
95th Queue (ft) 39 34 23 49 88 77 45
Link Distance (ft) 579 579 1978 280 280
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 200 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served L T R L TR UL T TR UL T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 94 200 71 94 240 162 142 162 127 134 138
Average Queue (ft) 72 143 39 73 197 131 99 129 62 83 94
95th Queue (ft) 110 220 71 111 303 162 152 192 120 150 160
Link Distance (ft) 579 579 2279 656 656 433 433
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 190 70 150 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 2 17 41 3 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 2 40 42 4 1

Intersection: 3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS

Movement WB NB SB
Directions Served LR R UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 70 21 76
Average Queue (ft) 45 4 48
95th Queue (ft) 77 18 85
Link Distance (ft) 298
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 80 160
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)



Queuing and Blocking Report Open Year + Proj AM @ 40% dev, no NWC2
Opening Year + Project AM 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 30 96 75
Average Queue (ft) 6 57 48
95th Queue (ft) 26 92 76
Link Distance (ft) 256 256
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 30 102 91
Average Queue (ft) 18 45 41
95th Queue (ft) 43 92 91
Link Distance (ft) 260 260 512
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 89



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity AnalysisOpening Year + Proj PM @ 40% dev, no NWC2
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBU NBL NBT NBR SBU SBL
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 113 215 104 71 253 54 38 147 267 91 13 52
Future Volume (vph) 113 215 104 71 253 54 38 147 267 91 13 52
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.97 1.00
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.97 1.00 0.96 1.00
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (prot) 1752 1845 1525 1752 1771 1752 3286 1752
Flt Permitted 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95
Satd. Flow (perm) 1752 1845 1525 1752 1771 1752 3286 1752
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.66 0.66
Adj. Flow (vph) 140 265 128 118 422 90 54 210 381 130 20 79
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 90 0 6 0 0 0 27 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 140 265 38 118 506 0 0 264 484 0 0 99
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 52 7 7 52 3 67 67
Confl. Bikes (#/hr) 9 1
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot Prot NA Prot Prot
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 5 2 1 1
Permitted Phases 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 19.1 34.0 34.0 18.6 33.5 18.1 34.3 10.8
Effective Green, g (s) 19.1 34.0 34.0 18.6 33.5 18.1 34.3 10.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.17 0.30 0.30 0.16 0.29 0.16 0.30 0.09
Clearance Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 294 551 456 286 521 278 991 166
v/s Ratio Prot c0.08 0.14 0.07 c0.29 c0.15 0.15 0.06
v/s Ratio Perm 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.48 0.48 0.08 0.41 0.97 0.95 0.49 0.60
Uniform Delay, d1 42.8 32.6 28.7 42.7 39.6 47.3 32.5 49.4
Progression Factor 1.00 1.02 1.08 1.00 1.00 1.05 1.04 1.02
Incremental Delay, d2 1.2 0.7 0.1 1.0 31.8 39.9 1.7 5.7
Delay (s) 44.1 33.8 30.9 43.6 71.5 89.6 35.5 56.0
Level of Service D C C D E F D E
Approach Delay (s) 35.8 66.2 54.0
Approach LOS D E D

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 50.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service D
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.78
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 113.7 Sum of lost time (s) 16.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 72.0% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity AnalysisOpening Year + Proj PM @ 40% dev, no NWC2
2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial 5:00 pm 11/27/2014 Opening Year + Project PM Synchro 9 Report
Page 2

Movement SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 243 137
Future Volume (vph) 243 137
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95
Frpb, ped/bikes 0.99
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00
Frt 0.95
Flt Protected 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3295
Flt Permitted 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3295
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.66 0.66
Adj. Flow (vph) 368 208
RTOR Reduction (vph) 64 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 512 0
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 3
Confl. Bikes (#/hr) 1
Turn Type NA
Protected Phases 6
Permitted Phases
Actuated Green, G (s) 27.0
Effective Green, g (s) 27.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.24
Clearance Time (s) 4.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 782
v/s Ratio Prot c0.16
v/s Ratio Perm
v/c Ratio 0.65
Uniform Delay, d1 39.1
Progression Factor 0.99
Incremental Delay, d2 4.2
Delay (s) 42.8
Level of Service D
Approach Delay (s) 44.7
Approach LOS D

Intersection Summary



Queuing and Blocking Report Open Year + Proj PM @ 40% dev, no NWC2
Opening Year + Project PM 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L T UL TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 45 20 50 46 78 30 54
Average Queue (ft) 29 7 25 15 44 29 45
95th Queue (ft) 49 22 51 46 88 31 59
Link Distance (ft) 1534 579 1978 280 280
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 200 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served L T R L TR UL T TR UL T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 73 154 27 49 293 167 162 163 112 109 171
Average Queue (ft) 48 92 24 33 170 113 99 101 82 60 90
95th Queue (ft) 73 146 27 63 273 191 169 185 114 126 178
Link Distance (ft) 579 579 2279 656 656 433 433
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 190 70 150 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 40 10 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 28 13 0

Intersection: 3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS

Movement WB SB
Directions Served LR UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 22 96
Average Queue (ft) 13 53
95th Queue (ft) 31 92
Link Distance (ft) 298
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 160
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)



Queuing and Blocking Report Open Year + Proj PM @ 40% dev, no NWC2
Opening Year + Project PM 4/27/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 52 54 55
Average Queue (ft) 33 35 38
95th Queue (ft) 65 51 72
Link Distance (ft) 256 256
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 52 73 51
Average Queue (ft) 29 54 42
95th Queue (ft) 56 77 57
Link Distance (ft) 260 260 512
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 42



 
 

 

Buhach Rd/Juniper Ave Commercial Project Focused TIS  Appendix F 

 

APPENDIX F 
 
 
Queuing Analysis Worksheets  
 



Queuing and Blocking Report Existing + Project AM
Opening Year + Project AM 7/13/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L T TR L T TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 49 25 21 35 16 12 74 60 39
Average Queue (ft) 27 7 5 17 3 4 54 36 32
95th Queue (ft) 53 32 23 43 18 19 92 61 47
Link Distance (ft) 1534 1534 567 567 1978 280 280
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 200 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served UL T T R L TR UL T TR L T T
Maximum Queue (ft) 186 145 136 71 90 272 174 309 225 145 144 116
Average Queue (ft) 126 80 80 40 80 197 160 210 156 89 103 70
95th Queue (ft) 216 162 162 84 114 339 195 378 256 158 168 130
Link Distance (ft) 567 567 2279 646 646 432 432
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 190 150 70 150 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 3 40 30 28 0 0 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 4 100 33 51 1 1 1 0

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 56
Average Queue (ft) 44
95th Queue (ft) 65
Link Distance (ft)
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)



Queuing and Blocking Report Existing + Project AM
Opening Year + Project AM 7/13/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS

Movement WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LR T R UL T
Maximum Queue (ft) 162 11 13 116 6
Average Queue (ft) 110 2 3 63 1
95th Queue (ft) 187 19 17 122 11
Link Distance (ft) 298 1219 646
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 80 160
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1

Intersection: 4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB SB
Directions Served L R L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 60 56 51 8
Average Queue (ft) 36 37 23 2
95th Queue (ft) 68 60 57 11
Link Distance (ft) 256 256 190
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 35 44 40
Average Queue (ft) 20 33 23
95th Queue (ft) 45 52 49
Link Distance (ft) 260 260 512
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 192



Queuing and Blocking Report Existing + Project PM
Opening Year + Project PM 7/13/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L T TR L T TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 102 110 67 98 143 158 61 61 52
Average Queue (ft) 75 73 46 55 98 114 35 37 32
95th Queue (ft) 121 137 99 117 164 173 72 69 66
Link Distance (ft) 1534 1534 567 567 1978 280 280
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 200 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 5
Queuing Penalty (veh) 4 3

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB EB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB SB
Directions Served UL T T R L TR UL T TR L T T
Maximum Queue (ft) 194 178 139 44 91 281 174 326 185 160 186 128
Average Queue (ft) 139 102 90 23 64 212 153 204 99 69 120 94
95th Queue (ft) 228 277 235 51 111 335 199 387 208 172 195 156
Link Distance (ft) 567 567 2279 641 641 432 432
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 190 150 70 150 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 13 19 52 22 1 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 15 63 44 39 3 1

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement SB
Directions Served R
Maximum Queue (ft) 108
Average Queue (ft) 61
95th Queue (ft) 117
Link Distance (ft)
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 3



Queuing and Blocking Report Existing + Project PM
Opening Year + Project PM 7/13/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS

Movement WB NB SB
Directions Served R T UL
Maximum Queue (ft) 30 5 92
Average Queue (ft) 13 1 59
95th Queue (ft) 44 9 104
Link Distance (ft) 298 1225
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 160
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB SB
Directions Served L R L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 77 84 55 4
Average Queue (ft) 51 51 31 1
95th Queue (ft) 103 87 69 8
Link Distance (ft) 256 256 190
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 51 70 47
Average Queue (ft) 28 46 29
95th Queue (ft) 57 73 57
Link Distance (ft) 260 260 512
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 175



Queuing and Blocking Report Opening Year + Project AM-MIT
Opening Year + Project AM 7/13/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L T TR L T TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 104 139 111 40 110 128 62 73 48
Average Queue (ft) 61 86 60 26 67 91 43 39 29
95th Queue (ft) 122 147 120 49 120 139 77 83 54
Link Distance (ft) 1534 1534 567 567 1978 280 280
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 200 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB EB WB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served UL T T R L T TR UL T TR L T
Maximum Queue (ft) 197 154 109 99 91 146 132 173 306 245 137 164
Average Queue (ft) 140 90 67 50 72 80 78 160 183 162 84 110
95th Queue (ft) 220 199 116 114 112 155 140 189 379 282 151 172
Link Distance (ft) 567 567 2279 2279 641 641 432
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 190 150 70 150 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 5 0 0 20 10 23 2 2
Queuing Penalty (veh) 8 0 1 17 11 43 6 2

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement SB SB
Directions Served T R
Maximum Queue (ft) 102 65
Average Queue (ft) 68 45
95th Queue (ft) 111 75
Link Distance (ft) 432
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)



Queuing and Blocking Report Opening Year + Project AM-MIT
Opening Year + Project AM 7/13/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS

Movement WB NB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served R T T R UL T
Maximum Queue (ft) 103 12 6 9 109 6
Average Queue (ft) 63 2 1 3 67 1
95th Queue (ft) 112 15 10 14 120 11
Link Distance (ft) 298 1225 1225 641
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 80 160
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0

Intersection: 4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB SB
Directions Served L R L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 63 60 46 4
Average Queue (ft) 41 40 32 1
95th Queue (ft) 72 69 58 8
Link Distance (ft) 256 256 190
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 35 45 44
Average Queue (ft) 23 34 23
95th Queue (ft) 47 56 51
Link Distance (ft) 260 260 512
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 89



Queuing and Blocking Report Opening Year 2016 + Project PM
Opening Year + Project PM 7/13/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 1

Intersection: 1: Augusta Ln & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB WB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L T TR L T TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 112 82 74 57 151 168 44 75 77
Average Queue (ft) 70 55 41 40 93 117 29 41 43
95th Queue (ft) 124 94 87 63 174 194 60 80 84
Link Distance (ft) 1534 1534 567 567 1978 280 280
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 200 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 4
Queuing Penalty (veh) 3

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement EB EB EB EB WB WB WB NB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served UL T T R L T TR UL T TR L T
Maximum Queue (ft) 190 166 120 47 94 137 134 169 207 179 114 154
Average Queue (ft) 141 98 69 25 72 94 88 136 115 106 73 113
95th Queue (ft) 230 263 187 55 110 149 147 192 226 188 135 177
Link Distance (ft) 567 567 2279 2279 646 646 432
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 190 150 70 150 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 9 21 17 9 0 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 11 27 15 17 0 1

Intersection: 2: N Buhach Rd & E Juniper Ave

Movement SB SB
Directions Served T R
Maximum Queue (ft) 129 110
Average Queue (ft) 91 61
95th Queue (ft) 145 115
Link Distance (ft) 432
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 1 0



Queuing and Blocking Report Opening Year 2016 + Project PM
Opening Year + Project PM 7/13/2015

Juniper & Buhach  Commercial SimTraffic Report
Page 2

Intersection: 3: N Buhach Rd & BCHS

Movement WB NB SB SB
Directions Served LR T UL T
Maximum Queue (ft) 26 6 102 21
Average Queue (ft) 13 1 51 5
95th Queue (ft) 32 11 110 32
Link Distance (ft) 298 1219 646
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 160
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 4: N Buhach Rd & NWC Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 74 73 58
Average Queue (ft) 53 50 38
95th Queue (ft) 98 80 66
Link Distance (ft) 256 256
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 150
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Intersection: 5: N Buhach Rd & NWC2 Proj Dwy

Movement EB EB NB
Directions Served L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 52 57 68
Average Queue (ft) 35 46 38
95th Queue (ft) 58 65 76
Link Distance (ft) 260 260 512
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 75



1 | P a g e  

 
 

City of Atwater 
 

          CIVIC CENTER 
           750 BELLEVUE ROAD 

   ATWATER, CALIFORNIA  95301 
                                                                                                                                  (209) 357-6300 
 
 

November 24, 2015 

 

 

RE:   REVIEW OF THE REVISED FOCUSED TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY (TIS) DATED 
JULY 10, 2015 FOR THE PROPOSED COMMERCIAL PROJECT, LOCATED 
AT THE NORTHWEST AND SOUTHWEST CORNERS OF BUHACH ROAD 
AND JUNIPER AVENUE - TIS 15-001, VENTANA DEL REY PARCEL MAPS 

 
PROJECT OVERVIEW 
We have reviewed the Revised Focused Traffic Impact Study (TIS) prepared by Arch 
Beach Consulting for the proposed "Project" that plans to develop 249,250 square feet 
(SF) of Planned Development - retail/commercial uses on two existing parcels, 20.26 
acres and 8.6 acres, located on the west side of Buhach Road at Juniper Avenue. In the 
TIS these two existing parcels are further defined as the following project sites or areas; 
110,050 SF on 12.5 acres Northwest Commercial (NWC), 58,100 SF on 7.73 acres on 
Northwest Commercial 2 (NWC 2), and 81,100 SF on 8.6 acres on Southwest 
Commercial (SWC). The Project sites are currently vacant.  Included as part of the 
entitlement applications the applicant is requesting approval of a Tentative Parcel Map 
for the existing 20.26 acre parcel, NWC and NWC2 areas, and 8.6 acre parcels SWC. 
As a reference, the Tentative Parcel Maps are attached hereto. Specific parcel numbers 
corresponding to those on the maps are referenced throughout this document. 
 
The TIS evaluated the impacts of the Project by analyzing five (5) intersections in the 
vicinity of the project location during the AM and PM peak hours. Vehicle trips projected 
to be generated by the Project were calculated using the ITE Trip Generation Manual, 
9th Edition. The following table includes the daily (ADT), AM and PM peak hour trips 
projected to be generated by the Project as shown in the TIS: 
 

 

  

  AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Daily In Out Total In Out Total 

Northwest and Southwest Corner Parcels   
   

  
  Total Gross Trip Generation 31,227 861 727 1,588 1,273 1,282 2,555 

Total Internal Trip Capture -2,429 -68 -58 -127 -198 -199 -397 

Total Pass-by Trips -6,728 -235 -214 -449 -337 -335 -672 

TOTAL PROJECT NET TRIP GENERATION 22,070 557 455 1,012 739 748 1,487 

 



Revised Focused TIS – Commercial Project at Buhach Rd and Juniper Ave 
Review of TIS and Traffic Conditions of Approval November 24, 2015 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

2 | P a g e  

 
Based on the analyses included in the TIS, the study intersection of Buhach Road at 
Buhach Colony High School Driveway is currently operating below the acceptable level 
of service (LOS) D, during the AM peak hour. With the addition of the Project, the LOS 
and operations at this intersection are projected to operate at LOS F.  
 
The intersections of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane and Juniper Avenue at Buhach 
Road are also projected to operate below the LOS D standard during both the AM and 
PM peak hours with the addition of the Project. 
 
Near Term analyses was also completed for the Year 2017 plus Project. This scenario 
assumes that the Project would be entirely built by the end of 2017. To derive at the 
Near Term Year 2017 plus Project traffic forecasting, the preparer of the TIS expanded 
the existing Year 2014 traffic volumes for three years by an annual growth rate of two 
(2) percent. The two (2) percent annual growth rate was based on consultation with staff 
from the Merced County Association of Governments (MCAG). Similar to the Existing 
plus Project scenario under this scenario, the intersections of Juniper Avenue at 
Augusta Lane and Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road are projected to operate below the 
LOS D standard during both the AM and PM peak hours with the addition of the Project. 
The intersection of Buhach Road at Buhach Colony High School Driveway is also 
projected to operate below the LOS D standard during the AM peak period.  
 
In order to mitigate the identified operational deficiencies, the TIS has the following 
recommendations by analysis scenario: 
 
EXISTING PLUS PROJECT 

 Signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane and install 
pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the California Manual 
of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south legs of 
the intersection, and at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the 
westbound left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the 
shopping center).  

 Modify the traffic signal at the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to 
implement protective left turn phasing in all directions and to accommodate the 
following: 

o Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane.  
o Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane.  
o Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-Turns from 

the existing eastbound left turn lane.   

 Modify the existing concrete median island on Buhach Road at the Buhach 
Colony High School Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left turn 
movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to 
the school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration.  

 
  



Revised Focused TIS – Commercial Project at Buhach Rd and Juniper Ave 
Review of TIS and Traffic Conditions of Approval November 24, 2015 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

3 | P a g e  

YEAR 2017 PLUS PROJECT 

 Signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane and install 
pedestrian crosswalks, consistent with the requirements of the California Manual 
of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), across the north and south legs of 
the intersection, and, at least, across the east leg of the intersection where the 
westbound left turn volume is lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the 
shopping center).  

 Modify the traffic signal at the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to 
implement protective left turn phasing in all directions and to accommodate the 
following: 

o Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane.  
o Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane.  
o Construct a second westbound through lane. 
o Widen the westbound return lane approach to accommodate U-Turns from 

the existing eastbound left turn lane.  

 Modify the existing concrete median island on Buhach Road at the Buhach 
Colony High School Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left turn 
movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn access to 
the school will still be provided from the median reconfiguration.  

 Additional technical traffic analyses will likely be required in the future for specific 
development phases to determine the level of mitigation needed by that specific 
phase. As the TIS only determined traffic mitigation measures needed if the 
proposed Project is built out by the end of 2017, and development of the Project 
is very likely to take place well beyond 2017. 

 
 
GENERAL COMMENTS AND CONDITIONS 
 
General Conditions 

 
1. The Comments and Conditions within this correspondence shall be incorporated 

into the proposed Mitigated Negative Declaration Document (MND) for the 
Project.  These combined with subsequent Atwater City Council approving 
resolutions shall become the conditions of approval for the proposed Project. The 
conditions shall run with each of the respective Parcel Maps and be recorded 
with them.  These comments shall also be incorporated into an Improvement 
Agreement to be executed with the Master Developer at the time when the 
Tentative Parcel Maps are sought for approval.  The Master Developer shall also 
provide security in a form to be approved by the City Attorney in an amount to 
cover the costs to design all roadway improvements, the new traffic signal at 
Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane and the signal modifications at Buhach Road at 
Juniper Avenue as well as all related roadway improvements  associated with the 
all required offsite improvements. 
 



Revised Focused TIS – Commercial Project at Buhach Rd and Juniper Ave 
Review of TIS and Traffic Conditions of Approval November 24, 2015 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

4 | P a g e  

2. With the exception of the proposed traffic signal at the intersection of Juniper 
Avenue at Augusta Lane, access to Juniper Avenue will be limited to right in and 
right out.  This shall apply to both the Northwest and Southwest Parcel Maps. 
 

3. This Project shall pay all applicable local traffic impact fees incorporated into the 
City’s adopted AB 1600 Impact Fees as well as the adopted Regional 
Transportation Impact Fees (RTIF).  All fees shall be determined and paid at the 
time of building permit issuance for a specific portion of the Project.  
 

4. The proposed Project Developer(s) shall make necessary street improvements 
and right-of-way dedications along adjacent public street(s) pursuant to the City 
of Atwater standards/requirements – or as approved by the City Engineer. 
 

5. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for a development project on 
any of specific parcels on either of the Tentative Parcel Maps all Parcel Specific 
Conditions – Mitigation Measures as contained in this document, or as approved 
for amendment by the City Engineer, for the specific parcel(s) shall be 
completed. 
 

6. The proposed Planned Development Master Plan and Final Development Plan 
shall be reviewed concurrently with the Tentative Parcel Map.  Pursuant to the 
Atwater Municipal Code the City Council shall have the authority to approve or 
deny the applications. Also, pursuant to the Atwater Municipal Code, the Master 
Plan and Final Development Plan shall require a recommendation by the   
Community Development & Resources Commission – acting in the capacity as 
the Planning Commission.     
 

Parcel Specific Conditions 
 

1. As part of the development of Parcel 1 of the Northwest Parcel Map or Parcel 1 
or 6 of the Southwest Parcel Map, the north side of Juniper Avenue shall be 
widened to accommodate U-Turns from the existing eastbound left turn lane on 
Juniper Avenue. The widening shall be able to accommodate 37 ft. measured 
from the south face of curb of the existing median island. These modifications will 
require the traffic signal equipment at the northwest corner of the intersection of 
Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to be modified as well. The first of the three 
parcels to develop shall also construct a second westbound through lane at 
Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road with 150 ft. storage capacity with a 120 ft. bay 
taper. Costs shall be paid by the first of either Parcel 1 of the Northwest Parcel 
Map or Parcel 1 or Parcel 6 of the Southwest Parcel Map, the second and third to 
develop shall repay the initial developer a third of the improvement costs. 

 
2. As part of the development of Parcels 1 or 4 of the Northwest Parcel Map, the 

southbound right turn lane shall be constructed.  The southbound right turn lane 
shall include a storage capacity of 100 ft. and approximately 45 ft. bay taper. This 



Revised Focused TIS – Commercial Project at Buhach Rd and Juniper Ave 
Review of TIS and Traffic Conditions of Approval November 24, 2015 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

5 | P a g e  

will require that the traffic signal equipment at the northwest corner of the 
intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road be modified. Costs shall be paid 
by the first of either Parcel 1 or 4 of the Northwest Parcel Map, the second to 
develop shall repay the initial developer half of the improvement costs. 
 

3. As part of the development of Parcel 1, 2 or 3 of the Southwest Parcel Map, an 
eastbound right turn lane shall be constructed on Juniper Avenue. This will 
require that the traffic signal equipment at the southwest corner of the 
intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road be modified. It shall include the 
construction a dedicated eastbound right turn lane with a storage capacity of 130 
ft. and approximately 85 ft. bay taper. Costs shall be paid by the first of either 
Parcel 1, 2 or 3 of the Southwest Parcel Map, the second and third to develop 
shall repay the initial developer a third of the improvement costs. 
 

4. Prior to obtaining access from the proposed driveway for Parcel 3 of the 
Southwest Parcel Map, the Project shall modify the existing concrete median 
island on Buhach Road at the Buhach Colony High School. Driveway to 
permanently restrict outbound left turn movements from the school’s driveway. 
Southbound inbound left turn access to the school will still be provided from the 
median reconfiguration. Costs shall be paid by entirely by the developer of Parcel 
3 of the Southwest Parcel Map 
 

5. Due to health and safety reasons, access to and from the existing driveway, 
between Parcels 4 and 5 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map, will be limited to 
right in, right out, and left in. Left out movements will be prohibited. Therefore, the 
construction of a median island worm at this location of Buhach Road will be 
made a condition of approval prior to obtaining access to/from this driveway. 
Costs associated with this shall be by either of the first to develop, either Parcel 4 
or Parcel 5, the second shall repay the first half the costs.  In the event that 
Parcel(s) 3, 6, 7, 8, 10, or 11 seek to use this driveway and should one of these 
precede Parcels 4 or 5 then the first to develop shall design and pay for the 
necessary improvements and the second parcel to develop shall reimburse the 
first one half of the total costs for design and construction. 
 

6. Prior to allowing access to Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane, the Project shall 
signalize the intersection with protective left turn phasing in all directions. The 
median island on Juniper Avenue shall also be modified to include a 150 ft. left 
turn pocket with a 120 ft. bay taper. Pedestrian crosswalks shall also be installed, 
across the north and south legs of the intersection, and, at least, across the east 
leg of the intersection where the westbound left turn volume is lower than the 
eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping center). The throat width of the 
Augusta Avenue driveway shall be 41 ft. Signalization of the intersection of 
Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane shall include emergency vehicle preemption 
and a signal interconnect between this intersection and that of Juniper Avenue at 
Buhach Road. Signal interconnect shall be via the use of signal interconnect 



Revised Focused TIS – Commercial Project at Buhach Rd and Juniper Ave 
Review of TIS and Traffic Conditions of Approval November 24, 2015 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

6 | P a g e  

cable within signal conduits. The costs to prepare the signal plans, timing plans, 
and related civil improvements and the overall construction costs shall be paid by 
the first Parcel needing access to Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane.  The second 
parcel needing access from this location shall reimburse the first one, half of the 
entire costs for design and construction.   
 

7. Parcel 8 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map shall construct a 100 ft. bus bay 
with approximately 40 ft. bay tapers on both ends. The width of the bus bay shall 
be 8 ft. measured from the existing face of curb. The construction of the bus bay 
will require the reconstruction of the sidewalk and trail adjacent to the bus bay.  
The developer of Parcel 8 shall pay the entire cost of this improvement. 
 

8. Prior to obtaining full access to the existing driveway between Parcels 9 and 13 
of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map, the Project shall prepare  a focused traffic 
study of this intersection based on existing conditions at the time of the 
requested access, Five Years after Project Buildout, and Long Term (20 years 
after Project Buildout). The purpose of this focused traffic study is to ensure the 
safety of motorists and pedestrians that would be utilizing this intersection. In lieu 
of the focused traffic study, the Project can elect to limit this access point to right 
in, right out, and left in (left out movements will be prohibited). If the Project 
elects to go with limited access (no left out) then the Project shall construct a 
median island worm at this location of Buhach Road. The costs to prepare the 
focused traffic study and to implement any necessary improvements shall be 
paid by the first to develop of either Parcels 9 through 14, the second shall 
reimburse the first, half of the costs. 
 

 
Please feel free to contact me as a reference, (209) 357-6369, smcbride@atwater.org 

 

Scott McBride 
Community Development Director 
City of Atwater 

mailto:smcbride@atwater.org


   

   
 
 

www.JLBtraffic.com  

516 W. Shaw Ave., Ste. 200   
Fresno, CA 93704  P a g e | 1

Traffic Engineering, Transportation Planning & Parking Solutions info@JLBtraffic.com (559) 570‐8991   
 

   

May 18, 2016 

Scott McBride 
Community Development Director 
Community Development Department 
City of Atwater 
750 Bellevue Rd.  
Atwater, CA 95301 

 

Subject:  Review of the Traffic Related Comments from Corfield Feld LLP dated 

March 24, 2016 for the Proposed Commercial Project Located at the NW 

and SW Corners of Buhach Road / Juniper Avenue TIS 15‐001 
 
Dear Mr. Scott McBride, 
 
As requested, we called Dennis Pascua (preparer of the Traffic Study) to discuss the traffic related 
comments from Corfield Feld LLP dated March 24, 2016. During our phone conversation we discussed 
three comments related to traffic mitigation measures as noted below: 
 
 

1. Comment on Mitigation Measure 3.16.12. (current Mitigation Measure 3.16.1m)  
"The requirement  for  the  second westbound  through  lane at Juniper Avenue and Buhach 
Road  should  not be required until  peak hour levels of service (LOS)  dictate  the need  for  the 
construction  of this lane. The second  lane  is not necessary  until  service levels are below LOS 
D.”  
 
Response to comment on Mitigation Measure 3.16.12. (current Mitigation Measure 3.16.1m)  
Mr. Pascua indicated that normally these improvements would be built from the beginning and 
if the improvements aren’t built from the beginning a fee program would and subsequent traffic 
studies would need to be added as mitigation measures. However, a fee program for a single 
project is much better served if it is set up by the project owner and said owner takes into 
account the offsite construction costs when selling property within the project. With this in 
mind, it is recommended that this mitigation measure remain as currently presented in the 
mitigated negative declaration.  
 

2. Comment on “Mitigation Measure 3.16.14 (current Mitigation Measure 3.16.1o)  
"The construction of the eastbound right turn lane on Juniper Avenue should be tied only to the 
development of Parcel 1. Construction on Parcels 2 or 3, alone, would not create the need for 
the dedicated right turn lane and peak hour LOS would likely remain at LOS D or better.”  
 
Response to comment on Mitigation Measure 3.16.14 (current Mitigation Measure 3.16.1o)  
While Mr. Pascua and JLB have minor differences of opinion on this matter, JLB agrees that the 
construction of the eastbound right turn lane on Juniper Avenue could be tied to Parcel 1 only. 
Therefore, it is recommended that this mitigation measure be updated accordingly within the 
mitigated negative declaration. 
 

   



   

   
   

www.JLBtraffic.com  

516 W. Shaw Ave., Ste. 200   
Fresno, CA 93704  P a g e | 2

Traffic Engineering, Transportation Planning & Parking Solutions info@JLBtraffic.com (559) 570‐8991   
 

   

Mr. McBride 
Buhach Road / Juniper Avenue Commercial Project Revised TIS 
May 21, 2015 

 
3. Comment on Mitigation Measure 3.16.17 (current Mitigation Measure 3.16.1r)  

"The signalization of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane should only be required 
when the proposed project constructs the north leg of the intersection, and generates 100 or 
more peak hour trips on the southbound approach of the new driveway.” 
 
Response to comment on Mitigation Measure 3.16.17 (current Mitigation Measure 3.16.1o)  
While Mr. Pascua and JLB have minor differences of opinion on this matter, we agreed that the 
construction of the signal would be needed once access to Juniper Avenue at this location is 
sought by any of the parcels to the north of Juniper Avenue. Therefore, this condition would 
only be required at such time that access to Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane is proposed. With 
this in mind, it is recommended that this mitigation measure remain as currently presented in 
the mitigated negative declaration.  

 

If you have any questions or require additional information regarding this TIS review, please contact me 
at (559) 570‐8991, or send me an email at jbenavides@JLBtraffic.com. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Jose Luis Benavides, P.E., T.E. 
President 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C:\Users\Jose\Desktop\01 Projects\005 Atwater\005‐002 2015 On Call\Task 001 Buhach Juniper Peer\Mitigated Neg Dec\test.docx 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 1 

MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY MITIGATION REPORTING and MONITORING PROGRAM 
 
City of Atwater:  Planned Development No. 16-1  Planned Development Final Development Plan No. 16-1  Tentative Parcel Maps Nos. 16-1 and 16-2 

 
SCH#2016061039 
 
 Introduction 
 State and local agencies are required by Section 21081.6 of the California Public Resources Code to establish a monitoring and 
reporting program for all projects that are approved and that require CEQA processing. 
 Local agencies are given broad latitude in developing programs to meet the requirements of Public Resources Code Section 21081.6.  
The mitigation monitoring program outlined in this document is based upon guidance issued by the Governor's Office of Planning and 
Research. 
 The mitigation monitoring and reporting program for the proposed project corresponds to mitigation measures outlined in the project 
Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND).  The Program summarizes the environmental issues identified in the MND, the mitigation 
measures required to reduce each potentially significant impact and the agency or agencies responsible for monitoring and reporting 
on the implementation of the mitigation measures. 
 
 
      



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 2 

 The Program   
 
Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
3.3 Air Quality  
3.3.2a Mitigation Measure #3.3.2a: The Applicant shall 

water exposed areas 3 times per day or as needed for 
dust control. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 
Construction 
Contractors and 
Construction 
Contractor Supervisors 
shall comply with this 
measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

 

3.3.2b Mitigation Measure #3.3.2b: The Applicant shall 
implement a Voluntary Worker Trip Reduction 
Program for construction workers. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 3 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
Construction 
Contractors and 
Construction 
Contractor Supervisors 
shall comply with this 
measure. 

 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

3.3.2c Mitigation Measure #3.3.2c: The Project shall be in 
compliance with all mandatory rules and regulations 
applicable to the Project, including but not limited to, 
the following: 
  SJVAPCD Rule 2201 New or Modified 

Stationary Source; and  SJVAPCD Regulation VIII - Dust Control Rules 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 
The developer or 
subsequent project 
developers shall ensure 
that compliance with 
all SJVAPCD 
applicable rules and 
regulation are met.  

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
 

 

3.3.2d Mitigation Measures #3.3.2d:  Prior to the issuance 
of building permits, the Applicant shall provide the 
City with confirmation that it has made an 
application to the SJVAPCD for a permit under Rule 
9510 - Indirect Source Rule (ISR).  
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 

Prior to the issuance 
of building permits, 
the developer shall 
provide the City with 
confirmation that it 
has made an 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 4 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
For ISR compliance, the Applicant shall submit an 
air impact assessment (AIA) providing the quantified 
NOx and PM emissions associated with Project 
operations. The applicant shall incorporate mitigation 
measures identified by SJVAPCD into the Project to 
reduce the NOx and PM emissions associated with 
Project operations by at least 33.3 percent and 50 
percent respectively over a period of ten years. These 
reduction requirements shall be met through on-site 
emission reduction measures, including, but not 
limited to: installing energy efficient LED in all 
proposed outdoor lighting fixtures; install internally 
LED illuminated signage for commercial uses, and 
directional signs throughout the project site; 
installing efficient heating and other appliances, such 
as water heaters, cooking equipment, refrigerators, 
beyond Title 24 requirements and install energy 
efficient interior lighting; improving thermal 
integrity/efficiency of buildings and reduce load with 
automated and timed temperature controls or 
occupant sensors. If the ISR NOx and PM emissions 
reductions are not reduced by on-site measures, the 
applicant shall pay a monetary Off-Site Fee to 
SJVAPCD, as calculated under Rule 9510. 
 
 
 

 
The developer or 
subsequent project 
developers shall ensure 
that compliance with 
Rule 9510 is met. 

application to the 
SJVAPCD for a 
permit under Rule 
9510 - Indirect Source 
Rule (ISR). 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 5 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
3.3.2e Mitigation Measures #3.3.2e: The Applicant shall 

enter into a VERA with the SJVAPCD to reduce the 
Project-related impact on air quality. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 
The developer or 
subsequent project 
developers shall enter 
into a VERA 
agreement with the 
SJVAPCD. 

Prior to the issuance 
of building permits, 
the developer shall 
provide the City with 
confirmation that it 
has entered into a 
VERA agreement with 
the SJVAPCD. 

 

3.4  Biological Resources 
3.4.1a Mitigation Measures #3.4.1a:     Preconstruction surveys for the San Joaquin kit 

fox and American badger should be conducted 
within 14 to 30 days prior to ground disturbance 
activities in accordance with Standardized 
Recommendations for Protection of the 
Endangered San Joaquin Kit Fox Prior to or 
During Ground Disturbance Activities (USFWS 
2011). These recommendations are also 
applicable to the American badger. Exclusion 
zones should be placed in accordance with 
USFWS Recommendations using the following: 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 
The developer is 
responsible for 
implementation, and 
shall retain a consulting 
biologist to complete 
the surveys and provide 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff confirm 
that the measure is 
shown on the Final 
Map and Improvement 
Plans prior to 
recordation. 
 
City of Atwater 
Planning & Building 
staff shall review and 
accept the biologist’s 
findings prior to 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 6 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
 Potential Den 50-foot radius 

Known Den 100-foot radius 
Natal/Pupping Den  
(Occupied and 
Unoccupied) 

Contact U.S. 
Fish and 
Wildlife 
Service for 
guidance 

Atypical Den 50-foot radius 
 

If dens must be removed, they must be 
appropriately monitored and excavated by a 
trained wildlife biologist. Replacement dens will 
be required. Destruction of natal dens and other 
“known” kit fox dens must not occur until 
authorized by USFWS. 

 
 Project-related vehicles should observe a 20-mph 

speed limit in all Project areas, except on city and 
county roads and State and Federal highways.  
Nighttime construction should be avoided, unless 
the construction area is appropriately fenced to 
exclude the San Joaquin kit fox and American 
badger. The area within any such fence must be 
determined to be uninhabited by these species 

them to City Planning 
staff prior to site 
grading. 

issuing grading or 
building permits. 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 7 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
prior to initiation of construction. Off-road traffic 
outside of designated Project areas should be 
prohibited. 

  All food-related trash items such as wrappers, 
cans, bottles, and food scraps should be disposed 
of in closed containers and removed at least once 
a week from a construction or Project site.  

  To prevent harassment, mortality of San Joaquin 
kit fox or American badgers or destruction of 
dens by dogs or cats, no pets should be permitted 
on the Project site. 

  Any contractor, employee(s), or military or 
agency personnel who inadvertently kills or 
injures an American badger shall immediately 
report the incident to their representative.  This 
representative shall contact the CDFW 
immediately in the case of a dead, injured or 
entrapped badger.  The CDFW contact for 
immediate assistance is State Dispatch at (916) 
445 0045.  They will contact the local warden or 
biologist. 

 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 8 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
3.4.1b Mitigation Measures 3.4.1b:    In order to protect burrowing owls, which may 

occur within the areas of potential effect at any 
time of year, pre-construction surveys for 
burrowing owls shall be conducted within 14 to 
30 days prior to ground disturbing activities. If 
more than 30 days lapse between the time of the 
preconstruction survey and the start of ground-
disturbing activities, another preconstruction 
survey must be completed, including but not 
limited to a final survey conducted within 24 
hours prior to ground disturbance.  
  If burrowing owls are present on the construction 
site (or within 500 feet of the construction site) 
during the breeding season (February 1 through 
August 31), and appear to be engaged in nesting 
behavior, exclusion fencing shall be installed 
between the nest site or active burrow and any 
earth-moving activity or other disturbance. This 
buffer could be removed once it is determined by 
a qualified biologist that the young have fledged. 
Typically, the young fledge by August 31st. This 
date may be earlier than August 31st, or later, and 
would have to be determined by a qualified 
biologist.  

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 
The developer is 
responsible for 
implementation, and 
shall retain a consulting 
biologist to complete 
the surveys and provide 
them to City Planning 
staff prior to site 
grading. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff confirm 
that the measure is 
shown on the Final 
Map and Improvement 
Plans prior to 
recordation. 
 
City of Atwater 
Planning & Building 
staff shall review and 
accept the biologist’s 
findings prior to 
issuing grading or 
building permits. 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 9 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
  If burrowing owls are present in the non-breeding 

season and must be passively relocated from the 
project site, passive relocation shall not 
commence until October 1st and must be 
completed by February 1st. Passive relocation 
may only be conducted by a qualified biologist or 
ornithologist and with approval by CDFW. After 
passive relocation, the area where owls occurred 
and its immediate vicinity will be monitored by a 
qualified biologist daily for one week and once 
per week for an additional two weeks to 
document that owls are not reoccupying the site.  

  Compensation for the loss of burrowing owl 
habitat shall be based upon the number of owls or 
pairs of owls located on the construction area 
during pre-construction surveys following the 
CDFW’s March 7, 2012 Staff Report on 
Burrowing Owl Mitigation. The areas identified 
as land retirement areas and enhancement areas 
shall be used as compensation for the loss of 
habitat and for relocation of burrowing owls.  

 
 
 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 10 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
3.4.1c Mitigation Measures 3.4.1c:    Pre-construction surveys for nesting Swainson’s 

hawk should be conducted within 0.5 mile of the 
Project site during the breeding season 
immediately prior to ground disturbance 
activities, but not more than 14 days before 
construction in accordance with Recommended 
Timing and Methodology for Swainson’s Hawk 
Nesting Surveys in California’s Central Valley 
(Swainson’s Hawk Technical Advisory 
Committee 2000). Surveys shall be conducted for 
nesting raptors and other migratory bird species 
within 500 feet of the area of potential effect 
within 14 days prior to ground disturbance 
activities.  

  If active nests are located in trees on or 
surrounding the site, the Applicant shall 
implement measures to ensure that the species 
will not be adversely affected. To protect nesting 
birds, construction will not occur until after the 
young have fledged or, alternatively, buffer areas 
where construction will be prohibited will be 
established around each nest. Buffer areas will 
consist of a 500-foot radius around any active 
raptor nests and a 250-foot buffer around all other 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 
The property owner is 
responsible for 
implementation, and 
shall retain a consulting 
biologist to complete 
the surveys and provide 
them to City Planning 
staff prior to site 
grading. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff confirm 
that the measure is 
shown on the Final 
Map and Improvement 
Plans prior to 
recordation. 
 
City of Atwater 
Planning & Building 
staff shall review and 
accept the biologist’s 
findings prior to 
issuing grading or 
building permits. 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 11 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
migratory bird nests, unless consultations with 
USFWS and CDFW determine that smaller 
buffers will be approved. If an active Swainson’s 
hawk nest is observed within one-half mile of the 
construction area, consultation with USFWS is 
required in order for a buffer to be established.  

  The results of the pre-construction survey will be 
sent to CDFW within 15 days prior to 
construction. These measures will ensure 
compliance with the Migratory Bird Treaty Act 
and the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife Code 3503.5. The City or their 
environmental consultant is responsible for 
obtaining the appropriate permits. All monitoring 
activities and descriptions of the implementation 
of mitigation measures shall be submitted to 
CDFW as instructed within the permit, which 
may include on site monitoring.  

3.5  Cultural Resources 
3.5-1a Mitigation Measure #3.5.1a: Although there is no 

recorded evidence of historic or archaeological sites 
within the Project area, there is the potential during 
Project-related excavation and construction for the 
discovery of these types of resources.  The project 
proponent shall incorporate into the construction 
contract(s) for the Project a provision that if a 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 12 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
potentially significant historical or archaeological 
resource is encountered during subsurface 
construction activities (i.e., trenching, grading), all 
construction activities within a 50-foot radius of the 
identified potential resource shall cease until a 
qualified archaeologist evaluates the item for its 
significance and records the item on the appropriate 
State Department of Parks and Recreation (DPR) 
forms.  The archaeologist shall determine whether 
the item requires further study.  If, after the qualified 
archaeologist conducts appropriate technical 
analyses, the item is determined to be significant, the 
archaeologist shall recommend feasible mitigation 
measures, which may include avoidance, 
preservation in place or other appropriate measure, as 
outlined in Public Resources Code section 21083.2.   

  

3.5-1b Mitigation Measure #3.5.1b: The project proponent 
will incorporate into the construction contract(s) a 
provision that in the event a fossil or fossil 
formations are discovered during any subsurface 
construction activities for the proposed Project (i.e., 
trenching, grading), all excavations within 50 feet of 
the find shall be temporarily halted until the find is 
examined by a qualified paleontologist, in 
accordance with Society of Vertebrate Paleontology 
standards. The paleontologist shall notify the 
Applicant, who shall coordinate with the 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 13 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
paleontologist as to any necessary investigation of 
the find.  If the find is determined to be significant, 
the Applicant shall implement those measures, which 
may include avoidance, preservation in place, or 
other appropriate measures, as outlined in Public 
Resources Code section 21083.2.   
 
 

3.5-1c Mitigation Measure #3.5.1c:  If ground-disturbing 
activities uncover previously unknown human 
remains, Section 7050.5 of the California Health and 
Safety Code applies, and the following procedures 
shall be followed: 
 
There shall be no further excavation or disturbance of 
the area where the human remains were found until 
the City Coroner is contacted.  Duly authorized 
representatives of the Coroner shall be permitted onto 
the Project site and shall take all actions consistent 
with Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5 and 
Government Code Section 27460, et seq.  Excavation 
or disturbance of the area where the human remains 
were found or within 50 feet of the find shall not be 
permitted to re-commence until the Coroner 
determines that the remains are not subject to the 
provisions of law concerning investigation of the 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this measure as notes 
on the Final Map and 
on the Improvement 
Plans. 
 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 14 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
circumstances, manner, and cause of any death.  If 
the Coroner determines the remains are Native 
American, the Coroner shall contact the NAHC 
within 24 hours, and the NAHC shall identify the 
person or persons it believes to be the “most likely 
descendant” (MLD) of the deceased Native 
American. The MLD may make recommendations to 
the landowner or the person responsible for the 
excavation work, for means of treating or disposing 
of, with appropriate dignity, the human remains and 
any associated grave goods as provided in PRC 
Section 5097.98. 
 

3.7  Greenhouse Gas Emissions  
3.7-1a Mitigation Measure #3.7.1a:  The Project must 

utilize 100 percent Low VOC for all cleaning 
supplies. 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map. The project 
proponent or 
subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 15 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
3.7-1b Mitigation Measure #3.7.1b:  The Project shall not 

include any hearths within any of the future proposed 
uses. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3.7-1c Mitigation Measure #3.7.1c:  The Applicant shall 
use low 50 g/L of VOC paint (interior and exterior) 
for architectural coatings. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map. The project 
proponent or 
subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 16 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 

3.7-1d Mitigation Measure #3.7.1d: Ten percent of 
outdoor electrical equipment shall be dedicated to the 
use of electric leaf blowers and chainsaws. The 
Project shall include outdoor electrical outlets to 
achieve this. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map. The project 
proponent or 
subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector/Code 
Enforcement Officer 
over time. 
 
 

 

3.7-1e Mitigation Measure #3.7.1e: Energy efficient 
lighting shall be installed on site in order to achieve 
an energy reduction of at least 10 percent.  
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map. The project 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 17 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
proponent or 
subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction and prior  
to issuing an 
Occupancy Permit. 

3.9  Hydrology/Water Quality  
3.9.1 Mitigation Measure #3.9.1: All future developers 

shall pay a per–acre fee as determined by the City of 
Atwater. This will go towards the payment of the 
drainage expansion. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map. The project 
proponent or 
subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Prior to issuing an 
Occupancy Permit, the 
building department 
shall confirm that the 
all applicable per-acre 
fees have been paid. 

 

3.16  Transportation/Traffic 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 18 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
EXISTING PLUS PROJECT MITIGATION MEASURES 
3.16.1a Mitigation Measure #3.16.1a:  The Applicant shall 

signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue at 
Augusta Lane and install pedestrian crosswalks, 
consistent with the requirements of the California 
Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD), across the north and south legs of the 
intersection, and at least, across the east leg of the 
intersection where the westbound left turn volume is 
lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the 
shopping center).  
 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 

 

3.16.1b Mitigation Measure #3.16.1b:  The Applicant shall 
modify the traffic signal at the intersection of Juniper 
Avenue at Buhach Road to implement protective left 
turn phasing in all directions and to accommodate the 
following: 

  Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane;  Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane; 
and  Widen the westbound return lane approach to 
accommodate U-turns from the existing 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
 
 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 19 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
eastbound left turn lane. 

 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

3.16.1c Mitigation Measure #3.16.1c:  The Applicant shall 
modify the existing concrete median island on 
Buhach Road at the Buhach Colony High School 
Driveway to permanently restrict outbound left turn 
movements from the school’s driveway. Southbound 
inbound left turn access to the school will still be 
provided from the median reconfiguration. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

 

YEAR 2017 PLUS PROJECT MITIGATION MEASURES 
3.16.1d Mitigation Measure #3.16.1d:  The Applicant shall 

signalize the intersection of Juniper Avenue at 
Augusta Lane and install pedestrian crosswalks, 
consistent with the requirements of the California 
Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD), across the north and south legs of the 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 20 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
intersection, and, at least, across the east leg of the 
intersection where the westbound left turn volume is 
lower than the eastbound left turn volume (into the 
shopping center). 
 

or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 
 
 
 

3.16.1e Mitigation Measure #3.16.1e:  The Applicant shall 
modify the traffic signal at the intersection of Juniper 
Avenue at Buhach Road to implement protective left 
turn phasing in all directions and to accommodate the 
following: 

  Construct a dedicated southbound right turn lane;  Construct a dedicated eastbound right turn lane;  Construct a second westbound through lane; and   Widen the westbound return lane approach to 
accommodate U-Turns from the existing 
eastbound left turn lane. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 21 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
3.16.1f Mitigation Measure #3.16.1f: The Applicant shall 

modify the existing concrete median island on 
Buhach Road at the BCHS Driveway to permanently 
restrict outbound left turn movements from the 
school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left turn 
access to the school will still be provided from the 
median reconfiguration. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

 

3.16.1g Mitigation Measure #3.16.1g: Additional technical 
traffic analyses will likely be required in the future 
for specific development phases to determine the 
level of mitigation needed by that specific phase. As 
the TIS only determined traffic mitigation measures 
needed if the proposed Project is built out by the end 
of 2017, and development of the Project is very 
likely to take place well beyond 2017. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 22 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
GENERAL MITIGATION MEASURES 
3.16.1h Mitigation Measure #3.16.1h: With the exception 

of the proposed traffic signal at the intersection of 
Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane, access to Juniper 
Avenue will be limited to right in and right out.  This 
shall apply to both the Northwest and Southwest 
Parcel Maps. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 
 

 

3.16.1i Mitigation Measure #3.16.1i: This Project shall pay 
all applicable local traffic impact fees incorporated 
into the City’s adopted AB 1600 Impact Fees as well 
as the adopted Regional Transportation Impact Fees 
(RTIF).  All fees shall be determined and paid at the 
time of building permit issuance for a specific 
portion of the Project. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 23 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
building department 
shall confirm that the 
all applicable fees 
have been paid. 
 
 

3.16.1j Mitigation Measure #3.16.1j: The proposed Project 
Developer(s) shall make necessary street 
improvements and right-of-way dedications along 
adjacent public street(s) pursuant to the City of 
Atwater standards/requirements – or as approved by 
the City Engineer. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 Future improvements 
shall be pursuant to 
the City’s standards 
and/or approved by 
the City Engineer. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 24 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
3.16.1k Mitigation Measure #3.16.1k: Prior to the issuance 

of a Certificate of Occupancy for a development 
project on any of specific parcels on either of the 
Tentative Parcel Maps, all Parcel Specific Conditions 
– Mitigation Measures as contained in this document, 
or as approved for amendment by the City Engineer, 
for the specific parcel(s) shall be completed. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 
 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff and 
other applicable 
departments or 
agencies shall ensure 
that all mitigation 
measures and parcel 
specific conditions 
have been complied 
with prior to issuance 
of a Certificate of 
Occupancy.  
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

 

3.16.1l Mitigation Measure #3.16.1l: The proposed Planned 
Development Master Plan and Final Development 
Plan shall be reviewed concurrently with the 
Tentative Parcel Map. Pursuant to the Atwater 
Municipal Code the City Council shall have the 
authority to approve or deny the applications. Also, 
pursuant to the Atwater Municipal Code, the Master 
Plan and Final Development Plan shall require a 

The City of Atwater 
Planning Staff 
proponent  

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
ensure that the 
development master 
plan and final 
development plan is 
approved or denied by 
the City Council. 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 25 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
recommendation by the Community Development & 
Resources Commission – acting in the capacity as the 
Planning Commission.     
 

Also, the plans shall 
require a 
recommendation by 
the Community 
Development & 
Resources 
Commission – acting 
in the capacity as the 
Planning Commission.  
  

PARCEL SPECIFIC MITIGATION MEASURES 
3.16.1m Mitigation Measure #3.16.1m:  As part of the 

development of Parcel 1 of the Northwest Parcel 
Map or Parcel 1 or 6 of the Southwest Parcel Map, 
the north side of Juniper Avenue shall be widened to 
accommodate U-Turns from the existing eastbound 
left turn lane on Juniper Avenue. The widening shall 
be able to accommodate 37 ft. measured from the 
south face of curb of the existing median island. 
These modifications will require the traffic signal 
equipment at the northwest corner of the intersection 
of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road to be modified as 
well. The first of the three parcels to develop shall 
also construct a second westbound through lane at 
Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road with 150 ft. storage 
capacity with a 120 ft. bay taper. Costs shall be paid 
by the first of either Parcel 1 of the Northwest Parcel 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 
building department 
shall confirm that the 
all applicable fees 
have been paid. 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 26 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
Map or Parcel 1 or Parcel 6 of the Southwest Parcel 
Map, the second and third to develop shall repay the 
initial developer a third of the improvement costs. 
 

Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 
 

3.16.1n Mitigation Measure #3.16.1n: As part of the 
development of Parcels 1 or 4 of the Northwest 
Parcel Map, the southbound right turn lane shall be 
constructed.  The southbound right turn lane shall 
include a storage capacity of 100 ft. and 
approximately 45 ft. bay taper. This will require that 
the traffic signal equipment at the northwest corner 
of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road 
be modified. Costs shall be paid by the first of either 
Parcel 1 or 4 of the Northwest Parcel Map, the 
second to develop shall repay the initial developer 
half of the improvement costs. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 
building department 
shall confirm that the 
improvements were 
made and all 
applicable fees have 
been paid. 
 
 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 27 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

3.16.1o Mitigation Measure #3.16.1o:  As part of the 
development of Parcel 1 of the Southwest Parcel 
Map, an eastbound right turn lane shall be 
constructed on Juniper Avenue. This will require that 
the traffic signal equipment at the southwest corner 
of the intersection of Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road 
be modified. It shall include the construction a 
dedicated eastbound right turn lane with a storage 
capacity of 130 ft. and approximately 85 ft. bay 
taper. Costs shall be paid by the the developer of 
Parcel 1of the Southwest Parcel Map. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 
building department 
shall confirm that the 
all applicable fees 
have been paid. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 28 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
3.16.1p Mitigation Measure #3.16.1p: Prior to obtaining 

access from the proposed driveway for Parcel 3 of 
the Southwest Parcel Map, the Project shall modify 
the existing concrete median island on Buhach Road 
at the Buhach Colony High School. Driveway to 
permanently restrict outbound left turn movements 
from the school’s driveway. Southbound inbound left 
turn access to the school will still be provided from 
the median reconfiguration. Costs shall be paid by 
entirely by the developer of Parcel 3 of the Southwest 
Parcel Map. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 
building department 
shall confirm that the 
all applicable fees 
have been paid. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

 

3.16.1q Mitigation Measure #3.16.1q:  Due to health and 
safety reasons, access to and from the existing 
driveway, between Parcels 4 and 5 of the Northwest 
Corner Parcel Map, will be limited to right in, right 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map. The project 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 

Less than 
Significant 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 29 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
out, and left in. Left out movements will be 
prohibited. Therefore, the construction of a median 
island worm at this location of Buhach Road will be 
made a condition of approval prior to obtaining 
access to/from this driveway. Costs associated with 
this shall be by either of the first to develop, either 
Parcel 4 or Parcel 5, the second shall repay the first 
half the costs.  In the event that Parcel(s) 3, 6, 7, 8, 
10, or 11 seek to use this driveway and should one of 
these precede Parcels 4 or 5 then the first to develop 
shall design and pay for the necessary improvements 
and the second parcel to develop shall reimburse the 
first one half of the total costs for design and 
construction. 
 

proponent or 
subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 
building department 
shall confirm that the 
all applicable fees 
have been paid. 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

3.16.1r Mitigation Measure #3.16.1r: Prior to allowing 
access to Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane, the 
Project shall signalize the intersection with protective 
left turn phasing in all directions. The median island 
on Juniper Avenue shall also be modified to include a 
150 ft. left turn pocket with a 120 ft. bay taper. 
Pedestrian crosswalks shall also be installed, across 
the north and south legs of the intersection, and, at 
least, across the east leg of the intersection where the 
westbound left turn volume is lower than the 
eastbound left turn volume (into the shopping 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 
building department 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 30 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
center). The throat width of the Augusta Avenue 
driveway shall be 41 ft. Signalization of the 
intersection of Juniper Avenue at Augusta Lane shall 
include emergency vehicle preemption and a signal 
interconnect between this intersection and that of 
Juniper Avenue at Buhach Road. Signal interconnect 
shall be via the use of signal interconnect cable 
within signal conduits. The costs to prepare the signal 
plans, timing plans, and related civil improvements 
and the overall construction costs shall be paid by the 
first Parcel needing access to Juniper Avenue at 
Augusta Lane.  The second parcel needing access 
from this location shall reimburse the first one, half 
of the entire costs for design and construction.   
 

shall confirm that the 
all applicable fees 
have been paid. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 

3.16.1s Mitigation Measure #3.16.1s: Parcel 8 of the 
Northwest Corner Parcel Map shall construct a 100 
ft. bus bay with approximately 40 ft. bay tapers on 
both ends. The width of the bus bay shall be 8 ft. 
measured from the existing face of curb. The 
construction of the bus bay will require the 
reconstruction of the sidewalk and trail adjacent to 
the bus bay.  The developer of Parcel 8 shall pay the 
entire cost of this improvement. 
 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The developer of 
Parcel 8 shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 
building department 
shall confirm that the 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 31 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
all applicable fees 
have been paid. 
 
Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 
 

3.16.1t Mitigation Measure #3.16.1t: Prior to obtaining full 
access to the existing driveway between Parcels 9 
and 13 of the Northwest Corner Parcel Map, the 
Project shall prepare a focused traffic study of this 
intersection based on existing conditions at the time 
of the requested access, Five Years after Project 
Buildout, and Long Term (20 years after Project 
Buildout). The purpose of this focused traffic study is 
to ensure the safety of motorists and pedestrians that 
would be utilizing this intersection. In lieu of the 
focused traffic study, the Project can elect to limit 
this access point to right in, right out, and left in (left 
out movements will be prohibited). If the Project 
elects to go with limited access (no left out) then the 
Project shall construct a median island worm at this 
location of Buhach Road. The costs to prepare the 

The proponent’s 
engineer shall show 
this as a note on the 
Final Map and 
Improvement Plans. 
The project proponent 
or subsequent property 
owners shall comply 
with this measure. 

City of Atwater 
Planning staff shall 
confirm that the 
measure is shown on 
the Final Map and 
Improvement Plans 
prior to recordation. 
 
Prior to issuing 
building permits, the 
building department 
shall confirm that the 
all applicable fees 
have been paid. 
 
 

 



Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program  July 2016 
Marketplace at the Colony  P a g e  | 32 

Impact Number Mitigation Measure Implementing Party Monitoring Agency Date and Signature of Party Responsible for Verification of Compliance 
focused traffic study and to implement any necessary 
improvements shall be paid by the first to develop of 
either Parcels 9 through 14, the second shall 
reimburse the first, half of the costs. 
 

Monitoring shall be 
accomplished by the 
City Building 
Inspector during 
construction. 
 
 
 

3.17 Utilities/Service Systems 
 See Mitigation Measure #3.9.1.    
 













 

CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE  

CITY OF ATWATER 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2914-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ATWATER APPROVING PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT MASTER PLAN NO. 16-1 (NW & 
SW CORNER OF BUHACH ROAD AND JUNIPER 
AVENUE- MARKETPLACE AT THE COLONY) 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Atwater has reviewed Planned Development 
Master Plan No. 16-1 as submitted by Ventana del Rey LLC, requesting approval for the 
development of a commercial project at the north west and south west corners of 
Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue. The project is would include 249,650 square feet of 
commercial space on approximately 29.16+/- acres; and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Community Development and 
Resources Commission of the City of Atwater on Tuesday, August 2, 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the City Council of the City of Atwater on 
Monday, August 22, 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Council held a duly noticed public hearing as required by laws to 
consider all of the information presented by staff, information from the project 
proponent, and public testimony presented in writing and at the meeting; and, 
 
WHEREAS, ___ person(s) spoke in favor of the project, ___ person(s) spoke in 
opposition of the project and ___ written comment(s) have been submitted either in 
opposition or in favor of the project; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the site can accommodate the proposed use and not have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any adverse 
effect on the community; and, 



City Council Resolution No. 2914-16                                                                 Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, an Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration have been prepared for this 
project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Public 
review/comment period was held from June 17, 2016 to July 18, 2016; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the following findings can be made for this 
project: 
1. That this project proposes development of a commercial project at the north west 
 and south west corners of Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue. The project 
 contains a total of 29.16+/- acres with an estimated 249,650 square feet of 
 commercial floor area.  
2. This project is located with Planned Development District No. 9. 
3. That the sites are designated by the Atwater General Plan as Commercial. 
4. That the public hearing for this project has been adequately noticed and 
 advertised. 
5. That an Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration have been prepared for this 
 project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Public 
 review/comment period was held from June 17, 2016 to July 18, 2016 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Atwater 
does hereby approve Planned Development Master Plan No. 16-1 subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
1. That all off-site improvements shall be constructed along Buhach Road and 

Juniper Avenue. If developed as individual parcels, each parcel shall be 
responsible for these improvements when the individual parcel is developed as 
provided in the mitigation measures and appendix of the associated Mitigated 
Negative Declaration. The developer shall be responsible for preparing all 
improvement plans in order to construct these off-site improvements.  Said 
improvements shall be reviewed and approved by the City’s Contracted 
Engineer.  At the time of development of said parcel or parcels the City’s 
Contracted Engineer shall determine what improvements are necessary for 
orderly and safe development. 

2. That on-street parking for this project will be prohibited and the developer shall 
be responsible for posting “no stopping at any time” signs along Buhach Road 
and  Juniper Avenue.  

3. That the developer shall provide a minimum of one (1) parking stall for every two-
 hundred and fifty (250) square feet of floor area. Parking stall dimensions shall 
 be consistent with currently adopted City Standards. 
4. That the following set-backs apply to all main structures: 

A. Juniper Avenue- 5 feet from existing MID easements 
B. Buhach Road- 5 feet from existing MID easements 
C. Parcels abutting Residential areas- 35 feet from property lines 
D. Interior property lines- Minimum as required by Building Code and as 
 approved by the Community Development Director. 
E. Corner Parcels- shall provide a minimum 25 foot clear vision triangle 

5. That the project shall comply with the most current California Code of 
 Regulations, Title 24, parts 1 through 6, 8 through 10 and 12, the most current 



City Council Resolution No. 2914-16                                                                 Page 3 
 

 Fire, Life and Safety Codes and Title 15 of the Atwater Municipal Code, including 
 all amendments thereto. 
6. That there shall be compliance with the most recent Americans With Disability 
 Act (ADA) regulations. 
7. That developer shall submit building plans and obtain all necessary  permits prior 

to commencement of construction. 
8. That the developer shall pay all required fees prior to issuance of a Building 
 Permit. 
9. That the developer shall submit plans to the Merced County Department of 
 Environmental Health for review and approval prior to issuance of a building 
 permit, if necessary. 
10. Prior to final acceptance, the developer shall provide the City with copies of the 

“as built” site and off-site improvements on 5 mil mylar and record the 
construction and infrastructure drawings in an AutoCAD compatible format. The 
mylar set shall include all construction changes. 

11. That for both the proposed on-site improvements and off-site improvements, the 
developer shall cause Improvement Plans to be prepared. The plans shall be 
prepared by a Licensed Civil Engineer or under his/her direction. The plans shall 
be prepared on 24" x 36" plan sheets and to a reasonable scale. The plans shall 
be in a format to be approved by the City Engineer and shall show all of the 
proposed grading and on-site and off-site improvements for the proposed 
development. The title of the plan shall be shown at the top of Sheet No. 1. 
Sheets shall be numbered in consecutive order. An index showing the sheets 
contained within and as a part of the Site Improvement Plan shall be shown on 
Sheet 1. 

12. The developer shall include a Grading Plan as part of the development of the 
 proposed parcel. Elevations shall be taken from official City of Atwater 
 Benchmark datum. The Grading Plan shall show all proposed improvements, on-
 site and off-site. Finished pad elevations for the parcel shall be shown and shall 
 be at least 3 inches above the top of curb or as approved by the City Engineer. 
 No grade severances to adjoining properties shall be permitted. The extent of 
 compacted grading on the parcel shall be shown with elevations. 
13. Site or Parcel Grading shall not begin until the Grading Plan within the Site 

Improvement Plan is complete and approved by the City’s Contracted Engineer. 
The developer shall be responsible for all dust control as provided in the 
Mitigated Negative Declaration during the construction of this project. 

14. The developer shall install water services to the proposed development. Service 
shall be a looped water system in accordance with applicable City Standards and 
policies, or as approved by the City’s Contract Engineer. Service(s) shall be of 
adequate size to supply both potable water and landscaping water to the site. 
Individual services are to be provided for potable water and landscaping 
purposes. The services shall be metered. 

15. That the developer shall install a reduced pressure principal backflow device for 
 potable water and an approved backflow device for irrigation water. Individual 
 services are to be provided for potable water and landscaping purposes. The 
 services shall be metered; a Sensus “Flex-Net” radio read meter shall be used. 
 Each service shall include a backflow prevention device enclosure, mounted on a 



City Council Resolution No. 2914-16                                                                 Page 4 
 

 concrete pad. The RPP device shall include unions on both riser pipes for easier 
 maintenance. RPP devices shall be shown on the Site Improvement plan 
 including brand names and types. 
16. Fire hydrants shall be installed along property frontages and on site in 
 accordance with City of Atwater specifications. Fire hydrants shall be placed on-
 site in accordance with the City of Atwater Fire Department requirements; on-site 
 placement of fire hydrants shall be reviewed and approved by the Fire Chief. All 
 fire hydrants shall have a minimum flow of 1,000 gallons per minute. Water lines 
 and services shall be installed in accordance with City of Atwater City Standards 
 and specifications. Fire protection lines shall be separate from domestic service 
 lines and shall utilize detector check meter installations. 
17. That the developer shall construct a seven (7) foot high block wall along the 

northern and western property lines of the 20.26+/- acre parcel. The same type 
and style of wall shall also be constructed along the western and southern 
property lines of the 8.60+/- acre property - (AMC 17.38.040F). Said block wall 
shall be constructed as each parcel adjacent to a residential zoned property is 
constructed however it shall not preclude the entire wall from being built at one 
time or in larger phases. Landscape areas shall be provided along said wall to 
allow for vining plants to grow on the wall to minimize graffiti. Trees shall also be 
planted within the landscaped area so when mature they reduce any visual 
impact the commercial structures might have on the neighboring residential 
areas. 

18. That all broken, cracked or otherwise damaged public improvements, such as 
 curb, gutter or sidewalk shall be sawcut, removed and replaced in accordance 
 with applicable City Standards. 
19. All water trenches or excavations shall be excavated, backfilled and compacted 
 in accordance with applicable City Standards and the conditions for paving 
 included within this resolution. 
20. That the applicant shall provide a soils report to the Engineering Department 

prior to commencement of construction. 
21. The developer shall construct refuse enclosures consistent with City Policies and 

current contracted refuse service provider. The enclosures shall include a 
concrete slab at the entrance to the refuse container to be moved forward for 
pick up. The enclosures shall be constructed of concrete block and include a 
concrete foundation and bottom, including a bumper block to protect the block 
wall from damage by the refuse container. The enclosures shall have locking 
gates. The gates shall be constructed of chain link with slats or other approved 
solid materials. The enclosures shall be accessible to refuse trucks. Landscaping 
shall be provided that, when mature, limits the visibility of the refuse enclosure. 
This can be accomplished with vining plants or appropriate type of bushes. All 
refuse enclosures shall be designed with recycling container areas for 
compliance with CALGReen requirements. Final placement of the enclosures 
shall be reviewed and approved by the Community Development Department. 

22. Any water wells found during construction shall be destroyed in accordance with 
approved City Standards and requirements. 

23. Any septic systems found during construction shall be destroyed in accordance 
with approved Merced County Environmental Health requirements. 



City Council Resolution No. 2914-16                                                                 Page 5 
 

24. The applicant shall abandon and remove from the site any existing irrigation lines 
and other structures found. Lines shall be plugged at the property line with 
concrete. 

25. That the developer shall properly abandon or relocate all utilities as necessary or 
required.   

26 That the developer shall comply with all requirements of the San Joaquin Valley 
Air Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD). 

27. That the developer shall pay the Regional Transportation Impact Fee (RTIF). 
28. That the developer shall comply with the requirements of all public utility 

companies. 
29. Merced Irrigation District conditions of approval (Letters dated July 1 & 20, 2016): 
 A.  No buildings, permanent structures, trees, fences or wall to be 

 constructed or placed on MID easements. 
 B. Improvements that impact MID facilities require approval of the MID 

 Engineer and an MID signature block shall be provided on the 
 Improvement Plans. 

 C. Developer must execute appropriate agreements for all crossings over or 
 under and MID facilities including utilities, driveways and pipelines. 

 D. When developed, storm water from this project will discharge to the 
 Livingston Canal, a Merced Irrigation District Drainage Improvement 
 District No. 1 (MIDDID No. 1) facility, through an existing City of Atwater 
 storm drainage facility. The property owner will be required to enter into a 
 “Storm Drainage Agreement” with the MIDDID No. 1, paying an annual 
 maintenance fee of $2,113.00 per acre of impermeable area, collected on 
 the Merced County Tax Rolls. Connection Fees will be waived because 
 this project was already within Drainage District No. 2.   

 E. Developer shall pay all applicable fees. 
 F. That all Public Utility Easements be dedicated adjacent to all public road 

 rights of way and interior to all parcels. Easements shall be sufficient in 
 width for joint trench facilities. 

30. That the developer shall be responsible for implementing all mitigation measures 
 as identified within the mitigated negative declaration prepared for this project. 
 Developer shall also be responsible for all items listed within the appendices of 
 mitigated negative declaration. 
31. The master plan shall remain in effect unless construction of public 
 improvements contained in the plan has not begun within two years of initial 
 approval. Time extensions up to three additional years may be granted by the 
 City Council in one year increments if requested in writing before the expiration 
 date and if conditions in the area have not substantially changed and the 
 master plan is still consistent with the City General Plan, any City Council 
 adopted design guidelines and ordinances. Prior to City Council's consideration 
 of any extension, the written requests shall be submitted to the Community 
 Development and Resources Commission for recommendation. (AMC 
 17.44.060C) 
32. That the developer shall comply with all conditions as listed within City 
 Council Resolution Numbers CC 2915-16, CC 2916-16 and CC 2917-16.  



City Council Resolution No. 2914-16                                                                 Page 6 
 

33. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest including all future developers 
of any component of the project shall indemnify and defend and hold harmless 
the City of Atwater, its agents, officers and employees from any and all claims, 
actions or proceedings against the City of Atwater, it’s agents, officers and 
employees to attack, set aside, void or annul any approval by the City of Atwater 
and its advisory agency appeal board or legislative body concerning this advisory 
agency appeal board or legislative body concerning this application, which action 
is brought within applicable statutes of limitation. The City of Atwater shall 
promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest of any claim or 
proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the defense. If the City fails to do so, the 
applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall not thereafter be responsible 
to defend, indemnify or hold the City harmless. This condition may be placed on 
any plans or other documents pertaining to this application. 

 
The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 22th day of August 2016. 
 
ADOPTED:   
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:   
         
       APPROVED: 
       

      
________________________________ 

       JAMES E. PRICE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 

________________________________ 
JEANNA DEL REAL, CITY CLERK 



 

CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE  

CITY OF ATWATER 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2915-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ATWATER APPROVING PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
NO. 16-1 (NW & SW CORNERS OF BUHACH 
ROAD AND JUNIPER AVENUE- MARKETPLACE 
AT THE COLONY) 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Atwater has reviewed Planned Development 
Final Development Plan No. 16-1 as submitted by Ventana del Rey LLC, requesting 
approval for the development of a commercial project at the north west and south west 
corners of Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue. The project is would include 249,650 
square feet of commercial space on approximately 29.16+/- acres; and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Community Development and 
Resources Commission of the City of Atwater on Tuesday, August 2, 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the City Council of the City of Atwater on 
Monday, August 22, 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Council held a duly noticed public hearing as required by laws to 
consider all of the information presented by staff, information from the project 
proponent, and public testimony presented in writing and at the meeting; and, 
 
WHEREAS, ___ person(s) spoke in favor of the project, ___ person(s) spoke in 
opposition of the project and ___ written comment(s) have been submitted either in 
opposition or in favor of the project; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the site can accommodate the proposed use and not have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any adverse 
effect on the community; and, 



City Council Resolution No. 2915-16                                                                 Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, An Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration have been prepared for this 
project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Public 
review/comment period was held from June 17, 2016 to July 18, 2016; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the following findings can be made for this 
project: 
1. That the proposed Planned Development Final Development Plan will provide for 
 a quality of development typically not found in other zones and will meet the 
 intent  and the purpose of Planned Development Zone District. 
2. That the proposed Planned Development Final Development Plan is consistent 
 with the policies and applicable elements of the General Plan and Specific Plans. 
3. That the proposed Planned Development Final Development Plan includes 
 adequate provisions for public facilities and services including water, sewer, 
 drainage, traffic circulation, and access. 
4. That public service demands will not exceed the capacity of existing and/or 
 planned systems. 
5. That the public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and 
 advertised. 
6. That the proposed Planned Development Final Development Plan with the 
 conditions of approval is consistent with the Planned Development Master Plan 
 for this project. 
7. That an Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration have been prepared for this 
 project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Public 
 review/comment period was held from June 17, 2016 to July 18, 2016. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Atwater 
does hereby approve Planned Development Final Development Plan No. 16-1 subject 
to the following conditions: 
 
1. That the developer shall provide a consistent architectural style throughout the 

entire shopping center development. Minor changes to the architectural style 
and/or shopping center square footage shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Community Development Director. (AMC 2.30.090) 

2. That the Developer shall submit a master sign package for the entire shopping 
center. The developer shall utilize a uniform design standard to provide 
consistency in design and construction. This sign package shall be reviewed and 
approved by the Community Development Director. That prior to installation, all 
proposed signs to be installed on buildings or onsite shall be reviewed and 
approved by the Community Development Department. 

3. That the project shall comply with the most current California Code of 
Regulations, Title 24, parts 1 through 6, 8 through 10 and 12, the most current 
Fire, Life and Safety Codes and Title 15 of the Atwater Municipal Code, including 
all amendments thereto. 

4. That all outdoor equipment such as transformers and air conditioning units shall 
be screened from public view. 

5. That the Developer shall submit three (3) sets of landscaping and irrigation plans 
to be reviewed and approved by the City of Atwater Parks Division. Said plans 



City Council Resolution No. 2915-16                                                                 Page 3 
 

shall be prepared by a landscape architect licensed in the State of California. All 
landscaped areas shall be equipped with seven day automatic irrigation systems 
with battery backup. All landscaping shall be installed prior to the issuance of a 
Certificate of Occupancy. Said landscaping shall be maintained at all times and 
said maintenance shall be the responsibility of the developer. 

6. That the Developer shall plant one (1) shade tree for each six (6) parking stalls. 
Said landscaping areas shall be separated from asphalt areas by six inch 
concrete curbing. All landscaping areas shall be equipped with seven day 
automatic irrigation systems with battery back-up. 

7. Lighting shall be provided within the development and installed and shielded in a 
manner so as not to impact vehicular traffic utilizing adjoining public streets or the 
adjacent properties. The developer shall install street lighting in accordance with 
City standards. 

8. That the tenants within this development shall have the right to operate 24 hours 
per day. 

9. That the developer is going to utilize the existing storm drainage system within 
the area. Joan Faul Park storm basin will have to be expanded to accept all the 
storm runoff from the project. Cost will be approximately $1,750 per acre. This 
fee will be collected at the time of Building Permit submittal. (Mitigation Measure 
#3.9.1) 

10. That the developer shall record common ingress/egress and parking easements 
within the proposed development. This shall apply to both the north west and 
south west properties.  

11. Pursuant to the adopted City of Atwater Bicycle Master Plan Plan the developer 
shall permit the City to implement the approved and funded CMAQ project to 
provide a Class I Bike Path along the southerly side of the northern parcel. In the 
event that the Bike Path is not fully accommodated in the area to be dedicated 
with the recording of the Final Parcel Map the Developer shall provide a 
reasonable easement to the City to accommodate the project.  It should be noted 
that the CMAQ grant is providing this improvement which otherwise would be 
required to be fully funded and constructed by the developer. 

12. That all onsite graffiti shall be the responsibility of the property owner. All graffiti 
shall be abated in accordance with City graffiti ordinances. 

13. That the applicant has submitted Design Guidelines for the entire project. The 
architectural styles and elements found within the guidelines shall be 
implemented on all development within the project and shall be followed by all 
future developers of any parcels within the project.  

14. That the developer shall comply with all conditions of trustee and responsible and 
permitting agencies.  

15. The development plan shall remain in effect unless construction consistent with 
the approved development plan has not begun within two years of initial 
approval. Extensions of time up to two additional years for the initiation of 
development pursuant to the development plan may be granted by the City 
Council in one year increments if requested before the expiration date. Prior to 
City Council's consideration of any extension, the written request shall be 
submitted to the Community Development and Resources Commission for 
recommendation. (AMC 17.44.130B) 



City Council Resolution No. 2915-16                                                                 Page 4 
 

16. That the developer shall comply with all conditions as listed within City Council 
Resolution Numbers CC 2914-16, CC 2916-16 and CC 2917-16. 

17. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest including all future developers 
of any component of the project shall indemnify and defend and hold harmless 
the City of Atwater, its agents, officers and employees from any and all claims, 
actions or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, officers and 
employees to attack, set aside, void or annul any approval by the City of Atwater 
and its advisory agency appeal board or legislative body concerning this advisory 
agency appeal board or legislative body concerning this application, which action 
is brought within applicable statutes of limitation. The City of Atwater shall 
promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest of any claim or 
proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the defense. If the City fails to do so, the 
applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall not thereafter be responsible 
to defend, indemnify or hold the City harmless. This condition may be placed on 
any plans or other documents pertaining to this application. 

 
The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 22th day of August 2016: 
 
 
ADOPTED:   
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:   
         
       APPROVED: 
 
       

       
________________________________ 

       JAMES E. PRICE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 

________________________________ 
JEANNA DEL REAL, CITY CLERK 

 



 

CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE  

CITY OF ATWATER 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2916-16 
  

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ATWATER APPROVING TENTATIVE 
PARCEL MAP NO. 16-1 (NW CORNER OF 
BUHACH ROAD & JUNIPER AVENUE) 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Atwater has reviewed Tentative Parcel Map 
No. 16-1, as submitted by Ventana del Rey LLC, requesting to split 20.26+/- acres into 
14 parcels. Parcel 1 (1.44+/- acres), Parcel 2 (1.16+/- acres), Parcel 3 (3.14+/- acres), 
Parcel 4 (1.01+/- acres), Parcel 5 (0.74+/- acres), Parcel 6 (1.96+/- acres), Parcel 7 
(2.40+/- acres), Parcel 8 (0.67+/- acres), Parcel 9 (1.09+/- acres), Parcel 10 (1.58+/- 
acres), Parcel 11 (2.64+/- acres), Parcel 12 (1.04+/- acres), Parcel 13 (0.85+/- acres), 
Parcel 14 (0.55+/- acres); and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application provides for the splitting of 20.26+/- acres located at the 
north west corner of Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue on property identified as Merced 
County Assessor’s Parcel No. 004-010-020; and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Community Development and 
Resources Commission of the City of Atwater on August 2, 2016, being noticed and 
advertised in accordance with the requirements of the Subdivision Map Act and The 
City of Atwater Municipal Code; and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the City Council of the City of Atwater on 
August 22, 2016, being noticed and advertised in accordance with the requirements of 
the Subdivision Map Act and The City of Atwater Municipal Code; and, 
 
WHEREAS, __ written comment(s) have been submitted either in opposition or in favor 
of the project, __ person(s) spoke in favor of the project, __ person(s) spoke in 
opposition of the project; and, 
 



Resolution No. 2916-16                   Page 2  
 
WHEREAS, the site can accommodate the aforesaid use and not have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any adverse 
effect on the community; and, 
 
WHEREAS, an Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration have been prepared for this 
project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Public 
review/comment period was held from June 17, 2016 to July 18, 2016; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the following findings can be made for this 
Tentative Parcel Map: 
 
1. That the proposed map is consistent with the applicable general and specific 

plans. 
2. That the site is physically suitable for this type of development. 
3. That the subject property is located at the north west corner of Buhach Road and 

Juniper Avenue on property identified as Merced County Assessor’s Parcel No. 
004-010-020. 

4. That the City of Atwater’s General Plan designates this area as Commercial. 
5. That an Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration have been prepared for this 

project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Public 
review/comment period was held from June 17, 2016 to July 18, 2016; and, 
 

WHEREAS, subject to the conditions identified below, the use is in conformance with 
the codes and standards of the City of Atwater; and, 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Atwater that 
the Tentative Parcel Map No. 16-1 be approved subject to the following conditions.  
 
I. The final parcel map shall be in substantial compliance with the Tentative Parcel 

Map, except for any minor modifications. The applicant shall submit the final 
parcel map in conformance with all applicable requirements of the Subdivision 
Map Act and local requirements. The final map shall be prepared by a civil 
engineer or land surveyor, registered in the state of California, for review and 
approval by the City contracted Engineer prior to recordation. The final parcel 
map shall show all existing easements and dedications for streets, easements 
and provide all additional easements or right-of-ways as required by the City of 
Atwater or other utility companies. 

2. That the Parcel Map shall comply with all local and state requirements. Said map 
shall be submitted for City’s Contracted  Engineer’s review and approval prior to 
recordation. 

3. That the applicant shall provide monuments in accordance with City Standards 
and Policies. Monuments shall be placed at all proposed lot corners and on the 
boundary of the proposed Parcels. Existing monuments shall be preserved (if 
needed), and if disturbed or damaged by any construction, they shall be 
replaced. 

4. The applicant shall include language and or notes on the Final Map that shall 
allow for the recording of future easements, including across parcels, as 



Resolution No. 2916-16                           Page 3  
 

necessary to ensure that all public utility easements that may be required by 
utility companies can be accommodated. The language and or notes should also 
include that the applicant and all future developers of the parcels shall not 
withhold approval of any necessary utility easements to accommodate 
development of the project. 

5. That the applicant shall record a common ingress/egress and parking easement 
between all parcels to allow for compliance with off street parking requirements. 

6. That all parcels shall connect to public water and sewer as approved by the City 
Engineer. 

7. That the applicant shall execute a Project Improvement Agreement in a form to 
be approved by the City Attorney prior to signing of the Final Map by the City.  

8. That this Tentative Parcel Map shall expire after 24 months from the date of City 
Council approval. That requests for time extensions of the expiration date for this 
Tentative Parcel Map shall be subject to approval by the City Council. Time 
extension requests shall be approved in compliance with the requirements of 
Subdivision Map Act. 

9. That the developer shall comply with all conditions as listed within City Council 
Resolution Numbers CC 2914-16, CC 2915-16, and CC 2917-16. 

10. That the applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend and hold 
 harmless, the City of Atwater, its agents, officers and employees from any and all 
 claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, officers 
 and employees to attack, set aside, void or annul any approval by the City of 
 Atwater and its advisory agency appeal board or legislative body concerning this 
 advisory agency appeal board or legislative body concerning this application, 
 which action is brought within applicable statute of limitation. The City of Atwater 
 shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest of any claim 
 or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the defense. If the City fails to do so, 
 the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall not thereafter be 
 responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City harmless. This condition may 
 be placed on any plans or other documents pertaining to this application. 
 
The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 22nd day of August, 2016. 
 
ADOPTED: 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:         
       APPROVED: 
 
        
 

 ______________________________                                                                      
       JAMES E. PRICE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 



Resolution No. 2916-16                   Page 2  
 
  ____________________________                                                                   
JEANNA DEL REAL, CITY CLERK 



 

CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE  

CITY OF ATWATER 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2917-16 
  

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ATWATER APPROVING TENTATIVE 
PARCEL MAP NO. 16-1 (SW CORNER OF 
BUHACH ROAD & JUNIPER AVENUE) 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Atwater has reviewed Tentative Parcel Map 
No. 16-1, as submitted by Ventana del Rey LLC, requesting to split 8.60+/- acres into 6 
parcels. Parcel 1 (1.52+/- acres), Parcel 2 (0.63+/- acres), Parcel 3 (3.35+/- acres), 
Parcel 4 (1.22+/- acres), Parcel 5 (0.81+/- acres), Parcel 6 (1.04+/- acres); and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application provides for the splitting of 8.60+/- acres located at the 
south west corner of Buhach Road and Juniper Avenue on property identified as 
Merced County Assessor’s Parcel No. 004-010-029; and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Community Development and 
Resources Commission of the City of Atwater on August 2, 2016, being noticed and 
advertised in accordance with the requirements of the Subdivision Map Act and The 
City of Atwater Municipal Code; and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the City Council of the City of Atwater on 
August 22, 2016, being noticed and advertised in accordance with the requirements of 
the Subdivision Map Act and The City of Atwater Municipal Code; and, 
 
WHEREAS, __ written comment(s) have been submitted either in opposition or in favor 
of the project, __ person(s) spoke in favor of the project, __ person(s) spoke in 
opposition of the project; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the site can accommodate the aforesaid use and not have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any adverse 
effect on the community; and, 
 



Resolution No. 2917-16                   Page 2  
 

WHEREAS, an Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration have been prepared for this 
project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Public 
review/comment period was held from June 17, 2016 to July 18, 2016; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the following findings can be made for this 
Tentative Parcel Map: 
 
1. That the proposed map is consistent with the applicable general and specific 

plans. 
2. That the site is physically suitable for this type of development. 
3. That the subject property is located at the south west corner of Buhach Road and 

Juniper Avenue on property identified as Merced County Assessor’s Parcel No. 
004-010-029. 

4. That the City of Atwater’s General Plan designates this area as Commercial. 
5. That an Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration have been prepared for this 

project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Public 
review/comment period was held from June 17, 2016 to July 18, 2016; and, 
 

WHEREAS, subject to the conditions identified below, the use is in conformance with 
the codes and standards of the City of Atwater; and, 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Atwater that 
the Tentative Parcel Map No. 16-2 be approved subject to the following conditions.  
 
I. The final parcel map shall be in substantial compliance with the Tentative Parcel 

Map, except for any minor modifications. The applicant shall submit the final 
parcel map in conformance with all applicable requirements of the Subdivision 
Map Act and local requirements. The final map shall be prepared by a civil 
engineer or land surveyor, registered in the state of California, for review and 
approval by the City contracted Engineer prior to recordation. The final parcel 
map shall show all existing easements and dedications for streets, easements 
and provide all additional easements or right-of-ways as required by the City of 
Atwater or other utility companies. 

2. That the Parcel Map shall comply with all local and state requirements. Said map 
shall be submitted for City’s Contracted Engineer’s review and approval prior to 
recordation. 

3. That the applicant shall provide monuments in accordance with City Standards 
and Policies. Monuments shall be placed at all proposed lot corners and on the 
boundary of the proposed Parcels. Existing monuments shall be preserved (if 
needed), and if disturbed or damaged by any construction, they shall be 
replaced. 

4. The applicant shall include language and or notes on the Final Map that shall 
allow for the recording of future easements, including across parcels, as 
necessary to ensure that all public utility easements that may be required by 
utility companies can be accommodated. The language and or notes should also 
include that the applicant and all future developers of the parcels shall not 



Resolution No. 2917-16                           Page 3  
 

withhold approval of any necessary utility easements to accommodate 
development of the project. 

5. That the applicant shall record a common ingress/egress and parking easement 
between all parcels to allow for compliance with off street parking requirements. 

6. That all parcels shall connect to public water and sewer as approved by the City 
Engineer. 

7. That the applicant shall execute a Project Improvement Agreement in a form to 
be approved by the City Attorney prior to signing of the Final Map by the City.  

8. That this Tentative Parcel Map shall expire after 24 months from the date of City 
Council approval. That requests for time extensions of the expiration date for this 
Tentative Parcel Map shall be subject to approval by the City Council. Time 
extension requests shall be approved in compliance with the requirements of 
Subdivision Map Act. 

9. That the developer shall comply with all conditions as listed within City Council 
Resolution Numbers CC 2914-16, CC 2915-16, and CC 2916-16. 

10. That the applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend and hold 
 harmless, the City of Atwater, its agents, officers and employees from any and all 
 claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, officers 
 and employees to attack, set aside, void or annul any approval by the City of 
 Atwater and its advisory agency appeal board or legislative body concerning this 
 advisory agency appeal board or legislative body concerning this application, 
 which action is brought within applicable statute of limitation. The City of Atwater 
 shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest of any claim 
 or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the defense. If the City fails to do so, 
 the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall not thereafter be 
 responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City harmless. This condition may 
 be placed on any plans or other documents pertaining to this application. 
 
 
The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 22nd day of August, 2016. 
 
 
ADOPTED: 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:         
       APPROVED: 
 
        
 

 ______________________________                                                                      
       JAMES E. PRICE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  ____________________________                                                                   



Resolution No. 2917-16                   Page 2  
 

JEANNA DEL REAL, CITY CLERK 


	CC 8-22-16 Agenda.pdf
	August 2016 Monthly Calendar 
	September 2016 Monthly Calendar

	Item 1 - Warrants
	Item 2 - CC Meeting Minutes of 8-8-16
	Item 3 - Treasurer's Report for July 2016
	Item 4 - Staff Report for Marketplace @ The Colony, Buhach and Juniper
	Item 4 - Attachments to Staff Report for Marketplace @ The Colony
	Buhach & Juniper CEQA Public Draft (June 2016).pdf
	Cover +Title Page
	Initial Study Table of Contents
	Dividers
	1.0 Intro
	2.0_Project Description
	3.0_Environmental Checklist
	4.0_Mitigation Measures
	5.0_List of Preparers
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



	Item 4 - Reso No. 2914-16 PDMP 16-1 (Buhach  Juniper)
	Item 4 - Reso No. 2915-16 PDFDP 16-1 (Buhach  Juniper)
	Item 4 - Reso No. 2916-16 TPM 16-1 (NW Corner of Buhach  Juniper)
	Item 4 - Reso No. 2917-16 TPM 16-2 (SW Corner of Buhach  Juniper)



